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STRATEGIC REPORT
2  OurGroup at a glance
4 Chair'stetter
8  Strategic review
10 Our markets
16 Qur business model
22 OQur strategy
32 Key performance indicators
34  Principal risks and uncertainties
42 Stakeholder engagement
44 s172 statement
45 Financial review
54 Responsible business report
73 Task force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures
78 Non-financial information
statement

140434 J1931VY4LS D

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

80 Chair's introduction to
Corporate governance

82 Our Board of directors

84 Corporate governance report

91 Audit Committee report

96 Nomination Committee report

97 Remuneration report

117 Other statutory disclosures

120 Statement of directors’
responsibilities

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

122 Independent Auditor’s report

129 Consolidated income statement

129 Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

130 Consolidated balance sheet

131 Consolidated statement of changes
in equity

132 Consolidated cash flow statement

133 Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

168 Ten year history

169 Glossary of Terms

172 Financial catendar and advisers

Throughout the Annual Reportwe refer lo a
number of allernative performance measures,
including ineasures such as adjusted resulls,
free cash flow and constanl currency growth.
These ate delined in the Glossary of Terms on
page 149.

Forward looking statements

This report contains lor ward looking statements.
These have been mads by the divectors in good
faith using information available up to the date on
which they approved this repart. The diteclor s
.an give no assurance that these expeclations
will prove to be correcl. Due ta the inherent
uncertamties, including both business and
cconomic risk factors undurlying such forward
looking statcments, actualt esulls may differ
materially from those expressed o implicd by
these forward looking statements. Cxcept as
required by law o regutation, the dircctors

under take no obligation to update any lorward
looking stalements whether as aresult of new
informalion, lulure events or olherwise.
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OUR GROUP AT A GLANCE

An international network of
equipment solutions and services.

Ashtead is an international
equipment rental company, trading
under the Sunbelt Rentals brand,
with national networks in the US,
Canada and the UK. We rent a broad
range of construction, industrial,
general and specialty equipment
across a wide variety of applications
to a diverse customer base.

PURPOSE

To provide a reliabte alternative to ownership for 1
our customers across a wide range of applications {’
and markets ]
1
i
4

See more on page 16

.

e b o

ACTIONABLE COMPONENTS

Grow General Tool and advance our clusters
Amplify Specialty

Advance technology

Lead with ESG

Dynamic capital allocation.

See more on page 22

R |

CULTURAL ELEMENTS

Investment in our people

Continuously delivering on our custormer promise

J
I
|
Foster culture of ‘entrepreneurialism wilh scale’ |
}
i
of Availability, Reliabitity and Ease !

See more on page 56

UGS R
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STORES

The second largest equipment rental
company in the US with 967 stores

Revenue $6,477m
Return oninvestment! 25%
Segment result $1,852m
Employees 16,068
Stores 967
Fleet size $11,425m
MARKET SHARE?
1 United Rentals......c.cce.... 16%
2 Sunbelt ..o, 12%
3 HercRentals....ccccovvevenennen. 6%
4 Home Depot.... 2%
5 Ahern.......... .. 1%
6 H&E......... 1%
7 T0p 710 oo 3%
8 Top 11-100.. .¢17%
9 Others ..o c.b4%

FLEET COMPOSITION?

1 Mobile etevating
work ptatforms........cco.... 33%

2 Forklifts e 20%
3 Earthmoving.....cccccoccennee 13%
4 Powerand HVAC ............... 10%

5 Scaflold oo 2%
6 Other .o 22%

1 Excluding goodwiti and mtangible assels.

2 Source: Management estimate based on tHS Markit inar kel estimales.

3 Soutce: Management wtor ination.




STORES

CANADA

Market share of 8% in Canada with

177

STORES

The largest equipment rental company

89 stores In the UK with 177 stores
Revenue C$626m Revenue €£726m
Return on investment® 20% Return on investment' 14%
Segmentresult C$144m | | segmentresut  £87m
Employees o 1,682 Employees o 3,983
Stores 89 Stores 177
Fleet size C$1.116m Fleet size £988m
MARKET SHARE? MARKET SHARE?

1 United Rentals................. 18%

2 Sunbelt ..o 8%

3 Others .. 74%

FLEET COMPOSITION?

FLEET COMPOSITION?

4 Powerand HVAC ...
5 Lighting. grip and tens.
6 Other.....

4 Forklifts

6 Other

5 Mobile elevating
work platforms

1 Mobile elevating 1 Accommodation ............... 17%
work platforms................ 30% 2 Earthmoving......ccoevenn.. 13%

2 Earthmoving ..o 13% 3 Panels, fencing

3 Forklifts and barriers...........ccc.ec... 1%

1 Excluding goodwill and mtangible assels,
2 Sowce: Managen.ent eclimale, excluding bghting, gnip and lens, based ou

N —

Exctuding goudwill and intangible assets.

Sout ce: Managemenl estimale based on [(HS Mar kel mar ket eslimales - mas kel

1¥0d3Y4 J1931vylLS I

tHS Man kit mar kel estinales.
3 Source: Manayement intotination,

shate bas been calculaled excluding the impact ol 1evenue associaled with
suppor ting the Depar tinent ot Health COVILI-1Y response.
3 Source: Management intor mation.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER

lam delighted to report that in this
financial year Ashtead has produced
another strong set of results. During the
year we have continued to invest and
execute on our strategic priorities to
ensure we can continue to deliver strong
growth in the markets in which we
operate. However, we can only achieve
this with outslanding and dedicated
colleagues who, with an excellent
leadership team, are able to create a
strong cullure lor success. Although the
last two years have been a difficult period
for most people | am proud that our
business is even stronger because of the
dedication, commitment and resilience of

our colleagues in all parts of our business.

Thank you very much.

Strategic progress

In April 2021 we launched our ambitious
strategic plan, Sunbelt 3.0, which is
designed to grow the businessin a
responsible and sustainable way. | am
pleased to report that we have made
significant progress on all elements of
Sunbelt 3.0, and you will read more about
that in the pages that follow.

We have continued to work closely

with our suppliers ensuring we have the
right equipment available despite their
production challenges because of
worldwide supply chain issues. This has
enabled our leams lo deliver our planned
growth and expansion, opening 88
greenfield sites in North America and
completing 25 bolt-on acquisitions.

The recent acquisition of Mahaffey which
provides temporary structures, means
we have added our 10th Specialty
business line.

Our technology initiatives, to make the
move from an industry-leading technology
platform to a leader among the broader
industrial and services sector, are making
excellent progress and will increase

the competiliveness of our offering

in the future.

A sustainable business model

Health and safety has always been a
primary focus for the Board and a priority
in all our business activities throughout
the organisation. We have continued to
make significant progress and | am
delighted to report that our incident rate in
Nortn America is the lowest it has been in
the Group's history. We have also made
similar progress in the UK.

Sustainabulity 1s an integral part of our
stralegic plan and business model and our
ESG targets, which are a key component
of Sunbell 3.0, are now deeply embedded
throughout the business.

4 Ashtead Group pte Annual Report & Accounts 2022

Our modern rental fleet consists of the
latest, most environmentally-friendly
equipment and we continue lo invest
mitlions of dollars in new equipment
which produces less carbon, less
particulate matter and requires less
servicing and repair. We are working
closely with our customers and suppliers
to develop and test new technology to
ensure we can deliver more
environmentally-friendly and sustainable
equipment to the market. An example is
our collaboration with Doosan Bobcat to
develop and produce the world’s first
all-electric compact track loader.

We also continue to make good progress
with our diversity, equily and inclusion
I'DEI initiatives. After getting
constructive feedback from our
colleagues, last year saw the
establishment of our first grassroots DEI
Task Force in North America, which is
already driving real cultural change in the
businesses. We have also established a
new women's group, WISE (Women,
Inspired, Supported, Empowered), which
is supporting women across the
organisation and helping to increase the
number of women we recruit inio our
industry. In the UK we continue to drive
DEl initialives across the business,
inctuding ensuring our programmes seek
lo develop, coach and recruit the best
people, irrespective of their backgrounds.



DElwas also an important focus of our
Senior Leadership and Board meetings
which were held in Daltas in April 2022.
The Senior Leadership meeling was
the first major meeting in person we
have been able lo hold since the UK
management conference held in
Manchester prior lo the pandemic.

The Board was delighted to be able
finally to reconnect in person with a
wider population of our people driving
the business.

Financing

Another important component of our
strategic plan and competitive advantage
is our dynamic capital allocation strategy.
Despite challenging supply chain issues,
we invested more in the rental fleet than in
any other year. The strength of our
balance sheet was again demonstrated
when we were able to issue $1.3bn of
long-term investment grade bonds last
year. While this may not be unusual for
other businesses, itis a first for our
industry and represents the increasing
maturity of both Ashtead and our industry.
It reinforces our sirategy of always
accessing the finance we need ahead of
when we need it, so we can make the very
most of market growth opportunities.

Board changes

I am delighted o welcome Renala Ribeiro
to the Board, who joined in January as a
non-executive direclor. Renala is an
executive at Carnival Corporation and
brings strong commercial and digital
experience to the Board.

Dividends

We have a progressive dividend policy
which is designed to ensure sustainability
through the economic cycle whilst always
taking into account both underlying profit
and cash generation.

lam pleased to report that having
considered the Group's outlook and
financial position, and other stakeholders’
interests, your Board is recommending a
final dividend of 67.5¢ making 80.0¢ for the
fullyear. Assuming the dividend is
approved at the Annual General Meeting
[AGM}, it will be paid on 9 September
2022 to shareholders on the register on

12 Augusli 2022.

Outtook

We have strong momentum in the
business underpinned by our Sunbelt 3.0
strategic plan which is advancing faster
than we originally planned, both through
organic growth and boll-on acquisilions.

Our balance sheet remains strong and that,
coupled with our diverse range of products
and services for our end markets, positions
us well for future growth,

A VO

PAUL WALKER
Chair, 13 June 2022

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

+19%

Revenue up 19%!,
rental revenue up 22%'

$1.3bn

$1,274m spent on bolt-on
acquisitions (2021: $172m) and
88 greenfield locations opened

$1,948m

Group operating profit of $1,948m
[2021: $1,498m)

$2.4bn

$2,397m of capital invested in the
business (2021: $947m)

$1,824m

Group adjusted pre-tax profit of
$1,824m {2021: $1,316m), an
increase of 38%'

$1.1bn

$1,125m of free cash flow generation

(2021: $1,822m])

307.1¢

Adjusted earnings per share of
307.1¢ (2021: 219.1¢)

1.5X

Net debt to EBITDA leverage'?
of 1.5 times (2021: 1.4 times])

280.9¢

Earnings per share of 280.9¢
[2021: 205.4¢)

67.5¢

Proposed final dividend of 67.5¢,
making 80.0¢ for the full year
(2021: 58.0¢)

$1,251m

Post-tax profit of $1,251m
(2021: $920m)

1 Atconstant exchange 1ates.
2 Excluding the itnpact of IFRS 16.
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SUNBELT 3.0 IN ACTION

‘ 15'““?1%“

Our General Tool and Specialty businesses complement each other,
often sitting side by side and enhancing further our ability to service
our customers wide range of needs. This year we added 41 General
Tool locations, 16 as greenfield sites and 25 acquisitions.

We clustered another eignt of the top 180 markets in the US
bringing our clustered market count to 39 in the top 100 markets.
These new clusters include San Francisco, Tampa and St Louis.

In Canada we established a new markel cluster in the Thompson-
Okanagan region ol British Columbia, maturing our offering further
in Canada, with 10 markels now ciustered.

OURISTRATEGY]

JAdvancelourdclusteredimarnketfapproach
( ifthroughlalproven]playbookitomeet{demand!
andlenablelincreasedrentalipenetration!
in[NorthAmericajwhileloptimisinglours
operationalinetworkiinithelUK?

2022{HIGHLIGHTS

_ |
B ¢IGREENEIELDIIOCATIONSYADDED]INI2021722 3 §>

GENERALS1,00
FURTH

FACQUISITIONSICOMPWELLE D)
REZSITOCATIONS

KE18Y5

i additionallmarkets: growthliniNorth?American
iclusteredwithinithel Generallloollrevenueling
US topll00markets 12021/22]




STRATEGIC REVIEW
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We are delighted to report that Ashtead
has had a very good year delivering record
performance and we remain optimistic
about Lhe years o come. Not only is the
business performing well from a financial
standpoint, but we are making huge
inroads in our ESG ambitions. Our safety
record remains industry-leading and we
remain relentlessly focused on our safety
and wellness platform, Engage for Life.
The authenticity of our advocacy in this
area especially, is ieading to genuine
cultural change across the organisation.
The sustainabie nature of how we operate
is increasingly important to our
customers. Real momentum is occurring
in our marketls, in how we do business
day-lo-day, how we are posilioning
ourselves for long-term growth and how
we arc embedding our inrate sense of
purpose in everything we do. We believe
this is good news for our customers, our
people, our investors and the communities
in which we operate. This is our Ambition
with Purpose.

Brendan Horgan
Chiet executive

AL LI A e
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Rental revenues in North America were
23% ahead of last year's pandemic
affected levels. This market-leading
performance conlinues to demonsirate
the strength in our model, as well as the
potential for growth in the business and
the broader market. ll also reflects the
early benefits of executing on our strategic
growth plan, Sunbelt 3.0, taunched last
year, adding 123 locations in North
America, 88 by way of greenfield openings
and 35 through bolt-on acquisitions.

The last two years have been challenging,
but we have emerged stronger than ever
before. Our growth strategy is on track,
our rental revenue is growing strongly,
we are generating strong free cash flow
alongside record levels of fleet
investmert. Qur balance sheelis stronger
than ever and we have the funds available
to finance expected future growth, We are
delivering on our plans for growth in
General Tool, seeing acceleration m our
Specialty businesses and continuing to
advance the technology that makes it all
possible. Our dynamic capital allocation
strategy has delivered leverage at the end
of the year, at the lower end of our target
range, at 1.5 times net debt to EBITDA,
excludirg tre effect of IFRS 16.

8 Ashtead 6roup plc Annual Report & Accounts 2022

Michael Pratt
Chief financial officer

There are several factors that cause us
to be optimistic about the future. First we
are seeing a significant volume of large
projects that need our services; large
construction projects, infrastructure
projects, industrial maintenance projects
and large events. Often these are
multi-year projects which signify
long-term revenue opportunities for us.
Many induslries are seeing massive
change as a resull of environmental
considerations and their need for rental
isincreasing as a result. If you consider
American automotive manufacturing,
for example, it almost has to start over
to build new manufacturing capacity for
electric vehicles and batteries. So there
will be new factories to be buitt or whole
assembly lines revised. In addition, the
$1 trillion US infrastructure billis driving
further new, large-scale projects. We
believe challenges with skilled labour
availability will result in these projects
taking longer to complete and accelerate
the shifl {o rental.

While current economic conditions are
causing concern to businesses and
investors alike, we see them as benefitting
rental. Particularly, supply constraints, an
inflationary environment and fears about
labour supply. are all issues which we
oelieve we are positioned to solve. There
are well documented constraints on
supply chains which we believe will
remain through 2023 at least. Our ability
to navigate these challenges through
engaged planning with our key
manufaclurers throughout the pandemic
and in conjunction with Lhe limeliness of
Sunbell 3.0, has become an advantage.
Over (ne last year we were able lo
facilitate the largest rental fleet capital
expenditure yearin our history, all in an
incredibly difficult supply-constrained
environment.



Similarly, after nearly a decade-long
economic cycle with minimal levels of
inflation, businesses are experiencing
inflation in most cost lines. We anticipate
the current tevels will moderate but we
may well have a cycle with modest
inflation throughout. We have been able to
digest these inflationary realities through
scale efficiencies and rental rate
improvements, and are confident this will
continue to be the case. Lastly, thereisa
shortage of general labour, however, when
you think about our business, it's not just
general labour. The vast majority of our
workforce is comprised of skilled trades,
specifically, mechanical technicians,
licensed commercial drivers and
equipment application specialists. The
availability of such a workforce is nol just
limited, itis scarce. As an example, US
conslruction job openings are al their
highest level in 20 years. Unlike the first
two issues, we believe the duration of this
goes on as far as we can see with no
known catalyst to reverse it.

How do these issues impact us and our
customers day-to-day? If a customer
cannot afford to buy or physically acquire
an item of equipment, the only option is to
rent that equipment. [f you cannot hire a
mechanic to service your equipment, your
alternative is rental. If you are not big
enough to get Lhe atlention of the
suppliers of the equipment you need, your
allernative is rental. If equipment prices
are high, our customers will he more
reluctant to buy and instead preserve their
financial resources, so rental will
therefore continue to expand.

We are always planning ahead to make
sure we have the fleet and the skilled
drivers, mechanics and tradespeople we
need. That is our focus. We also have the
scale to get the equipment and people we
need more easily than smaller operators.
These considerations are not a focus for a
live events company, or a big construction
company, for example. If market
conditions are challenging, a business
does nol have time lo think about the
equipment needed or the people required
to take care of that equipment. They have
to focus on the job they do. We witl
continue to step in and do whatever

it takes to get their job done.

Group rental revenue increased 22% on

a constant currency basis. This revenue
performance was achieved with a stightly
larger average rental fleet than last year,
which generated an EBITDA margin of
45%, a significantly improved adjusted
operating profit margin of 26% and Group
return on investment of 18%. As a result,
adjusted pre-tax profitwas $1,824m and
adjusled earnings per share were 307.1¢
for the year.

US rental revenue was up 22% at
$6,042m. This was driven by volume
predominantly, with acquisitions
contributing ¢. 5% lo the growth, but also
the benefit of a favourable demand and
supply environment, which has enabled us
to deliver healthy rate improvemenl since
March 2021.

In Canada, rental revenue was 30% higher
than a year ago at C$569m. This growth
reflects the depressed comparatives last
year, particularly in the lighting, grip and
lens business, William F. White, which was
severely constrained by the pandemic, as
well as strong performance from the
original Canadian business.

UK rental revenue was 13% higher than
ayearagoat £544m. The business
continued to benefit from our support for
the Depariment of Health in its COVID-19
response, which conlributed to ¢.30% of
total revenue in the UK, but the core

business also performed strongly,
benefitting from investment in operational
infrastructure and the reshaping of our
operating footprint. Following the UK
Government’'s announcement that free
mass testing would cease in April 2022,
the majority of the Department of Health
revenue has now ceased and the UK
business is in the process of demobilising
the testing sites.

. As we believe we have demonstraled,

growth in our business is driven, o a
certain extent, by market growth, but also
by a unique set of circumstances both
across the rental industry and the wider
economy, that will impact our entire
customer base. We believe it is always
good to be in the rental business. As rental
expands and as more businesses in more
sectors become accustomed to renting
the equipment they need, it becomes
difficult to go back. There is no rational
reason to go back. Rental penetration will
be broader and deeper and we will
continue to grow.

can be every day.

sustatnable value.

across the Group.

In the Strategic report
DLLa I s s L2
CAPITALISING ON MARKET OPPORTUNITIES Page 10

We are building market share through same-store growth,
new greenlield investments, selected bolt-on acquisitions
and the expansion of our product offering.

O A
IMPLEMENTING OUR STRATEGY

We focus on building market share, maintéining flexibility
in our operations and finances, and being the best we

O o 7
MEASURING OUR PERFORMANCE

We had a year of strang markel outperformance across the
business despite challenging market conditions.

e A
CREATING SUSTAINABLE VALUE

Our equipment rental business model, and the management
of that over the economic cycle, enable us to create long-term

/R A
MANAGING OUR RISKS

Our main risks relate to economic conditions, competition,
financing, cyber security, health and safety, people, the
environment and laws and regulations.

A AR A/ W/ / A A/ 4
BEING A RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

We report on responsible business through the Group Risk
Committee. We focus on health and safety, our people,

the environment, including climate change, community
investment and ensuring the highest ethical standards

IS S «.:*////,:f’/////;‘:

Page 22

Page 32

Page 16

Page 34

Page 54
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OUR MARKETS

Our markets continue to evolve and
our strategic plan, Sunbelt 3.0, is
taking us into ever more markets,
both by geography and function.

Construction will likely remain our
largest market in terms of the equipment
required, particularly given the 2021 US
infrastructure bill, but non-construction
continues to expand rapidly as we service
new markets through the amplification of
our Specialty businesses. The US
continues to be our largest market with
strong performance and we see good
growth in our newest markel, Canada.
The UK, which is a more mature rental
market, is a more subdued environment
than North America, but our aclions to
realign the business for the future with

a simplification of the go-to-market
message and leveraging cross-setling
opportunities across the platform, are
bearing fruit. We are excited by the future
prospects for the UK business
supplemented by targeted bolt-on
acquisitions to develop the business
further. The US rental market is seven
times bigger than the UK and we continue
lo capitalise on the structural changes in
that market, as customers continue to
adapl to renling equipment rather than
owning it. Our Canadian business is
smaller than our UK business butis
growing rapidly and we are excited by the
opportunities we see there. We expect the
Canadian market to develop in a manner
similar to the US, as customers get more
accustomed to renting a wider range of
equipment and more familiar with the
Availability, Reliability and Ease we
deliver. Qur aim is to continue to grow the
business wherever we are in the economic
cycle and no matter whal circumstances
we face.

Al: our markets were affected by the
COVI3-19 pandemic, bul lhey are offering
us new apportunilies now that the impact
of the virus appears to be declining in our
principal markets and the long-term
attractiveness of our markets has not
changed. As mentioned in the introduction
to this Strategic report, we also see
opportunity in the market where others
see potential probtems, specifically
concerns about equipment and labour
supply, as well as an increasingly
inflationary environment. When you put
these three together, we believe they are
structural {ailwinds to our business.
Specifically, they will foster deeper rental

penetration and those wilh scale,
experience lo execute, technological
advantages, great levels of customer
service, a culture of people engagement
and financial strength, will benefit
disproportionately.

THE BREADTH OF OUR MARKETS

Our markets continue to broaden, in terms
of geography, range of equipment rented
and the applications for which our
equipment is used. Our end markets are
increasingly diverse and we are seeing the
power of cross-setling between General
Tool and Specialty. The graphic opposile
shows the diversity of end markets that
are using our equipment. In many cases,
this is the same equipment just used for a
different purpose. A significant proportion
of our fleet was developed originally for
the construction industry but is now used
in applications varying from film and
television production to putting up
Christmas decorations. Our customers
are equally diverse, from multinationat
organisations to DlYers. We are reaching
these broadening markets as a result of
our scale, advancement of our market
cluster strategy and Specialty business
evolution - all positioned to give great
service to our customers through our
corporate mantra, Avaitablity, Reliability
and Ease. For any one of these markets,
there is also a wide range of equipment
used. Equipment that previously would not
have been rented is now part of the rental
mix. This is particularly the case with the
ongoing structural change most
noticeable in the US and Canada.

Constructionis a core part of our end
markets but we continue to see plenty of
growlh opportunity for our Generat Tool
and Specially businesses in areas such
as live events, building maintenance,
municipal aclivities and emergency
response. We commonty refer to these
end markets, and many more, as MRO or
the maintenance, repair and operations
of the geographic markets we serve,
These incredibly targe addressable
markets make up the majority of our
Specially revenues; however, increasingly
they also benefit our Gereral Toot
business as our cross-selling prowess
continues to improve.

10 Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022
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CONSTRUCTION

Airports - Shopping
Highways and centres
bridges Residential
Office buildings Remodelling
Data centres Manufacturing
Schools and [ELTES
universities Green energy

NV
Fire - Alternative care
Hurricanes facilities
Floading Points of
Tornadoes distribution
Winter storms Mobile testing
Residentiat facilities
emergencies

Health
emergencies

LSS

RESPUGNSE

FACILITIES MAINTENANCE
AND MUNICIPALITIES

ﬂ LSS

Office - Schools and
complexes universities
Aparlment Shopping
complexes centres
Government Pavement/kerb
Hospitals repairs

Data centres Golf course
Parks and maintenance
recreation Industrial
departments

LSS
ENTERTAINMENT AND
SPECIAL EVENTS
National events ~ Theme parks
Concerts - Festivals
Sporting events Farmers’
Film and markets

television Local 5Kruns
production Cycleraces

Abig change in recent years has been the
increase in rentals taking place in
ordinary square footage under roof
applications every day, and we expect this
trend to continue. Increasingly we are also
seeing bigger, longer projects often over
several years. We expect the $1 trillion
US infrastructure bill to further fuel this
trend. In addition, we are designated an
essential service in the US, UK and
Canada in times of need, supporting
government and the private sector in
response to emergencies, including
hurricanes, tornadoes and, until recently,
the pandemic.

The length of ttime thal customers rent
equipmentis also increasing. Not only are
large projects lasting longer, but rentalis
now core to these rather than being more
‘topup’In nature, as it used to be. We are
also seeing customers renting equipment
longer to move to the next job or project.
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Our core US markets were adversely affected by COVID-19 but we are exceeding pre-pandemic
levels and the longer-term prospects for rental and our products and services remain strong.
We expect to perform better than the market as we expand further our Specialty businesses
and continue to take market share.

Construction starts have continued
their recovery and are now ahove
pre-pandemic levels with forecasts
showing further growth through to
2026. There remain significant levels of
construction activity in areas such as
warehouses, data centres, distribution,
fulfilment and manufacturing such as
etectric vehicle factories, lithium
battery plants and new liquid natural
gas plants. We believe we are likely to
see continued changes in construction
focus, shifting away from retail, new
hotels and office buildings into these
kinds of infrastructure projects
supporting the traasition to & greener
economy. These are all examples of an
abundance of large scale, multi-year
projects that are in early-stage
construction or late in the planning
phase. Projects that we are positioned
to serve in a meaningful way, more so
than at any point in our history. We also
expect to see more large projects as a
result of the 2021 infrastructure bill.

Dodge Dala & Analytics is forecasting
put-in-place construction growth of 9%
for 2022, followed by further growth in
2023 and 2024. Similarly, rental market
growth is forecast by IHS Markit to be
1% in 2022 with continued growth
thereafter. With forecasts like these,
our business model becomes ever
more attractive as our customers
choose increasingly the flexibility of
rental versus the long-term
commitment and ongoing cost related
to purchasing equipment.

The events market suffered greatly
during COVID-19 but after a gentle
recovery last year we are expecting a
stronger performance in the coming
year. While we will benefit from the
improving oil and gas market, it
remains a small part of our business.

The-markets we serve remain strong
long-term, as both structural and '
cyclicaltrends are favourable. Chart 02
on page 12 shows the last four

01 US MARKET OUTLOOK (RENTAL REVENUE FORECAST)

2022 2023 2024

Induslry rental revenue

+11% +6% +3%

Source: I8S Mar kil (May 2022,

construction cycles. These have
followed one of two patterns. From
1975t0 1982 and from 1982 to 1991 the
initial recovery was very aggressive but
the overall cycle was relatively short. In
contrast from 1991 to 2011, and 2011 to
2020, the cycle was characterised by a
more gradual recovery over a longer
period of time. The initial forecasts for
the next cycle are more similar to the
last two cycles. However, while these
forecasts are for growth through 2025,
there is the potential for a more
imminent slow down due to inflation
and the increasing interest rate
environment. However, our business
model is well equipped to deal with this
environment as we are able to reduce
our capital expenditure and generate
significant free cash flow. The impact
of a slowing economy will be mitigated
to a degree by the opportunily from the
structural shift from ownership to
rentat and our ability to increase
market share.

/
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OUR MARKETS CONTINUED

MARKET SHARE IN THE US

We continue to grow our macket share
in the US and even though we are the
second largest equipment rental
company, there remains plenty of room
to grow as Chart 03 shows. Our major
competitors are United Rentats and
Herc Rentals with 16% and 4%
respectively. Home Depot, Ahern and
H&E have shares of 2% or less. Most of
the remainder of the market is made up
of smatllocat independent rental shops.

Much of our market share gain comes
from these smallindependents whenwe
set up new stores or acquire them. Ours
1s a capital-intensive industry where size
matters. Scale brings cost benefits and
sophistication in areas suchas
technotogy and other services, and this
leads uttimately to further consolidation.
The proportion of the market enjoyed by
the larger players continues toincrease
and we have clearly been a major
beneficiary of this trend. Whilst there
will always be a place for strong tocal
players, the market share enjoyed by the
larger players is likely o continue to

This market share analysis is based on
the traditional definition of the rentat
market focused on construction.
However, a significant market for us

is facility maintenance, repair and
operation characterised by square
footage under roof. In the US there are
100bn square feet under roof and we
believe this represents a potential rental
market of $7-10bn, with minimal rental
penetration at the moment. It is not a
new market for us, but one with
increasing opportunity as we
demonstrate the benefits of rental
through Availability, Reliability and.Ease.
One consequence of this is that we
believe the size of the rental market is
understated and hence our, and
everyone else’s, market share is
overstated. This only serves to increase
the opportunities for growth.

We are confident that as the market
grows, our share will also increase.

We have a good track record of success,
having tripled our market share since
2010. We continue to set ambitious
targets for market share, increasing our

However, as noted above, our market
share growth also comes from
continuing to broaden both our end
markets and the range of equipment
we have available to rent in each
location (more on this in our strategy
section on page 22.

The combination of our business madel,
which you can read more about on page
16, the continued attractiveness of our
markets and the long-term trend to
rental, provides the perfect environment
for us to achieve our goals. In addition,
our market share gains accelerate as we
make the most of our scale advantages.
Being there for our customers and
trusted to deliver, also brought us

share during the pandemic.

As we increase our market share and
grow our Specialty businesses, they
become a greater proportion of the
business mix across the cycle and
accounted for 30% of revenue in
2021/22. The acquisitions we make are
often to expand into a new specialty
area or to develop an existing one and

2022

2013 [N
2007 VRN
2002 [N 2%

Sotnce: Management eslinales.

Targel IS A A N 10%
e—

12%

grow as the big get bigger. long-term target to 20%. The speed with then we supplement them with
which we increase our market share 1s greenfield openings.
in part a function of how quickly we can
get new locations up and running.
02 CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY BY CYCLE 03 US MARKET SHARE
190
170
150
130
110
90
70
- ,E,‘ I_\| c*:‘ Z :5" g E.‘ 2 E S 1 United Rentals
= i = = 2 Sunbelt.........
W 1975-1982 W 1991-201 :.! Forecast
= n 3 Herc Rentals.
1982-1991 2011-2020 [T=100 based on constant dollars) 4 Horne Depot..
Sounce: Dodge Dala & Analytics [May 2022). 5 Ahern......
6 H&E....
04 US MARKET SHARE DEVELOPMENT 7 Top7-10..
8 Top 11-100..
PP 9 Nthers

Source: Managemenl estimate based on IHS Ma kit
mai ket estimates.
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THE TREND TO RENTAL

The trend of rental peneltration in the
US continues to be positive for the
industry as our customers have
become accustomed to the flexibility of
an oulsourced model. Between 2010
and 2022, increased rental penelration
effectively grew our end market by

c. 25%. We see this trend continuing,
which will provide similar levels of
market growth over the coming years.
Rental still only makes up around 55%
of the US market compared to around
75% in the UK. However, this is a broad
average with penetration levels
ranging from low single-digit
percentages for, say, floor scrubbers
to 90%+ for targe aerial equipment.
We like specialty products beczuse
they are at the low end of this range,
which provides greater scope for
growth. We see the potential market
penetration for rental equipment to

be well over 60% in the US.

The drivers of this evolution include the
significant cost inflation in recent years
associated with the replacement of
equipment, technical changes to
equipment requirements and health,
safety and environmental issues which
make rental more economical and just
easier. For example, environmental
regulations have driven further rentat

penetration through the reduction

in fleet size by those customers who
previously may have chosen to own
some if not all of their larger equipment
needs. Customers and smaller
competitors with older fleets are

faced with heavier replacement spend
causing them to either replace less
and rent or reduce their flect size.
Furthermore, the citficulties of getting
to grips with new technology and
maintenance requirements have also
caused more operators to decide to
rent. Maintaining optimatly serviced
and therefore safe equipment can be

a big outlay for a smaller operator.
Therefore we continue to invest in
keeping our fleet in the best condition
it can be to take advantage of the
increased demand for rental.
Uncertsin market conditions also
maxe it far more attractive to rent than
buy. The diversity of our fleet helps us
take advantage of this increasing trend
to rental and we continue to expand the
range of products we rent.

Our customers often assume we will
be able to fulfil their equipment needs
with a rental product for an ever-
widening range of applications. If your
ileet consists of equiprent which is
already predominantly rented and
hence, have high rental penetration

like telehandlers and large booms,
you are not necessarily benefitting
from increased rental penetration as
itis probably as high as it is likely to
get. However, if you have a broader mix
of fleet, then there is significant further
upside to come from increased rental
penetration. Further, the current
unique circumstances of growing
demand and constrained equipment
supply, serve as a perfect catalyst to
encourage and increase the

structural shift from ownership to
rental. This is exactly what we believe
is happening during this inflection
period In the market.

Our development and use of technology
is also driving rental penetration.

Our highly sophisticated proprietary
cuslomer management, inventory and
delivery lracking systems enable us to
make our customers’ rental experience
one of Availability, Reliability and Ease.
Our customers are increastngly witling
to rent different types of equipment
from us, more often. More on this in
the section on strategy on page 22.
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OUR MARKETS CONTINUED

CANADA

- Wil

Canada is still a relatively new and growing market for us.

The overall renlal market is less than a
tenth of the size of the US. But in the
same way that the US has experienced
siructural growth as more and more
types of equipment are rented for
difterent applications, we expect
similar trends in Canada. Our share of
the Canadian rental market is around
8%. There is plenty of scope to develop
this in the same way as in the US and
we are growing rapidly. We have seen
continued market growth in 2022 and
IHS Markit predicts Canadian rental
revenue to grow 10% in 2022, 6% in
2023 and 4% 2024. We anticipate
growing more rapidly as we take
market share and broaden our offering.

From our humble beginnings in
Western Canada, we have grown to 89
locations across Canada. Key of course
to delivering on our mantra of
Availability, Reliability and Ease is
convenience, proximity and diversity in
our offering. We now have a significant
presence in Ontario and have expanded
in Edmonton, Calgary and Winnipeg.
Beginning with a complement of
General Tool businesses and adding
Specialty into the mix to introduce
cross-selling, our runway for growth in
Canada remains long.

The rental market has, historicatly,
been construction focused, but we
continue to develop new markets such
as the film industiry in Vancouver and
Toronlo. This has been aided by the
acquisition of our lighting, grip and tens
business, William F. White [WFW in
December 2019. The WFW business
will also provide a platform to expand
our lighting, grip and lens Specialty into
the US and UK markets. In addition, we
have continued to expand our power
and flooring solutions Specialty
businesses in Canada. Customers who
traditionally rented mainly mobile
elevaling work platforms [ MEWPs')
are now renting smaller equipment as
well. They are seeing increasingly the
benefits of working with us to fulfil the
full range of their rental needs. Our
cluster approach {more on this in our
section on strategy on page 25 also
means we are able to be closer to our
customers than has previously been
the case.

Acraoss the country there are variances
in the mix of fleet we have on rent. In
Western Canada we see more customer
demand for MEWPs especially through
our work servicing the film and
television industry. We see great
opportunities for expanding our

Specialty and MEWP businesses,
especially in Ontario, aided by the growth
of our lighting, grip and lens business.
Aswe expand in other provinces we
expect to generate more business from
Canada’s resources industry.

Given our continued growth in Canada,
we are now targeting 10% market share.

05 CANADA MARKET SHARE

1 UnitedRentals..........occeevvirvnennenn. 18%
2 Sunbelt
3 Others

Source: Managemenl estimate, excluding
WFW, based on IHS Markil mar ket estimates.
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to our customers.

The UK market remains competitive but we have never
been positioned better to deliver the Power of Sunbelt

Bringing all the UK businesses
together as Sunbell Renlals, and

the launch of Sunbelt 3.0, has changed
the face of our business and is paying
greal dividends as we oulperform the
market, leading, in particular, to gains
in the ongoing construction and
maintenance-related rental space.
Last year growth continued and the
business has achieved encouraging
customer wins and an impressive
sales pipeline. We are known for being
able to deliver a range of general and
specialist products and services unlike
any other in the market and have an

increasingly good track record of
coming through in even the most
challenging of circumstances.
New customers gained and those
in the pipeline are the most diverse
interms of end markets served in
our UK history.

Lastyear a targe proportion of revenue
{around 30%} came from our COVID-19
work for the Department of Health.
When there is any kind of emergency,
in any of our territories, we are usually
brought in to hetp. When free mass
testing ended in April 2022, that

revenue largely stopped. However, the
core business continues to perform
strongly and we are benefitting from
improved cross-selling and operational
advancements very much at the centre
of our Sunbelt 3.0 ptans. We remain in
the early stages of forging our path to
sustainable long-term results and
returns, but are creating sustainable
cultural change.

We continue to see significant
opportunities in both construction and
non-construction markets in the UK as
in the US and Canada. We will continue
to invest responsibly in the UK market
as we seek to increase market share
and enhance returns.

MARKET SHARE

We continue to be the largest equipment
rental company in the UK. There are a
greater nurmber of major ptayersin the
UK market and, as the largesl, we have
3 10% markel share.

Chart 07 shows our key competitors and
their share of the market. We believe we
continue to be well positioned in the
market with our strong customer
service, broad-based fleet and strong
balance sheet. We have enhanced this
market position through simplifying our
go-to-market message and leveraging
the cross-selling opportunities provided
by our broad product offering and
Specially businesses, a key element

of our strategic plan, Sunbelt 3.0.

07 UK MARKET SHARE

06 UK CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY FORECASTS

2020 2021 2022 2023 %

(€ million] Actual Actual Esumate Forecast of total

Residential 51,634 60,767 60.416 59.859 34%
17.7% -0.6% -0.9%

Private commercial 40,566 41173 43,083 44521 25%
1.5% 4.6% 3.3%

Public and infrastruclure 58.033 67447 70,593 73,468 41%
16.2% 4. 7% 4%

Tolat 150,233 169,387 174,092 177848 100%
12.7% 2.8% 2.2%

Source: Construction Products Association IMain scenario: Spiing 2022).

1 Sunbelt

2 SPeedY. . 8%
B HSS e, 6%
bVP et 6%
S Others wiee e 70%

Sour ce: Management estinate based on IHS
Mar kit imar ket estimates - market shar e has
been caleulated cxcluding the impact of
tevenue associate d vath suppor ing Lhe
Department of He aith COVID-19 1 esponse,
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

Creating sustainable value across the economic cycle
We create value through the short-term rental of equipment that is

3 used for a wide variety of applications and the provision of services

and solutions to a diverse customer base through a broad platform

| across the US, Canada and the UK. Our rental fleet ranges from

We have a platform
which enables our

I ' customers torent
what they want, when
they want and where
they want with ease.

[\ »
= _J X
€9

BUY

We buy a broad
range of equipment
from leading
manufacturers.

-i-

ol [
RENT
Werentitona
short-term basis

to a broad range
of customers.

SELL

We sell the older
equipmentin the
second-hand
market.

small hand-held tools to the largest construction equipment.

1)

DIFFERENTIATING
OUR FLEET AND
. SERVICE

Creating sustainable value across the economic cycle

PLANNING AHEAp

ENSURING
OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE

3 {

INVESTING IN
OUR PEOPLE

4]
MAXIMISING

OUR RETURN ON
INVESTMENT

wmm Powering the platform mmm Managing through the cycle
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1

DIFFERENTIATING OUR
FLEET AND SERVICE

- Broad fleet mix

- Evolution of Specialty
businesses

- Broadrange of customers
and applications

- Scale to meel size and
range of requirement

See more on page 18

2

ENSURING OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE

- Culture of health and
safety

- Focused, service-driven
approach

- Long-term partnerships
with leading equipment
suppliers

- Induslry-leading
application of technology

See more on page 19

Creating value

] How we share value with our stakeholders:

=

OUR PEOPLE

Investing in our people o provide
opportunity for development and to ensure
we take the very besi care of our people.

See more on page 19

o000

()

OUR CUSTOMERS
The provision of cost-effective rental
solutions to a diverse customer base.

See more on page 20

3

INVESTING
IN OUR PEOPLE

- Highly skilled team

- Devolved structure

- Maintaining significant
staff continuity
- Strong focus on

recruitment, training
and incentive plans

See more on page 19

4
MAXIMISING OUR
RETURN ON INVESTMENT

- Effective fleet
management

- Optimisation of utilisation
rates and returns

- Flexibility in local pricing
structures

- Focuson higher-return
equipment

See more on page 19

OUR SUPPLIERS
Developing long-term relationships
with suppliers.

See more on page 43

Do
\Do”

OUR COMMUNITIES

Enhancing the communities in which we
operate, through employment, opporlunily
and community involvement..

See more on page 54

OUR INVESTORS
Generating sustainable returns for
shareholders through the cycle. .

See more on page 18

OUR ENVIRONMENT
Working to ensure we have a positive
impact on the environment.

See more on page 54
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL CONTINUED

WHATWEDO
IS SIMPLE.

At its most basic, our model is simple - we
purchase an asset, we rent it to customers
through our platform and generate a
revenue siream each year we own it {on
average, sevenyears) and then we sell itin
lhe second-hand markel and receive a
proporlion of Lhe originat purchase price in
disposal proceeds. Assuming we purchase
an asset for $100, generate revenue of $55
eachyear (equivalent to 55% dollar
utilisation) and receive 35% of the original
purchase price as disposal proceeds, we
generate a return of $420 on aninitial
outlay of $100 over a seven-year useful life.
We incur costs in providing Lhis service,
principally employee, maintenance,
property and transporiation cosls and fleet
depreciation. However, this simple
overview encompasses a significant
number of moving parts, activities and
experlise thal powers the plalform lo
ensure Availabilily, Reliability and Ease lor
our custormers. OQur ability to excel in these
areas enables us to provide a rewarding
career for our leam members, generale
strong margins and deliver long-term,
suslainable shareholder value, while
managing the risks inherent in our
business, even the unprecedented ones
like COVID-19 [refer lo pages 34 and 39).

MANAGING THECYCLE

We describe ourselves as being a late
cycle business in that cur biggest end
market, non-residential construction, 1s
usually one of Lhe lasl parls of the economy
lo be affected by a change in economic
conditions. This means that we usually
have a good degree of visibility on when we
are likely to be affected, as the sians will
have been visible in other parts of the
economy for sorne time. We are Lherefore
able to plan accordingly and reactina
timely manner when necessary. While
unable to plan for a ‘black swan’ event such
as COVID-19, we were expecting a slow
down in construction markets ano were
ptanning accordingly with lower levels of

KOV
S O

W il

capitat expenditure. As a resull of COVID-19,
we accelerated these plans, enabling us to
respond immedialely and adapt our business
to the changing environmenl. The actions we
look as a result of the pandemic were all
focused on how we could ensure we were
better positioned and sironger than our
compelitors to take advantage of market
changes once we were out the other side.

As aresull, as markels reopened post
COVID-19, we were able to move quickly to
adjust our capital expenditure plans to
respond to market demand and, despite
supply chain challenges, had our largesl
ever year of capilal expendilure. See conlent
onour strategy on page 22.

DIFFERENTIATING OUR FLEET

AND SERVICE

The differentiation in our fleet and service
means that we provide equipment to many
different sectors. Construclion continues to
be our largest market but now represents
around 40% of our business in the US as we
have oeliberstely reduced our reliance in this
area through broadening our product offering
and customer base. We continue to develop
our spectally areas, such as Power and HVAC,
Climate Controt and Air Qual'ty, Scaffold
Services, Shoring Solulions and Flooring
Solutions, which represent 30% of our US
business. The acquisition of Mahaffey in
December 2027 provided the foundation for
our tenth Specialty business line, Temporary
Structures, and the acquisition of ComRenl
added the market-teading load bank business
to our Power and HVAC business enabling us
lo address beller Lthe rapidly advancing
electrification environment. Residential
conslruction is a small proportion of our
business as it is not a heavy user of
equipment. In the UK, specialty areas
represent c. 60%, of our businass.

Our customers range in size and scale from
mullinalional businesses, through slrong
local contractors to individual do-it-
yaurseders. Qur diversified customer base
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includes construction, industrial and
homeowner customers, service, repair and
facility managemenl businesses, emergancy
response organisalions, eveni organisers,
as well as government entities such as
municipalities and specialist contractors. The
nature of the business s such that it consists
of a high number of low-value lransaclions.
In the year to April 2022, Sunbetl US deall
wilh over 710,000 customers, who generaled
average rental revenue of $8,500.

The individual components of our General
Tool fteet are similar lo our peers. However,
this is comptemented by our Specially
businesses offering a broad range of
differentiated equipment. lLis the breadth and
depth of our fleet across our General Tool and
Specially businesses that differentiaies us
from our peers and provides the potential for
higher returns. The size, age and mix of our
rental fleet is driven by the needs of our
customers, market conditions and overall
demand. The equipment we provide to each
cuslomer is diverse and we are ollen involved
in supplying various types of equipment over
an extended period al each distinct stage of a
project’s development. Our equipment is also
usedin a wide range of other appiications
including industrial, events, repair and
maintenance, and facilities management.

08 BUSINESS MiX - US




09 RENTAL PENETRATION: THE PRODUCT RANGE
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HOW WE OPERATE
Our operating model is key to the way we
deliver operational excellence:

- Inthe USwe achieve scale through a
clustered market approach of grouping
large and small General Tool and Specially
rental locations in each market. This
approach allows us lo provide a
comprehensive product olfering and
convenienl service to our cuslomers
wherever their job sites may be within
these markets. When combined with our
purchasing power, this creates a virtuous
circle of scale. You can find out more on our
cluster strategy on page 25.

- InCanada, we are focused on expanding
our presencein the Western and Eastern
provinces, whilst achieving scale through a
clustered market approach similar to the
US. The businesses we acquired have
slrong posilions in conslruction
equipment, mobile elevaling work
platforms and general tools. We are
expanding therange of products available
to customersin all areas, including building
up our specialty service offering.

- Inthe UK, our stralegyis focused on having
sufficient stores to allow us to offer a full
range of general tool and specialty
equipment on a nationwide basis. We are
migraling to a regional operating centre
model with a few, larger locations which
are able to address all the needs of our
customers in their respective markets,
combined wilh smaller, local tocalions,
nol dissimilar lo a cluster approach.
This approach rellects the nalure of the
cuslomer base [more national accounls)
and the smaller geography of the UK.

~ Across our rental fleet, we seek generally
to carry equipment from one or two
suppliers in each product range and to limit
the number of model lypes of each product.
We believe that having a standardised fleet
resulls in lower costs. Thisis because we
oblain greater discounts by purchasing in
bulk and reduce maintenance costs. We
are also able lo share spare parts between
stores which helps minimise Lhe risk of
over-stocking. Furthermore, we can easily
transfer fleet between locations which

helps us achieve strong levels of fleel
onrent, one of our key performance
indicators (KPIs’).

We purchase equipment from well-known
manufacturers with strong reputations for
producl quality and reliabilily and maintain
close relationships with them to ensure
certainty of supply and good after-purchase
service and support. We work with suppliers
to provide early visibility of our equipment
needs which enabtes them to plan their
production schedules and ensures we
receive the fleet whenwe needit.

We also aim to offer a full service solution
for our cuslomers in all scenarios. Our
Specially producl range includes
equipmenl types such as pumps, power
generation, heating, cooling, scallolding,
traffic management, temporary [looring,
trench shoring and lifting services, which
involve providing service expertise as well
as equipment.

We look to build rentat penetration through
expanding the breadth and depth of
equipment we renl. As well as our Specialty
businesses, we are also increasingly
focused on developing the rental
penetration of the smaller end of our
product range. Chart 09 shows how the
largest equipment in our fleet has high
levels of rental penetration while the
smatler, but often still costly to own,
equipment has not traditionally been a
large part of the rental mix.

We invest heavily in lechinology, including
the mobile applications required to deliver
efficient customer service. Cuslomers can
lrack the equipment they have on rent,
place new orders, request pick-up or
service or extend their contract remotely.
Our sales reps have access to the same
information, along with datails of the
location of our lleet and all other
informalion required to serve Lhe
customer. Our order (utfilmenl syslem
utitises aulomated workflows connacted to
and powering our point of sale and logislics
systems to enable our sales reps to say
‘ves' withincreased confidence. Technology
enables our business and provides power
to the platform and a significant advantage
over our compelitors.

- Our large and experienced sales force
is encouraged to build and reinforce
customer relationships and to
concenlrate on generating strong,
whole-life returns from our renlal fleet.
Our sales force works closely with our
cuslomers to ensure we meet their
needs. Through the application of
technology, it is equipped with real-time
access lofleel availability and pricing
information enabling it lo respond
rapidly to lhe needs of a customer
while optimising returns.

- We guarantee our service standards and
promise our customers we will make it
happen. We believe Lhal our focus on
cuslomer service and the guaranlees
we offer help dislinguish our businesses
from competilors and assisl us in
delivering superior financial returns.
Our responsiveness lo custorner needs
is criticalin a business where c. 65% of
orders are placed for delivery within
24 hours. We have long-standing
relationships with many of our
customers. Our cuslomer retention is
high due to lhe scale and quality of our
fleet, our speed of response and our
customer service.

- Our local management teams are
experienced and incenlivised to produce
strong financial returns and high quality
standards. We believe that the autonomy
given lo management teams to take
decisions locally ensures that, despite
our size, we relain the feel of a small,
local business for our employees.

INVESTING IN OUR PEOPLE

Our people enable us to provide the
exceptional customer service that keeps
our customers coming back. Our
exceptional slalf and locus on service give
us a huge compelitive advantage in what
we do. On pages 59 to 61 we discuss the
importance of our team members and
corporate cullure in more detail. We aim
to recruil good people and then invest in
them throughoul their careers.
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL CONTINUED
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DIVERSE MARKETS AND APPLICATIONS

Our range of construction, industrial and general
equipment is applicable to broad and diverse end
markets, with individual products having many
different applications. As such, our equipment
serves the needs of customers from
construction to zoos and from data centres to
community events. More than 50% of our
revenue comes from non-construction markets.
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Providing equipment for
facililies management
ata shopping complex

Indoor Air Quality,

advanced climate
control applications

facility maintenance.

Power generation, load
banks, temporary HVAC
solutions, access,
environmentally-friendly
focused solutions

Providing temporary
climate control
solutions for retail
premises and office
buitdings

(o)

A

Providing traffic
management solutions
for engineering projects

==

On-site tool hire,
accommodation and
maintenance for
anew residenlial
conslruction sile

Facilitating fit-out and
ongoing maintenance
at a power plant

Tarmac/runway
resurfacing, construction/
remodelling of lerminals,
{acilily mainlenance, {loor
care mainlenance
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OUR STRATEGY
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AMBITION WITH
PURPOSE - SUNBELT 3.0

W it s

Following our successful Project 2021,
during which we increased our revenue
almost 75% from $3,825m in 2016 to
$6.639m in 2021, we launched the latest
iteration of our strategic plan, Sunbelt 3.0,
in April 2021. Sunbelt 3.0 s ambitious and
reflects what we believe is achievable for
Ashtead. Our planis infused with purpose
for all our stakeholders; our people, our
customers, our suppliers, our investors
and our communities, and underpinned by
critical cultural elements. We are already
seeing big cultural shifts across our enlire
business and all our territories.

Our business, even under normal
circumstances, is cyclical and we have
created a business model that not only
accommodates that, but capitalises onit.
We seek to make the most of the
structural growth opportunities available
to us, particularly in the US and Canada,
through same-store investment,
greenfields and bolt-ons. From 2011 to
2021, we achieved 16% compound annual

.......

ACTIONABLE COMPONENTS

growth in the US, of which two-thirds
was from markel share gains. Now we
are taking the business to the next level,
through Sunbelt 3.0.

We are conservative in our approach to
maintaining a stable and secure balance
sheet throughout the cycle which gives us
the flexibility to manage changes to the
business and its environment, as and
when they occur. We have been able to
take decisions based on the long-term
prospects for the business without having
to take short-term decisions that could
damage the fabric of it. The past two years
have demonstrated perhaps more than
anything else, our abitily to not only
withstand difficult market conditions, but
actually to flourish under them. We have
emerged trom this period stronger than
ever. Being a highly diversified business
has enabled that, as does our strategic
planning for any eventuality. We work well
in good times and bad. That is what we do.

Our goal for Sunbelt 3.0 is to add 298
greenfield locations across North
America bringing us to a total of 1,234
locations in 2024, while in the UK, the
focus is on transforming the business over
the 3.0 period to deliver enhanced and
sustainable margins and returns. We have
already added 88 greenfield locations in
North America and a further 35 through
bolt-ons, and the UK business is seeing
improved performance from operating
as a more cohesive unit. We are guided
by five actionable components which help
us capitalise on the structural growth
opportunities still very much available

in North America and position us as the
leading rental company in the UK.

These are underpinned by three culturat
elements thal make us who we are,
invesling in our people, maintaining our
entrepreneurial cullure but doing that at
scale, and continuing to bring Availability,
Reliability and Ease to our customers.

.

(A I A I I a2 2l

Advance our clustered market approach through a proven playbook to meet demand and
enable increased rental penetration in North America while optimising our
operational network in the UK.

Grow General Tool and
advance our clusters

Drive acceleraled growth Lhrough recenlly realised Specially scale, unique cross-selling
capabilities, and demand in the early phases of rental penetration.

Amplify Specialty

Advance technology Make the move from induslry-leading technotogy platform, to a leader among the broader
inaustrial and service seclor; further improving our customer value proposition and capture
the benefits of scale across the Group.
Embracing responsible sustainability and success for our people, our customers, our
communities and our investors; while unlocking structural benefits ESG will bring to rental

Lead with ESG
across the Group.

Consislenl applicalion of our capilal allocalion policy to oplimise capital deployment for Lhe
benefil of all stakeholders.

Dynamic capital
allocation

Underpinned by cultural elements
Investin our people Entrepreneurialism with scale Bringing Availability, Reliability
and Ease to our customers
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Our goal in the long-term is to achieve 20% market share in North America and continue to grow our share of the UK market.
We believe these are realistic goals given the way the rental market continues to evolve and the way we do business. Consistent-
implementation of our strategy across the economic cycle will ensure we are in a strong position at all times to take advantage
of the opportunities presented.

- Focus on cross-selling

business, temporary
struclures

| STRATEGIC KEY RELEVANT RELATED
PRIORITY INITIATIVES UPDATE KPIs RISKS
n - Organic fleel growth - 12% US market share - Rol - Economic
- 126 greenfield openingsin | - 8% Canadian market share | - Fleelonrent conditions
Grow General Tool North America - 10% UK markel share - Dollar - Competition
and advance our - Bolt-on M&A ~ 13%increase inUS utilisation - Peopleand
clusters | = 49 of top 100 US markels average fleet on rent - EBITDA culture
clustered by 2024 - 15% increase in Canadian margins
- Four of lop 10 Canadian average fleet onrent
markets clustered by 2024 | - 88 greenfield openings in
North America
EH5 - Revenue growlh {rom - Specialty revenue of - Rol - Economic
$1.4bn to $2.4b $2.0bn Fl iti
v -4bn to $2.4bn - 390flop 100US markets | ~ Fleetonrent conditions
Amplify - Organic fleet growth clustered - Dollar ~ Competition
Specialty - 172 greenfield openings - Three of top 10 Canadian . utilisalion - Peopte and
- Bolt-on M&A markels clustered - EBITDA cutture
- Develop Specialty - Mahaffey acquisition margins
products creates 10th Specialty

- Operationalimprovement:

- Dollar utilisation:

- Fleet onrent

~ Cyber security

- delivery cost recovery ~ US:57% - Dotlar - Laws and
Advance . - fleet efficiency ~ Canada: 55% © utilisation regulalions
technology ~ Increased use of - UK:58% - EBITDA
technology to drive - EBITDAmargins: margins
optimal service and - US:48%
revenue growth - Canada: 45%
- ARE initiative: Availability, - UK:30%
Reliability, Ease
n Making ESG core to how ~ 42.21C0.e/$m - Carbon - People and
we operale: - (2021:48.51C0;e/$m} intensity cutture
Lead with ESG ~ Focus on cullure - Slall lurnover - Staff turnover - Health and
-~ Focus on salely - US:21% - Safety safety
- Canada: 28% ~ Environmental
{1 - UK:25%
- RIDDOR reportable rates
- US: 017
- Canada: 0.15
- UK:0.22

Dynamic capital
allocation

- Organic growth
investment in existing
locations and greenfield
sites

~ Bolt-on M&A

- Returns to shareholders

- $2,397m of capital invested
in the business {2021:
$947m)

- $1,274m spent on current
yearacquisitions {2021:
$172m)

- $269m paid in dividends
(2021: $235m)

- Leverage of 1.5x EBITDA
lexcluding IFRS 14)

- $414m altocated to share
buyback

- Adjusted EPS

- Rol

- Netdebland
leverage

- Economic
conditions
- Competition

Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022
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OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED
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The first of our actionable components

is lo grow our General Tool business and
advance our proven clustered market
approach to meel demand and enable
increased rentat penetration in North
America. in the UK, our focus is on
optimising our operational network.

We are focused on achieving operational
improvements in existing tocations,
exploiting latent capacity in newly opened
locations, investing in fleet, leveraging the
economics of our cluster approach and
improving rental rates.

We plan to open 126 General Tool
greenfield locations whose location has
been determined based on our experience
and analytics down to the zip code level.
This analysis includes our assessmenl

of current market share, fleet per capita,
customer statistics, construction starts,
proximity to existing locations, square
footage under roof and the competitive
landscape. Our greenfield openings are

/ VAV N R R R N s A S AR
e ./,/./,/,/a/,/,//////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////

ROW GENERAL TOOL
ND ADVANCE OUR CLUSTERS

4/1/1/111
e

biased towards the western part of the
US where we have lower market share.
This organic growth strategy is being
complemented by bolt-ons.

Our plans during Sunbelt 3.0 for Canada
involve bringing our market share to our
2021 US level through 26 greenfield
openings, across all provinces and
advancing our clusters around Toronlo
which s the largest rental market. When
we entered the Canadian marketin 2014
we acquired six localions in Weslern
Canada. In 2022 we have 66 General Tool
locations and by 2024 we will have 86.

There is a drag on margins when we open
new stores but generally they improve
quickly as they deliver more revenue and
tater broaden the fleet and customer mix.
The same happens with acquisitions
because we buy businesses we can
improve, etther operationally or through
additional investment, or both. Even when
the market declines, as was the case in

10 MARKET SHARE AND GROWTH STRATEGY

2020/21, our stores can continue to benefit
from the structurat part of the growth
which is independent of the market. This
is why we are consistently able to out
perform both our compelilors and the
markel. The strength of our brand and
reputation means that greenfield sites
become profitable very quickly. The
diversity of our product portfolio and
services only adds to this.

Structural growth i1s people choosing

to rent more equipment [increased rental
penetration) and the big getting bigger
lincreased market share). We are able

to keep growing because we prioritise
investment in the fleet and have the
financiat security to do that. Our
customers want good quality fleet, readily
available lo meet their needs. Investing in
a broad range of fleet and backing that up
with greal service means our cuslomers
remain loyal and do not need lo look
elsewhere. Prioritising higher return
oninvestment ['Rol’} products further
helps our growth.

APRIL 2012

APRIL 2022

Market share:

0 0% 0080 10%0Omm 15%

Locations:

® April 2012 @ Location growlh May 2012 lo April 2022

Sotce: IHS Markit/ARA: State of the Lquipment Rental Industiy, Apiil 2022 and management estimates,
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Our cluster approach

Our cluster approachis an important aspect
of our strategy. Our greenfield sites are
chosen to enhance our existing business.
We focus on building cluslers of stores
because, as they mature, they access a
broader range of markets unrelated to
construction leading to better margins and
Rol. The size and composition of a cluster
depends on the market size based on
Designated Market Areas.

Atop 25 market cluster in the US has more
than 15 stores, a top 26-50 market cluster
more than ten stores and a top 51-100
marketl more than four stores. We also
include the smaller 101-210 markets within
our clusler analysis. We have found that
these smaller markets, while performing
less well than others overall, often prove
more resilient when times are less good.
Our definition of a cluster in these markets
is two or more stores. Creating clustersiis
also a key element of our expansion
strategy in Canada which also helps us
increase the Specialtly business element
of what we can provide for customers. With
the advanced technology we have in place,
we are able to analyse local market data
very accurately. This allows us to find
similarities between certain US and
Canadian centres, and model our growth
plans accordingly. The more customers
gel lo know and trust us, the faster we are
able to grow.

We focus on ensuring our clusters meet

the multiple needs of local customers

even if that means some stores may appear
superficially to perform less well than
others. The interaction of the storesina
cluster is what gives us real competitive
advantage. We find that having a biend of
locations is highly desirable and we like to
mix up the large equipment locations with
smaller General Tool stores. The addition
of Specially slores serves lo really
differentiate us from competitorsin the 7
area. This enables us to broaden and
diversify our customer base and o Fend
markets, as we extend our reach'within a
market. Average revenue pe,r/é'{ore 15 not a
relevant measure with which to evaluate the
success of indwidual clusters or even the
business as a wholﬁﬂhe value is in the mix,

11 OPPORTUNITY TO BUILD OUT FURTHER CLUSTERS

us
Rental markets Top 25 26-50 51-100 100-210
Rental market % o 57% ___19% o 16% 8%
Clusler definilion >15 >10 >4 >1

Clusl_ere_d_ 15 markets

9 markels 15 markels 16 markets

Canada
Rental markets T T R
Rental markel % - 7%  20%  13%
Cluster definition 51 >4 1
Cluslered 2 markets Lr_rjma_r_kel_m 7_r3§‘rk‘etsﬂ

Source: Management information.




SPECIALTY

Our second actionable component is to
amplify our Specially businesses which
focus on products with comparatively
tow rental penelration in predominantly
non-construction markets. These
products are often a natural add-on to
our General Tool products and services.
We are always looking for new rental
opportunities and to expand the number
of our Specialty businesses which in
North America include:

- Power and HVAC;

- Climate Control and Air Quality;
- Scaffold Services;

- Flooring Solutions;

- Pump Solutions:

. - Lighting, Grip and Lens;
- Ground Protection;
. - Industrial Tool;

- Shoring Solutions; and
= Temporary Structures.

ALl
YIS I

In North America we are investing in fleet
to enable existing location growth as well
as continuing our greenfield openings and
bolt-on acquisitions. We are scaling the
less developed business lines and
identifying, exploring and developing

new white and grey space opportunities.
A good example of grey space was our
acquisition of Mahaffey in December 2021,
establishing our 10th Specially business
line, temporary structures.

Our Specialty businesses are lrue
specialisms with in-house experts in
each business line with in-depth product
and application knowledge, who enable us
to provide the very best level of service to
our customers.

26 Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022
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We are looking to grow our North
American Specialty revenue to ¢. $2.4bn
during Sunbelt 3.0 through our ambitious
plans to drive rental penetration and
increase our market share. We have made
significant progress in the first year of
Sunbelt 3.0 with revenue of $2.0bn. We
have a broad-based leam identifying new
rental product ideas for both existing and
new businesses, and a culture thal
encourages ideas at all levels of the
organisation, building entrepreneurialism
with scale.

In the UK we are making targeted fleet
investment, accelerating Specialty growth
through cross-selling and also identifying
and developing new opportunities. In the
UK we are already seeing significant
growth in cross-referrals.
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ADVANCE
TECHNOLOGY
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The third of our strategic actionable
components is advancing the way we

use technology. We are moving from being
an industry-leading technology platform
to being a leader among the broader
industrial and service sector, further
improving our customer value proposition
and capturing benefits of scale across the
Group. We do this by: leveraging our
experience, culture and the data we
accumulate day-to-day; making whal we
creale, sustainable and scalable; building
a technology-driven ecosyslem; enabling
eCommerce across all channels; ensuring
we improve further our customer value
proposition of Availability, Reliability and
Ease; and migrating our common
applications to a group-wide platform.

We have a robust technology
infrastructure which supports our
proprietary systems with the aim of
continuous improvement to enable The
Perfect Rental™. With c. 65% of orders
placed for delivery within 24 hours, our
goalis to enable our sales force to say
‘yes’ confidently, through the use of our
proprietary cloud-based sourcing
decision engine, Chronos. Our Sunbelt 3.0
technology roadmap is designed to
enhance the capability of all our systems,
mobile applications and tools to make
thermn ever smarter and more flexible,
such that they deliver improvements in
custamer service, procurement
opportunities, service operations,
logistics and our management of
resources. We are focused specifically on
increasing order capture, improving time
utilisation, improving rental rates and
enhancing dynamic pricing.

o

THE PERFECT RENTAL™

W EN //‘(%

Safety for our people, our customers and our communities

Availability, Reliability and Ease

Professional and friendly interaction

Right equipment for the application

Deliverad ontime

Easy.and efficient omni-channel experience

Smartly dispatched

No breakdown in first 48 hours

Optimised pricing

Proactive telematics notifications

Sustainable process

AN AN AN ATAYAYAYAVYASANANAY

The Sunbelt Promise

VSIS S

IEITiSINOTIPERFEECTAWEIMAKEITIRIGHT
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A major update to our strategyin AR 5575 N\,
launching Sunbelt 3.0 was the inclusion, . ; * NN \
for the first time, of ESG as an aclionable ‘ —

component. Responsible sustainability
has always been imporlant to the Group
and part of our activities day-to-day, bul
now itis formally embedded into our
strategy for the benefit of our people,
customers, suppliers, communities and
investors, as well as optimising the
structural benefits ESG brings to rental.
This is an important element in what we
mean by Ambition with Purpose for
Sunbelt 3.0. We believe there are
enormous benefits to the environment
from rental versus ownership at alt stages
of the business life cycle, supply chain,
operations, cuslomer use and end of life
of equipment. iLis far better for the
environmenl for many customers to rent
one piece of well-maintained and safe
equipment only when they need it, than
for many customers to each purchase said
piece of equipment, use it a few times, fail
to maintain it properly and then throw it
away when it becomes obsolete or just no
longer needed. This is a prime example of
the sharing economy. Increased rental of
shared assets reduces the number of
machines that need to be manufactured
with the benefit of lower consumption of
raw malerials, fewer manufacturing
facilities and hence, lower energy
requirements, and fewer assets lo be
disposed of end of life. Our rental
equipment is also amongst the greenest
avatlable as we renew our fleeton a
regular basis and take advantage of

the latest technology. We have made a
commitment to reduce our Scope 1and 2

carbon intensity by 35% by 2030 and by Fromasoc1alperspectxve,our peo'ple' As an essential service provider we N
o P - have always been first on the priority list support our customers and communities

15% during Sunbelt 3.0. This will come ) . . Cen

principally from eavironmental and that was ever more evident during whether that be investing in the

efficiencies in our transportation fleet COVIlD-19‘ OL;rf is a culture cc:n’;r.m\tei to ;:_orr:mumtledsm Whl((’:h‘outr pe?ple reside,

and the facilities we operate. employee safety, engagement, diversity., irst responder participation for
equity and inclusion, and providing a emergencies, or natural disaster
Leading/ Living Wage. Putting our peopte  response such as hurricane relief. You can
first allows them to give us enormous read more about our ESG sirategy in our
competitive advantage. Our skilted Responsible business report on page 54
workforce is instrumental o the Group's and about governance in the Corporate

long-term success and we preserved our governance repori on page 84.
committed workforce during COVID-19 so

that we were ready for ihe recovery when

it came.
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Our final actionable component is
dynamic capital allocation; the consistent
application of our capital application policy
to optimise capital deployment for the
benefit of all our stakeholders.
Maintaining financial and operational
flexibility enables us to flex our business
and operalional models through the
economic cycle. This enables us to react
quickly lo bolh opporlunities in the market
and negative changes. The more growth
we experience and plan for, the more
financial and operational flexibility we
need. A key element of our strategy is
ensuring we have the financial strength

to enable growth when appropriate and
make our returns sustainable. Having

a strong balance sheet is fundamentat

to our success at all stages in the cycle.

Our consistently applied policy continues
with the following allocation priorities:

- organic growth investment in existing
locations and greenfield siles;

- bolt-on acquisitions; and

- returns o shareholders - a progressive
dividend policy and share buybacks to
maintain our target leverage range.

A core element of our financial stability
comes from our strategy of ensuring that,
averaged across the economic cycle, we
always deliver Rol well ahead of our cost
of capital. Rol through the cycle is the key
measure for any rental company and the
best medium-term indicator of the
strength of the business. We do thisina
variety of ways at different stages of the
cycle, all focused on the elfeclive
management of invested capital and
financial discipline.

DYNAMIC CAPITAL

The maturity of our stores has a big
impact on Rol. As stores mature, and the
size and range of fleet increases, there is
natural margin and returns progression.
Stores that were greenfield sites only two
years ago are now already adding
same-store growth. We are always
focused on moving new and young stores
up the maturity curve as Lhere is scope for
higher returns as they progress. This also
means that we are now at a very different
stage in our evolution in the current
economic cycle relative to where we were
in the last cycle. We have more stores and
they are larger and more mature than at
the peak of the tast cycle, and are well
placed to take advantage of growth
opportunities and much better placed to
weather downturns, when they arise, as
we have seen over the last two years.

We have been consistent in our
commitment to both low leverage and a
well-invested fleet, and we benefit from
the oplions Lhis stralegy has provided. The
length and gradual nature of the last cycle
enabled us to eslablish a smooth, well
dislributed fleet profile across the age
bands which provides significant flexibility
across the economic cycle. Traditionally,
rental companies have only generated
cash in a downturn when they reduce
capital expenditure and age their fleet.

In the upturn, they consume cash as they
replace their fleets and then seek to grow.
We have changed this dynamic through
the cycle with our scale and strong

margins. We have been in a phase where
we continued to grow the business in the
latter part of the last cycle and were highly
cash generative. This cash generation
continued in 2021/22, with free cash flow
of $1.125m, while we invested significantly
in the business. Our leverage remains at
the boltom of our target range of 1.5t0 2.0
times net debt to EBITDA [excluding IFRS
16] which provides the Group with
significant flexihility, security and a
platform for growth as we look to
improving markets.

This financial position, when combined
with the scale, maturity and diversity of
the business, puts us in a strong position
as we implement Sunbelt 3.0. Free cash
flow from operations will fund 100% of
our ambitious Sunbelt 3.0 organic growth
plans, leaving significant capacity for
botl-ons and returns lo shareholders.

(s

CULTURAL ELEMENTS
Underpinning our five actionabte
components are our cultural
elements of investing in our
people; fostering a culture of
‘entrepreneurialism with scale’;

and continuously delivering on our
customer promise of Availability,
Reliability and Ease. We believe our
culture drives the success of our
business and, as such, these
elements underpin our strategic
plan and are critical to its delivery.

LSS SIS S
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SUNBELT 3.0 IN ACTION
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the acquisition of Mahaffey provides the foundation to add a new
Specially business line to our portfolio this year, bringing the total
to 10. Mahaffey s the market leader in temporary structure
rentals servicing the emergency response, industrial and events
markets. We have a long history of collaborating with Mahaffey
and we know this business has great growth prospects and we
will benefit from cross-selling opportunities.

We also acquired ComRent, the market-leading load bank rental
business. The load bank market represents an excellent growth
opportunity in the rapidly advancing electrification environment.
This acquisilion makes us North America’s largest provider of
load banks and related services. ComRent will be a part of our
largest Specially business, Power and HVAC, creating even more
powerful cross-selling opportunities.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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MEASURING

OUR PERFORMANCE

............

At Group level, we measure the performance of the business
using a number of key performance indicators [KPIs'). These
help to ensure that we are delivering against our strategic
priorities as set out on page 22. Several of these KPls
(adjusted EPS, return on investment, leverage and carbon
intensity] influence the remuneration of our executive team
(see page 97).

Certain KPIs are more appropriately measured for each of our
operating businesses, whereas other KPls are best measured
for the Group as a whole.

(Ll

KEY

Link to strategic priority:

Grow General Tool and
advance our clusters

Amplify Specialty
Advance technology
Lead with ESG

Dynamic capilal allocation

O ppopnn|

Linked o remuneration

ADJUSTEDEPS (¢) RETURN ON INVESTMENT (‘ROI') (%)

NET DEBT AND LEVERAGE AT
CONSTANT EXCHANGE RATES

(1121 [R 1]2]s R

20

18 18 18
I I I | ‘5 I

2022 performance
Our Rolwas 18% for the year ended
30 April 2022.

08 2009 2020 2020 2022 w2019 2000 2021 2022 APRI8 APR19 APR20 APR2I APR22
BB Neidebt(m) O Leveragelx)

Calculation Calculation Calculation

Adjusted Group profit after taxation divided Last 12-month ['LTM’) adjusted operating Net debt is total debt less cash balances, as

by the weighted average number of shares in profit divided by the LTM average of the sum reporled, and leverage is net debt divided by

issue [excluding shares held by the Cornpany of net tangible and intanagible fixed assets, EBITDA, catculaled at constant exchange

and the ESOT). plus net working capilal but excluding net rates (balance sheet rsle). Both net debt
debt and tax. Rol is calculated excluding the and leverage exclude the impact of IFRS 16.

Target impact of IFRS 16.

As a cyclical business, adjusted EPSvaries Target

through the cycle. Target We seek to maintain a conservalive
Averaged across lhe economic cycle we look balance sheel structure with a targel lor

2022 performance to deliver Rol well ahead of our cost of neldeblto EBITDA ol 1.510 2.0 limes

Adjusted EPS was 307.14 per share capilal, as discussed in our slralegic review. lexcluding [FRS 16].

in 2021/22.

2022 performance

Excluding lease liabilities ansing under
IFRS 14, net debt at 30 April 2022 was
$5.179m and leverage was 1.5 limes.
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FLEET ON RENT [$M/EM/C$M)

DOLLAR UTILISATION (%)

EBITDA MARGINS (%)

HEH
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7,460
6,543 6,595

551 423 580 398 633 456
2020 2021 2022

Bus BEUk B Canada

2022

2020 2021

Bus BUK B Canada

Calculation

Fleetonrentis measured as the daily
average of Lthe original cost of our ilemised
equipment on rent.

Target

To achieve growlh rales in excess of
the growlh in our markels and Lhal of
our compelitors,

2022 performance

Inthe US, fleet on rentincreased 13% [rental
revenue up 22%), in Canada, fleet on rent
increased by 15% [rental revenue up 30%),
while in the UK itincreased by 9% [rental
revenue up 13%). The US market increased
by 9%, the Canadian market by 17% and the
UK market by 8%.

Calculation

Dollar utilisation is rental revenue divided by
average fleet at original [or ‘first’) cost
measured over a 12-month period.

Target
Improve dollar ulitisalion lo drive improving
relurns in lhe business.

2022 performance

Dollar utilisation was 57% in the US, 55% in
Canada and 58% in the UK. The increase in
the US and Canada reflects belter fteet
utilisation fotlowing the COVID-19 pandemic

and an improved rale environment. In the UK,

the increase reflects the work done for the
Department of Health.

Calcutation
EBITDA as a percentage of lotal revenue.

Target

Toimprove or mainlain margins wilh EBITDA
margins ol 40-50% in the US, 40-45% in
Canada and 35-40% in Lhe UK.

2022 performance
EBITDA margins in 2021/22 were 48% in the
US, 30% in the UK and 45% in Canada.

CARBON INTENSITY (TCO,e/$m) STAFF TURNOVER (%) SAFETY
Go 3] @
622
2 23
02t 2022 = 2021 2020 o

Bus Buk B Canada

Bus Buk B Canada

Calculation

Carbon intensity is calculated as emissions
per $m of revenue [ICO,e/$m), calculaled at
conslanl exchange rates.

Target

To reduce our carbon intensity by 35% by
2030 wilh reference to 2018 as a base year,
with a shorter-term target of 15% by 2024.

2022 performance
Our carbon emissian intensity ralio was
42.212021: 48.5).

Calculation

Stalf turnover is catculaled as Lhe number of
leavers in a year [excluding redundancies)
divided by the average headcount during the
year.

Target

Our aimis to keep employee lurnover below
historical levels to enable us 16 build on the
skill base we have established and maintain
and enhance the culture of the business.

2022 performance

Turnover levels have increased across

the business. Voluntary employee turnover
and the actions we are taking to reduce it
are discussed on page 60. Our well-irained,
knowledgeable stafl remain targets for
our competitors.

Calcutation

The RIDDOR [Reporting of Injuries, Diseases
and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations)
reportable rate is the number of major
injuries or over seven-day injuries per
100,000 hours worked.

Target
Continued reduclion in accident rates.

2022 performance
The RIDDOR reportable rales were 0.17 in the
US,0.22in the UK and 0.15 in Canada.

More detailis included in our Responsible
business report on page 56.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

////////////////////////// VO PP PIrIY
///////////////////////////////////////////////////////////

The Group recognises the importance of
identifying and managing financial and
non-financial risks faced by the business.
In response to this, it has developed a
rigorous risk management framework
designed to identify and assess the
likelihood and consequences of risks and
lo manage the aclions necessary to
mitigate their impact, including those
related to climate-related matters. Our
risk identification processes seek lo
identify risks from both a top-down
strategic perspective and a bottom-up
business perspective. The Board has
overall responsibitity for risk
management, setting of risk appetite and
implementation of the risk management
policy. This is designed to enable our
employees to take advantage of attractive
opportunities, yet to do so within the risk
appetite set by the Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

R g .

The Group Risk Register is the core of the
Group’s risk management process. [l
conlains an overall assessment of the
risks faced by the Group together with the
controls established to reduce those risks
to anacceptable level and is maintained by
the Group Risk Committee. The Group
Risk Register is based on detailed risk
registers maintained by Sunbelt in North
America and the UK, which are reviewed
and monitored through local risk
committees. The operation and
effectiveness of the local risk committees,
which meet at least quarlerly, continues to
be enhanced.

The Group Risk Commiltee meels as
required, but al least lwice a year, with the
objective of encouraging best risk
management practice across the Group

and a culture of regulatory compliance
and ethical behaviour. The Committee is
chaired by Michael Pratt, our chief
financial officer and also includes:

- inrelation to North America:

- the chief financial officer;

- Lhe head of central operations;

- the head of administration and
business development;

- the chief technology officer;

- the head of safety, health and
environment; and

- one of the operational executive vice
presidents;

in relation to the UK, the chief financial

officer, who chairs the UK business risk

committee;

- the Group’'s managing director of ESG:
and

- Groupand US counsel.

s

GROUP RISK COMMITTEE

- Reviews keyand emerging r'sks on
aregular basis with support from the
businesses’ risk committees whech
meet quat terly.

- Receives n-depth presentations
from the businesses’ risk committees
on key matters,

Y lds

AUDIT COMMITTEE

- Receives presentations [rom Group Risk
Commitlee on the Group Risk Regisler
on an annual basis.

- Assessz2s affectiveness of risk
management process.

s

BOARD

- Overallresponsibility for risk
management framework and the
definition of rish sppetile.

- Undertakes Board monitoring of
significant risks throughout the year,

e
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ASSESSMENT
OF LIKELIHOOD
AND IMPACT

RISK

IDENTIFICATION

Financial,
operational,
environmental

and regulatory
impacts considered.

- Assessedbothona -
top-down and
boltom-up basis.

- Risks considered most
materialto the
business.

- Consideration of
emerging risks.

'

GROUP RISK REGISTER

Group Risk Register summarises work of Group Risk Committee, changes in risks identified
and details by significant risk material controls and monitoring activities complelted.

STRATEGIC

RISK APPETITE DETERMINED

Risk appelite determined with reference lo the Group's risk calegories-

OPERATIONAL
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RISK MITIGATING

CONTROLS
IMPLEMENTED

APPETITE
DETERMINED

Mitigating controls
identified,
implemented and
monitored to ensure
risk is reduced to an
acceptable tevel.

Risk appelite -
assessed for

individual risks

in accordance with

our overall Group

risk appetite.

FINANCIAL
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The Group Risk Committee reports
annually through the Audit Committee to
the Board and, as part of this process,
produces an updated Group Risk Register.
The Board assesses on a regular basis
whether the appropriate risks have been
identified, including any emerging risks
which may impact the Group, and that
adequate assurance is obtained over
those risks.

In addition, consideration is given to
ensure that risks have been appropriately
assessed in relation to risk rating. Our
risk appetite is reflected in our rating of
risks and ensures the appropriate focus is
placed on the correct risks. The Board
lakes a view of the prospects of the
business through the cycle and, given the
inherent cyclicalily in the business, tends
to operate with a low risk appetite.

The Group Risk Commuttee priorities this
year included:

- assessment of the Group Risk Register,
including identification and
prioritisation of business risks;

- health and safety, together with
continuous improvement through
training and awareness;

- driver safety, training and compliance;

- focus on the continued development of
our technology environment, including
in relatlion to cyber security;

- assessment of the environmental and
social impact of the Group:

- monitoring of compliance with laws and
regulations; and

- performance standards audits.

Our priorilies for next year focus on the
principal areas of risk to the Group and
are similar. In particular:

- continue our safety initiatives, focused
on serious injury and fatality [SIF’)
protocols and driver programmes;

- focus on the development of our
technology environment in accordance
with the Group's strategic plans,
inctuding a continued focus on cyber
security; and

- focus on our ESG initiatives, delivering
against our environmental and social
priorities.

Wl s

PRINCIPAL RISKS

Set out below are the principal business
risks that could impact the Group’s
business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity and information on
how we mitigate them. Our risk profile
evolves as we move through the economic
cycle and commentary on how risks have
changed is included below. The
Committee has considered whether
climate-related matters represent a
principal risk for the Group. The Group
believes that climate-relaled matters are
addressed principally through our
environmental risk and commitment to
reduce carbon intensity. On balance, the

Committee believes that climate change
and emerging technologies will increase
the demand for rental and continue the
shift from ownership to rental, rather than
presenting a risk to our business model.
In addition, we have removed ‘financing’
as a principal risk. The risk of financing
relates to lhe potential failure lo replace
debt facilities prior to their maturity,
resulting in the Group being unable to
meet its debt obligation as they fall due.
As an investment grade rated company,
operating in the lower part of our target
leverage range, we no longer believe this
represents a principal risk.

KEY

Changeinriskin 2021/22:
Increased risk

Constant risk
Decreased risk

Link to strategic priority:

Grow General Tool and
advance our clusters

Amplify Specialty
Advance technology

Lead with ESG

Dynamic capital allocation

Economic conditions

(M 1]2]s]

Potential impact

in the longer-term, there is a link
between levels of economic activity
and demand for our services. The

most significant end market which
affects our business is construction.
The construction market s cyclical and
typically lags the general economic
cycle by between 1Z and 24 months.

The economic uncertainties resulling
from the impact of COVID-19 or other
pandemics are considered as part of

this risk. :

Mitigation

- Prudent management through the
different phases of the cycle.

- Flexibility in the business model.

- Capital structure and debt facilities
arranged in recognition of the cyclical
nature of our market and able to
withstand-market shocks.

Change

The North American and UK economies
have rebounded from Lhe adverse
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and
our markets, particularly in North
America, are strong.- However, concerns
over inflation and increasing interest
rates has heightened the risk of an
economic slowdown in 2023.
Accordingly, we have increased the
likelihood rating of an adverse economic
event to "high'.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

Competition

] Jiz] s

Potential impact

The atready competitive market could
become even more competitive and
we could suffer increased compelilion
from large national competitors or
small companies or local companies
resulting-in reduced market share
and lower revenue.

This could negatively affect rental rates
and physical utilisation. Continuing
industry consolidation could also have
a similar effect.

Mitigation

~ Create commercial advantage by

providing the highest level of service,
consistently and at a price which
offers value.

- Differentiation of service.

- Enhance the barriers to entry to
newcomers provided by our platform:
industry-leading technology:
experienced personnel and a broad
network; and equipment fleet.

- Regularly estimate and monitor our
market share and track the
performance of our competitors.

Change

Our competitive position continues lo
improve. We have grown faster than our
larger competitors and the market, and
continue to take market share from our
smaller, less well financed competitors.
We have a 12% market share in the US,
an 8% market share in Canadaand a
10% market share in the UK.

Cyber security

]2

Potential impact

A cyber-attack or serious uncured
failure in our systems could result in us
being unable to deliver service to our
customers and /or the loss of data. In
particular, we are heavily dependent on
technology for the smooth running of our
business given the large number of both
units of equipment we rent and our
customers. As a result, we could suffer
reputational loss, revenue loss and
financia& penatties.

This is the most significant factor in our
business continuity planning.

Mitigation

- Stringent policies surrounding
security, user access, change control
and the ability to download and instalt
software.

- Testing of cyber security including red
team exercises, system penetration
testing and internal phishing and
other training exercises undertaken.

~ Use of antivirus and malware
software, firewalls, email scanning
and internet monitoring as an integral
part of our security plan.

- Use of firewalls and encryption to
protect systems and any connections
to third parties.

- Use of multi-factor authentication.

- Continued focus on development of
IT strategy taking advantage of cloud
technology available.

- Separate near-live back-up data

centres which are designed to be able
to provide the necessary services in
the evenl of a failure at a primary site.

Change

Good progress has been made in
enhancing the Group's cyber security
profile, with a significant and ongoing
investment in resource and tooling.
Nevertheless, cyber security remains

a continually evolving area and a priority
for the Group.

In retation to business continuily,
our plans have been subject to
continued review and updale during
the year and our disaster recovery
plans are tested reqularly.

Health and safety

Potential impact

A failure to comply with laws and
regulations governing health and safety
and ensure the highest standards of
health and safety across the Group could
result in accidents which may result in
injury to or fatality of an individual,
ctaims against the Group and/or damage
to our reputation.

Mitigation

- Maintain appropriate health and
safety policies and procedures
regarding the need to comply with
taws and regulations and to
reasonably guard our employees
against the risk of injury.

- Induction and training programmes
reinforce health and safety policies.

- Programmes to supportour
custorners exercising their
responsibility to their own workforces
when using our equipment.

- Maintain appropriate insurance
coverage. Further details are
provided on page 49.

Change

The health and safety of our team
members continues to be a key focus
area for the Group and an area of
continuous improvement,

In terms of reportable incidents, the
RIDDOR reportable rate was 0.17 (2021:
0.31}in the US, 0.15{2021: 0.29) in
Canadaand0.22(2021:0.27) in the UK.
Further details are provided in our
Responsible business report.
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People and culture

EaEn

Potential impact

Retaining and attracting good people is
key to delivering superior performance
and customer service, and maintaining
and enhancing our cullure.

Excessive staff turnover is likely to
impact on our abitity to maintain the
appropriate quality of service to our
customers and our culture and would
ultimately impact our financiat
performance adversely.

At a leadership level, succession
planning is required to ensure the Group
can continue to inspire the right culture,
leadership and behaviours and meet its
strategic objectives.

Mitigation

- Provide well-structured and
competitive reward and benefit
packages thal ensure our ability
to attract and retain the employees
we need.

- Ensure that our staff have the right
working environment and equipment
to enable them to do the best job
possible and maximise their
satisfaction at work.

- Investin training and career
development opportunities for
our people to support them in
their careers.

- Ensure succession plans are in place
and reviewed regularly which meet
the ongoing needs of the Group.

Change

Our compensation and incentive
programmes have continued to evolve to
reflect market conditions, the economic
environment and the resutis of our
employee engagement surveys.

Diversity, equity and inclusion
programmes have been established
across the business to enhance our efforts
to attract and retain the best people.

We are increasing our focus on mentat
health including ‘Let's Talk Mental
Health' in the UK.

Environmental

Potential impact

The Group has made a long-term
commitment to reduce its Scope 1 and 2
carbon intensity by 35% by 2030, from
its level in 2018, with a near-term
commitment to reduce its carbon
intensily by 15% by 2024, and set out a
roadmap to achieve this. Failure to do
so could adversely impact the Group
andiits stakeholders.

A significant part of our rental fleet

1s reliant on diesel engines. Over time,
‘greener’ alternatives will become
available as technology advances.

If we do not remain at the forefront of
technological advances, and invest in
the latest equipment, our rental fleet
could become obsolete.

In addition, we need to comply with the
numerous laws governing environmental
protection matters. These laws requlate
suchissues as wastewaler, storm water,
solid and hazardous wastes and
materials, and air quality. Breaches
potentially create hazards to our
employees, damage to our reputation
and expose the Group to, amongst other
things, the cost of investigating and
remediating contamination and also
fines and penalties for non-compliance.

Mitigation

- Policies and procedures in place at
all our stores regarding the need to
adhere to local laws and regulations.

- Procurement policies reflect the need
for the latest available emissions
management and fuel efficiency
tools inour fleet.

- Collaboration with key supptiers
to develop and pilot new technologies.

~ Greener vehicle transition plan.

- Real estate and facility standards
to reduce emissions from our
operations.

- Monitoring and reporting of carbon
emissions.

Change

The work of the Health, Safety and
Environmental departments and
Performance Standards teams
continues to assess environmental
compliance.

Our Scope 1and 2 carbon emissions
have been validated by the Carbon
Trust and we are working with them

to quantify our Scope 3 emissions. We
continue to assess the appropriateness
of science-based taryets for a rapidly
growing business.

tn 2021/22 our carbon emission Intensity
ratio reduced to 42.2 {2021: 48.5).
Further detailis provided on page 45.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

Laws and regulations

]3]

Potential impact

Failure to comply with the frequently
changing regulatory environment
could result in reputational damage
or financial penally.

Mitigation
- Maintaining a legal function to

oversee management of these risks . -

and to achieve compliance with
relevant legistation.

- Group-wide modern slavery, business
ethics and ethical sourcing policies,
and whistle-btowing arrangements.

- Evolving policies and practices to
take account of changes in legal
obligations. ’

- Training and induction programmes
ensure our staff receive appropriate
training and briefing on the relevant

Change

We monitor regulatory and legislative
changes o ensure our policies and
practices reflect them and we comply
with relevant tegislation.

Our whistle-blowing arrangements are
well established and the company
secretary reports matters arising to the
Audit Committee and the Board during
the course of the year. Further details as
to the Group's whistle-biowing
arrangements are provided on page 72.

policies.

During the year 5,970 people in the
US, 671 people in Canada and 845
people in the UK underwent induction
training. In addition, training
programmes were undertaken in
safely and business ethics.

Emerging risks

In addition to the principal risks identified above, the Board
considers what emerging risks may atso impact the Group. In
identifying emerging risks, the Board has considered both
third-party risk analysis as well as internal views of emerging
trends which may impact the business. As a resutt of this
analysis, the Board specifically considered climate-relatled
matters and emerging technologies, including battery-led
technologies and autonomous machines.

The Board believes climate-related matters are addressed
principally through our environmenlal risk and our
commitment to reduce our carbon intensity, but notes that this
is a developing area and as such continues to monitor the ways
inwhich climate change may affect the Group in the future. On
batance, the Board believes that the impact from climate
change and emerging technologies will increase the demand
for rental and continue the shift from ownership to rental,
rather than presenting a risk to our business model.
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ASSESSMENT OF PROSPECTS

AND VIABILITY

The prospecls of the Group are inherently
linked to the environment in which we
operate. While our principal markel is
construction, which is cyclical in nature,
it represents less than 50% of our
business. The balance is non-construction
related activity, including, inter alia,
industrial, events, maintenance and
repair, emergency response and facilities
management which, by their nature,

are typically less cyclical.

Our markets in the US and Canada are
undergoing structural change. Customers
are increasingly choosing to rent
equipment rather than own it and the
fragmented markels are consolidaling.
The Group is well positioned to take
advantage of these structural changes.
The UK market is more mature and
competitive than the US and Canada but
Sunbelt UK is the largest rental company
in that market and, with the Group’s
strong financial position, is well positioned
to optimise market conditions.

Period of assessment

The Board discusses regularly the faclors
affecting the Group’s prospects and the
risks it faces in optimising the opportunity
presented inits markets. The principat
risks, which the Board conctuded coutd
affect the business are set out on the
preceding pages. The Group's risks are
ongoing in nature and therefore could
crystallise at any time, rather than being
linked to a specific time frame. While the
Board has no reason to believe the Group
will not be viable over a longer period, the
period over which the Board considers it
possible to form a reasonable expectation
as lo the Group's longer-term viability, is
the three-year period to 30 April 2025.
This also aligns with the duration of the
business plan prepared annually and
reviewed by the Board. We believe this
provides a reasonable degree of
confidence over this longer-term outlook.

Assessment of viability

The Group prepares an annual budget and
three-year business plan. This plan
considers the Group’s cash flows and is
used to review its funding arrangements
and available liquidity based on expected
market conditions, capital expenditure
plans, used equipment values and other
factors that might affect liquidity. It also
considers the ability of the Group to raise
finance and deploy capital.

The nature of the Group’s business is such
that its cash flows are countercyclical. In
times of improving markets, the Group
invests in its rental fleet, both to replace
existing fleet and grow the overall size of
the fleet, which resulls in improving
earnings but lower cash flow generation
from operations in times of rapid growth.
However, as the cycle matures and the
rate of growth slows, the Group generates
strong cash flow from operations. In more
benign or declining markets, the Group
invests lessinits rental fleet and, as a
result, generates significant cash flow
from operations.

Recognising the impact of the economic
cycle and the risk of an economic
downturn on the business and its
financing requirements, we undertake
scenario planning based on the timing,
severity and duration of any downturn
and subsequent recovery. This scenario
planning considers the impact of the cycle
on revenue, margins, capital expenditure,
cash flows, overall debt levels and
leverage. The Group maintains a net debt
to EBITDA teverage target range of 1.5

to 2.0times (pre IFRS 16) and long debt
maturities to mitigate financing risk.

130d3¥ J1931VHLS I

Based on this analysis, and the Board's
regular monitoring and review of risk
management and internal control
systems, we do not believe there are any
reasonably foreseesble events thal could
not be mitigated through the Group's
ability to flex its capital expenditure plans
and coslt base, which would resultin the
Group nol being able lo meet its liabilities
as they fall due. The nature of the
business’ other principal risks is such
that, while they could affect the Group's
ability to achieve its objectives, they are
unlikely to prevent the Group from
meeting its liabilities as they fall due.

Viability statement

Based on the foregoing, the Board has a
reasonable expeclation that the Group will
be able to continue in operation and meet
its liabilities as they fall due over the
period to 30 Aprit 2025.
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SUNBELT 3.0 IN ACTION

The Sunbelt app is a real game changer, providing what we believe

to be the easiest rental experience in the market. It is the only mobile
app that lets customers go directly from account creation, to renting,
to managing their rentals, to customer service and paying invoices
too. Both small DIY or targer credit account customers can create
their account in five minutes or tess with automated workflows,

then be up and ready to go.

The app has an easy and intuitive search and reservation function
with over 1,600 equipment categories. Texl, email and push
nolifications facilitale complete ease of use, as do market-relevant
modifications such as Canada-specilic data fields for customers.
We will be rolling out a whole host of app improvements in the
coming year.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Engaging actively with our stakeholders is critical
to the success of the Group and the Group engages
regularly with stakeholders on a variety of topics
relevant to the business.

A high degree of delegation of the
engagement with stakeholders to the
management teams within the Group
exisls in order to ensure the smooth
operation of the Group on a day-to-day
basis. As noled within our Corporate
governance reporl, the role of the Board
is to provide a framework under which
the Group operates but under which the
Group’s businesses have freedom and
decision-making authority to pursue
business opportunities, underpinned by
the culture of the Group. The directors
believe that this is an important factor in
the operation of the Group and the
Group's overall success.

Authority for the operational
management of the Group’s businesses
is therefore delegaled to the chief
executive, or further delegated by him lo
the senior management teams within the
Group. This ensures effective day-to-day
operation of the Group while maintaining
effective governance.

At a board tevel, Board members are
encouraged to engage with our
stakeholders directly, for example
through meeting with individual
employees during site visits or through
investor meetings, such as those to
obtain remuneration policy feedback
or through attendarce at the Group's
annual general meeting. In addition,
the Board recelves feedback from
management as (o stakeholder views.
This occurs in a number of ways
including through board reports,
investor feedback reports from our
brokers and employee survey reports.
An example of board-level engagement
has beenillusirated in the case study
on page 43 focusing on the Board's
engagement with our people.

In retation to the Group's overall
engagement with stakeholders, the
Group nas identified the foliowing
groups as being fundamental to the
success of the Group:

Definition

(51
Existing and praspective 8_:
employees, including

apprentices

Why relevant?

Our employees want towork for a
company which values them, provides
ongoing development, treats them fairly
and remunerates them appropriately.
Investing in our people ensures we
maintain our culture by having the right
people and enabtes us to deliver on our
slrategic goals.

Nature of engagement

Employee engagement apps
Regular "toolbox tatks’ and "lown hall’
meetings

Employee surveys

National conferences, leadership
team meetings and other employee
evenls

Regular communication on safety,
with dedicated safety weeks
Training programmes

Apprenlice programmes
Employee retief programme

Further details are provided on
pages 56 to 63.

Our response to engagement

Employee reward and benefit
structure which recognises the
contribution our employees make to
the success of the business
Emptoyee policies which ensure our
people are treated fairly

Ensuring safely remains a
correrstone of our cuiture
Continued focus on diversity, equity
and inclusion across the Group, with
DEl Task Forces in ptace in North
America and the UK

Relevant KPIs

Employee survey scores
Safely metrics
Employee retention metrics
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Definition

- National and other
managed accounts

- Small and mid-sized
enterprises

- individuals

Why relevant?

Our customers wanl to have confidence
in the ‘Availability, Reliability and Fase’

of our offering as a reliable alternative

to ownership.

Nature of engagement

- Account managers for major
customers

- Customer feedback mechanism

- Store level staff with local customer
relationships

~ Customer centric lechnology to
facilitate customer engagement

- Customer focused websites

Our response to engagement

- Conlinued investment in fleel,
including greener rental options
where we are working with
customers and suppliers to develop
new technologies

- Investment in new markel offerings lo
broaden our rental offering

- Continued investment in customer
focused technology solutions,
including launch of new customer
eCommerce websites and apps

Relevant KPls

- Customer satisfaction scores
- Level of repeat business

- Customer spend

- Debtor days/oays lo credit




ARSFUES ORETILES 'OURIINVES TORS)
Definition Definition 8/8\8 Definition O

- Major equipment suppliers - Local communities NQ/ - Shareholders C >
- Other equipment suppliers to our operations a linstitutional) @

- Service providers

Why relevant?

Partnering with our suppliersina
coliaboralive manner ensures lhal we
have access lo equipmenl when we
need il and enables us to deliver new
innovation to the market.

Nature of engagement

- Dedicated account managers for
major suppliers

- Central procurement leams manage
supplier relationships

~ Collaboration to develop and pilot
new lechnologies, including making
targeted investments where
appropriate to support the
development of greener technology

Our response to engagement

- Regular meetings with key supptiers
to assist in management of
production cycles

- Policiesin place in relation 1o working
with our suppliers fairly

- Clear procurement terms agreed

Relevant KPIs
- Payment practices statistics

- Families of employees

Why relevant?

We want to make a posilive contribution
lo the communilies in which we operale.
Eslablishing the right relalionships wilh
our communities also helps us to
altract the best talent into our business.
Supporting the families of our staff is
just the right thing to do.

Nature of engagement

- Nationwide programmes.in addition
to local community initiatives entered
into by individual depots

- Responding to community needs for
emergency relief

- Charily partnerships which support
our communities

Further details are provided on
pages 68to71.

Our response to engagement

- Communily building activilies

- Disaster response when required
- Financial support at time of crisis
- Provision of rental equipment

Relevant KPIs

- Charitable donations

- Employee time contributed to
community initiatives

- Shareholders (private)
- Financial lending institutions

Why retevant?

Ourinveslors wanl lo undersland how
we are managing the business lo
generate sustainable returns through
the cycle and to promote the long-term
success of the Group.

Nature of engagement

- Investor conferences

- One-to-one meetings

- Site visits

- Annual Report and other
communications

- Results presentations and bond
holder calls

- Reporting to financial lending
instilulions

- Annual General Meeling

~ Ashtead Group website including
investor relations section

Our response to engagement

- Communication of business model
and strategic plan

- Application of stated capilal
allocation priorities

- Maintain compliance with slated
financial objectives [e.g. leverage
range, etc.)

- Mahage business through the cycle

Relevant KPIs
- Returnsto shareholders

BOARDII'EVEIRENGAGEMENT]

Stakeholders most impacted:

Employees, customers, suppliers, investors

Consideration:

In April 2022, the Board allended the senior leadership
meetling in Dallas where ¢. 400 of the leaders across the
Group gathered, comprising both field-based leadership
and also central support teaders. While participants
comprised mainly team members from North America,

the UK business was also represented.

During the meeting, participants were provided an update
on the Group's strategic initiatives, including those related
lo diversity, equily and inclusion, heallh and safely,

employee lraining programmes, environmental initialives,

technology and our fleel strategy.

Board members had the opportunity to interact with a
range of staff across the business in both operational and
suppert roles, including visiting 2 number of stores in the
Dallas / Fort Worth market. They were also able to see
examples of the type of ‘greener equipment’ investments
that the Group is making through our partnership with
customers and suppliers, including the Bobcat electric
skid steer, a JCB electric telehandler and a Class 8
electric tractor. They were able to receive first-hand
feedback from employees across the business of how
the Group's stralegic initialives are being implemented
on a day-to-day basis and ongoing areas of focus.

dd

Board members had the
opportunity to interact with
a range of staff across the
business in both operational
and support roles.
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT

Statement by the directors in
performance of their statutory duty
in accordance with s172(1) of the
Companies Act 2006.

The Board of direclors of Ashtead
Group plc considers that it has, both

- individually and collectively, acted in
good faith in a way which would most
tikely promote the success of the
Company for the benefit of the members
as awhole, and in doing so have had
regard (amongst other matters) to
factors [a} to (f] as set out in $172(1] of
the Companies Act 2006 for the
decisions taken during the year ended
30 April 2022. In making this statement,
the directors have considered the
following matters:

- the likely consequences of any
decision in the long-term: the Board
monitored progress against the
Group’s sirategy, Sunbelt 3.0, as
disclosed on pages 22 to 29, during
the year and concluded that it wilt
support the long-term success of the
Company. Shorter-term expectations
in supporting that strategy are
approved by the Board as part of the
annual budgeting process, against
which the performance of the Group
is then monitored. Decisions taken
during the year are made in the
context of the Group's strategy in
order to ensure that they are
consistent with that strategy, take
account of the Group's principal risks
as described on pages 34 to 39 and
are in tine with the Group’s capital
allocation policy, which 1s designed to
support long-term value generation
for all stakeholders as detailed on
page 29 and is reflected in the
Board's assessment of viability as
described on page 39:

the interests of the Company’s
employees: our people are critical to
the success of our business and a
core component of our business
modet. We endeavour to recruit the
best people, train them well and look
after them so that they provide the
best possible service for our
customers and remain with us for
the long-term. The Board has
ultimate responsibility for ensuring
the Group’s decisions consider the
interests of our employees. Further
details and examiples of our activities
with employees are provided on page
42 of the Strategic report and pages
56 to 63 of the Responsible

business report;

the need to foster the Company's
business relationships with
suppliers, customers and others:
managing the Company’s
relationships with suppliers and
customers is critical in ensuring the
Company delivers onits strategy. We
dedicate account teams to our
national customers to ensure that we
maintain an ongoing dialogue while
local customers are managed at a
store level to enable us to respond at
all levels of the organisation
appropriately. The Board receives
regular updates on our relationships
with suppliers and customers, and
has ultimate responsibitity for
approving investments made. Further
details and examples of our activities
with customers and suppliers are
provided on pages 42 and 43 of the
Strategic report;

the impact of the Company'’s
operations on the community and
the environment: the Group seeks to
have a positive impact on the
communities inwhich it operates and
minimise the environmental impact
of our operations. Examples of our
community initiatives and the
environmental steps we take are
provided in further detail on pages 64
to 71 of the Responsible business
report and pages 73 to 75 of the

Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures;

- the desirability of the Company
maintaining a reputation for high.
standards of business conduct: the
Group regularly reviews and updates,
where appropriate, its business -
conduct and ethics policies and
ensures that these are
communicated to employees, are
readily available to employees,
customers and suppliers and that
appropriate training is undertaken
by relevant employees on a regular
basis toreinforce the Group's
policies. The Group business ethics
and conduct policy is formally
reviewed and approved by the Board
on an annual basis and available on
the Group’'s website, while employee
specific policies are provided in the
employee handbooks. Further details
are provided on page 72 of the
Responsible business reportand on
page 84 of the Corporate governance
report; and

- the needto act fairly as between
members of the Company: the
Company always seeks to ensure that
its communications are transparent
and its actions are in accordance with
the Group’s stated strategic aims to
promote the long-term success of
the Company. On page 85 within
the Corporate governance report
we detail how we engage with
our shareholders, including both
Institutional investors and
private investors.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

1 Segmenl result presented is opet ating prolit before amortisation,

Revenue EBITDA Profit!
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

UKinEm 725.7 635.1 214.6 192.8 " 86.8 60.9
Canadain Cm N 626.0 500.9 281.4 218.9 143.6 97.8
us 6,477.0 5,417.5 3,120.6 2,634.5 1,852.3 1.464.6
UKin $m 986.3 838.1 291.7 254.4 118.0 80.4
Canadain $m 499.0 383.0 224.3 167.4 114.4 74.8
Group central costs - - - (27.2) [19.5) + (28.3) (20.6)

v 7962.3] 66386 | 360941 30368 | 2,086.4] 15792
Net financing costs before exceptional ilems (232.6) (262.9)
Profit before amor'tisation. exceptional items and taxation 1,823.8] 1.316.3
Amortisation (108.6! (81.2}
Exceptionalilems . (47} -
Profit before laxation 1,668.1 1,235.1
Taxalion (417.0)  (315.0)
Profit altributable to equity holders of the Company 1,254 920.1
Margins .
us 48.6% 28.6% 26.7%
UK 30.4% 12.0% 9.6%
Canada 43.7% 22.9%] 19.5%
Group 45.7% 25.8% 23.8%
Notes

Throughout the Financial review, we use a number of alternative financial performance measures (APMs '} which the directors have adoptad in order to provide
additional useful information on the underlying lrends, performance and position ol the Group. Further delails are provided in Lhe Glossary of Terms on page 169,

CHANGE IN PRESENTATIONAL
CURRENCY

Effective from 1 May 2021, the Group
changed its presentational currency from
sterling to US dollars to allow for greater
transparency in the Group's performance
for investors and other stakeholders and
to reduce exchange rate volatility in
reported figures, given that c. 80% of the
Group's revenue and c. 90% of the Group’s
operating profit originate in US dollars.
Further details are provided in Note 2 to
the financial statements.

OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Group revenue increased 20% [19% at
constanl currencyl to $7.962m during the
year (2021: $6.639m]. This revenue
growlh, combined with strong operational
execution, resulted in adjusted profil
before tax increasing 39% to $1.824m
[2021: $1,316m).

In the US, rental only revenue of $4,782m
(2021: $3,976m] was 20% higher than the
prior year (and 18% higher than 2020},
representing continued market
ouiperformance and demonstrating the
benefits of our strategy of growing our
Specialty businesses and broadening our
end markets. Organic growth [same-store
and greenfields) was around 16%, while
bolt-ons contributed approximalely 4% of
rental only revenue growth. In the year,

our General Tool business grew 17%,
while our Specially businesses grew 28%
fotlowing growth of 13% in 2020/21. While
rental revenue growth has been driven by
volume, with a larger fleet and improved
utilisation, it has benefitted from improved
rates in what is a better rate environment
than we have seen for a number of years.
Ouryear-over-year rate of growth
increased as we progressed through the
year. US total revenue, including new and
used equipment, merchandise-and
consumable sates, increased 20% to
$6,477m [2021: $5,418m).

C$626m (2021: C$501m).

The UK business generated rental only
revenue of £403m, up 11% on the prior
year [2021: £362m). White our
performance continued to benefit from
our essential support to the Department
of Health in its COVID-19 response efforts,
our core business is performing strongly
and is benefitting from the operational
improvements in the business which are
ongoing. Total revenue increased 14% to
£726m (2021: £635m) reflecting the higher
level of ancillary and sales revenue
associated with the work for the
Department of Healih, which accounted
for c. 30% of UK revenue in the 12 months.
Following the UK Government's
announcement that free mass COVID-19
lesting would stop from April 2022, we are
demobilising the lest sites rapidly and
expect a relatively low revenue
contribution in 2022/23.
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Canada’s rental only revenue increased
26% o C$456m [2021: C$363m). While
this rate of growth reflects the depressed
comparatives last year, it is driven by the
strong performance of the original
Canadian business and our lighting, grip
and lens business since lockdowns eased.
That said, the lighting, grip and lens
business was affected again by COVID-
induced production restrictions in the
second half. Canada’s total revenue was
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Last year, we took aclion to reduce
operating costs and eliminale
discrelionary expenditure in all our
markets. While we continue to maintain

a focus on the cosl base, a number of
these costs have returned to the business,
reflecting the increased activity levels.

In addition, we continue to investin the
infrastructure of the business to enable
us to take advantage of the market and
structural opportunities, particularly in
our technology platform. In common with
many businesses, we face inflationary
pressures across all cost lines, but
particularly in relation to labour,
transportation and fuel. However, our
strong performance on rate, combined
with our scale, has enabled us to navigate
this inflationary environment and deliver
US rental revenue drop through to EBITDA
in line with our expectations for the first
year of Sunbelt 3.0 at 39%. This
contributed to a reported EBITDA margin
of 48% (2021: 49%) and a 28% increase in
segment profit to $1,852m (2021: $1,445m)
ata margin of 29% ({2021: 27%]).

Support for the Department of Health has
been a benefit to the UK business but also
presented it with logistical and operational
challenges. It remains focused on
delivering operational efficiency and
improving returns in the business and will
seek to redeploy lhe assels dedicated lo
the testing centres elsewhere in the
business. The UK generated an EBITDA
margin of 30% (2021: 30%) and a segment
profit of £87m [2021: £61m) at a margin of
12% (2021: 10%).

The development of our Canadian
business continues as it invests to expand
its network and broaden its markets.
Growth has been achieved across the
business while delivering a 45% EBITDA
margin [2021: 44%) and generating a
segment profil of C$144m [2021: C$98m)
ata margin of 23% (2021: 20%).

Overall, Group adjusted operating profit
increased to $2,056m [2021: $1,579m), up
30% at constant exchange rates. After net
financing costs before exceptional items of
$233m (2021: $263m), Group profit before
exceptional items, amortisation of
intangibles and taxation was $1.824m
(2021: $1,316m).

Statutory profit before tax was $1,668m
{2021: $1.235m). This is after amortisation
of $109m (2021: $81m} and, in the current
year, exceptional interest costs of $47m.

TAXATION

Tax charge for the year

The adjusted tax charge for the year was
$456m (2021: $335m], representing an
effective rate of 25% [2021: 25%) of
adjusted pre-tax profit of $1,824m (2021:
$1.316m). The cash tax charge was 15%.

The exceptional tax credit of $39m (2021:
$20m) relates to a tax credit in relation to
the amortisation of intangibles and
exceptional items.

Tax strategy and governance

The Group believes it has a corporate
responsibility to act with integrity in all tax
matters. Itis the Group's policy to comply
with all relevant tax laws, regulations and
obligations including claiming available
tax incentives and reliefs in the countries
in which it operates. The Group's appetite
for lax risk is considered to be cautious
and this policy has remained unchanged
for a number of years. This approach to
taxation is reviewed and approved by the
Board on a periodic basis.

Whilst the Board retains ultimate
responsibility for the tax affairs of the
Group, we have a dedicated internal tax
function which takes day-to-day
responsibility for the Group’s tax affairs.
In addition, we seek regular professional
advice to ensure that we remain in
compliance with changes in tax
legislation, disclosure requirements
and best practice.

Tax risks are monitored on an ongoing
basis and tax matlers are reported to the
Audit Committee as part of our routine
reporting on a quarterly basis.

The Group is committed to having a
transparent and constructive working
relationship with all tax authorities,
including seeking to obtain agreement
from tax authorities prior to undertaking
material transactions where there is a
degree of uncertainty surrounding the
appropriate tax treatment.

Legislative changes

We conlinue to monitor developmenls in
the OECD’s work on Base Erosion and
Profit Shifting  BEPS] lo ensure
continued compliance in an ever-changing
environment. In December 2021, the OECD
published a framework for the proposed
Pillar Two model rules which would
introduce a global minimum corporation
tax rate of 15% for groups with globat
revenues of over €750m. We do not expect
that the 15% gtobal minimum tax rate
would materially affect the amount of tax
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the Group pays, as corporation tax rates
in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates exceed 15%. We continue to
follow the guidance issued and other
developments closely.

Following its state aid investigation, in
April 2019 the European Commission
annocunced its decision that the Group
Financing Exemption in the UK controlled
foreign company ((CFC’] legislation
conslitutes state aid in some
circumstances. In common with the

UK Government and other UX-based
international companies, the Group does
not agree with the decision and has
therefore lodged a formal appeal with
the General Court of the European Union.
In common with other UK taxpayers, the
Group's appeal has been stayed while

the appeals put forward by the UK
Government and ITV plc proceed.

On 8 June 2022 the General Court of the
European Union dismissed the appeals
put forward by the UK Government and
ITV plc. However, there remains a high
degree of uncerlainty in the final oulcome
givenitis likely that both the UK
Government and ITV plc will appeal the
decision. Accordingly, the Group does not
consider that the decision affects its
position but witl continue to monitor
proceedings closely.

Despite the UK Government appealing the
European Commission's decision, Her
Majesty’s Revenue & Customs [HMRC')
was required to make an assessment of
the tax liability which would arise if the
decision is not successfully appealed and
collect that amount from taxpayers.
HMRC issued a charging notice staling
Lthat the tax liability it believes to be due on
this basis is £36m, including interest
payable. The Group has appealed the
charging notice and has settled the
amount assessed on it, including interest,
in ltne with HMRC requirements. The
£36m paid has been recognised as a
non-current asset on the balance sheet.
On successful appeal inwhole or in part,
alt or part of the amount paid in
accordance with the charging notice
would be returned to the Group. If either
the decision reached by the General Court
of the European Union or the charging
notice issued by HMRC zare not ullimately
successfully appealed, we have estimaled
the Group’s maximum potenlial liability to
he £36m as at 30 April 2022 [$45m at April
2022 exchange rates), including any
inierest payable. Based on the current
status of proceedings, we have concluded
that no provision is required in relation to
this matter.



Total tax contribution

For the year ended 30 April 2022, totat
laxes paid by the Group were $1,205m,
comprising taxes borne by the Group of
$432m and taxes collected on behalf of
tax authorities of $773m.

Taxes borne by type

As a profitable group, the majority of taxes
borne by the Group relate to taxes paid on
profits. The $219m net tax paid on profits
las shown in the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year ended 30 Aprit 2022)
is lower than the $250m current tax charge
for the year (as shown in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements). This

is primarily due lo overpayments made in
relation lo prior years being offset against
the current year liability and part of the
estimated currentyear liability expected

lo be paid in the next financial year.

TAXES BORNE BY THE
GROUP BY TYPE OF TAX

1 Profiti et $219m  51%

2 People ... ~$124m 29%
3 Property... .$58m  13%
4 Product .. $31m - 7%

$432m 100%

Given the Group's large number of
employees, significant employer social
security contribution payments were
made during the year. The Group also
paid property taxes and business rates in
relation to the extensive network of stores
from which we operate. Product taxes
include use tax on certain purchases
made in the US and fuel and excise
duties associated with the Group's fleet
of vehicles.

Taxes collected of $773m comprise
$416m of net sales taxes on the products
and services we provide to customers
and $357m in relation to taxes and social
security contributions withheld on behalf
of our employees.

Taxes by jurisdiction

The Group’s operations are based in the
locations and jurisdictions necessary to
best serve our customers and the Group
pays tax in accordance with relevant tax
laws and regulations in those
jurisdictions. As with the sptit of the
Group's revenue, the majority of taxes
borne and collected have been paid

in the US.

TAXES BORNE BY THE
GROUP BY JURISDICTION

o

3Canada......ccoeeeiiiee e 5%

TAXES COLLECTED ON
BEHALF OF TAX AUTHORITIES
BY JURISDICTION

01 TAXES BORNE BY THE GROUP BY JURISDICTION

89

$m Revenue

us T T T R%

UK 13%
Canada &% 51
o » ) 100%

Tax collected Tax bot ne
80% 331 77%
103 C% 77 18%
st % T 23 5%
773 100% 432 100%

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Adjusted earnings per share were 307.1¢
(2021: 219.1¢) while basic earnings per
share were 280.9¢ (2021: 205.4¢). Details
of these calculations are inctuded in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

RETURN ON INVESTMENT

Return on investment (excluding

goodwilt and intangible assets]} returned
to pre-pandemic levels following the
depressed levels of COVID-affected
2020/21.In the US, return oninvestment
for the 12 months to 30 April 2022 was
25% (2021: 20%). In the UK, reflecting the
benefits of increased volumes supporting
the Department of Health and operational
improvements, return on investment
lexcluding goodwill and intangible assels)
was 14% (2021: 10%). In Canada, return
oninvestment [excluding goodwill and
intangible assets) was 20% (2021: 16%).
This reflects improved performance
across the business and an increasing
contribution from our lighting, grip and
lens business. For the Groupas a

whole, return on investment (including
goodwill and intangible assets] was

18% (2021: 15%). Return on investment
excludes the impact of [FRS 16.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

BALANCE SHEET

Property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditure in the year totalled
$2.397m (2021: $947m) with $1.999m
invested in the rental fleet (2021: $809m).
Expenditure on rental equipment was
83% of total capital expenditure with the
balance relating lo the delivery vehicle
fleet, property improvements and IT
equipment. Capital expenditure by
division is shown in Table 02 below.

In a strong US rentat market, $876m

of rental equipment capital expenditure
was spent on growth while $748m was
invested in replacement of existing fleet.
The growth proportion is estimated on the
basis of the assumption that replacement
capital expenditure in any period is equal
to the original cost of equipment sold.

The average age of the Group's serialised
rental equipment, which constitutes the
substantial majority of our fleet, at

30 April 2022 was 40 months [2021:

41 months) on a net book value basis.
The US fleet had an average age of 41
months (2021: 41 months), the UK fleet
had an average age of 37 months {2021:
39 months) and the Canadian fteet had
an average age of 36 months {2021:

38 months).

Our operating model, and short delivery
lead times, allow us to flex our capital
spend quickly. This was seen with our
response to the COVID-19 pandemic when
we reduced our planned spend for 2020/21
significantly, in only a few weeks. As the
Group returns to growth, and in line with
Sunbell 3.0, we have a range for 2022/23
capital expenditure of $3.3bn to $3.46bn.

The original cost of the Group's rental
fleel, rental revenue and dollar utilisation
for the year ended 30 April 2022 are
shown below.

Dollar utilisation was 57% in the US
[2021: 50%), 58% for the UK {2021: 54%)
and 55% for Canada (2021: 47%). The
improvement in US dollar utilisation
reflects better fleet utilisation following
the COVID-19 pandemic and an improved
rate environment. Inthe UK, the increase
in dollar utilisation reflects the significant
increase in activity levels and associated
ancillary services to support the
Depariment of Health, while in Canada,
dollar utilisation has benefitted from
improved fleet utilisation and a good

rate environment.

Trade receivables

Receivable days at 30 April 2022 were

47 days (2021: 42 days). The bad debt
charge for the last 12 months ended

30 April 2022 as a percentage of total
turnover was 0.4% (2021: credit to the
income statement of 0.2% of total
turnover). The credit in 2020/21 reflecled
the release of the additional provisions
established at the onset of the COVID-19
pandemic, which was not required. Trade
receivables at 30 April 2022 of $1,174m
12021: $928m)] are stated net of allowances
for bad debts and credit notes of $86m
(2021: $74m), with the provision
representing 7% (2021: 7%) of

gross receivables.

Trade and other payables

Group payable days were 43 days at

30 April 2022 (2021: 40 days) with capital
expenditure related payables totalling
$363m {2021: $135m). Payment periods
for purchases other than rental equipment
vary between seven and 60 days and

for rental equipment between 30 and

120 days. ’

02 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

2022 2021

Replacement Growth Total Total

UKin £m -84 74.0 158.1 131.5

CanadainC$m 42.7 157.8 200.5 78.6

us 748.2 876.4 1,624.6 575.6

UKin $m 114.3 100.5 214.8 173.5

Canadain $m 34.0 125.8 159.8 60.1

Total rental equipment -896.5 1,102.7 1,999.2 809.2

Delivery vehicles, property improvements and IT equipment - 398.1 138.2

Total additions 2,397.3 947.4
03 FLEET AND UTILISATION

Rental Hleet at origimal cost

LTM cental L.TM dollar

30April2022 30 Apnl 2021 LTM average revenue utilisation

UKin €m 988 914 945 544 58%

CanadainC%m 1,116 938 1,034 569 55%

us 11,425 9,827 10,586 6,042 57%

UKin $m 1,241 1,266 1,284 739 58%

Canadain $m 873 762 824 454 ~ 55%

13,539] 11,855 12,694 7,235

48 Ashtead Group ptc Annual Report & Accounts 2022



Provisions

" Provisions of $137m (2021: $115m)] relate
predominantly to the provision for insured
risk and acquisition-related contingent
consideration. The Group’s business
exposes it to the risk of claims for
personalinjury, death or property damage
resulting from the use of the equipment it
rents and from injuries caused in motor
vehicle accidents in which its vehicles are
involved. The Group carries insurance
covering a wide range of potential claims
at levels it believes are sufficient to cover
existing and future claims.

Our US liability insurance programmes
provide that we can recover our liabilily
related to each and every valid claim in
excess of an agreed excess amount of
$1.5m in relation to general liability,
workers’ compensation and motor vehicle
claims. Inthe UK our self-insured excess
per claim is much lower than in the US
and is typically £50,000 per claim. Our
liability insurance coverage is limited to
a maximum of £175m.

Pensions

The Group operates a number of pension
plans for the benefit of employees, for
which the overall charge included in the
financial statements was $34m (2021:
$29ml. Amongst these, the Group has one
defined benefit pension plan which was

04 CASH FLOW

closed lo new members in 2001 and
closed to future benefit accrual in Oclober
2020. All our ongoing pension plans are
defined contribution plans.

The Group's defined benefit pension plan,
measured in accordance with the
accounting standard IAS 19, Employee
Benefits, was $19m in surplus at 30 April
2022 {2021: $6m). The investment return
on plan assets was $5m lower than the
expected return while a net actuarial gain
of $17m arose, predominantly due to the
increase in the discount rate assumption,
Overall, there was a net remeasurement
of the defined benefit pension ptan of $11m
which was recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income for the year.

The next triennial review of the plan's
funding position by the trustees and the
actuaryis-due as at 30 April 2022. The
April 2019 valuation, which was completed
during the prior year, showed a surplus of
£1.5m ($1.9m at April 2022 exchange rate).

Contingent liabilities

The Group is subject to periodic tegal
claims in the ordinary course of its
business, none of which is expected lo
have a material impaclon the Group's
financial position. As discussed earlier,
if the findings of the European
Commission’s investigations into the

Group Financing Exemption in the UK
controlled foreign company legislation are
upheld, we have estimated the Group's
potential liability to be £36m ($45m at
April 2022 exchange rate]. Based on the
current status of the investigation, we
have concluded that no provision is
required in relation to this amount.

CASHFLOW

Cash inflow from operations before the
net investment in the rental fleet was
$3,406m (2021: $3,017m). The conversion
ratio for the year was 94% (2021: 99%),
reflecting a more normalised levelin a
year of strong growth.

Total payments for capital expenditure
[rental equipment and other PPE) during
the year were $2,164m (2021: $955m).
Disposal proceeds received totalled
$369m (2021: $403m), giving nel
payments for capital expenditure of
$1,795m in the period [2021: $552m).
Financing costs paid totalted $231m {2021:
$255m) while tax payments were $219m
[2021: $388m). Financing costs paid
typically differ from the charge in the -
income statement due to the timing of
interest payments in the year and
non-cash interest charges. The
exceptional costs relate to the premium
on redemption of the senior notes that
were due in 2025 and 2026.

Ashtead Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2022

Yearto 30 Aprit
2022 2021
$m $m
EBITDA + 3,609.4 3,036.8
Cashinflow from operations before changes in rental equipment o 3,406.5 3.017.0
Cash conversion ratio* . T94.4% 99.3%
Replacement rental capital expenditure (829.7) (754.1)
Payments for non-rental capital expenditure (398.4) {138.3)
Renlal equipment disposal proceeds 343.8 384.7
Other property, plant and equipment disposal proceeds 24.8 18.3
Tax (net) {218.8) (387.6)
Nel financing costs before exceplional items {231.1) (254.9}
Cash inflow before growth capexénd paymentofexceptionalcdsts 2;097.1 1.885.1
Growth rental capital expenditure (935.7) (62.9]
Exceplional costs '(36.0) -
Freecash flow 11254 | 18222
Business acquisitions 11,277.4} (195.1]
Financial assel investments (40.0) -
Total cash (absorbed)/generated (192.0) 1,627.1
Dividends (269.3) (235.5)
- Purchase of own shares by the Company 1409.8) -
Purchase of own shares by Lhe ESOT .~ (23.8) (15.5)
(Increase)/decrease in net debt due to cash flow *.(894.7) 13761
" * Cash initow it om oper ations belore changes in 1ental equipment as a percentage of EBIIDA,
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Accordingly, the Group generated free
cash flow of $1,125m (2021: $1,822m) and,
aller acquisition and inveslmenl relaled
expenditure of $1,317m (2021: $195m), a
net cash outflow of $192m (2021: inflow of
$1,627m), betore returns to sharehotders.
Acquisition expenditure related to 25
bolt-on acquisitions completed during
the year as we continue to both expand
our footprint and diversify our end
markets. Further details are provided in
Note 27 to the financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND
ALLOCATION

The Group's capital structure is kept
under reqular review. Our operations are
financed by a combination of debt and
equity. We seek to minimise the cost of
capital while recognising the constraints
of the debt and equity markets. At 30 April
2022 our average cost of capital was
approximately 10%.

The Group remains disciplined in its
approach to allocation of capilal with the
overriding objective being to enhance
shareholder value. Our capital allocation
framework remains unchanged and
prioritises:

- organic fleet growth;
- same-stores;
- greenfields;

- bolt-on acquisitions; and

- aprogressive dividend with
consideration to both profitability and
cash generation that is sustainable
through the cycle.

Additionally, we consider further relurns
to shareholders. In this regard, we assess
continuously our medium-term plans
which take account of investment in the
business, growth prospects, cash
generation, net debt and leverage.
Therefore the amount allocated to
buybacks is simply driven by that which
is available after organic growth, bolt-on
M&A and dividends, whilst allowing us to
operate withinour 1.5 to 2.0 times target
range for net debt to EBITDA pre IFRS 16.

We launched‘a buyback programme

in May 2021 under which the Group
anticipates buying back up to £1bnin
shares over a two-year period. We
commenced the programme at a run rate
of £75m a quarter and allocaled $414m
[€305m)] to share buybacks in the year.

Dividends

The Company has a progressive dividend
policy, which considers both profitability
and cash generation, and resultsina
dividend that is sustainable across the
cycle. Our intention has always been to

increase the dividend as profitsincrease
and be able to maintain it when profits
decline. Inaccordance with this policy,
the Board is recommending a tinal
dividend of 67.5¢ per share (2021: 48.24¢)
making 80.0¢ for the year (2021: 58.0¢),
an increase of 38%. If approved at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the
final dividend will be paid on 9 September
2022 to shareholders on the register on
12 August 2022.

In determining the level of dividend in
any year, the Board considers a number
of factors that influence the proposed
dividend as detailed above. Ashlead
Group plc, the parent company of the
Group, is a non-trading investment
holding company which derives its
distributable reserves from dividends
paid by subsidiary companies which are
planned on a regular basis to maintain
a suitable level of distributable reserves
at the parent company.

Net debt

Chart 05 shows how debt and leverage,
measured at constant April 2022
exchange rales, has changed over the
cycle. Since 2010, we have stepped up
our capital expenditure as renlal markets
improved. As a resull, net debt has
increased in absolute terms over the
period principally due to acquisitions,
dividends and share buybacks with free
cash flow being broadly sufficient to fund
substantially all the increased capital
expenditure. Since 2013 we have been
operating within our net debt to EBITDA
leverage target range of 1.5to 2.0 times
lexcluding IFRS 18). Furthermore, our
overall balance sheet strength continues
to improve with the second-hand value
of our fleet exceeding our lotal debt

by $2.7bn.

05 NET DEBT AND LEVERAGE

In greater detail, closing net debt at
30 April 2022 is set out in Table 06
on page 51.

Net debt at 30 April 2022 was $7,160m with
the increase since 30 Aprit 2021 reflecting
principally the net cash outflow set out
above. The Group's EBITDA for the year
ended 30 April 2022 was $3,609m.
Excluding the impact of IFRS 16, the ratio
of net debt to EBITDA was 1.5 times (2021:
1.4 times] on a constant currency and a
reported basis as at 30 April 2022.
Including the impact of IFRS 16, the ratio
of net debt to EBITDAwas 2.0 times at

30 April 2022(2021: 1.9 times].

Our debt package is well structured for
our business across the economic cycle.
We retain substantial headroom on
facilities which are committed for the
long-term, with an average of six years
remaining at 30 April 2022. The weighted
average interest cost of these facilities
lincluding non-cash amortisalion of
deferred debt raising costs] is 3%.

Debt facilities
The Group’s principal debt facililies are
discussed below.

First priority senior secured credit facility
At30 April 2022, $4.5bn was commitled by
our senior lenders under the assel-based
senior secured revolving credit facility
['ABL tacitity’) until August 2026. The
amount utilised was $2,188m {including
letters of credit totalling $57m}. The ABL
facility is secured by a first priority
interest in substantialty alt of the Group’s
assets. Pricing for the $4.5bn revolving
credit facility is based on average
availability according to a grid, varying
from the applicable interest rate plus
125bp to 150bp. The applicable interest
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rale is based on LIBOR for US dotlar loans,

SONIA for sterling loans and CDOR for
Canadian dollar loans. At 30 April 2022,
the borrowing rate was the applicable
interest rate plus 125bp.

The only financial performance covenant
under the asset-based first priority senior
bank facility is a fixed charge ratio
(comprising LTM EBITDA before
exceptional items less LTM net capital
expenditure paid in cash over the sum of
scheduled debt repayments plus cash
interest, cash tax payments and dividends
paid in the last 12 months) which must be
equal to or greater than 1.0 times.

This covenant does nol, however, apply
when availability {the difference between
the borrowing base and facility utilisation)
exceeds $450m. AL 30 April 2022
availability under the bank facility was
$2,537m ($3.011m at 30 April 2021}, with
an additional $3,029m of suppressed
availability meaning that the covenant
was not measured at 30 April 2022 and

is unlikely to be measured in
forthcoming quarters.

Senior notes

At 30 Aprit 2022 the Group, through its
wholly owned subsidiary Ashtead Capital,
Inc., had five series of senior notes
outstanding. The $550m 1.500% notes are
due on 12 August 2026, the $600m 4.375%
noles are due on 15 August 2027, the
$600m 4.000% notes are due on 1 May
2028, the $600m 4.250% notes are due on
1 November 2029 and the $750m 2.450%
notes are due on 12 August 2031.

Under the terms of the notes, financial
performance covenants under the senior
notes are only measured at the time new
debtis raised.

Minimum contracted debt
commitments

Table 07 below summarises the maturity
of the Group's borrowings at 30 April 2022
by year of expiry.

Except for the Group's lease
commitments, details of which are
provided in Note 18 to the financial
statements, $57m of standby letters

of creditissued at 30 April 2022 under the
first priority senior debt facility relating

lo the Group's insurance programmes
and $7m of performance honds granted
by Sunbelt, we have no material
commitments that we could be obligated
to pay in the future which are not included
in the Group's consolidated balance sheet.

CURRENT TRADING AND OUTLOOK
Our business has demonstrated its ability
over the last two years to perform in both
good times and more challenging ones.
The new financial year has started well
and the business has clear momentum.
We are well positioned to navigate the
challenges and capitalise on the
opportunities arising from the market
circumstances we face, including supply
chain constraints, inflation, labour
scarcity and economic uncertainty, all
factors which we believe to be drivers of
ongoing structural change. The Board
looks to the future with confidence.

06 NET DEBT

2022 2021
) $m $in
First priority senior secured bank debt 2,708.1 1,225.2
4.125% senior noles, due 2025 - 594.9
5.250% senior noles, due 2026 - 593.4
1.500% senior notes, due 2024 545.8 -
4.375% senior notes, due 2027 594.8 593.9
4.000% senior noles, due 2028 594.3 593.4
4.250% senior notes, due 2029 593.9 593.2
2.450% senior notes, due 2031 743.2 -
Total external borrowings 5,180.1 41940
Lease liahilities 1,995.2 1,633.3
7,175.3 5.8273
Cash and cash equivalents (15.3) (26.6)
Total net debt 7,160.0| 5.800.7

07 MINIMUM CONTRACTED DEBT COMMITMENTS
2023 2024 ) 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter Total
$m $n $m $m $m $m $in
Bank and other debt - - - - 2,108.1 - 2,108.1
1.500% senior notes - - - - 548.8 - 548.8
4.375% senior noles - - ~ - - 600.0 600.0
4.000% senior notes - - - - - 600.0 600.0
4.250% senior noles - - - - - 600.0 600.0
2.450% senior noles - - - - - 748.2 748.2
- - - - 2,656.9 2.548.2 5.205.1
Deferred costs of raising finance - - - - (3.0 (22.0 (25.0)
Cash at bank and in hand (15.3) - - - - - (15.3)
Nel debl [excluding IFRS 14] (15.3] - - - 26539 2,526.2 5,164.8
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SUNBELT 3.0 IN ACTION

Embedding ESG into our Sunbelt 3.0 strategic
plan has produced a step change this year.
Health and safety has always been a priority
for the Group and we continue to seek
continuous improvement through our
employee programmes and investment in
technologies to aid our team members. We |
have aiso made a huge investment in greerer
fleet and are driving real culturat change
through our new Diversity, Equily and Inclusion
Task Force as well as our global women's
group. Our community engagement is full
steam ahead after two years of COVID-19
restrict'ons, delighting both our colieagues
and our communities. We are closely trackirg
and evaluating our ESG efforts because we
know how important this is to our business.
This 1= our Ambition with Purpose.
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT

W i i

DRIVING REAL

CULTURAL

CHANGE

i il s

Being a responsible business has always
been crucial to us. We are passionale
about our people, the environment and the
communities in which we live and work.
We care deeply about making the best
impact possible on all our stakeholders
and we are proud of the impact we have
had in helping our people, customers,
suppliers and communities, especially
through the most difficult of times over the
last two years. When we announced our
new strategic plan, Sunbelt 3.0, last year,
for the first time we embedded our ESG
priorities. This added a layer of
transparency and accountability lo the
work we do in this area and has placed
ever greater emphasis on our
environmental and social priorities. We
have always said that being responsible is
in our ONA but now it’s front and centre,
and visible in everything we do. Last year
we launched important initiatives such as
our new Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
['DEI') Task Force and we are delighted
that extensive progress has already been
made in raising the profile of this
important work group-wide. We are
excited about the progress we are making
and how our innate sense of purpose Is
driving real change across the
organisation and deepening the sense of
pride we all have in the work we do.

Ultimately our ESG efforts enable us to
deliver on our promises and expand the
trust that makes our business tick; trust
that the equipment we provide will arrive
on time and do what we say it will; trust that
it will be well-maintained and compliant
with all health and safety requirements;
trust that we are endeavouring to source
the most environmentaily-friendly
eguipment as we can; trust that everyone
involved in the rentzl process has been
treated fairly, kept safe and well rewarded:;
trust that we are not jusl Leking from the
communilies in which we find ourselves,
butare gwving back real social value that
can be measured.

BEING A RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS
Our goalis lor our responsible business
planto be transparent, challenging and
beneficial to everyone we interact with,

We analysed our commitments into four
key areas: our people; the environment;
our communities; and governance.
Following an analysis of what is material to
the business in each of these areas,

we then divided each area into individual
segments which focus on the specific
commitments we are making. In this
Responsible business report we focus

on the environmental, social and corporate
behaviour aspects of our work. More
detait on governance can be found in our
Corporate governance report on page 84.

The world 1s changing and the impact of
technological advancements, climate
change, social action and unprecedented
events such as the COVID-19 pandemic
require ever greater attention and action.
As part of Sunbelt 3.0, we are reinforcing
ESG at the heart of how we operate, while
unlocking the structural benefits ESG will
bring to rental. Socially responsibte
behaviour has never been more important

SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

G<:ALS

8 DECENT WORK AND 10 REDUCED
ECONOMIC EROWTH INEQUALITIES

-~
m 45)

GOOD HEALTH
ANDWELLBEING

thanin recent times. Itis easy to treat
people well in the good times but the true
lest of an organisationis how it responds
in times of adversity. The decisions we
made and the actions we ook during the
pandemic were made with a focus on the
long-term sustainability of the business.
Our early decision and communication to
the workforce that no one would be made
redundant as a result of the pandemic
meant that our team members could
focus on looking after their families,
communities and our customers

without having to look over their
shoulder continuously.

The rentalindustry is hugely beneficial for
the environment as il leads to the most
efficient use of equipment and the
manufacture of fewer assets. Significant
carbon emissions and consumption of
earth’s natural resources take place
during the manufacture of a piece

of equipment. At the end of its life,

that equipment requires disposal.
Fewer, better designed pieces of
equipment utilised as part of a sharing
economy are better for our planet.

GENDER
EQUALITY

QUALITY

EDUCATION

The Group's activities heip advance the United Nations Suslainable Development Goals
['SDGs’]. We have identified the eight goals to which we beiieve we can make the most
conlribution through our focus an recruitment and training, focus on diversity, equily and
inclusion, the development of our products and management of our operations.
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Furthermore, our fleet consists of the
most recent and technologically advanced
equipment, which is well-maintained and
inherently better for the environment than
older, less well-maintained equipment.

Our commitment to ESG is clear and we
intend to expand further on the areas
detailed in this Responsible business
reportwithin our first Sustainability
Report, which will be published later in
2022. Here we will map the Group's
activities and metrics to existing reporting
frameworks such as the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board and Global
Reporting Initiative standards. We are
working to quantify our Scope 3 carbon
emissions and assessing the potential
applicability of science-based targets.
Our industry has an important rote to
play in reducing carbon emissions both
through bringing greener technologies
to market and delivering the benefits of

a sharing economy. However, as a rapidly
growing business, our absolute emissions
willincrease in Lhe near lo medium-term
until technological advancements result
in equipment capable of fulfilling our
customers’ needs with significantly
lower or zero carbon emissions, which
will enable us to reduce emissions
significantly in the longer-term.

HOW WE MONITOR OUR WORK

The Group’s Board of directors is
responsible for monitoring the progress
we make against our strategic ESG
objectives and the targets we have set.
The Board is assisted in this function by
the Group Risk Committee which is
chaired by Michael Prati, our chief
financiat officer. Included on the Group
Risk Commiitee is the Group's managing
director of ESG.

For further information on the Group Risk
Commuittee, its members and priorities in
current and forthcoming years, please
see pages 34 and 35.
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT CONTINUED
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AL HEALTH & SAFETY
-/

Health and safety is the backbone of our
business and culture. COVID-19
highlighted that more than ever. A strong
reputation for excellent health and safety
is a significant competilive advantage for
us. In addition, an ever-changing
regulatory focus on safety and more
stringent requirements for all operators
continues to assist our growth. lt is more
efficient to outsource responsibility for
equipment safety to us than for customers
to manage it themselves. This has been
one important factor in the shift to rental
that has underpinned our growth in North
America and which has reinforced our
position in the UK.

Our extensive heatth and salely
programmes monitor, develop and
mainlain safe working practices while
reminding our employees of the need to be
safe at all times and look after Lheir own
health. Our continued improvement is
accomplished through a combination of
proactive safety and leadership training,
enhanced safety programmes and timely
incident response and investigation. This
continuous improvement includes a focus
on the importance of mental health in the
overall well being of our people. We also
help our customers ensure the safety of
their own employees including providing
safely training as required. In addition, we
make a considerable annual investment in
ensuring our rental equipment meets or
exceeds the latest safely slandards, as
well as providing health and safety advice
and materials along with each rental.

01 RECORDABLE ACCIDENTS

SIS
LA A A

i

LA

HOW WE MONITOR PERFORMANCE
We monitor health and safely by the
number of reported incidents that occur
during our work. We track and analyse
allincidents and ‘near misses’ to enable
us to identify recurrent issues and
implement preventative improvements.
The importance of health and safety is
reflected in the fact that the number

of reportable accidents is one of our
group-wide KPIs [see page 36).

We continue to develop and improve our
incident management system which
enables us to manage incidents while
allowing us to invesligate, analyse rool
causes and track correctlive/preventative
actions. The tracking and reporting of
‘near misses’ is an area we are looking
to improve as the lessons learnt are as
instructive or often more so, than from
actualincidents.

This year the US had 1,326 reported
incidents relative to an average workforce
of 14,934 (2021: 1,459 incidents relative to
an average workforce of 13,526}, Canada
had 223 incidents relative to an average
waorkforce of 1,575 (2021: 239 incidents
relative to an average workforce of 1,409)
and the UK had 193 incidents relative to an
average workforce of 3,947 (2021: 192
incidents relative to an average workforce
of 3,724). For Lhe purposes of our internal
tracking, the term incident does not
necessarily mean that an employee was
hurt orinjured. Rather it represents an
event that we want to track and report for
monitoring and learning purposes under
our health and safety management
policies. We continue to focus on more
timely reporting of every incident or first
aid event that occurs.

2022 2021

0SHA RIDDOR 0SHA RIDDOR

us Recordable accidents 190 74 194 N4
Incident rale 0.90 017 1.07 0.31

Canada  Recordable accidents 25 5 29 8
Incident rate 1.49 0.15 212 0.29

UK Recordabie accidents n/a S 18 n/a 21
Incident rate n/a " 0.22 n/a 0.27

Reportable accidents continue to be
defined differently in the US, Canada and
the UK. In the US and Canada, reportable
accidents are reported in accordance with
OSHA [Occupational Satety and Health
Administration) whereas in the UK,
reportable accidents are reportedin -
accordance with RIDDOR (Reporting of
Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations). Under the
different definitions, more accidents are
generally identified in the US as being
reportable than in the UK. In order to
compare accident rates across the Group,
the US and Canada also applied the RIDDOR
definition to its accident population.

We remain committed lo reducing these
rates as much as possible and continue to
see progress across the businesses. We
are delighted to report that our incident
rate improved last year in all geographies.

SAFETY INITIATIVES

COVID-19 tested our excellent health and
safety reputation and reinforced it
massively. Operationally, we changed the
way we work lo ensure our team members
remained protected, while continuing to
work across our store network, ensuring
we met the needs of our customers and
communities. What remains relevantin a
post-pandemic environment, we will
continue to do.

We recognise that everyone must take
responsibility for their own safety and the
safety of others. In North America we
continued to develop our Engage for Life
programme which is built on three pillars:
culture; community; and commitment,
We are focused on building a culture that
eliminates serious injuries or fatalities
['SIFs’], aligns our best practices, and
ensures we all have the right skills to
complete work safely.

ENGAGE
FORLIFE
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An imporlant component of Engage for
Life is that we demonstrate the dedicalion
to the well being of our team members,
their families and communities, while
supporling and encouraging team
members’ safety development. We were
recognised by the Board of Certified
Safety Professionals [BCSP’) as an
Emerald Class Certification Sponsor,
for supporting our team members in
achieving safety certification, with over
50 team members having completed the
programme.

We have core safety processes across all
our stores. In North America these include:

- the ‘near miss’ programme, which
provides insights into our exposures
across our businesses;

- the pre-task planning programme
[Take 10 Programme], which requires
everyone to take at least 10 seconds to
think through the job they are about to
do using a pre-task planning checklist.
Examples of tasks where this is applied
are loading/unloading, wash bay work,
checking equipment in, and technicians
repairing or conducting routine
maintenance on the equipment;

- the Safety Committee engagement
programme, which ensures all stores
hold safely meetings and engage in
lopics stich as ‘near miss’ reporting,
being more observantin looking for
exposures, corrective action closure,
etc.;and

- Regional Safety Managers presentin
our business, who engage on a daily
basis with team members. Their role
includes truck inspections, facility
assessments, training and listening to
feedback from our people during our
Wellness Visits.

In addition, the US senior leadership
tearmn’s weekly safety meetings provide
focus towards developing solutions that
can be replicated across the Group.

We hold annual safety weeks designed
lo increase awareness of the importance
of safety across the business.

HEAIHRSAEETYIANDIENVIRONMENTAWEEK:

memmwm= 51t RS S etyfandlEnviconmeniwe ek odN oGl Y
FAMmEriCatandyhesU KB NEU N EmeqwasiReaay o’ 0% NWa s designedlagoundlltbhielhenel
Glgettoghlgieamslieadylogogevenyidayiaivoyky

Eachloay welbighlightedladillepentlsaielyiopi deUppoglinglnellnem e neSeyncluded
Powerlp¥elnewinitiativeltorgetoligbod estandlming=toeatyliogwogdeschlmonning}
Wwithlalfocustontimovementtandidynamicddstzelchingdhowoddsatetyicodna (Swor o]
engagejougteamstandfulimatelydpversatetylimphovements talnet neshegomwhal
EoCimeansliclougbusinecelanditowiiiisintotobdeigate gyYaipiecelonwellnecsy
ifpagticulagiatigueiowgbalitysteepcanpreventes o s¥bresthing¥andiing
impoglanceotipowedngldownfadinetendloleachidayiinallySwelceflectedfon!
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to vehicle incidents. [t also provides
an opportunity to reinforce positive

Similar safety processes operale in the
UK. We run the Work Safe Home Safe
campaign to ensure staff also lake actions and recognise our drivers for
responsibility for their own safety and 3 jobwell done; and

Sunbelt UK managers undertake the - inthe UK, we continue to highlight

HomE SHIF(E

KEEPING SAFETY PERSONAL... T°8 N OUR HANDS

five-day I0SH ['Institution of Occupational
Safety and Health'} Managing Safely
course. The UK is leading the way with its
Let's Talk Mental Health programme
discussed further on page 63.

Other safety initiatives include:

- in the US we continued our programme
to provide safety knowledge and skills
at our stores specifically for our Safety
Coordinators and Branch Managers.
We prepare our store teaders lo take
an examinalion to become Safety
Trained Supervisors ['STS’). Our goal is
to have at least one STS at each and
every one of our stores;

- we continued installing cameras in our
delivery and service vehicles - a
programme we call RITA, or Road
Intelligence Transportation Assistant.
RITA assists our drivers with real-time
feedback on behaviours that could lead

the importance of thinking ‘ACE’ -
Awareness, Communication, Exclusion
zone - during our health, safety and
environment week, demonstrating

that by simply being aware of the
environment, communicating with
teammates or pedestrians and
creating a safe exclusion zone,
accidents can be avoided.
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT CONTINUED

Senior leadership and middle
management support for salety is
extremely high across the business.
Our focus is at a local level where the
work gets done to ensure we move from
good to great.

In the US we are atso a Safety Week
partner. We strive to strengthen our
industry’s safety culture and performance
by sharing best practices, tools and
resources. Safety Week is sponsored by
members of The Construction Industry
Safety Initiative ('CISI') and the Incident

& Injury Free Executive Forum. We are
focused on the impact our safe choices
have on our team members, their families
and the communities in which they live
and work. We are unwavering in our
commitment to continuously improve our
safety culture and send each employee
home safe each day.

DRIVER AND VEHICLE SAFETY

Our North American transportation fleet
continues to operate as one of the safest
fleets in the equipment rental industry.
Our commercial vehicle training
programme is an ongoing initiative across
the US and Canada, which ensures that all
our drivers are trained in vehicle safety and
compliance. We are among the leaders of
our industry in continuously supporting the
training and education of employees in
commercial vehicle compliance and safety,
including core training on hours of service,
truck inspections, technology
enhancements, load securement

and hazardous materiats.

We continue to target ways to reduce our
molor vehicte incident rate. Our driver
safety programmes take data from our
onboard telematics units and
communicates it directly to our motor
vehicle compliance team with results
shared with field operations daily. This
helps us control any on-the-road unsafe
behaviours and activities. While designed
to improve driving behaviour, we also
benefit through cost savings due to lower
fuel usage, engine and vehicle
maintenance and accidents.

In addition, drivers participate in online
risk assessments that identify safe and
unsafe behaviours through interactive
driving modules. By identifying the risk
profiles of our drivers, we are able to
develop specific adaptive learning
programmes for them. Through the use
of electronic driver logs, our drivers
receive real-time feedback on their hours
of service and our fleet sa‘ety compliance
team is able to retrieve driver data
immediately. In addition to the electronic
hours of service logs, we also use an
electronic pre-trip inspection that is
conducted on the driver’s phone. We

also train our drivers in defensive driving.

In the UK, our driver training courses are
aimed at delivery drivers and cover areas
such as loading and unloading of vehicles,
working at height, site safety and manual
handling. All general drivers, including
delivery drivers and fitters, are required
to undertake the Driver Induction Course,
which is delivered in the form of
workshops and covers transport
procedures, legislation, hazard perception
and practical driver assessments.

We drive over 285m miles each year, so
giving our drivers the solid training on
defensive driving principles is critical o
having safe outcomes on the road.

WORKING ON SAFETY WITH OUR
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Being a responsible business means
sharing and promoting our safety culture
with our customers and suppliers
whenever possible. For example, we have
dedicated mobile elevated work platform,
forklift and earth moving operator trainers
who train customers and we offer
customised training programmes lo fill
their needs. We work with customers’
safety tearns to develop customised
training courses, sometimes for a specific
Jjobsite and participate in training days for
major customers, deinonstrating safe use
of equipment and running training
seminars. This is in addition to the routine
safety briefings that accompany equipment
rental. We now offer dedicated full-time
safety trainers for our customersin 75
markets across North America and have
18 accredited training centres in the UK.

Our customer training covers a broad
range of topics including:

Operator training

- Mobile elevating work platforms, boom
lifts and scissor lifts

- Forklifts, warehouse and telehandler
rough terrain

- Earth moving equipment, loaders,
excavators, backhoes

Train the trainer

- Mobile elevating work platforms
- Forklifts

- Earth moving equipment

~ Fall protection

Scaffolding

- User hazard awareness

- Competent person

- Suspended platforms hazard user
awareness

Suspended platforms competent
person

- Customised courses available

In addition to Lhe above, we offer a range of
other training including:

- working at height safely;

- traffic control management;

- working safely in confined spaces;

- laser scanning and survey equipment;
- propane handling: and

- lock-out, tag-out

B % wmmu‘imm@mm -@'ﬁmﬁ@-
. ety DeEReREeEb ea
Ml & JRass 20 *ﬁwwm
B37000,(DWNoT ety
Py :

Lol yiand Deeve
Bl @uuum@ida!ﬁw@gmmjmmmmg vl
b Gt 0 osaurs, v e DR SErNE
r 5ySTENa0aplivecyB Selcon LM neTd Epa gl el
mh@amaﬁummamw@amm

58 Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022



0% | HUMAN
O | CAPITAL
LABOUR MANAGEMENT

We know that a skilled and committed
workforce is fundamental to our success.
Our labour management policies are
designed to ensure we lake the very best
care of our people. As we grow, we add
employees both through direct recruitment
and acquisition. When we acquire
companies, we also acquire their
knowledgeable and dedicated staff who
have often built up a successful business.
To maintain that success, we adopt a
circumspect approach when it comes to
integrating new staff into the Group to
ensure new team members are engaged
with the business and the Group benefits
from theirexperience and dedication. We
want new employees to be engaged with
the new environment in which they find
themselves, so we hold a presentation

day for staff where senior management
presents an overview of the Group, our
plans for the acquired business and how
they fit into our strategy for the future.

We then demonstrate further our
commitment to our new employees by
investing in the business they helped

build. Furthermore, integrating these

new employees into our health and safety
programmes contributes to enhanced
health and safety within the rental industry.

In the pastyear we have done extensive
work on making Sunbelt a more flexible
organisation in which to work, which is a
huge cultural shift. Part of this is driven
by our DEl work because we know thal

lo attract and keep a more diverse
workforce, we need to offer more
flexibility in how people can work. For
example, the pandemic has made people
think about work (and life] differently and .
has resulted in more people seeking a
different balance and wanting flexibility in
where they work. We are now much more
focused on finding solutions that work for
everyone involved: the manager; the team
member; and the customer.
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CAREER DEVELOPMENT

AND TRAINING

Training and development continues
throughout the careers of our employees
and we have many programmes in place
to ensure they achieve their ambitions,
reach their potential and remain safe.
Employees’ welfare and job satisfaction
are enormously important and we invest
significant money and time in facilitating
career development and evolving
training to reflect the changing needs

of our workforce.

For our largest group of employees,
skilled trades, we have lwo main
approaches to develop talent, career
pathing and career progression. Career
pathing is about providing employees with
a clear promotion pathway within the
business. For example, for a driver or
technician to become & store manager,
we have a career pathway with associated
training courses that provide the skills
needed for the next step on that particular
career pathway. With this option, an
ambitious employee can see lhe route
they need lo lake to develop their career
lowards a more senior, management rote.

For those that want to progress within
their specific job area, we offer career
progression. Within our skilled trades -
employee group, this provides a clear
progress path thal will enhance an
employee’s skills, ability and experience
within their trade or job role. For example,
technicians can achieve four skill levels,
with each level requiring progressively
more in-depth and expert skill and
knowledge. To pass from one level to
the next, the employee has to pass an
evaluation that shows their skills match
the hext step on the ladder.

For leaders in our store network and other
leaders in our central operations, we offer
a range of leadership or senior leadership
training. These courses ensure our
leaders are equipped with the skills to
deliver on our business strategy. These
include inclusive leadership, coaching,
performance and financial management,
training skills, and customer experience.
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT CONTINUED

In North America, our career development
and training iniliatives include:

- alechnician-in-training programme;
- apaid technician Co-0p programme for
“trade school students approaching

graduation;

- employee surveys;

- the Jumpstart Sales programme;

- the Jumpstart Manager In Training
programme; :

- anintern programme both in stores
and at the support office;

- aleadership curriculum for all store
managers;

- an Executive Leadership Development
programme; and

- alLearning Management System
['LMS’) that delivers, tracks and
manages all our training online.

In the UK we held over 13,000 employee
training days last year through a wide
range of courses. In order to identify
training needs when recruiting, we have
developed a series of competence forms
and adopted the OSAT {'On Site
Assessment and Training} programme.
Each employee has their skills mapped
against the qualification framework
through assessment and any skillgaps
are filled through training. Through this
processwe can be sure of developing

the skills and qualifying the experience
of our workforce. In addition, we have
implemented a leadership development
programme across the UK to support the
development of leaders in our business
and imptemented a ‘grow coaching’
programme for all store managers to
ensure they are equipped with the skills to
coach and mentor staff within the business.

To evaluate the effectiveness of our
training, we issue alt delegates with
feedback forms and these are evaluated
and actioned as required.

REWARD AND BENEFITS

We use a combination of competitive fixed
pay and attractive incenlive programmes
to reward and motivate staff and these"
drive our profits and return on investment.
All eligible Sunbelt UK employees are paid
the Living Wage (as recommended by The
Living Wage Foundation) and Sunbelt UK
is an accredited Living Wage Employer.

In North America we adopted a Leading
Wage to ensure all employees are paid

an hourly rate in excess of the state and
federal recommended rates.

We provide a comprehensive package

of benefits ensuring they represent
affordable and smart choices for
employees. Each beneflil offering has been
designed to work with another, providing

a financial safety net that serves those
employees in need, as well as providing

us all with a proper sense of security. In
the US we offer robust and comprehensive
medical coverage and, despite the
growing costs of healthcare, member
contribution rates were not increased. By
continuing to promote wellness, we intend
to maintain a fair and balanced health plan
that is considered one of the best in our
industry. Our retirement plans are well
received with a 96% enrolment rate in

our US 401(k] plan, 87% enrolment rate

in Canada and 94% of UK employees
participating in the pension plan. Our
employees are excited to be here, and we
want to help them prepare for their future,
whatever it holds.

Our sales force is incentivised through our
commission plans which are based on
sales, both volume and price achieved,
and a broad measure of returnon
investment determined by reference to
equipment type and discount level. We flex
our incentive plans to reflect the stage of
the cycte in which we opersate and the
drivers of performance for the business,

[ SUNBELT UNIVERSITY

~ A mobile-onty platform

S

Lasl year we implemented a new learning management system for Sunbelt University
to-offer a better learner experience for all colleagues including:

- QOver 10,000 courses available for various audiences
- Paperless hands-on evaluations for equipment certifications
- Improved visibility for compliance with regulatory and required training
- Improved training technology to transform how tearning is detivered at Sunbelt
- Improved ease of finding training applicable to jobs .
- Increased efficiency by integrating all of our North America operations into
a single platform, with planned expansion to include Sunbelt UK.

7/’ SUNBELT UNIVERSITY
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INTRODUCTION OF PAID
PARENTAL LEAVE IN THEUS

While the US tags the UK on
parental leave, we are a leader in
the US rental industry in Lhis area.
We launched a Paid Parental Leave

[PPL] benefit to US team members
beginning January 2022. This policy
applies to either parentandisin
effectany time during the first year
for births, adoptions, or placements
of foster children.

which we believe is an important element
in retaining the confidence of our
workforce through the economic cycle.

In addition to their core benefits, including
pension and life assurance arrangements,
we have an employee assistance helpline
which offers free confidential support and
advice o those in need. We atso have other
benefits to promote good health amongst
our employees. In the UK we have a
flexible holiday arrangement enabling
employees to purchase additional holiday
entitlement or sell unused or unwanted
holiday back to the company, giving them
the opportunity to exchange some of their
holiday entitlement for additional pay and
allow the employee more flexibility and
choice in how they use their contractual
benefits.

STAFF TURNOVER

We endeavour to hire the best people,

train them well and look after them so they
provide the best possible service for our
customers. Qur aim is to keep employee
turnover as low as possible to enable us to
build on the skilt base we have established.
This is core to the success of the business
and our competitive position and therefore
staff turnover is one of our KPls [see

page 33).

Ingeneral, the rental industry suffers from
high slaff turnover, particularly within
cerlain job categories such as mechanics
and delivery truck drivers, with turnover
being particularly high within the first two
years of employment. We find increasingly
our staff targeted by competitors which,
whitst a compliment, means we have to
work harder to retain them.

In North America, our voluntary staff
turnover is 18% {total staff turnover is 22%)
with c. 70% of this turnover arising from
people with less than two years service.
Although stalf turnover is slightly higher in
the UK, the overall picture is similar.
Voluntary staff lurnover is 22% (lotal staff
turnover is 25%] and over hali of voluntary
staff turnover arises from people wilh less
than two years’ experience.



Our employees are driven, conscientious
and loyal and we work hard to maintain
that through market-teading training and
development and superior reward and
benefits. We have extensive programmes
in place lo ensure high standards of
recruitment, training, and the appraisal,
review and reward of our employees.

A key area of focus for improvement is the
onboarding and mentoring of new recruits.
As can be seen from staff turnover levels
and safety statistics, employees are
unlikely to leave us and much less likely to
suffer aninjury or accident at work if they
have been with us for two years or more.
In addition, we endeavour consistently
throughout the year to maintain and
develop arrangements aimed at involving
employees in the Group's affairs and
hearing their views. Regular meetings
are held at slores to discuss performance
and enable employees to input into
improvements as well as providing
feedback on their own levels of satisfaclion.

EMPLOYEE SATISFACTION

Getting ongoing feedback on how our staff
are feeling and then making any changes
necessary, is crucial to maintaining a
happy and fulfilled workforce. We pride
ourselves on having a strong culture, with
a slrong sense of purpose amongst our
leam members who take their
responsibilities to assist cuslomers and
communities seriously. Thereis also a
strong sense of pride in a job well done
such as when we are helping people get
back to normal after a natural disaster.
We now hold annual North American-wide
and UK employee surveys which have
received excellent levels of response. We
have been delighted with the results so
far, which show a high degree of employee
satisfaction even given the very difficult
circumstances our staff were having to
deal with both personally and at work.

~fast ey tomer. 219"

In North America, our first Express
Yourself Survey received a remarkable 8 SOCIAL
88% participation rate with an 89% N OPPORTUNITIES

engagement score. The second one is
ongoing. In the UK, participation in this

year’s survey was 81% with an 83% DIVERSITY

engagement rating. Key findings were This year saw huge progress in this area.
again that the majority of team members e are committed to ensuring that our
reported a sense of pride, would . workforce reflects the communities in
recommend Sunbelt to famity, that their which we live and work, and providing
managers care about safety and that they  equal opportunities for all our staff is a
lrust their manager lo do a good job. We priority. Our recruitment comes

anelyse all the results from the survey predominantly from the areas

and lake action accordingly. We plan to immediately around our facilities, thereby
associate allaction t_aken specifically providing opportunities for local people
with the survey to reinforce that we have and a positive impact on their cormunity.

listened and are taking action directly
as aresult of staff feedback.
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT CONTINUED

We make every reasonable efforl lo

give disabled spplicants and existing
employees who become disabled,
opportunities for work, training and
career developmentin keeping with

their aptitudes and abilities. We do not
discriminate against any individual on the
basis of & protected status, such as sex,
colour, race, religion, native origin, or age.

Our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Task Force in North America draws from
a diverse group of 14 team members
across the organisation and is designing
and implementing a new diversity, equity
and inclusion strategy. We had over 300
applicants for this importantinitiative
which reflects our colleclive desire for a
‘more engaged and empowered workplace
when it comes lo diversity, equity

and inclusion.

In the UK, we have a simitar group

as parlof 'Lel's Talk Belonging wilh
Equatity, Diversity and Inctusion
Ambassadors from across the UK taking
partin forums to explore the concept of
‘belonging” and what this means on a
day-to-day basis. Subsequent to this,

we have engaged with an external

third party in order to carry out a full
assessment on our approach to equality,
diversity and inclusion. We are taking our
diversity and inclusion drive outside the
business also, with participation at job
fairs at community colleges, supported
by our social value ambassadors.

Inthe US we are required by law to
monitor ethnicily in our workforce and we
maintain a diverse workforce with 31% of
the US worklorce identifying lhemselves
as being non-white. We also gather
ethnicity data as part of the recruitment
process in the UK and monitor our
diversity. We are committed to providing
opportunities for people from all ethnic
groups and in both geographies we have
good representation from ethnic
minorities across the organisation. We are
alsoworking to increzse gender diversity
at all tevels of the business. However, our
workforce as a whole reflects the nature
of our business, the industry in which we
operate and the markets we serve wilh
just 12% of the Group’s workforce being
femate. A significant proportion of our
workforce are fitter engineers and HGV

INCLUSION IN THE CANADIAN F|LM AND TELEVISION-INDUSTRY

Our lighting. grip and lens business in Canada has long been an advocate and partner
with POV Fitm, an organisation that partners with tatented youth to champion
diversity, equity and inclusion in the content production industries, by increasing
access to skills training, job placements, mentorship, and professional development
opportunities. Through in-kind donation of space, equipment, and resources, we are
helping provide valuable opportunities to talented young people, as well as building

a stronger, more diverse film industry workforce across Canada.

We also work extensively with WIFT ['Women in Film and Television') providing a
week-long immersive mentoring programme for production managers, providing
insight and hands-on knowledge of our niche industry. For production managers;
practical knowledge of equipment is invaluable.

drivers, virtually all of whom have been
male historically. Therefore, while across
our workforce we seek to promote
increasing proportions of women in the
business, and we have seen success in
some areas of our business such as within
professional functions, sates and
customer service, we recognise that
some roles will continue to attract

fewer women.

Nevertheless, whilst our industry has
traditionally had many more men than
women, we do have women al all levels

of the Group, from the Board to store level.

While four members of our Board (44%]

02 WORKFORCE BY GENDER

are female and we have women on our
senior management teams and as store
managers and sales executives, we realise
we have work to do to increase the number
of wormen throughout the business.

We will continue lo prioritise recruiting the
best people for every role and are working
to make it easier for more women to join
the organisation, parlicularly as we
expand. We believe that in doing so, we
will move towards achieving a greater
level of women's representation across
our company at all levels starting from

the grass roots of our organisation.

Male Female Female %

Board direclors 5 4 44%

Senior management 30 8 21%

All staff 19199 2.560 12%
03 PAY GAP |

Pay gap

us 5%

UK 1%

Canada 8%
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We are also encouraging greater gender
diversity and seeing success through our
apprenticeship programme in the UK.
Over time, we believe that this will
broaden the representation of women
within our workforce at all levels as they
progress through the organisation. This
will however take a number of years to
have an impact.

Ashtead pays men and women the same
for the same role with the actual
remuneration being based on their skills,
experience and performance. As a result
of our mix of employees and the roles they
undertake, the average pay of men and
women differs across the business.
Summarised in Table 03 on page 62 is the
amount by which average pay for men
exceeds that for women.

EMPLOYEE WELL BEING

We believe in treating our staff well and
rewarding them for the effort they putin
on our behalf. Itis crucial that our
workforce is a healthy one, both physically
and mentally, and we work hard to look
afler our people and help them look after
themselves. When our staff are on top
form, they provide the best service to our
customers. We are also there to help
when they find themselves in difficulties.
At no time were our efforts in this area
more apparent than during the pandemic
when we prioritised our employees’ well
being at all times.

In North America, the Sunbelt Rentals
Employee Relief Fund was created to
support employees who are facing
financial hardships after a nalural disaster
or other life-changing events. The Fund
was initially established to help the victims
of Hurricane Charley in 2004 and is now a
partof our long-term strategy to assist
team members through catastrophic
financial hardships. Any employee of
Sunbelt is eligible to receive relief from
this fund for the benefit of themselves

or their immediate family members

living in their household.

Inthe UK our "Let’s Talk” well being
programme started with "Let’s Talk Mental
Health’ volunteers completing a two-day
professional Mental Health First Aider
course [[MHFA England’] and we plan lo
train more staff in this important area.
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LET'S TALK MENTAL HEALTH WELL BEING PROGRAMME

The Let's Talk Mental Health proagramme aims to remove the stigma surrounding
mental healthissues and create an environment where everyone feels they can tatk
openly with one of our trained mental heallh first aiders if they need to.

The UK business has more than 50 trained mental health first aiders who are
available to any employee to talk about how they feel or issues that might be causing '
them worry or distress. Alongside our first aiders, the programme raises awareness |
of mental health issues widely smong our workforce and is delivering mental health
awareness training for line managers to support their knowledge and skills. More [
than 150 line managers have received mental health awareness training and we
expect ail line managers to have completed the training by the end of 2022.
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT CONTINUED
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Protecting the environment has always
been an important etement of how we
work. Now it is front and centre of our
strategic plan, Sunbett 3.0, with "Lead
with ESG" one of our five actionable
components to enhance lransparency
regarding our commitments and
achievements. Our biggest commitment
inthis areais lo decrease our carbon
intensity by 35% by the year 2030, with
a shorter-term goal to reduce carbon
intensity by 15% by 2024.

We believe this is not just the right thing to
do but will bring us significant competitive
advantage. Renting equipment rather
than buying it is already the most
environmentally-friendly way to use
equipment. We believe rental is essential
to environmental progress, designing out
wasle, reducing emissions and keeping
producls and malerials in use, thereby
assisting the regeneration of nalural
systems rather than depleling

them consistently. INVESTING We have partnered with Doosan Bobcat
. o IN GREEN {'Bobcat’} to develop and produce the world's

Y;/fezzelZSvn;r:;:sii:\ozzig\gglrrl‘)%;h:n:?srs)jion TECHNOLOGY FOR first all-etectric compact track loader. Our
eaui r'nent “vailable. We also increasinat OUR CUSTOMERS: collaboralnorj involved concepl and product

quip . ! gty ELECTRIFYING development, and testing and customer .
help our customers work in more AN'ICON acceptance of the battery version of Bobcat's
environmentally-friendly ways. We iconic compact loader.
already offer the most comprehensive
range of green equipment available in the In addition to being a zero-emission machine,
market but we are committed to working the loader has other environmental benefits:

closely with alt our suppliers to help them
develop the most environmentatly
sustainable equipment that we can then
buy. Around 20% of our rental fleel is
powered by alternatives to lraditional
diesel power, including ballery, electric
and hybrid options.

- itis made with around hall the parts and
components of the traditionat diesel version,
reducing maintenance needs and lifetime
ownership costs;

- using electric motors rather than hydraulics,
the loader needs onty one litre of eco-friendly
coolant compared to around 230 litres of fluids
for the diesel/hydraulic mode!, reducing costs,

The targe majority of our diesel-powered emissions and the risk of spills; and

fleet also meets the most stringent North - the molor is silenl-running and reduces
Ame_rlcan and European emissions vibration for operators.

requirements. However, we are not

content with simply being a buyer of next In addition to collaborating in the development
generation equipment; we want to phase, Sunbelt has committed o buy two-thirds
influence and support our larger suppliers of the initial production run of 150 machines.

to accelerate the shift to a low-carbon

economy. So, we work closely with them Diesel compact loaders are a staple construction
to help them design, develop, trial and machine in North America with around 100,000
bring to markel innovative, . units purchased each year. Rental only accounts
environmenlally-sustainable eguipment, for a 30% share of this market. With our
including electric versions of the most investment in the electric loader, initial rentat

penetration of this zero-emission model based
on our investment alone will be 67%. We plan to
partner with Bobcat on further electric product
development in the future.

widely-used pieces of rental equipment.
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We are in a good posilion to influence how
new producls are developed and used
through our relationship with customers
and manufacturers. We are therefore in
an ideal position both 1o understand
customer demand for greener equipment
and support manufacturers to meet these
needs with their product development. At
the same time, our desire to invest in new
and greener technology demonstrates to
manufacturers there is demand for their
new products. Finally, by bringing new
products to a wide audience of customers
in the rental market we help develop
acceptance of new equipment and drive
further demand.

Recent examples of our investment in
greener equipment include:

buying 100 (two-thirds of the first year's

production] of the newly-launched

electric Bobcat compact track loader in

North America and investing in 30% of

all Wacker Neuson electric four-wheel

drive dumpers in the UK, ensuring high
levels of rental penetration and use for
these new products;

- inthe UK, ordering £65m of the latest
JCB equipment, 92% of which is either
electric or hybrid powered or meets the
lalest emissions standards lor
combustion engines; and

- working with, and invesling in,

innovative start-up manufaclurers in

the areas of portable battery power,
and battery design and packaging.

Focusing on environmental impact helps
our staff feel good about where they work
and helps to build good relationships with
the communities around our stores. We
are, and intend to continue, leading the
rental inoustry through innovation in

this area.

CLIMATE
CHARNGE

Like any other business, climate change
has the potential lo impact ours, both
positiveily and negatively. For example,
adverse weather even's or natural
disasters could negatively atfect
economies ard disrupt our business
day-to-day but also increase the demand
for our services as we respond to the
needs of our communities i~ recovering
from such events. Our climate change
focus is on our impact on the environment
and we can reduce it througt lower
caroon emissions, waste and water usage.

Our commitment to improving energy
performance and reduce carbon
emissions is intended to reduce our
impact on the environment and should
also deliver significant long-term cost
savings. We can do this through managing
our own performance and enabling that of
our customers.

We monitor our energy performance by
looking al the management of:

- fuelusage;

- electricand gas usage;
- fleet telematics; and

- driver training.

We provide more environmentally-friendly
equipment when possible such as:

- electric equipment;

- eco accommodation units;

- eco lighting;

- battery powered products; and
- hybrid generators.

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Aswe are a growing business with
ambitious expansion plans, our absolute
greenhouse gas [GHG'} emissions will
necessarily increase in the near-term.
However, we continue to evaluate how
best we can limit that increase and
mitigate the impact. As mentioned on
page 64, we are committed to a significant
reduction in our carbon intensity.

Our Scope 1 [fuel combustion and
operation of facilities] and 2 [purchased
eiectricity GHG emissions are reported
ir Tabte 04 below, together with details of
the energy consumption used to calculate
those emissions.

In order to caiculate the GHG emissions
and total energy consumption in mWh,

we have used the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard
{revised edition), together with emission
factors from the UK Government’s GHG
Conversion Factors for Company

04 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSlONS_l

Reporting 2020, as well as the US
Environmental Protection Agency.
Emissions have been measured using
a ‘market-based method".
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In the UK, we collect data from alt Scope
1and 2 suppliers and hence, there is no
estimation involved. In the current year,
the UK's Scope 2 [purchased electricity)
emissions have reduced as a result of
sourcing electricity from renewable
sources which are REGO [renewable
energy guarantees of origin) backed.

As a result, Scope 2 emissions have been
largely eliminated during 2621/22 with
the remaining emissions relating to a
small number of locations where energy
is sourced through a third party. In the
US and Canada, due to the size of our
operation, we collect data from the
significant vendors and then use this to
estimate emissions attributable lo the
balance. At April 2022, approximately
8% of the North American emissions
balance was estimated. Emissions

from the Group’s lighting, grip and lens
business in Canada are not included.
We believe that these emissions are
immaterial to the Group's overall carbon
emissions and we are working to collect
this data going forward.

Historically we have not reported Scope 3
emissions due to the difficulty in gathering
accurate and reliable information. We are
working to quantify our Scope 3 emissions
sowe can monilor Lhese and report on
them in the future. The majorily of these
arise through our customers’ use of our
equipment on their siles and projects,
emissions from the use of sold rentat
equipment subsequent to our ownership
and the embedded carbon in our supply
chain. Consequently, they are based on
broad assumptions which are inherently
difficult to validate. Accordingly, our
Scope 3 emissions will always be

subject to a significant degree of
estimation uncertainty.

2022 . . 220

o o UK_ _________'r_ﬂal. ) UK Total
Scope 1 1CO.efyear” 30,099 302,843 30,610 288,438
_S(ioge 2 ] fppig_/yegr" 357 26,977_ 2409 ,3,”3532,
Total 1CO, e/year’ 30,456 329,820 33,019 318970
L‘nergy éonsijmplion used
to caiculate emissions mWh 131,148 1,317,129 139912  1,2£6.179
* 1CO efyear oehined ac tanner ¢f CO equivalet per ear.

[PUSE——
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While we are focused on reducing our
carbon emissions, they are likely to
increase as we grow over the medium-
term until technological advancements
and increased manufacturing capacity
reduce reliance on the diesel engine.
Thus, at this stage, our key performance
metric is carbon intensity as we look to
mitigate our environmental impact. Qur
level of GHG emissions vary with our
activity levels which are reflected in our
revenue levels. Accordingly, we have
concluded that the most appropriate
intensity ratio for Ashtead is revenue
intensity. Our intensity metric is therefore
carbon emissions per million dollars of
revenue (tCO,e/$m).

2022 2021
Carbon intensity ratio :
- emissions per $m of
revenue (tCO,e/$m) 42,2. 488

On a constant currency basis {using this
year's exchange rates] our intensity ratio
has reduced from 48.5t0 42.2.

WASTE

We are focused on reducing waste to
landfill and the amount of water we use.

Our business model necessarily promotes
less waste overall going to landfill
because we are renting the same piece of
equipment to many customers and
maintaining it to such an extent that it has
a long product life. If each of our
customers were buying all the equipment
they need, perhaps using it only a few
times and then disposing of it, then there
would be considerably mare equipment
going to waste than with a rental model.
We are working proactively with our
supply chain lo increase the amount of
recycling of our equipment that can be
done to avoid even obsolete equipment
going to landfill.

We are actively pursuing programmes

to reduce the volume of the waste we
produce in all our territories. We are
working with suppliers to reduce the
packaging included with products we
procure and are partnering with suppliers
to develop takeback programmes for
equipment packaging and proteclive
malerials. We offer recycling at our owned
renlat siles, partnering with suppliers to
enhance the recyclability of products.

We monitor and manage our water
consumption, working to ensure that
process water is collected {and trealed as
required} and disposed of appropriately.
We have inlroduced water mapping and
have identified 20% of our locations as
being inwaler-stressed areas, specifically
those in California and the south-west and
central states of the US. We will be
introducing technology to help reduce
water use in these areas.

ENVIRONMENTAL
OPPORTUNITIES

Unlike many other companies, climate
change represents more of an opportunity
than a risk for Ashtead, which will also
bring us significant competitive
advantage. There are two main faclors
contributing to this opportunity.

Firslly. as regulations change requiring
greater use of lower carbon technologies,
companies will voluntarily choose to use
more environmentally-friendly
equipment. However, as we see today,
emerging technology 1s more complicated
and expensive, at least initially, than
existing technology. As a consequence,

it will be more efficient for companies to
rent that equipment from us rather than
buying it themselves. So climate change
will provide additional impetus to the shift
from ownership o rental that we talk
aboul often in this report.

Secondly, the more extreme weather
events associated with climate change lead
to the kind of damage that requires a rapid
response and clean-up operations in which
we are highly experienced. Our disaster
response capability is one of the specialty
areas in which we truly excel and are well
known, While not linked directly to climate
change, our disaster relief capabilities
were immediately called upon to assist
with management of the COVID-19
pandemic in the US, Canada and the UK,
even under lockdown across all territories.

FLEET COMPOSITION

Everyyear we invest millions of dollars in
new equipmenti and fleet which produces
less carbon, less particulate matter and
needs less maintenance and servicing. We
work closely with our suppliers to devetop
the next generation of equipment,
constantly innovating, trialling and
improving on today’s technology.
Consideration of maintenance and
servicing requirements as well as what
happens at the end of a product’s useful life
are a key part of this process, as we believe
that true sustainability needs to consider a
holistic, whole life cycle approach.
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GROUP FLEET COMPOSITION

1 Fossilfuel.....ccncininerees
2 Electfic e
3 Other, inc. non-powered

The chart above shows the composition
of our fleet today, with approximately one
third of our assets comprising of non-
fossil fuel powered assets. These include
electric or solar powered assets, such
as electric scissor lifts and tower lights,
as well as non-powered assets. We
expect this to increase going forward

as allernative technologies become
available. Even today, our third largest
calegory of fleet is electric scissor lifts.

ALTERNATIVE FUELS

We are building partnerships with
suppliers lo introduce allernative energy
and fuel solutions for our customers.
HVO [hydrotreated vegelable oil) fuel is
manufactured from 100% renewable and
sustainable waste, ethically sourced and
derived from raw materials. HVO is a
‘dropin’ fuel that can replace diesel with
no changes required to the engine or
operational infrastructure. Itis legal

for road and non-road use and offers
significant reductions in noxious tail
pipe emissions. We launched this
alternative fuel to our UK customers
hiring equipment with combustion
engines, which would normally have
burnt fossil-fuel-based red diesel. HVO
has been proven to create a 90% reduclion
innet carbon emissions (CO,e) on-site.
Several of our UK national customers
have atready made the switch.

COMPANY VEHICLES

Driving over 285m miles a year delivering
and servicing equipment and serving
cuslomers means that any steps we take
to reduce the environmental impact of our
vehicle fleet are important. Additionat
vehicle efficiency steps laken include

the use of:

- telematics on vehicles to monitor
engine idling and driving efficiency;



a telematics dashboard to enable
tracking of fuel usage and CO,
emissions by location and individual
asset, enabling betler operational and
cosl saving decisions;

- speed limiting devices on all three-axle
vehicles in the US, resulting in fuel
savings and increased safety;

- technology to optimise delivery routes;

- tyre pressure monitors to optimise fuel
efficiency;

- fuel efficient tyres and tyre inflation
systems to reduce rolling resistance
in the US;

- improved design to increase fuel
efficiency of the delivery and service
fleet; and

- reducing tailpipe emissions.

We continue to make fleet efficiency gains.
The Fleet Operalor Recognition Scheme
{'FORS')1s an accreditation scheme that
airns to improve vehicle fleet activity
throughout the UK. The overarching
scheme encompasses all aspects of
safety, fuel efficiency, economical
operation and vehicle emissions, with the
UK having successfully retained its Gold
status for the sixth year running covering
145 of its depots.

Our strategy is to operate an
environmentatly responsible transport
and logistic fleet:

- we offer eco-site solutions and
co-located on-sile facilities, to keep
equipment and expertise as close to
projects as possible, minimising trips
to and from our depots to replenish
plant and equipment;

- within three years we will convert all
new orders for light duty fleet to nearly
100% environmentally responsible
vehicles in the US; and

- our planned transport replacement
plan will ensure that the entire UK fleet
is Euro 6 compliant by mid-2022.

We are working hard to change as many
of our company vehicles to green’ vehicles
as possible, linked to our overatl carbon
‘ntensily target.
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT CONTINUED
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Playing a big role in our local communities
is crucialin all our markets and massively
important to our sense of purpose as an
organisalion, As we expand our markel
share, parlicularly in the US and Canads,
we have ever more impacl and influence,
enhancing the communities in which we
operate, through employment,
opportunity and community involvement.
Our responsibitity to these communities
increases as we grow. ltis crucial to us
that we recruit locally when we can,
including young people, long-term
unemployed and veterans. We believe

the skills and discipline gained through
military service translates well into

our work environment.

COMMUNITY !
ENGAGEMENT

Working with local charities is very
important to us. We also have a huge
impact on both our own communities and
those further afield through our disaster
relief work with communities in distress
from a wide range of factors. We are a first
responder when it comes to natural
disasters, restoring communities and
conducling massive clean-up operations
after storms and floods, for example.

In the UK we have a designated Socisl
Impacl leam that is working with
customers as well as slaff to support social
value initiatives. We are using the UK
National TOMS [ Themes, Outcomes,
Measures’] framework to measure our
efforts against a minimum reporting
standard for social value. We aim to
eventually use this framework to guide and
measure our social impact group-wide.

We are also working with community
colleges toincrease our recruitment from
those, as well as with organisalions
working to improve the lives of people in
difficulty, for example the homeless in the
UK, as well as young peopte at risk of
drugs and violence, to demonstrale and
provide an alternative way of life.

10z

!

We like to gatinvotved in community initiatives big

DAMAR 5
CHILDREN'’S and small. We support Damar in central Indiana, i
HOME an organisation which serves 1,500 individuals 1
with developmentsl disabilities and autism daily. ;
We collected over 4,000 pairs of socks for the
| nearly 200 children at their residential campus. f
i Many of these children arrive with minimat
} belongings or funding to cover necessities. We
‘ were also recognised for giving over $25,000 in
\ support last year to the young people’s home. ‘
{
L ~ !
ORERATHON Ayrred Wik & caraven of conlss, mekile pis,
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RECRUITMENT

With our continued rapid growth,
recruiting new employees is of the utmost
importance. Our recruitment efforts are
not only focused on finding the right
employees and communicating the
benefits of working for Sunbelt, but
bringing awareness and excitement aboul
the opportunities we provide. Our focus

is on improving and standardising our
recruitment and onboarding processes

to reduce the level of turnover in the first
two years. To aid these efforts we have

a number of programmes including:

- our US Co-0p programme which
provides an entry point for trade school
students to apply knowledge and skills
learned in their programmes of study.
Over the course of six months,
participants perform specific job tasks
while demonstrating the potential to
join the team as a lechnician-in-
training or technician upon graduation
from their trade school:

- Manager In Training [MIT’) - this
programme identifies top talent out
of college and the military and places
them through an accelerated training
programme; and

- our UK careers website allows
prospective employees to apply online
and enables us to manage the whole
recruitment process internally, from
posting of vacancies through interviews
and offerfunsuccessful leiters. Users
are able to sign-up for job alerts in
specific regions or divisions and
internal reporting is both detaited
and tailored.

WEABONSIDEWN
CELEVES VP

Lastl yepr ws levmdhies am
withllocalfcompaniesyio gdoverd 00

sUEIREDRIE
soeEl mpeet aswel o

I pardrersiip il Linapeel-beeed deriy
Weerems Bowm Elsmas Lp mél?i)%ﬂl mmﬂh@ui@@‘“mwmm:xﬂ
Mm&ﬁ@m@ﬁﬂ@mﬁmmé@m
o, willh & suatsees releoff 0% stepng m wark, The dariy vess G payer of spart e
mmﬁgmﬁlﬁh@&m&g@m@@h@mmdﬁmmgmaﬂmﬂh%rmwd
being grosmwed) e drug Geffiding and geng euliare |'s e te tele part and bagins with o
boxng prograrme sapperiss by kaeel pro besng logemes, wisre tieyaung peeple are aie
Bt st vty ey Feepons bl aeachies. They Tem rass us Ttary-cpeeic Gamvng, whers
minwmgﬁmmwjmﬂmdr@?@dmmﬂmmﬂh@<@w
mmmﬂdﬂb@ﬁﬁa%m@ﬂﬂwmmmmﬂbmmba@mm
ey = belipimg o IFEm Mere JEVEGHSERE, 5o 16 fam e@m aeisus Ghalr srabiliur o
emppleyinert (o7 I 800ymang peeple by AU, The s & superbwayier ws te hews drasd
POERIENL SOMMEIRGE AERrFREERIKS (@ QuF SpRFERESSHID FFegranmE.

Ashtead Group ptc Annual Report & Accounts 2022 69

1Y0d3Y¥ J1931VHLS D



2202 Swnoddy g 110day jenuuy 21d dnosg peaiysy oL

(U310 93] 30,01 Wiy Buimo))e
Aliwie) Siylio) 3310y30ia))3g s anow ay) s)1ed sk uauiuodiauatiaw e e,urag oy pue ajlj
13112q ejjeadueyole wiyareh obesiesaslino)jaqung oy yatims ayy bul Al |

W——r_m
y).2q sAemjel puepa
A -

0)dap" '

Sneayiul

Aseyiw ayy buinea) aydoad soj 321040 Jo
Jaho\dwa sy} aq o) pauiwiaiap aie am
'$1104}2 PAUIGUIOD 3S3Y) YJIAA ‘'SUBIB)BA
43410 0) WaY} 22NpOoJJuUl PUL 3WOD]8M 0)
1IN0 saydeal sopessequie ue ‘Auedwol ay)
suiol uesajaa mau e uaypp "uoluUB)aL pue
tuoiubooau tbuninisas 'sadunosau isse)d
124n)N2 Jnoj uo sunJs dnoub sueusaian

JnQ "painasApesse usymse|jamse

‘1xau jeym bulso)dxa pue ‘saduo0) ayj uins
aue Aay) uaym suesajanijenuajod adnposjul
o1 ‘Aselpiw ayy ynm Bunjiom ‘ssapniday
uelalan pajeubisap aney apy " Janoanepn
A1y, se yons 'sjusna elpawl vt
Bunedidnaed pue uonepuno asiuig Aieq
ay) yum yaom ano buipuedxa ‘adropiom
1u321n2 2no Ul suesajan builbpaymouyoe
apnjaul subledwed yuawynasad

Aseyniw unQ saal Jaljaq pea) sashojdwa
Jno pue syawolsnd sno djay 0y )2adsal
pue Ayjeko) ‘Ajubajul ‘yiomwes) axiy
sa)dipunad Buisn Aq 112qung jo 1amod ay)
abeusana) ap 'ssauisng op am Aem ay) ul

PLusuiiofisnlioust sjol diueyosuriue|de ana1aq Aay) asnedaq sn asooyd SUBRJIJAA

1BY) pURAIISNPULSIYLULYIOM UBD UIWOM 1EYI MOYS 0], JUBM |j2I0uAue pioms ue 353U} 'S3UIJBW PUR UAWIE 0) SI0]ES

210U,S (1 ‘sAesqu'aoueuawnemqu uLuonedlienb e1aAss DANISY buiuuibag puE $J3Ip}0S w‘on -saedwos 10 Jaqufnu

S pueliaily pabpa| Aln) B MOU S 3USESPIBMY,31N)INY 3Y] J0.518])S LOIIBIDOSSY ne(.us e Auo Aq paﬁleue JUaWaAaiyoe
3J1H:1UB|d.UDI}dRI1SU0 ] shieaA siy).1e pIemy,|e1dads sabpnpaul pueadua)jaax3|o } : s

spJemy.9J1Hg3d0.n3 uoNeI30ssy,a1H ayliebealayy)o aanuaJd?i‘v'BunoAuomApeeqe UE £20C Ut PIBME JINNIS € PINAIYIE

Buiaey JuawAhojdwsa uelajan u) 1apea)
anJ) e aq o) puajul am pue s3ko)dwa
Apuaij-Aieyiw gg-doy e se pajeubisap
34e M G 3Y] U| 'S31J0}11J3) N0 e Uy

221 uddde aoueusjuiew jueny 140ddns pue 1oeJyie 0) uasy ase am dnosb

9’11"58 04>3m e aue Aay) pue 3210310M uno Jo uoljodoad
-~ BuiseaJoui ue dn ayew sueJdalap

INIFWLINYIIY AYVLITIW

) sey aygpuoZspuey 6ug>pozvuagddeq Semays senaylins:y upip,aba)jodwio) yixis
papIdap.aysyJolaastiay unsadiiuaidde ajeulajomrAjuctjo auo0 se;ods(] |euoieulaiu)
U0)}IMTN0 12,3311ud ddeadueus)uieuiueldese’s| 0ZaULsn pautoldy.inoy 0A30))

"%09 "2 j0 d)jes Auysnpul ayy o) pasedwod
ajeu uonaydwod 9,68 aaIssasdwi

ue sey os)e awayds adnuasdde ung
"Bursaauibua yiad pue ‘buiraauibus
1e21ueYydal 1)edIuYd3) 04123}

'JAAIIP '9DIAIBS JAWOISND (3DUBUIUIRW
yue)d isweass adnjuasdde xis aney ap
‘Bujuiely qol-ayy-uo oy uoiyippe ul
‘uonednenb pAN jewsoy e pue buluiesy
apIsino apn)dut Ajjensn pue 2)31dwod

0] $Je3A 93JY) pUR 3UO UBAIM}BQ 3y e)
sawweusbousd aonuasdde ung yeah buiwod
ay) ut sasnuaadde g9 Jaa0 JINud3J 0y ueyd
am pue Jeah 1Y} S33UIRJ) 47 UO %00} 3M
‘Ansnpuiejuas juawdinba ay) vl sawayds
panmjea Ajybiy pue jnyssacons Jsow ayy

J0 auo buiag 10j SprEME UIM 0] S3NUITUOD
awwesboud diysaonuasdde s yn ayy

JWWVYYHI0Ud dIHSIIILNIYDdVY %N

G3NNILNOJ LY0d3Y SSINISNE 3T19ISNOdSIY



Inthe UK, we work in partnership with
British Forces Resettlemenl Services
{'BFRS’) - a social enterprise created lo
help the armed forces community with
their transition into civilian life. BFRS
works with service leavers to provide
them with the skills and opportunities they
need to successfully resetile after leaving
the armed forces. The veterans
programme is ted by an ex-Royal Navy
serviceman. We are also a strategic
partner of the veterans’ charity Walking
With The Wounded, helping injured
veterans to find meaningful work after
their service.

CHARITIES

>

GARY SINISE FOUNDATION

We are thrilled to enter the seventh year
of our partnership with the Gary Sinise
Foundation, which honours America’s
defenders, military veterans, first
responders, their families and those in
need. The Foundation does Lhis through
the creation and implementation of unique
programmes designed to entertain,
educate, inspire, strengthen and build
communities.

Our partnership focuses on supporting
the Gary Sinise Foundation's R.1.S.E.
['Restoring Independence, Supporting
Empowerment’], First Responders
Outreach and Snowbatl Express
programmes. Through these efforts, the
Foundation builds 100% mortgage-free
specially adapled cusiom smart homes
for severely wounded heroes and their
families, serves the children of fallen
military heroes and aids crilical funding
for emergency relief, training and
essential equipment for America’s
firefighters, police departments and
EMTs, respectively. In 2021 we expanded
our partnership focus to include the
foundation’s Avalon Network, a cognitive
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health and mental wellness network that
provides transformative care to veterans
and first responders experiencing
post-traumatic stress, traumatic brain
injuries and substance abuse.

We supply the necessary equipment for
each of the R.1.S.E. programme’s projects
to the contractors working on the home
builds, at no charge. We also donate a
portion of rental proceeds from co-
branded Gary Sinise Foundation
equipment and organise various localised
fundraising efforts. This year, we
contributed more than $0.9m in monetary
and in-kind equipment donations to the
Foundation. Our goal is to bring
heightened awareness to the Foundation's
work through continued fundraising and
outreach initiatives in an effort to help
positively impact the lives of veterans,
defenders, and first responders. This
year we launched a national fundraising
sweepstake with the chance to win

a Ford Bronco, to raise further funds

and awareness.

AMERICAN RED CROSS

We continue to work closely with our
designated charitable partners, the
American Red Cross and its affiliates such
as the Second Harvest Food Bank for
which we have a food drive every
November in the US. We aliow employees
to make payroll deductions lo contribute
lo the American Red Cross or the Sunbelt
Employee Relief Fund. On lop of financial
donations to the Red Cross, we send
equipment and support to disaster-
affected areas throughout the US to aid

in relief efforts.

UK CHARITY PARTNERS

In the UK, we work regutarly with a
number of charities including The Prince’s
Trust, Teach First and CRASH. The
Prince’s Trust supports 11-30 year olds
who are unemployed, struggling at school
and at risk of exctusion, in or leaving care,
facing issues such as homelessness or
mental health problems, or who have
been in trouble with the law.

Teach First recruits and trains teachers,
placing them in schools in low-income
communities. Not only are we providing
valuabte funding to Teach First, the
charity's teachers and pupilsin partner
schools also have the chance lo work with
Sunbelt volunteers across our business.

CRASH is the construction industry’s
charity that helps homelessness and
hospice organisations with their
construction projects. 2022 represents
the 12th year we have been a patron of the
charity, with our expertise and products
helping a number of homelessness and
hospice projects.

Ashtead Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2022 7
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS REPORT CONTINUED
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BUSINESS ETHICS

Our commitment to the highest ethical
standards means that the Group Risk
Commitlee works to ensure these are
communicated and upheld throughout

the business. We believe in the rights of
individuals and take our responsibilities to
all our employees seriously and those who
may be affected by our activities. During
the year we updated the Group’s modern
slavery and human trafficking policy,
business ethics and conduct policy and
ethical sourcing policy, all of which are
available on the Group’'s website. These
policies form part of our way of doing
business and are embedded in our
operations. They are also communicated
directly lo employees through dedicated
communicalion and training programmes.
While we do not manage human rights
matters separately, we continue to assess
potential risks and do not believe they
raise particularissues for the business.

ETHICS TRAINING

Senior employees across the Group
receive regular business ethics training to
ensure they are aware of their obligations
and responsibilities with regard to
competing fairty, the UK Bribery Act and,
in the US, the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act. This takes place every two years in
North America with 2022/23 being a year
of training, while in the UK, itis
undertaken annualty. Completion of
training is monitored and reported to the
Group's Risk Committee. Anti-corruption
and bribery policies are maintained and
reviewed on a regular basis with relevant
guidance incorporated into our employee
handbooks and available on our

intranet pages.

WHISTLE-BLOWING

Our whistle-blowing arrangements altow
employees, in confidence, to raise
concerns about any atleged improprieties
they may encounter. This arrangement is
now outsourced to a third-party provider
in both North America and the UK
allowing bolh phone and web intlake.

YOS

SUPPLY CHAIN

As part of our ongoing business ethics
work, we are reviewing the sustainability
and diversity of our supply.chain and will
continue to prioritise this where possible.
Enquiries of suppliers are made when we
enter into supplier relationships and
refreshed on an ad hoc basis depending
upon the level of business we undertake
with any supplier.

Inthe UK, the Group enteredinto a
three-year partnership in 2020/21 with the
Slave-Free Alliance in order to strengthen
further the actions taken in relation to the
risks of modern slavery. We have worked
with the Slave-Free Alliance on
addressing the risk of modern slaveryin
our supply chain and have also reviewed
our stores. They have identified our traffic
management business as needing
particular scrutiny to ensure there are no
issues there. This is because we have the
highest number of operatives coming
through that area, making it more
transient in nature than the rest of the
business. The alliance has done some
spot checks, audits and hands-on training
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with our teams lo make sure we are on top
of this issue. We are assessing whether
this partnership may be broadened to
encompass the Group's businesses in
North America.

CYBER SECURITY

As the world continues to move online,
accelerated due to the pandemic and
increasingly connected technotogies, at
leastin the short to medium-term,
awareness, monitoring and adaplability to
cyber security issues is ever more crucial
for us. We are prioritising the monitoring of
any potential cyber securily vulnerabilities
and working lo ensure business continuity
under all potential scenarios. Last year we
held our fourth annual Information Security
Awareness Month, with the theme of "Data
Protection and You". While securing
hardware is an important facet of
information security, protecting the data on
our assets is critical to our success. We
launched encrypted email for all team
members and a new Information Security
SharePoint site is also now available for all
team members. For more on cyber
security risk, see page 36.

BEING A RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

Our strategic plan, Sunbelt 3.0, has
enabled us to embed responsibility
within our strategy, with 'Lead with
ESG’ being one of the five actionable
components of that strategic plan. By
doing so, we will embrace responsible
sustainability and success for our
people, our customers, our communities
and our investors; while untocking the
b structural benefits that ESG will bring
to rental across the Group.

As we have discussed earlier, we
believe that rentalis essential to
environmental progress asit enables

a more efficient use of assets across
organisations. Within this report,

we have set out some of our specific
actions across each area of ESG.
These examples are only a few of many
ongoing activities across the Group and
we will continue to challenge ourselves
through investing in new ways of doing
things, innovative use of technology
and through working with our
suppliers, customers and employees
to develop new solutions.

These initiatives provide us with the
confidence to lead with ESG through:

- ensuring a commitment to health
and safety;

- enhancing our employee engagement
and diversity, equily and inclusion;

- ensuring pay.and benelils reflect our

" markel-leading position;

- reducing our carbon intensity by 35%
by 2030; and

- ensuring continued strong governance
and stakeholder engagement.

This is the right thing to do for our
stakeholders and will ensure the
long-term sustainable success of
the Group.

30
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

The Task Force on Climale-related
Financial Disclosures [ TCFD') provides a
disclosure framework for companies to
explain how they are responding to the risks
and opportunities arising from climate
change. UK Listing Rules require premium
listed companies to make disclosures
consistent with the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures and, where they have not
complied, provide an explanation inctuding
details of the steps being taken to ensure
future compliance. Responding to the risks
and opportunities arising from climate
change is an integral part of our business
and is embedded throughout the Group and
discussed throughout this Annual Report.
The statement below explains how the
Group has complied with the requiremenls
of LR 9.8.6R by including climate-related
financial disclosures consistent with the
TCFD recommendations and
recommended disclosures. It addresses all
the disclosure requirements of the TCFD
and links to additional information located
elsewhere within the Annual Report.

GOVERNANCE

The Group’s Board of directors is responsible
for setting the Group's strategy, taking into
account all relevant risks and opportunities,
including those related to climate matters.
The Group's rigorous risk management
framework is designed to idenlify and assess
the liketihood and consequences of risks and
lo manage the aclions necessary to mitigale
their impact, including those retaled lo
climate-related matlers, and is detailed on
pages 34 and 35.

The Group taunched its latest strategic
growth plan, Sunbelt 3.0, in April 2021 which
included Lead with ESG  as a core
actionable component, which incorporates
climate-retated considerations, including
our commilment to reduce our Scope 1 and
2 carbon intensily. Further details as to how
climate-related considerations are
incorporated into the stralegy are on page
28 and in our Responsible business report
on page 65. The Board receives updales al
each board meeling as to Lhe Group's
progress againsl our slralegic goals, wilh a
formal sirategic review undertaken on an
annual basis. In addition, ESG metrics have
been embedded in the Group's
remuneration arrangements through the
Strategic Plan Award, launched in
conjunction with Sunbelt 3.0, and overseen
by the Remuneration Commiitee, as detailed
on page 97.

The Board of directors is assisted in
monitoring the success of our ESG initiatives
through the work of the Group Risk
Commillee, which monilors the progress we
make against our strategic ESG objectives
and the targets we have sel. The Group Risk
Committee is chaired by our chief financial
officer and reports formally to the Audil
Commitlee on an annual basis.

One of the principal risks and opportunities
faced by Lhe business relates to environmental
matlers, including those conlributing to
climate change. On a day-lo-day basis, lhe
Group's response to climale-related risks
and opportunities is led by Brendan Horgan,
the Group's chief executive, and activities
include working with suppliers and
cuslomers on developing and bringing more
environmentally-friendly equipment options
to market as discussed in more detail on
page 37, directing the business in relation

to reducing emissions through direct
operations and approving associated

capital expenditure plans.

Our aclions across each of these areas are
embedded within our operalional activities
across the business, supported by Llhe
Group’s managing director of ESG and
dedicated specialistsin North America and
the UK. An ESG operaling commiltee,
chaired by the Group’s managing director

of ESG and including representation from
across the businesses, has been established
lo monitor progress of our ESG-related
initiatives and performance against the
targets we have sel for ourselves. The results
of the ESG operating committee’s work are
reporied to the Group Risk Commitiee.

STRATEGY

Climate-related risks

and opportunities

The Group undertook a material issues
assessmenl loidenlily the significant risks
and opportunities for the Group from an
ESG perspective, Lthe resulls of which are
detailed on pages 54 and 55 within our
Responsible business reporl. They are
analysed into four key areas: our people;
the environment; our communities; and
governance. Climate-related matlers fall
within ‘the environment” area and the Group
believes climate-related matters represent
significant opportunities as well as posing
certain risks for the Group. The Group
believes thatits market position and
financiat strength brings it significant
competitive sdvantage in responding lo
these risks and maximising lhe
opportunilies. Specifically, the Group has
identified opportunilies arising from the

development of new products and services
which support the transition to a tower-
carbon economy, Lhe shiflin cuslomer
preflerence [rom ownership lo renlal and
lhe overall benefits to the environment as
awhole which arise from sharing assels
over their life cycle, described in more
detail on page 28, Lead with ESG, and on
pages 66 and 67 within the Responsible
business reporl.

The Group considers Lhe range of climate-
related risks and opportunilies over the
short, medium and long-term. In assessing
these time horizons, the Group has defined
short-term as being over the next three
years, medium-term as being three to five
years and long-lerm being beyond five
years. These risks and opporlunilies are
factored into the Group’s strategic planning.

We believe that the climate-related risks
relevant to the Group are those associated
primarily with transition risks rather than
physical lacute and chronic) risks. Physical
risks are mitigated by the diverse nature of
the Group's operations. The Group operates
from over 1,200 stores across the US (where
we are present in all bul lhree states),
Canada [where we are present in six
provinces] and the UK. Our largest store has
c. $125m of rental fleet at cost [¢.1% of the
Group's fleet) while ¢. 95% of our localions
have less than $50m of rental fleel al cosl,
the majorily ofl which is oul on renl al any
particular time. As a result, no one store is
malerial to the Group such that a natural
disaster would have a significant impact on
the Group's ability to operate.

Transition risks identified include regulation
lcurrent and emerging), technology, legal,
market and reputational. The impact of
these risks, the likely time horizon over
which they may affect the business and

the Group’s response are considered
onpage 74.

Regulation {medium to long-term)

The Group monitors current and emerging
regulation lo ensure our policies and
practices remain appropriate. Specific
examples of current requlation which
impacts the Group relate to ensuring our
rental and vehicle fteet is compliant with
engine emission standards such as the
Californian Air Emissions Standards or
the London Ultra-low Emission Zone
requirements. We believe that regulation
willincrease over time and the polential of
increased pricing of GHG emissions could
lead to hugher vperating costs for the Group
in the future.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
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Technology [medium to long-term)

A significant proportion of our fleel conlains
a diesel engine. While we will seek lo
replace these assets with assets using
alternative fuel sources as they become
available, this will take time. There are a
lack of alternative assets avaitable today
and limited manufacturing capacity and so
we expect any transition to happen
gradually. We will seek to manage Lhis
transition in the same manner as we
managed the transition from Tier 0 to Tier
4/5 diesel engines [rom 1994 10 2018. On
average, we own assels for seven to eighl
years and therefore expect the full transition
of our fleet witl only occur over Lhe longer-
term. We are working closety with suppliers
and customers to develop new technology,
including investment in partners lo assist
in the development of battery and other
technology. We also believe the
development of Bio-diesel or other
environmentally-friendly allernative fuels
will provide an alternative to the reliance

on diesel today.

Legal [short-term]

Legal compliance covers malters such as
waslewatler, slormwaler, solid and
hazardous wastes and materials, and air
quality. Breaches potentially create
litigation matters for the Group which may
resultin fines and penalties for non-
compliance. The Group’s Health, Safely
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and Environmental departments and our
Performance Standards operational audit
teams continually assesses the Group’'s
regulalory environmental compliance.
These audits have a buitt-in corrective
aclion process lo ensure any identified
non-compliance is addressedin a

limely manner.

Market [medium to long-term])
Emerging market developments are
monitored, using both third-party risk
analysis, as well as internal views of
emerging trends. Specifically, these
market factors include changing
cuslomer requirements as a result of the
environmental standards to which they
operale to support their own low-carbon
objectives and the shift from ownership to
rental as customers opt to rent newer,
more expensive lechnology than own it.

Reputational [short to long-term)
Breaches of environmental regutation
potentially create hazards lo our employees,
damage to our repulation and expose the
Group to, among other things, the cost

of invesligalion and remedialing
conlaminalion and also fines and

penalties for non-compliance.

Management of the impact of these
climate-related transition risks and
opportunities forms part of the day-to-day
operational activities of the Group and our
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financial planning activities reflect the
financialimpacts and investments
anticipated with examples of their aclivities
provided within our Responsible business
report on pages 66 and 67, such as our
partnership with Bobcat and our
investments in greener vehicles. Ullimately,
the Group believes the opportunities
presented by climale change significantly
outweigh the risks to the Group.

Resilience of the

organisation’s strategy

The Group has a business model that is bolh
resilient and adaptable to change.
Furthermore, it benefits from a distributed
operating structure such that it is not reliant
on any particular location. The Group's
slrategy seeks lo take advanlage of Lthese
benelits of lhe business model, white
recognising the risks inherent in the
business and the environment in which we
operale, whether that be economic factors,
competitor actions, cyber.threats or
environmental considerations such as
climate change. We discuss our thinking on
climate-related matlers on a regular basis
assessing how changes may affect the
business and how the business would
respond. While we consider a wide range of
scenarios we have outlined our thinking
under lwo climate scenarios, anincrease in
average temperatures by 2°C or less and
then il the average increase were 4°C.

Ina 2°C or less scenario, we believe that the
risks and opportunities faced by the Group
will be related principally to transition risks
(e.g. the application of policy or regulatory
initiatives including increased pricing of
GHG emissions, changes in lechnology and
changes in customer preferences). In this
scenario, as we, our suppliers and our
customers look to reduce GHG emissions,
we are likely {o face increasing costs
whether that be through increased cost of
our rental fleet or the cost associaled with
the pricing of GHG emissions. While we
helirve these [actors will crystallise over
the medintm tn langsr-term as new
technologies develop, we are working with
our suppliers and other parties lo advance
these technologies an example of which ic
discussed on page 64. In the near lo
medium-term, the availabilily of new
techinology will be constrained by
productlion capacity and we would expect

to transition our rental fleet to the latest
technology gradually as we replace ¢. 15%
of our rental fleet every year. We believe ihat
increased costs and complexily will provide
additional impetus to the shift from
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ownership to rental, increasing our
addressable market. We expect rental and
transporiation rates to reflect the increased
cost of rental and transportation equipment,
enabling us to maintain similar levels of
dollar utilisation and therefore returns. We
expect to continue lo dispose of old rental
fleet in the used equipment market,
replacing other organisations’ older, less
environmentally-friendly equipment.

Ina 4°C scenario, in addition to the
transilion risks discussed above, we would
expecl lo see anincrease in physical risks
le.g.increased inslances of extreme
weather events, rising mean temperatures
and rising sea levels]. As discussed above,
the diversified nature of the Group's
operations means that no location is
material to the Group, mitigating the
immediale impact of physical risks on our
operations and enabling us to plan for the
longer-term. In a 4°C scenario, there is an
increased likelihood of more extreme
weather events such as flooding, wildlires,
hurricanes and other nalural disaslers,
which cause damage and require clean-up
and support which we are able to provide
through our highly experienced Emergency
Response Team.

In any scenario, the speed of the transition of
assels will be constrained by the availability
of new technologies and manufacturing
capacity. Given our partnership with key
suppliers and our regular replacement
cycle, we expect to be able to transilion our
fleet more quickly than many other
organisations. These discussions and
considerations are factored into our routine
financtal ptanning aclivilies - for example,
through our capital allocation decisions.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The process for idenlifying, assessing and
managing climate-related risks is the same
as for all the risks faced by the Group and is
described on pages 34 and 35. The Board
has overall responsibilily lor risk
management, setting risk appetite and
implementation of the risk management
policy - this includes responsibility for
climale-related risks. This approach is
dasigned lo enabte the Group lo lake
advantage of attractive opportunities, yel lo
do so within the risk appetite of the Board,
mindful of risks which have been identified
and any emerging risks which may impact
the Group. The Group's Risk Commuttee
rmonitors the actions taken across Lhe Group
lo manage the Group’s rick and ensure that
adequate assurance is oblained over them.

|
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in addition, the Group's Risk Committee
ensures that risks have been appropriately
assessed in relalion to risk rating.

METRICS AND TARGETS

Our KPl associaled with environmentat risk
is that of carbon intensity for our Scope 1
and 2 GHG emissions. The basis and
rationale for this KPl and our performance
in the current year and progress over the
prioryearsis on pages 33, 65 and 66. The
target for the Group is to reduce our carbon
intensity 35% by 2030 from the levelin 2018
(54.01COe/$m on a constant currency
basis), wilh a shorter-lerm target to reduce
our carbon intensity 15% by 2024 from the
levelin 2018.

In order lo achieve this target, we
established a roadmap covering:

- near-lerm, including greener vehicle
transition and route optimisation /
dynamic tetematics;

- medium-term, including making step
changes on vehicle procurement and
renewal energy generation: and

- long-term, including migration to
alternative energy sources for the Group.

Across various areas, we are working with
our key suppliers lo ensure progress in each
of the areas idenlified.

Our carbon intensily KPI, specifically
delivering a carbon intensity reduction

of 15% by 2024, forms parl of the Group's
ramuneration arrangements as one of the
performance measures for the Group’s
Strategic Plan Award, which is tinked
direclly to the objectives underpinning
the Group’s Sunbelt 3.0 strategy.

In addition, as part of our ongoing focus on
the environmental impact of the Group more
broadly, we are in the process of developing
metrics and targels to monitor and measure
ourimpactin relalion to waste to landfill and
waler usage so as to assist usin measuring
our progress in these areas.

Greenhouse gas [GHG] emissions
Our Scope 1and 2 GHG emissions are
disclosed on pages 65 and 66 of Lhis report
and have been determined in line wilh the
GHG Protocol methodology.

We are working with The Carbon Trust to
estimate the Group's Scope 3 emissions and
understand how these will evoltve going
forward. The most significant components
of our Scope 3 emissions retale to our
customers’ use of our assets during the
rental period and the use of sold product
{principally the use of used equipment after
our ownership). Measuring Scope 3
emissions involves a significanl applicalion
of judgement, in particular in relation to the
use of sold assets when we dispose of rental
assets to the used equipment market and
end of life treatment of these assels.
Accordingly, our Scope 3 emissions will
always be subject to a significant degree

of estimation uncertainty.

Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022 75



VST TSI S S S S S S S S S

9. DYNAMIC
CAPITAL
ALLOCATION

LSS LTSS LSS ST S ST S S LSS LSS TS S S S S S

S s sl Mo

-
S

L4

DYNAMIC CAPITAL ALLOCATION

The strength of our halance sheet is a key competitive
advantage, enabling us to deliver financiai security and
investment for growth at all umes. Last year we made
our debut in the Investment grade debt market through
a dual tranche notes 1ssue of $1.3bn at an average cost
of just over 2%. We used this to refinance $1.2bn of
notes with an average cost of 4.7%, resulting inan
annual interest saving of $30m. We are always thinking
ahead about how we can best finance growth white
cushioning ourselves from any market instability. This
investment grade bond issue, a firsl nourinduslry,
marks a new juncture In our ongoirg dynamic capitat
altocation slrategy.
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NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

The non-financial reporting regulations in
seclion 414CA and 414CB of the
Companies Act 2006 require the
disclosure of specific information relating
to environmenlal matters, the Company's
employees, social matters, respect for
human rights and anti-corruption and
anti-bribery matters, a summary of
which is set out below.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

We seek to minimise the environmental
impact of everything we do. In addition,
our commitment to improving energy
performance is intended to reduce our
impact on the environment and could
deliver significant cost savings over time.

Further details of our policies, including
disclosure of carbon emission and energy
usage data, is provided on pages 64 to 67.
Our approach to responding to the risks
and opportunities arising from climate
change are summarised in our TCFD
statement on pages 73 to 75.

Related principal risks: see
‘environmental’ risk on page 37.

EMPLOYEES

Our employee policies are designed to
ensure that we hire the besl people, train
them well and look after them so that they
provide the best possible service for our
customers and suppliers. Furthermore,
health and safety policies are core to our
operations as we need to provide
equipment which is safe to use and
minimises any risk to our people.

Specific policies provide equal
opportunities to all of our staff and ensure
that we maintain an inclusive culture.
Employee policies are available to all
employees through the employee
handbooks and on our employee intranet.

Further details of our policies, including
details on our safety programmes,
training and recruitment activities, is
provided on pages 56 to 63.

Related principal risks: see ‘people
and culture’ risk on page 37.

SOCIAL MATTERS

Playing a big role in our local communities
is of crucial importance to our business.
As we expand our market share,
particularly in the US and Canada, we
have ever more impact and influence over
the communities where we hire staff and
make an economic contribution. Our
responsibility to those communities
increases likewise. The Group has policies
to support employee volunteering for
programmes which positively impact our
communities.

Further details of our contribution to
sociely is provided on pages 68 to 71.

Related principal risks: while social
matters are not considered a principal
risk to the Group, we believe there is an
important link between social matters and
the risk identified in relation to our people
and culture as outlined on page 37.

HUMAN RIGHTS

At Ashtead we believe in the rights of
individuals and take our responsibilities
seriously to all our employees and those
who may be affected by our activities. We
have policies addressing modern slavery
and human trafficking, business ethics
and conduct, ethical sourcing and
whistle-blowing procedures, all of which
protect our employees as they go about
their work. These policies form part of our
way of doing business and are embedded

L i A i s

inour operations. Thus, while we do not
manage human rights matters separately,
we continue to assess potential risks and
do not believe they raise particular issues
for the business.

Further details of our policies are provided
on page 72. Our business ethics and
conduct policy, modern slavery and
human trafficking policy and modern
slavery and human trafficking statement
are available on our website.

Related principal risks: see ‘laws and
regulations’ risk on page 38.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND
ANTI-BRIBERY

Anti-corruption and bribery policies are
maintained and reviewed on a regular
basis with relevant guidance included in
employee handbooks and available on our
employee intranet.

Further details of our policies, including
details on training required to be
underlaken by our employees, is provided
on page 72.

Related principal risks: see laws and
regulations’ risk on page 38.

In addition, information required in
relation to the Group’s business model,
principal risks, including those which
relate to the matters above, and key
performance indicators are provided
on pages 16 to 21 and pages 34 to 39

of the Annual Report.
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APPROVAL OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT
The Strategic report set out on pages 1 to 78 was approved by the Board on 13 June
2022 and has been signed on its behalf by:

LS

BRENDAN HORGAN MICHAEL PRATT
Chief executive Chief financial officer
13 June 2022 13 June 2022
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER

The Group has shown great resilience
over the last two years and despite the
challenges of the pandemic, the business
has emerged stronger than before and
better equipped for future challenges. In
managing through this period, the Board
continues to consider all the Group's
stakeholders and seeks lo take actions
thal supporl the Group's overall purpose
of providing a reliable alternative to
ownership for our customers whilst
providing sustainable returns to all of our
stakeholders. | believe that our Sunbelt
3.0 strategy, underpinned by our culture,
witl continue to drive the development and
growth of the Group in the years to come.

We recognise that good governance is
essential in promoting the success of the
business for the benefit of its members

as awhole and that our governance
environment is underpinned by the culture
of our Group, led by the "tone from the top’
of the organisation through the actions of
the Board and senior leadership leams.

Ensuring a robust corporate governance
environment is key in supporting the
delivery of our strategy and as such, it is
crucial that our governance slructures
keep pace with changes in the Group so
that we can ensure our development and
growth is both responsible and
sustainable. We need to manage our risks
efficiently and ensure transparency
across the business. | am confident that
your Board is well placed to do that and
we remain committed to maintaining -
the highest standards of governance.

The Board believes that diversity across
the Group and at Board level encourages
arange of views in developing and
implementing the Group’s strategy and
supporis the growth of the business.

As commenled upon elsewhere, | am
very proud of the work done so far to
encompass diversity, equity and inclusion
at alt tevels of the organisation.
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As chair, it is my role lo ensure that the
governance regime remains appropriately
robust and that the Board operates
effectively. | am, therefore, pleased to
introduce the corporate governance report
for 2021/22. This report details the matters
addressed by the Board and its committees
during the year.

Areas of Board focus

The Board has played an active role in the
Group's delivery against its strategic
objectives, further details of which are set
out within the Strategic review. In addition,
the Board has invested significant time
over the last year in reviewing and
assessing:

- the effectiveness of our capital structure
and capital allocation priorities:

- our operating model and structure to
ensure they remain fit for purpose as the
business grows and markets change;

- the effectiveness of our health and
salely practices and identifying areas for
improvement;

- our key management resource to ensure
it remains motivated and appropriately
rewarded;

- succession planning and ongoing senior
recruitment;

- the importance of good corporate
governance In the long-term sustainable
success of a company; and

- our cyber security policies and
procedures to ensure they remain fit
for purpose.

Compliance

We endeavour to monitor and comply with
ongoing changes in corporate governance
and evolving best practice in this area. | am
pleased to report that the Company has
complied in full throughout the year with
the provisions set out in the Code, issued
by the Financial Reporting Council [FRC’)
and available to view at www.frc.org.uk.

A summary of how we have applied the
principles set outin the Code is presented
in the table opposite. In addition, | can
confirm this report provides a fair,
balanced and understandable view of

the Group’s position and prospects.

e G

PAUL WALKER
Chair
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THE 2018 UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The governance section has been set oul to illustrate how we have applied the principles of the
Code together with information contained elsewhere in the Annual Report. Further information
can be found as follows:

A. Effective and entrepreneurial board Pages 84 and 85
B. Purpose, values and culture Page 84
C. Boardframework and resources Page 88
D. Board engagemenl with stakeholders : Page 85
E. Workforce policies and practices - Page 85

Division of responsibilities

F. Boardroles Page 86
G. Division of responsibilities ‘ v Pages 86 and 87
H. Commitment lo the Board ‘ Page 88
I. Operation of the Board Page 88

Composition, succession and evaluation

J. Appointments lo the Board : Pages 88 and 89
K. Board skills, experience and knowledge Page 89
L. Board evalualion of effectiveness Page 89

Audit, risk and internal controt

M. Independence and effectiveness of internal and external audit Pages 93 and 95
Integrity of financial and narralive statements

N. Fair, balanced and understandable assessment Page 94

0. Internal control framework and risk management Pages 89 and 90

Remuneration

P. Remuneration designed to support purpose and strategy Pages 97 and 98
Q. Remuneralion policy Page 99
R. Remuneration outcomes ‘ Page 97
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

| WA

By

-

B

B0

Wil

1. PAUL WALKER, 65 [n]F]

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIR

3. MICHAEL PRATT, 58 [Flo]

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Appointed to Board
July 2018

Appointment to currentrole

Paul Walker was appoinled as a non-execulive
directorin July 2018 and non-execulive chair in
Seplember 2018.

Skills -

Paul spent 16 years as chief executive officer of
The Sage Group plc ['Sage’), giving him a deep
insight of the chatlenges of running a global
business. He has a strong financiat background
and high-level non-executive experience, which
adds to the Board's strength.

Experience

Paul’s roles at Sage included chief executive
officer, finance director and financial controller.
He has also been non-executive director at Diageo
plc. Experian plc, Halma plc, Sophos Group plc
and MyTravel Group plc.

Qualifications

- Graduated in economics from York University
- Chartered accountant (UK)

Otherroles

Non-executive chair of RELX plc.

Nationality
British

2. BRENDAN HORGAN, 48
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Appointed to Board
January 2011

Appointment to currentrole

Brendan Horgan was appointed as chief executive
in May 2019, having served as chiel operating
officer of the Group since January 2018 and as the
chief executive of Sunbelt US and a director since
January 2011,

Skills

Brendan has worked in the business for more than
25years and has a detailed knowledge of the
operations and brings strong leadership and
management skills to his role.

Experience

Brendan joined Sunbelt in 1996 and has heid a
number of senior management positions including
chief sales officer and chief operating officer.

Qualifications
- Gradualed in business Irom Radford University

Other roles

Appointed to Board
Aprit 2018

Appointment to currentrole

Michael Prall was appointed as chief financial
olficerin April 2018.

Skills

Michaelis a qualified accountant with 18 years’
experience wilh Ashtead within finance roles
giving him a detaited understanding of the Group’s
business. He has played a key role in defining the
Group’s capital structure.

Experience

Michael was deputy group finance director and
group treasurer from 2012 having joined the Group
from PwCin 2003,

Qualifications

- Graduated in civil engineering from the
University of Birmingham.

- Chartered accountant (UK}

Other roles
None

Nationality
British

4. ANGUS COCKBURN, 59 Bon

SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Appointed to Board
October 2018

Appointment to currentrole

Angus Cockburn was appointed as a non-execulive
director in October 2018 and as senior independent
non-executive director in January 2019.

Skills

Angus brings knowledge of the rental market
and specially businesses, along with a good
understanding of the associaled strategic
and financial issues of operating an
international business with a substanlial
North American presence.

Experience

Angus was chief financial officer of Serco Group
plc between October 2014 and April 2021. He has
also been a non-executive direclor of GKN plc and
Howden Joinery Group plc, as well as chief
financiat officer and interim chief executive of
Aggreko plc.

Quatlifications

- Gradualed in Business Studies and Accounling
from Lhe University ol Edinburgh and an MBA
from IMD Business School

None
. X - Charlerad accountant [UK]
Nationality
American Other roles‘ .
Non-executive chair of James Fisher and Sons plc
and non-executive director of Securities Trust of
Scotland plc and Edrington Group Limited.
Nationality
British
Committee B Audit I Remuneration B Group Risk
membership EJ Nomination [ Finance and Administration [ Denotes chair

82 Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022



% . OB
4] /////////////////////

S

Details of the directors’ contracts,
emoluments and share interests
can be found in the Directors’
remuneration report.

W i/l

5. JILL EASTERBROOK, 51 ann
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

8. LUCINDA RICHES, 60 BOon
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed to Board
January 2020

Appointment to current rote
Jilt Easlerbrook was appointad as a non-execulive
director in January 2020.

Skills
Jill brings strong digital experience within retail
environments lo the Board.

Experience

Jilt was previously the chief executive officer of JP
Boden & Co and formerly hetd a number of senior
positions with Tesco PLC.

Qualifications
- Graduated in economics from Leeds University

Other roles

Non-execulive director of Auto Trader plc and UP
Global Sourcing Holdings plc. Non-executive chair
of Headtand Consultancy.

Nationality
Brilish

6. TANYA FRATTO, 61 Bon
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed to Board
June 2016

Appointment to current role
Lucinda Riches was appointed as a non-executive
direclorin June 2016,

Skills
Lucinda has extensive investment banking and
capital markets experience.

Experience

Lucindawas formerly global head of Equity Capital
Markels and a member of the board of UBS
Investment Bank. She has held a range of
non-executive roles with public companies.

Qualifications

- Graduated in philosophy, politics and economics
from Oxford University and a Masters in political
science from the University of Pennsylvania

Other roles

Non-executive director of ICG Enterprise Trust Ple,
Greencoat UK Wind Plc and non-executive chair of
Peel Hunt Limited.

Nationality
British

Appointed to Board
July 2016

Appointment to current role
Tanya Fratto was appointed as a non-executive
director in July 2016,

Skills

Tanya has wide experience in product innovation,
sales and markeling and engineering in a range of
seclors and has extensive knowledge of operating
nthe US.

Experience
Tanya enjoyed a 20-year career with General
Electric where she ran a number of businesses.

Qualifications

- Graduated in electrical engineering from the
University of South Alabama

Otherroles

Non-executive director of Smiths Group pic and
Advanced Drainage Systems Inc..

Nationality
American

7. RENATA RIBEIRO, 50 oo
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed to Board
January 2022

Appointment to current role
Renata Ribeiro was appointed as a non-executive
director in January 2022.

Skills
Renala brings strong commerciat and digital
experience lo the Board.

Experience

Rendlais currently Senior Vice President,
Operations Strategy for Carnival Corporation & plc
(‘Carnival'} where she has worked since 2008.

Qualifications

- Graduated in business adminisiration from
Fundacao Getuilo Vargas, Sao Paulo and an
MBA in business administration from Wake
Forest Universily

Other roles

Sentor Vice President, Operations Strategy lor

Carnival Corporation & ple.

Nationality

Brazilian and American

9. LINDSLEY RUTH, 51 [Afn]r]
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed to Board
May 2019

Appointmentto currentrole
Lindsley Ruth was appointed as a non-executive
director in May 2019.

Skills
Lindsley brings extensive knowledge of nur end
markets to the Board, particularly North America.

Experience

Lindsley is chief executive ofiicer of RS Group
plc where he was appointed in April 2015, He
has also held senior positions with TTlinc. and
Solectron Corporation.

Qualifications

- Graduated in engineering from Texas
A&M Universily

Otherroles

Chief executive officer of RS Group plc and is a
member of the CBI's Internationat Trade Council.

Nationality
American
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD LEADERSHIP AND COMPANY
PURPOSE

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for setling the
Group's strategy and ensuring the
necessary resources and capabilities are
in place to deliver its strategic aims and
objectives. It determines the Group's key
policies and reviews management and
financial performance. The Group's
governance framework is designed to
facilitate a combination of effective,
entrepreneurial and prudent management
of the business.

The Group's risk management
framework, as detailed on pages 34 and
35, ensures that the Board considers
risks on an ongoing basis and that it
reviews formally the Group's Risk
Register on an annual basis including
consideration of emerging risks.

The Group's key performance indicators,
as detailed on pages 32 and 33, also
enable the Board to have visibility as to the
progress the Group is making against our
strategic priorities.

Company purpose, values and culture
One of the primary responsibilities of the
Board is to ensure that the Group delivers
against its purpose, which is "to provide a
reliable alternative to ownership for our
customers across a wide range of
applications and markets.”

In setting, reviewing and ensuring the
implementation of the Group’s strategy,
the Board ensures that the objectives of
our purpose are met while taking into
account risks and opportunities facing
the Group. These aclivities are
underpinned by the Group’s values and
culture. We believe thal there are four key
cornerstones of our culture which drive
the success of our Group: a priority on
safety; ensuring the best levels of
customer service; working in partnership
with our customers, suppliers and
communities to make it happen; and being
innovative in our approach both in relation
to products and markets.

The Board is responsible for the culture of
the Group, with its role being to influence
and monitor culture to ensure that our
policy. practices and behaviour
throughoutl our entire organisation are
aligned with the Group’s purpose, values
and strategy. Where issues are idenlified,
itis the Board's responsibilily to ensure
corrective action is taken.

During the year, the Board has monitored
culture in a number of ways, including:

- receiving health and safety stalistics at
all Board meetings, logether with
regular updates on the Group's
aclivities to enhance further the culture
of safety within the business;

- through the Group’'s employee
engagement activities including
employee surveys, feedback on the
Group's diversity, equity and inclusion
programmes and attending the North
American senior leadership meeting
held in Datlas in April 2022, further
details of which are provided on
page 43;

- moniloring findings from the Group’s
exiernal audit, internal audit and
performance standards functions;

- receiving regular updates on whistle-
blowing matters; and

- reviewing key policies including the
annual updates to the Group’s business
ethics and conduct policy.

Summary of the Board’s work during
the year
At each board meeting, the Board receives:

- areporttrom the chief executive
providing an update on strategic,
operational, business development and
health and safety matters, supported
by reports from the businesses;

- areport from the chief financial officer
on the financial performance and
position of the Group, including
treasury matters; and

- anupdale from the committees of
the Board on matters discussed al
their meetings.

THE PRINCIPAL MATTERS CONSIDERED BY THE BOARD DURING 2021/22 WERE:

Review of Group performance

Strategic and financial review Further information

See Strategic review on pages 8
to 10 and Financial review on
pages45to0 51

Review of health and salely

See health and salely review on
pages 56 to 58

Response to the COVID-19 pandemic

Review of the strategic plan

See pages 2210 29

Review of the Group's succession plans

See page 96

Review of M&A opportunities

Acquisitions completed in year
detailed in Note 27 of the
financial statements

Review of the Group's share buyback programme

See page 29

and inclusion initiatives

Received updates on the Group's diversity, equity

See pages 61 and 62

Act slatement and related policies

Review and approval of the Group’s Modern Slavery

See www.ashtead-group.com

Ongoing monitoring of risks

See pages 3410 39

Received updates from Group Risk Committee See page 34
Completed formal annual review of Group’s Risk See page 34
Register

Completed annual insurance review See page 49

Shareholder analysis

Governance

Review of feedback from shareholders and analysts

Shareholder engagement following AGM

See page 97

Reports from committees

Review of results announcements

All results announcements
available on the Group's website

Board evaluation undertaken

See page 89
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Engagement with our stakeholders

An overview of the nalure and extenl of our
engagement with stakeholders is provided
on pages 42 and 43 of the Strategic report.
In relation to the Board's activities, these
are discussed below.

Workforce engagement

The Group employs ¢, 22,000 individuals in
North America and Europe and as such,
ensuring efficient, two-way workforce
engagement is critical to the success of
the business. Our workforce is central to
the decisions the Board makes in relation
to our employment policies, our culture
and our strategy.

We considered the methods of workforce
engagemenl proposed under the Code in
conjunction with our existing methods of
engagement. Given the nature and extent
of our worklorce and its geographical
distribution across a large number of
locations, we concluded that no single
method of engagement was suitable to
ensure that we engaged appropriately
across the entire workforce. Instead we
believe that a combination of methods of
engagement is appropriate, consistent
with the approach we have taken
previously, including:

- employee surveys - the Board received
updates on the actions taken as a result
of and feedback from employee
surveys, including our first formal
North American survey. This year's UK
survey was undertaken in April, with
improved participation and
engagement and the North American
one is in process;

- annual strategic review - in October
2021 and April 2022, senior North
American and UK employees attended
the strategy review meetings providing
the Board with the opportunity to meet
individuals and discuss the business
and slralegic initiatives in detail;

- ‘town hall’ events - throughout the
year, virlual town hall’ events were
held which provide employees with the
opportunity to be briefed on the latest
developments by executive
management across the business and
raise any questions or concerns; and

- senior leadership meeting - in April
2022, the Board attended the North
American senior leadership meeating in
Dallas with c. 400 of our North
American team together with the
executive leadership team of the UK
business. The eventincluded a mixture
of all-staff talks and branch visits, with
the opportunily for leam members to
learn about the investments being
made across the business lo supporl
the Group's strategic goats.

In addition, a rolling programme of
presentations from management across
the Group, on a range of topics, ensures
the Board has exposure to different
employees and business functions during
the year.

Engagement with our customer and
suppliers

We have a range of key customer and
supplier stakeholders which the Board
considers when taking important
decisions. Engaging with these
stakeholders is therefore critical to the
Group and a key priority of the Board, and
is achieved through a variety of means.

Details of our engagement with our
customers and suppliers is provided in
the Strategic reporton pages 42 and 43,
the Responsible business report on pages
58 and 72 and throughout this Corporate
governance report. The Board receives
regular updates from management
detailing feedback from customers

and suppliers through Board reports
and presentations and through
strategic updates.

Engagement with our communities

We seek to make a positive conlribulion to
Lhe communilies in which we operale,
both through our economic impact but
also as a result of our community
initiatives and the way in which we are
involved in our communities and the
support we can provide in a ime of need.
Accordingly, it is important that the Board
considers our communities in developing
and implementing our strategy.

Details of our engagement with
communities is provided in the Strategic
report on pages 42 and 43 and within the
Responsible business report on pages
6810 71.

Dialogue with shareholders

We engage actively with analysts and
investors and are open and transparent in
our communications. This enables us to
understand what analysts and inveslors
think aboul our strategy and performance
as we drive lhe business forward. The
Board is updated regularly on the views of
shareholders through briefings and
reports from those who have had
interaction with shareholders including
the directors and the Company's brokers.

Regular dialogue is maintained with
analysts and investors through telephone
calls, meetings, presentations,

conferences and ad hoc events. During the
year, senior management conducted over
450virtual and in person meetings and
calls and attended four virtuat and in
person conferences, with investors across
all geographies. This included regular
interaction with private investors who
often contact the Group with questions.

The chair and the senior independent
non-execultive direclor are available to
meel institutional shareholders to discuss
any issues or concerns in relation to the
Group’s governance and strategy. This
year, the chair and chair of the
Remuneration Committee undertook an
extensive consultation with our major
shareholders on the proposed changes to
the Remuneration policy. Shareholders
expressed a range of views and certain
proposals were amended as a result of the
feedback received. Following the approval
of the policy at the Annual General
Meeting, the Company continued to
engage with shareholders, inviting
shareholders owning almost 50% of

the Company to meel with the chair.
Further details are provided in the
Remuneration report.

The Group's results and other news
releases are published via the London
Stock Exchange’s Regulatory News
Service. In addition, these news releases
are published in the Investor Relations
section of the Group's website at www.
ashtead-group.com. Shareholders and
other interested parties can subscribe to
receive these news updates by email
through registering online via the website.
In addition, all results and capital markets
presentations are webcast live (and for
playback] on the websile for shareholders,
analysts, employees and other interested
slakeholders who are unable to attend

in person.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED

Diatlogue with shareholders

- First quarter results
announcement and
presentation
Bondholder call

Annual General Meeling
Conference calls wilh
investors following

Q1 results

- Annuat results
announcement and
presentation

- Bondholder call -

- Investor roadshow following -
annual results presentation -

§ JUNE 2021 SEPTEMBER 2021 DECEMBER 2021 MARCH 2022

- Third quarter results
announcement and
presentation

~ Bondholder call

- Conference calls with
investors following Q3 results

Hall-year results
announcemeénl and
presentation

Bondholder call

Investor roadshow following
half-year results
presentation

The Annual General Meeting

The 2022 AGM will be held in London on Tuesday, 6 September
2022. An update on first quarter trading will be provided during
the meeling.

We continue to recognise the importance of ongoing engagement
with our sharehotders who will be encouraged to raise questions
on the business al the AGM. Shareholders are encouraged to

ashtead-group.com}and where appropriate we will provide
written answers to questions and will publish answers to
frequently asked questions on the websile.

DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES
Board roles and division of responsibilities

submit questions in advance of the meeting via our website (www.

All resolutions at the AGM will be put to a vote on a poll, rather
than being decided on a show of hands. The Board believes that
this resultsin a more accurate reflection of the views of
shareholders and ensures that their votes are recognised whether
or not they are able to atlend the meeting. On a polt, each
shareholder has one vote for every share held. The resulls of the
voting on the resolutions will be announced to the London Stock
Exchange and published on our website as soon as possible after

the conclusion of the meeting. Notice of the AGM will be sent to
shareholders al least 20 working days before the meeting.

An appropriate division of respensibilitios between Board members is critical in detivering the Group’s strategic objectives, A key
element in delivering this is a strong working relationship between the directors and, in particular, the chair, chief executive and chief

financial officer.

A summary of the roles of the Board members are set out below:

Chair Paul Walker

Responsible for leadership of the Board and acts as a sounding board for the chief

execulive. Agrees Board agendas and ensuresils effectivenass by requiring the
provision of timely, accurate and clear information on all aspecls of the Group’s
business, to enable the Board to take sound decisions and promale the success of

the business.

Chief executive Brendan Horgan

Responsible lor developing Lhe stralegy for Lhe business, in conjunclion wilh the

Board, ensuring it isimplemented, and the operational management of the business.

Chief financial officer Michael Pratt

Supports the chief executive in developing and implementing the strategy and is

responsible for the reporting of the financial and operational performance of the

business.

Seniorindependent Angus Cockburn

non-executive director

Provides a sounding board for the chair and is available to shareholders, if they
have reason for concern that contact through the normal channels of chair or

chiel executive has failed to resolve.

Jilt Easlerbrook
Tanya Fratto
Renata Ribeiro
Lucinda Riches
Lindsley Ruth

Independent non-
executive directors

Provide a constructive contribution to the Board by providing objective challenge
and critique for execulive management based on insights drawn from their
broad experience.
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THE BOARD

| deliver lhe stralegic aims and objeclives.

!

. The Board is responsible for selling the Group’s stralegy and "
i ensuring the necessary resources and capabilities are in placeto
|

b

TAUDI TN

. Chaired by Angus

L * Cockburn. Monitors and
reviews the Group's
financial reporting,
relationship with the
external auditor, internal
conlrol, internal audit
and risk management.

. Chaired by Paul Watker.
. Monitors and reviews
' the Board's slructure,

* balance and oversees

+ ol direclors.

size, composition and

the appointment
and reappointment

. Chaired by Lucinda

! Riches. Responsible for

! determining the Group’s
' remuneralion policy and
" its application, with

specific responsibility

+ for the remuneration of
the chair and execulive

FINANCE AND
ADMINISTRATION

COMMITTEE ',

Chaired by Brendan

. Horgan. Responsible for

. routine finance and

_ admunistrative matters

! between Board

* meetings subject to
clearly defined limits

GROUPRISK ~ -
COMMITTEE -

. Chaired by Michael i

' Pratt. Responsible for

" monitoring of risk

" acrossthe Group, Lhe
implementation of our
risk framework and
reporting of Group risk

See Audit Committee
. reporton page 91 for |
further details i

© See Nomination

i © Committee report
i _ onpage 96 for

} . further details
|

« directors.
)

|

P See Remuneration
Committee report

’ on page 97 for

: further details

J

i
- delegaled by the Board. \\

Seebelowfor
. further details

, and mitigating actions. |
d |
1

: See below for
. further details

'
|
. |
[ :
| |
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|
|
i
! [0 Board committee Non-Board committee
i

The Board and its committees
Delegated authority

There is a schedule of matters reserved
for the Board for decision while other
matters are delegated to Board
committees. Matters reserved for the
Board include:

- treasury poticy;

- acquisitions and disposals;

- appointment and removal of directors
or the company secretary;

- appointment and removal of the
auditor;

- approval of the annual accounts and
the quarterly financial reports to
shareholders;

- approval of the annual budget;

- approval of the issue of shares and
debentures;

- the setting of dividend policy: and

- the buyback of shares.

Board committees

The Board has standing Audit, Nomination
and Remuneration Committees. The
membership, roles and activities of the
Audit and Nomination Committees are
detailed on pages 91 to %6 and the
Remuneration Committee in the report on
pages 97 to 116. Each committee reports
to, and has its terms of reference agreed
by, the Board. The terms of reference

of these committees are available on

our websilte.

Finance and Administration Committee
The Finance and Administration
Committee comprises Brendan Horgan
[chairl, Michael Pratt and Paul Walker.
The Board of direclors has delegated
authority to this committee to deal with
routine financial and administrative
matters between Board meelings.

The Committee meets as necessary

to perform its role and has a quorum
requirement of two members with certain
matters requiring the participation of the
chair, including, for example, the approval
of material announcements to the London
Stock Exchange.

Group Risk Committee

The Group Risk Committee is chaired

by Michael Pratt and comprises
representatives from Sunbelt in North
America and the UK, as well as the
Group’s managing director of ESG and
Group generat counsel. The work of the
Group Risk Committee is supported by the
Risk Committees of Sunbelt in North
America and the UK, which meet regularly
to ensure continued focus on risks and
mitigating actions. Further details of the
work of the Group Risk Committee are
provided in the Responsible business
report on page 55.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED

Commitment to the Board

As part of the appointment process,
prospective directors are required to
confirm that they will be able to devote
sufficient time to the Company to
discharge their responsibilities effectively.
Furthermore, all directors are required to
inform the Company of changes in their
commitments to ensure that they continue
to be able to devote sufficient time to

the Company.

Operation of the Board

The principal activities of the Board are
conducted at regular scheduled meetings
of the Board and its committees. The
Board normally meets six times a year,
with at least two of these meetings being
held in North America. Notwithstanding
the difficulties imposed by the pandemic,
the scheduled Board and committee
meelings for the year went ahead as

planned with the aid of video conferencing.

The Board and its committees
successfully conducted all its routine and
non-routine business throughout the year.
Additional ad hoc meetings and calls are
arranged outside the scheduted meetings
to take decisions or receive updates

as required.

The chair and chief executive maintain
regular contact with the other directors to
discuss matters relating to the Group and
the Board receives regular reporls and
briefings lo ensure the directors are

suitably briefed to fulfil their roles.
Additionally, detailed management
accounts are sent monthly to all Board
members and, in advance of all Board
meetings, an agenda and appropriate
documentation in respect of each item to
be discussed is circulated.

The company secretary is responsible for
ensuring compliance with board and
committee procedures and advising the

Board on alt governance-related matters.

The company secretary also supports the
chair in the delivery of information to
directors in advance of board and
committee meetings and acts as a key
point of contact for the chair and non-
executive directors.

Each director has access to the company
secretary and is able to seek independent
advice at the Company’s expense.

The appointment and removal of the
company secretary is a matter reserved
for the Board.

COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND
EVALUATION

Composition of the Board

The Company’'s Board comprises the
chair, the chief executive, the chief
financial officer, the senior independent
non-executive director and five other
independent non-executive directors.

BOARD ATTENDANCE TABLE

Board Audit Nomination Rernunaration
Chair
Paul Walker 777 -! 2/2 -
Executive
Brendan Horgan 7/7 - - -
Michael Pratl ki ! - -
Non-executive
Angus Cockburn 77 6/6 2/2 5/5
Jill Easterbrook "7 6/6 2/2 5/5
Tanya Fratto? 6/7 5/6 2/2 45
Renata Ribeiro’ L 2/2 2/2 - 2/2
Lindsley Ruth 7 6/6 2/2 5/5
Lucinda Riches 7 6/6 2/2 5/5

meetings during the year.
year due o a diar y conflict.

after that date.

1 While not members of the Audit Committee, Paul Walker, Brendan Horgan and Michael Pratt attended alt
2 Tanya Fiatto was unable lo altend une Boar d, Audit and Reruneration Committee meeting during the

3 Renata Ribeiro was appoinied as a non-executive director on 17 January 2022 and attended alt meelings .
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Each member of the Board musl be able
to demonstrate the skills, experience and
knowledge required to contribute to the
effectiveness of the Board. Short
biographies of the directors are given on
pages 82 and 83 detailing the skills,
experience and knowledge of each of the
Board members. The directors are of the
view that the Board and its committees
consist of directors with the appropriate
balance of skills, experience,
independence and knowledge of the Group
to discharge their duties and
responsibilities effectively.

Maintaining the appropriate mixture of
skills, experience and knowledge is
important to the Board, including ensuring
that we address issues of diversity in
terms of skills, gender, ethnicity and
experience relevant to our business. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on any
changes required. During the prior year
the Nomination Committee reviewed the
composition of the Board in the context of
the Group's new stralegy. Sunbelt 3.0. As a
result, during the year it completed a
search for an addilional non-execulive
director to complement the experience of
the Board, while being mindful of the
recommendations of the Parker review.

Details of the work of the Nomination
Committee in relation to the composition
of the Board are provided in the
Nomination Committee report on page 96.

Non-executive directors

In the recruitment of non-executive
directors, it is the Company's practice to
utilise the services of an external search
consultancy. The Board engaged Spencer
Stuart to assist with the recruitment of
Renata Ribeiro. Spencer Stuart s
independent of the Company and the
direclors. The approval of the Board is
required before a non-executive can take
on other non-executive director roles.

Non-executive direclors are appointed for
specified terms not exceeding three years
and are subject to annual re-election and
the provisions of the Companies Act 2004
relating to the removal of a director.

Election of directors

As she was appointed in January 2022,
Renata Ribeiro will offer hersell for
election at this year's AGM. All other
directors witl retire at this year's AGM and
will offer themselves for re-election in
accordance with the Code.



: "-Board diversity policy BOARD DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
Across the Group, we aim to ensure - -
that our workforce has.a broad range Allnewly appointed directors undertake aninduction to all parts of the Group's
of skills, backgrounds and experience business. This includes visits to the North American and UK businesses and meetings
while ensuring that we appoint the best- with their management teams. The company secretary also provides directors with an
people for the relevant roles. At Board overview of their responsibilities as directors, corporate governance policies and Board
‘tevel, we apply consistent principles. policies and procedures.
The Group seeks to maintaina board The chair and chief executive assess regularly the development needs of the Board as a
where the skills and experiences of the whole with the intention of identifying any additional training requirements.

. non-executive directors complement
lhose ol the execulive directors. [n this
way, we aim lo ensure that the skills
and experiences represented on the
Board reflect'the business
environments in which we operate and
bring experience of areas of
development for the Group, such asin Visits lo stores and
the areas of lechnology and logistics. supportoffices

We do not have formal targets or
Detaited induction

quolas assaciated-with diversity for the Detailed ' )

composition of the Board, but instead presentalions by n':‘eeanzs Wlt.h Group,

focus on ensuring Lhe best individuals - and meetings with 0';(1 merican and

are appointed who meet the Group’'s managzmenl U m;r;ag:mem
m

needs from as wide a range of
backgrounds as possible to facilitate

BOARD -

_ the formulation and implementation : .
- of the Group's stralegy. ( INDUCTION AND

~ " DEVELOPMENT
Board evaluation
The performance of the chair, chief Access (o Regular updale on
executive, the Board and its committeesis external advisors reSF"”‘S""“‘_"‘3‘5-
evaluated formally annually against, including on a corporate governance
amongst other things, their respective one-lo-one basis pomfii:ggi:ard
role profiles and terms of reference. The P
executive directors are evaluated Training
additionally against the agreed budget for requirements

assessed

the generation of revenue, profit and value b !
and provided

to stakeholders.

In accordance with the Code, the Board
and its committees’ performance is
evaluated by an external third party every
three years. The next external Board

evaluation will be conducted in 2023. The non-executive directors lincluding AUDIT, RISK AND INTERNAL CONTROL
the chair} will meet in the absence of Audit Committee
The 2021/22 Board evaluation was Lhe executive directors lo appraise the The Board has delegated responsibitity
conducted by way of directors’ performance, of the Board as a for oversight of corporate reporting,
questionnaires. Theresults of the whole, including its committees and risk management and internal control
questionnaires were collated by the the executive. In accordance with the and maintaining an appropriate
company secretary and presented to Code, the non-executive directors, led relationship with the Group's internal and
the Group’s chair who subsequently by the senior independent director, met external auditors to the Audit Committee.
held individual meetings with each of the in the absence of the chair to appraise The Audit Committee report on pages 91
directors. The conclusion from the his performance. to 95 contains full details of the role and
questionnaires and meetings was that the activities of the Audit Committee.

Board and its commitiees had performed
satisfactorily. Succession planning,
health and safety, and cyber security will
continue to be specific areas of focus for
the Board in the coming year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED

Financial and business reporting
The Board is committed to providing
stakeholders with a fair, balanced and
understandable assessment of the
Group’s position and prospects. This is
achieved through the Strategic report,
which includes an explanation of the
Group’s business model, and other
information inctuded within this Annual
Report. The responsibilities of the
directors in respect of the preparation
of this Annual Report are set out on page
120 and the Auditor’s report on page 122
includes a statement by Deloitie about its
reporting responsibilities. As set out on
page 119, the directors are of the opinion
that the Group is a going concern.

Internal control framework and risk
management

The Board is responsible for the Group’s
internal control framework and risk
management. It has established a process
for identifying, evalualing and managing
the principal risks faced by the Group and
inidenlifying and responding to emerging
risks. This robust process has beenin
place for the full financial year, is ongoing
and is consistent with the FRC's ‘Guidance
on Risk Management, Internal Control and
Related Financial and Business Reporting’
published in 2014. Under its terms of
reference, the Group Risk Committee
meets semi-annually or more frequently
if required.

As described more fully on pages 34 to 39,
the Group reviews and assesses the risks
it faces inits business, changesin
principal risks facing the Group and how
these risks are managed, with
consideration given to the Board's
assessment of risk appetite. These
reviews are conducted throughout the
year in conjunction with the management
teams of each of the Group’s businesses
and are documented in an annual risk
assessment, including the updated risk
register. The reviews consider whether
any matters have arisen since the last
report was prepared which might indicate
omissions or inadequacies in that
assessment. It also considers whether, as
a result of changes in either the internat or
exlernal environment, any significant new
risks have arisen or whether there are any
emerging risks which may impact the
Group. The Group Risk Committee report
for 2022 was presented to, discussed and
endorsed by the Audit Committee on

13 May 2022 and the Group Board on

13 June 2022.

The Board monitors the risk management
framework and internal control systems
on an ongoing basis and reviews their
effectiveness formally each year.

" L i

The Group follows a three lines of defence
approach to risk management with
executive management responsible for
the oversight and management of the first
and second lines of defence while the
Audit Committee takes primary
responsibility for the third line of defence.
The Audit Committee is supported in this
activity by the Group’s performance
standards function and outsourced
internal audit.

The Board continually reassesses the
effectiveness of the Group’s control
framework and seeks to identify ways in

which to further improve and strengthen il.

As detailed further on page 95, as part of
the Board's moniloring, through the Audil
Committee, it received reports from the
operational audit teams and the
outsourced internal audit function as to
the existence and operation of controls,
how those controls have been monitored
throughout the year and considered the
internal control improvement
recommendations made by the Group's
internal auditors and its external auditor

and management’s implementation plans.

The control system includes written
policies and control procedures, clearly
drawn lines of accountability and
delegation of authority, and
comprehensive reporting and analysis
against budgets and latest forecasts.
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SECOND LINE
OF DEFENCE
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i } .+ function
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In a group of the size, complexity and
geographical diversily of Ashtead, minor
breakdowns in established control
procedures can occur. There are
supporting policies and procedures for
investigation and management of control
breakdowns at any of the Group's stores
or elsewhere. The Audit Committee also
meets regularly with the internal and
external auditor to discuss their work.

The Board considers that the Group's
internal control systems are designed
appropriately to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve its
business objectives. Any such control
system, however, can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstalement or loss.

REMUNERATION

Remuneration Committee

The Board has delegated responsibility
for developing remuneration policy and
fixing the remuneration packages of
individual directors to the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration
Committee report on pages 97 to 116
contains full details of the role and
aclivities of the Remuneration Commitlee.



AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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I am pleased to introduce the report of
the Audit Committee for 2021/22. The
Committee assists the Board in
discharging its responsibility for oversight
and monitoring of financial reporting,
risk management and internal control.
As chair of the Committee, it is my
responsibility to ensure that the
Committee fulfils its responsibilities in

a rigorous and effective manner. The
Committee’s agenda is designed, in
conjunction with the Board's, to ensure
that all significant areas of risk are
covered and to enable it to provide timely
input to Board deliberations.

In 2021/22, the Committee’s main
activities related to ensuring the integrity
of financial reporting, the continued
effecliveness of the Group's financial
controls and assurance programme,
reviewing the Group’s internal audit
arrangements, in particular, the balance
between in-house and outsourced
provision of that function, and conducting
an external audit tender to prepare for
the rotation of the external auditor for our
2023/24 year-end. Following review of the
Group's internal audit arrangements, the
decision was taken to recruit an in-house
head of internal audit, who will join the
Group this year. As a result of the external
audit tender process, the Committee
recommended to the Board that they
appoint PwC as auditor for the year
ending 30 April 2024.

With the easing of restrictions associated
with the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Committee has been able to return to

‘in person’ meetings and has had Lhe
opportunily to meet in person with key
members of the senior management
team. The Committee has maintained
regular dialogue with the senior
management team throughout the year to
understand how business processes and
controls continue to operate effectively to
ensure the timely and accurate
preparation of financial information.

I am satisfied that the Committee was
provided with high quality and timely
material to allow proper consideration to
be given to the topics under review. l am
also satisfied that the meetings were
scheduled to allow sufficient time to
ensure all matters were considered fully.

For the forthcoming year, the Commiitlee
will continue to focus on the integrity of
financial reporting and the effectiveness
of the Group's financial controls and
assurance programme, In addition, the
Committee will work with the newly
appointed head of internal audit in
establishing an in-house internal audit
function, supported by outsourced
resource where appropriate. Additionally,
the Committee will oversee the planning
in advance of the external auditor
transition for the 2023/24 year end.

MEMBERS OF THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE

Angus Cockburn [chair)
Jill Easterbrook
Tanya Fratto

Renata Ribeiro
Lucinda Riches
Lindsley Ruth

Details of meeting atlendance are
provided on page 88. The Audit
Committee’s terms of reference are
available on the Group’s website.

One of the Code’s principles is that the
Board should present a fair, balanced and
understandable assessment of the
Company's position and prospects
through its financial reporting. We have
always sought to ensure our financial and
other external reporting is fair, balanced
and understandable. The Commitlee has
kept this principle at the forefront of its
thought process as it reviewed all the
Company's financial reports in advance
of publication and is satisfied that they
provide a fair, batanced and
understandable assessment of the
Company's position and prospects.

Y/ AN

ANGUS COCKBURN
Chair of the Audit Committee
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board
inits oversight and monitoring of financial
reporting, risk management and

internal controls.

The principal responsibilities of the
Committee are to:

- monitor the integrity of the quarterly
and annual results, including a review
of the significant financial reporting
judgements contained therein;

- establish and oversee the Company’s
relationship with the external auditor,
including the external audit process,
their audit and non-audit fees and
independence and make
recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of the external auditor;

- consider the Company’s assessment of
emerging and principal risks, including
understanding and monitoring the way
in which these are being managed;

- review and assess the effectiveness of
the Company's internal financial
controls and internal control and risk
management systems;

- oversee the nature, scope and
effectiveness of the internal audit work
undertaken; and

- monitor the Company's policies and
procedures for handling allegations
from whistle-blowers.

Ihe Committee reports to the Board onits
activities and minutes of meetings are
available to the Board.

COMPOSITION OF THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee,
each of whom is independent, provide the
wide range of financial and commercial
experience needed for the Committee to
undertake its duties and each member of
Lhe Audit Committee brings an
appropriate mix of senior financial and
commercial experience, combined with a
thorough understanding of the Group’s
business. As chair of the Audit Committee,
Angus Cockburn has recent and relevant
financial experience, having held a
number of senior international finance
roles. Details of the experience of each
member of the Audit Committee is
provided on pages 82 and 83.

The company secretary 1s secretary to
the Committee. Paul Walker, Brendan
Horgan, Michael Pratt and the Group's
director of group finance attend meetings
by invitation. In addition, the Group's
outsourced internal audit partner and
external audit partner attend the
Committee’s meetings.

MAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR

The Committee met on six occasions
during the year. Meetings are scheduled to
coincide with our financial reporting cycle,
with four regular meetings scheduled
prior to our quarterly, hatf-year and
annual results announcements and

the fifth meeting scheduled outside

this timetable to enable a formal annual
review of the Group’s Risk Register

and the work undertaken by the Board
throughout the year in reviewing

these risks.

Al each Audit Commitlee meeting, the
Committee receives papers from
management which comment on the
principal balances in the financial
statements and discusses any significant
judgements and matters of a financial
reporting nature arising since the last
meeting. In the current year, these have
included consideration of:

- the application of routine period-end
accounting policies and procedures;

- the approach taken in relation to the
Group's transition to US dollar
reporting, which was adopted from
1 May 2021; and

- the going concern and viahility
statement to ensure that they are
appropriate, are based upon suitable
assumptions and consider the risks
to which the Group is exposed
appropriately.
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The Committee typically receives reports
from Deloitte at three of the meetings. The
first, in December, contains the results of
Deloitte’s review of our half-year resulls.
The half-year review also informs
Deloitte’s planning for the annual audit.
Their full audit plan and proposed audit
fee 1s presented to the February/March
meeting of the Commuttee. Deloitte’s final
report of the year is presented at the June
committee meeting when we review the
draft Annual Report. Deloitte’s report
contains the findings from their audit
work, including comments on the draft
Annual Report. The Committee is
responsible for the Group's relationship
with the external auditors, including
assessing the audil plan, setting the audit
fee, monitoring independence and
reviewing effectiveness.

The effectiveness of the Group's financial
controls and assurance programme has
been a continued area of focus in the
current year in anticipation of any
requirements introduced following the
BEIS consuttation. The Committee is
responsible for ensuring the scope of the
Group's internal audit activities remain
appropriate and ensuring appropriate
actions are taken to address any control
observations raised. PwC presented their
internal audit plan al the May 2021
meeting and reported their final lindings
at the April 2022 Audit Committee. Wilh
the help of an independent third party, the
Commiittee reassessed the Group’s
internal audit arrangements during the
year and in particular, the balance
between in-house and outsourced
resources. As a result, the Committee has
appointed an in-house head of internal
audit to develop further the Group’s
activities in this area given the ever
increasing size and complexity of

the Group.

Further details of the activities of the Audit
Committee during lhe year are sel oul on
the opposite page.



Integrity of financial reporting

We reviewed the integrily of the quarterly and annual financial statements of the Company. This included the review and discussion of
papers prepared by management and took account of the views of the exlernal auditor. The key areas reviewed in the currenl year are

set out below.

KEY AREA RESPONSE

AUDIT COMMITTEE CONCLUSION

Carrying value of

rental fleet

The carrying value of Lhe
Group's rental [teet of $7,814m
(2021: $6.909m} makes up 51%
12021: 54%) of the Group’s
gross assets. Both the useful
lives and residual values
assigned requires the exercise
of judgement by management.

Management undertakes an annual review of the
appropriateness of the useful lives and residual values
assigned to property. plant and equipment and assesses
whether they continue to be appropriate and whether there
are any indications of impairment. Among other things this
review considers the level of gains on disposal and age of
assets at the date of disposal along with the level of second-
hand vatues, while taking into account the impact of the
economic cycle.

The Committee reviewed
management’s assessment of the
carrying value of rental assets and
judgements associated with the
application of useful lives and residual
values. The Committee took into
account the findings of the externat
auditor and is satisfied that the
judgements taken by management are
appropriateand that these are
consistent with prior years.

Carrying value of
rental fleet

The Group requires ongoing
access loits financing
arrangements to enable it to
benefit from growth
opportunities.

Management reviewed the appropriateness of the going
concern assumption in preparing the financial statements.
The Committee reviewed a paper prepared by management
which considered the Group's internal budgets and
forecasts of future performance, available financing
facilities and facility headroom. In addition, we reviewed
scenario planning in assessing the Group's vigbility over the
-medium-term.

Taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading
performance, used equipment valuesand other factors that
might affect availability, the Group expects to maintain
significant headroom under ils borrowing facilities for the
forthcoming year.

The Committee reviewed the
assessment of the going concern
assumption and long-lerm viability,
including understanding the scenario
analysis performed in relation to the
potential impact of any economic

"~ downturn. The Committee is salisfied

thal the going concern basis of
preparation continues to be
appropriate in preparing the
financial statements.

Goodwill impairment
review

The Group’s strategy includes
growth through bolt-on M&A
activity as a result of which
goodwill arises. The carrying
value of goodwitl at 30 April
20221 $2,300m (2021:

$1,796m). cash flows.

The Group underiakes a formal goodwill impairment
review as al 30 April each year. This is based on the lalest
approved budget and three-year plans for the US, UK and
Canadian businesses. The Group classifies certain
specialty businesses as separale cash-generating units
{'CGUs’), due to them generating separately identifiable

Following the review undertaken,

and in light of the Group’s current and
forecast performance, the Committee
is satisfied that the CGUs are
appropriate to the Group and that there
is no impairment of the carrying value
of goodwill in the CGUs of the US, UK
or Canada.

Further details are provided in Note 15
to the financial statements.

In addition, the Committee also
considered the following matters during
the course of the year:

- the approach taken to the Group's
transition lo US dollars asits
presentational currency. The Group
commenced reporting in US dollars
from 1 May 2021; )

- the use of alternative performance
measures, ensuring these are fair,
batanced and understandable;

- the effectiveness of the Group's internal
financial controls, as detailed further
below;

- the Group's programme lo review and

re-document end-to-end controls
across the principal financial and
technology processes and controls,
taking into account the independent
reviews undertaken into audit, its
quatity and effectiveness, and the

consultation document issued by BEIS
‘Restoring Trust in Audit and Corporate

Governance’;
the internal sudit work and reviewing

the Group’s approach to internal audit,

further details of which are set out
below;

the approach taken to ensure

material climate-related matters are

considered and the disclosure made
accordance with the requirements of
the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures;

the completion of a competitive audit
tender for the Group's external audilo
further details of which are set out
below; and

the Group's tax strategy and received
an update on tax compliance matters.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

Fair, balanced and understandable *

As part of its responsibilities, the Board
has requested that the Audit

Commiltlee assess whether, inits
opinion, the Annual Report & Accounts
2022, taken as a whole, are a fair,
batanced and understandable
presentation of the Group’s position

and prospects.

In making its assessment, the Audit
Commillee considered a number of
{aclors, including:

- whether the narrative reporting on
the performance of the business is
consistent with the financial
statements presented;

whether the information presented

is complete with no information

omitted that should have been
included to enable a user to
understand the business, its
performance and its prospects;

~ considering the KPls utilised by the
Group, including alternative
performance measures, lo ensure
that these best reflect its strategic
priorities and fairly present
business performance;

- assessing areas of judgement
which were considered by the Audit
Committee during the year and
whether these are highlighted
appropriately within the Annual
Report;

~ the outcome of meetings held
during the year with Deloitte as
external auditor and PwC as
internal auditor to discuss
qualitative accounting judgements
and overall controls. The meetings
cover suitability, consistency of
application in year and across
periods and accounting practices
of industry peers; and

- assessing whether the reportis
clear and understandable, with
appropriate narrative given to
present the whole story.

1

Following its review, the Committee
concluded that the Annual Report &
Accounts 2022 are representative of
the Group and its performance during
the year and that the Annual Report &
Accounts 2022 present a fair, balanced
and understandable overview.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

External audit effectiveness

The Commiltee conducted an assessment
of the effectiveness of the audit of the
2021/22 financial statements, based on
its own experience and drawing on input
from senior corporate management and
senior finance management across the
Group. The review was based on
questionnaires completed by the
members of the Committee and senior
management. The questionnaires focused
on the quality and experience of the team
assigned to the audit, the robustness of
the audit process, the quality of delivery
and communication and governance and
independence of the audit firm. This
review also considers the role of
management in the audit process and
therefore enables the Audit Committee
to form a view of management's rale in
ensuring the effectiveness of the
external audit.

The questionnaires used enable the Audit
Committee to gain a thorough insight into
the audit process with sufficient detail to
establish an informed view of the audit
process across the business and as such
form aview as to the effectiveness of the
exlernal audit.

The feedback received was positive and
recognised an appropriate focus on Lhe
principal risks. Furthermore, the audit
work continued to be completed ina
rigorous and sceptical manner. Atits
meeting in June, the Committee discussed
the results from the questionnaires and
the audit process more generally. As
aresult of these considerations, the
Committee 1s satisfied that the audit
process and strategy for the audit of
the 2021/22 financial statements

was effective.

Reappointment of external auditor
Deloitte was appointed external auditor in
2004. The external auditor is required to
rolale the audit partner responsible for
the Group audit every five years and this
year is William Smith’s fourth year as lea
audit partner. )

The Committee considers the
reappointment of the external auditor
eachyear and is recommending to the
Board that a proposal be put to
shareholders at the 2022 AGM for the
re-appointment of Deloitte. There are no
contractual restrictions on the Company's
choice of external auditor and in making
its recommendation the Committee took
into account, amongst other matters, the
tenure, objectivity and independence of
Deloitte, as noted above, and its continuing
effectiveness and cost.
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The Company has complied with the
provisions of the Competition and Market
Authority's Order on audit tendering and
rotation for the financial year under
review. Under the transitional
arrangements, the Group is not required
to rotate its auditor until after the April
2023 year end. As a result, we undertook
a tender for the 2023/24 audit during the
year so as to ensure that sufficient time

is permitted for the transition of any
non-audit services ahead of the change

in auditor. As a result of the audit tender,
the Committee recommended to the
Board that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
{PwC’) be appointed as the Group's
externat auditor for the April 2024 audit.
The Board has decided that it will appoint
PwC to audit the April 2024 financial
statements and during 2022/23, PwC will
commence their audit transition activities
following the transition of all non-audit
services undertaken by them. Specifically,
PwC ceased the provision of oulsourced
internal audit services and information
technology consulting prior to 30 Aprit
2022 to ensure that they have an
appropriate “cooling-in" period.

Non-audit services and external
auditor independence

The Audit Commitlee monitors the nalure
and extenl of non-audit services on a
regutar basis lo ensure the provision of
non-audit services is within the Group's
policy and does not impair the auditor’s
objectivity or independence. Whilst the
use of the Group's auditor for non-audit
services is not prohibited, the Group
typically elects to use an alternative
adviser but accepts that certain work

of a non-audit nature is best undertaken
by the external auditor.

We were again satisfied thal non-audit
services were in line with our policy and
did not detract from the objectivity and
independence of the external auditor.

The non-audit fees paid to the Company's
auditor, Deloitte LLP, for the year relate
principally to their review of the
Company's interim results and, in the
current year, the 1ssue of comfort letters
provided in connection with the Group’s
refinancing typically undertaken by the
auditor. Details of the fees payable to

the external auditor are given in Note 4
to the financial statements. Non-audit
fees represented 15% of the audit fee

in the year.



INTERNAL AUDIT

Our outsourced internal audil function
underlook audit work in relation to our
accounting and support office functions,
including testing of our general IT
controls. The Committee is responsible
for the Group's relationship with the
internal auditor, ensuring the scope of
work is appropriate to the Group and that
findings are considered and actioned
appropriately. The Committee receives
regular updates from the internal auditor
throughout the year as to the status of
work and findings arising.

In the current year, internal audit work

of the accounting and support office
funclions has focused on the design,
implementation and operating
effectiveness of controls relating to the
revenue, payroll, fixed asset, inventory
processes and general IT controls,
including cyber security. The scope of
the work undertaken by our internal audit
function is designed to provide coverage
of our key controls across the principal
financial cycles on a rotational basis

and be complementary to management's
assurance processes and the work of
the external auditor.

The internal auditor prepares delailed
reports which are discussed with
management and against which delailed
action plans are agreed. Key matters are
highlighted to the Audit Committee
through reports presented at Audit
Committee meetings and the Audit
Committee receives regular updates as
to the status of open recommendations.

In addition, the internal operational audit
teams in the businesses undertake
operational audits across the store
network using a risk-based methodology.
Each year the Audit Commitlee agrees
the scope of work and Lhe coverage in
the audit plan at the start of the year and
receive formal reports on the results of
the work at the half-year and full-year.
Following travel and other restrictions
which arose as a result of COVID-19, the
internal operational audit teams
introduced an eAudit format in May 2020,
utilising electronic reporting, data
analytics and video conferencing
technology. These eAudits have
complemented the 'in person’ audit visits
in the current year which recommenced
as restrictions eased. During the year
560 audits were completed, which is
consistent with our goal for each of our
slores lo receive an audil visit at teast
once every two years. The audits are
scored and action plans agreed with
store manayement to remedy identified
weaknesses. This continual process of
reinforcement is key to the store level
control environment.

Internal audit effectiveness

The Audit Commitlee conducts an annual
assessmenl of the scope of internal audit
and the effectiveness of the internal
auditor’s work. The review is based on the
Committee’s engagement with the
internal auditor and feedback from
management. As a result of the review of
internal audit effectiveness, the
Committee is satisfied that the scope of
work and its effectiveness is appropriate.
Following last year's review, the
Committee decided to engage an
independent third partly to review the
Group'sinternal assurance
arrangements, including the balance
between in-house and outsourced
provision of internal audit. As a
consequence, the Group has recruited an
in-house head of internal audit to develop
further the Group's activities in this area
given the increased scale and complexity
of the Group. During 2022/23, the
Committee will work with the newly
appointed head of internal audit to develop
anin-house internal audit function,
supported by outsourced resource where
appropriate.

FINANCIAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objective is to maintain
a strong control environment which
minimises the financial risk faced by
the business. Itis the Committee’s
responsibility to review and assess the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal
financial controls and risk
management processes.

In relation to internal financial control,
the Group's control and monitoring
procedures include:

- the maintenance and production of
accurate and timely financial
management information, including a
monthly profil and loss account and
selected balance sheet data for each
store;

- the control of key financial risks
through clearly laid down authority
levels and proper segregation of
accounting duties at the Group’s
accounting support centres;

- the preparation of a monthly financial
report to the Board;

- the preparation of an annual budget
and periodic updale forecasts which
are reviewed by the execulive direclors
and then by the Board;

- aprogramme of rental equipment
inventories and full inventory counts
conducted at each store by equipment
tyoe and independently checked on a
sample basis by our operational
auditors and external auditor;

- comprehensive financial assurance
activities including routine 'second-
line’ controls testing to monitor
control activities;

- detailed internal audits al the Group's
major accounting centres undertaken
by internal audit specialists;

- independent review of the effectiveness
of internal audit;

- comprehensive audits at each store
generally carried out at least every two
years by internal operational audit. A
summary of this work is provided
semi-annually to the Audit Committee;
and

- whistle-blowing procedures by which
staff may, in confidence, raise concerns
aboul possible improprieties or
breaches of company policy or
procedure.

The Committee receives regular
reports from internal operationat audit,
outsourced internal audit and the Group
Risk Committee. The Group's risk
management processes are an area

of focus as they adapt to reflect changes
to our risk profile as a result of our
significant growth, both organic

and through bolt-on acquisitions.

VIABILITY STATEMENT

The Committee discussed management’s
approach lo the viability siatement and
reviewed the work undertaken by
management and reviewed a paper
summarising their conclusions and
proposed statement. The statement

was agreed at the June meeting and

is included on page 39.
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ROLE OF THE NOMINATION
COMMITTEE -
The principal duties of the Commitlee
are making recommendalions lo the
Board on:

- the Board's structure, size,
composition and balance; and

- the appointment, reappointment,
retirement or continuation of
any director.

The chair of the Board chairs the
Nomination Committee but is not
permitted to participate in the
appointment of his successor.

MAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE DURING
THEYEAR

In January 2022, after an extensive search,

and having been interviewed by each
member of the Committee, Renata Ribeiro
was appointed as a non-executive director
and member of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nominalion Committees.

Renala brings strong commercial and
digital experience to the Board from her
role at Carnival Corporation & plc, where
sheis currently the Senior Vice President
of Operations Strategy.

Other matters addressed by the
Nomination Committee during the
year were:

Reappointment of directors

The Committee unanimously
recommends the election / re-election
of each of the directors at the 2022 AGM.
In making this recommendation, the
Committee evaluated each directorin
terms of their performance, commitment
to the role, and capacity to discharge
their responsibilities effectively, given
their other external time commitments
and responsibilities.

. )
AR R N

Board composition and diversity

Our objective is to have a broad range of
skills, background and experience within
the Board as we believe that this ensures
the Board is best placed to serve the
Group. While we will continue to ensure
that we appoint the best people for the
relevant roles, we recognise the benefits
of diversily in ensuring a mix of views and
providing a broad perspective.

The Group’s gender diversity slatistics are
set out within our Responsible business
reportincluding details of its approach to
diversity and equal opportunities across
the Group. At board level, four out of nine
of our Board roles are held by women but
we note that diversity extends beyond the
measurable statistics.of gender and
ethnicity. As such, while we do not set any
particular targets, we continue to take
diversity in its wider context into account
when considering any particular
appointment.

Succession planning

Succession planning for the Board and
senior management continues to be an
area of focus for the Board, ensuring that
appropriate succession plans are
reviewed and updated on a regular basis
and that Board rotation is managed so that
itis distributed across a number of years.
The tenure of non-executive directors is
illustrated in the graph below:

TENURE

[ﬂiﬂ 12 OJ

O Lessthan tyear O 1-3years
O 3-6years O 6-9years
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MEMBERS OF THE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Paul Watker (chair)
Angus Cockburn
Jill Easterbrook
Tanya Fratto

Renata Ribeiro )
Lucinda Riches
Lindsiey Ruth

Details of meeting attendance are

provided on page 88. The Nomination

Committee’s terms of reference are
available on the Group’s website.
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BOARD APPOINTMENT PROCESS
When considering the recruitment of a
new direclor, the Commitlee considers
the required balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversily to ensure that
any new appointment adds to the overall
board composition. The Committee
utilises the services of independent
external advisers to facilitate the search
based on the criteria determined by the
Committee for the role.

A U

PAUL WALKER
Chair of the Nomination Commitlee
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER

{am pleased to present the Remuneration
report for 2021/22 following another year
of strong performance for the Group.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Remuneration Commitlee is pleased
to report that its proposed changes to the
Group's Remuneration policy, which it
firmly believes are in the best interests
of its stakeholders as a whole, were
approved by shareholders at our AGM
last September.

In formulating the proposed changes to
the Policy, principally the introduction of
the Strategic Plan Award, the Committee
undertook an extensive consuttation
exercise with its largest shareholders.
Following constructive feedback received
during the exercise, the Committee made
a number of changes lo the original
proposals, specifically increasing the
minimum EBITDA and carbon intensily
thresholds. The majority of shareholders
were supportive of the Committee’s aims
to motivate and retain the Group’s
well-respected management team, the
majority of whom are based in North
America, while recognising the challenges
that this entails for a UK listed company.
The Committee is appreciative of the
support and helpfut feedback it received
from those who engaged in the process.

Atthe 2021 AGM the lotal voles received in
favour of remuneration-related
resolutions were 63.97% [Remuneration
report}, 60.72% [Remuneration policyl and
74.64% (L ong-Term Incentive Plan). The
principal reason given hy those
shareholders who were unable to support
the proposals related to the nature and
magnitude of the Strategic Plan Award.

Following the AGM, the Group has
continued to engage with shareholders.
We invited shareholders holding almost
50% of Ashtead’s issued share capital to
meel directly with Paul Walker, our Group
chair. The shareholders who accepled the
invitation were supporlive of the
Remuneration policy and implementation
decisions of the Committee and were
pleased that the incentives, designed to
align directly with the Group's ambitious
Sunbelt 3.0 growth strategy, have flowed
down on broadly consistent terms to

c. 15,000 of the Group's employees.

The Committee is grateful to those
shareholders that took partin the
engagement process for their feedback,
and acknowledges the divergent
perspeclives of shareholders on our
remuneration framework. However, the
Committee continues to believe that the
Strategic Plan Award is the most
appropriate solution to drive collective
behaviours across all levels of the
business, support the delivery of Sunbelt
3.0, and incentivise and reward further
shareholder value creation over the
tonger-term. Accordingly, the Group's
Remuneration policy was implemented in
the year ended 30 April 2022 in line with
the approach set outin last year's
Remuneration report.

COMPANY PERFORMANCE AND
REMUNERATION IN 2021/22

Iwish to thank our entire workforce on
behalf of the Commiltee for their
contribution to Ashlead’s continued
success, further details of which are set
out on pages 22 to 29 of the Annual
Report. Despite the ongoing challenges
from the pandemic, the Group delivered
record results in 2021/22 as we executed
against our strategic plan, Sunbelt 3.0,

while remaining focused on our core value
of ensuring our people remain at the heart
of what we do.

Deferred Bonus Plan

Brendan Horgan and Michael Pratt
participate in the Deferred Bonus Plan
['DBP’) where performance is measured
by reference lo Group adjusted pre-tax
profitand free cash flow generation. The
bonus targets for 2021/22, which were
achieved in full, are set out on page 107.

2019 Performance Share Plan
award vesting

The long-term performance of the
Companyis reflected in the 98.7% vesting
of the 2019 Performance Share Plan
{'PSP’} award. The award will vest on the
completion of the three-year vesting
period in July 2022. The performance
conditions and targets, weighting, actual
performance and associated level of
vesting are set out on page 108.

The Committee reviewed the outcomes
under the 2022 Deferred Bonus Plan and
2019 PSP awards, in the context of the
underlying performance of the Group and
lhe stakeholder experience. It concluded
that no discretion to adjust the formulaic
outcome was required.

Strategic Plan Award

On 20 Aprit 2021 the Group launched its
ambitious Sunbelt 3.0 strategy. It made
Strategic Plan Awards under the new
Long-Term Incentive Plan {'LTIP’] to 400
employees. Additionally, some 1,200
branch managers and 13,000 other team
members participated in a special cash
bonus scheme linked to annual targets
aligned with Sunbeli 3.0.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

The Strategic Plan Award targets reflect
the stretching financial and operational
aspirations of Sunbelt 3.0, balanced by
tinkage to measures that ensure growth is
delivered in a sustainable and responsible
way; including targets for customer
service, employee engagement and ESG.
Further details on the targels for the
Strategic Plan Award and its alignmenl lo
Ashlead’s Sunbelt 3.0 strategy are
included on page 109.

The Strategic Plan Awards made under
the LTIP and the cash bonus scheme
ensure that all levels of the organisation
are focused on delivering the Group's
ambitious three-year targets for the
benefit of all of our stakeholders.
Following approval of the LTIP at the 2021
AGM, Strategic Plan Awards were made to
the executive directors in September 2021,
delails of which appear on page 110.

REMUNERATION FOR 2022/23

Salary increases for executive
directors and the rest of the
workforce

Eachyear the Committee determines

the salary levels and bonus arrangements
for its executive directors. The Committee
also reviews the proposed salary
increases for the wider workforce and

the bonus proposals for each of the
businesses, as it seeks to ensure a
consistent reward structure across

the Group.

The Committee has determined. in line
with the average salary increases given to
the general workforce, to increase the
base salaries for Brendan Horgan and
Michael Pratt by 5% with effect from 1 May
2022. The Committee considered this level
of salary increase lo reflect appropriately
their continued strong performance and
vatued contribution to the ongoing
success of the Group.

2023 Deferred Bonus Plan award

The executive directors parlicipate in the
Deferred Bonus Plan. The Committee sels
targets annually with reference to Group
adjusted profit before tax and free cash
flow. No changes are proposed to the
reward opportunities under the Deferred
Bonus Plan for the financial year ending
30 April 2023.

LTIP award for 2022

As detailed in my report last year and
following approval at the 2021 AGM, the
LTIP awards for 2022 for the executive
directors will be as follows:

- chief executive: 350% of base salary:;
and

- chief financial officer: 225% of base
salary.

We will continue setting stretching
through-the-cycle targets to reward
suslainable, long-lerm growth as
assessed across a balance of different
metrics [relative TSR, EPS, Rol and
leverage]. Notwithstanding the challenges
that will be presented by broader
economic uncertainty, the Committee
continues to believe that through-the-
cycle targets remain the most appropriate
measures for a cyclical business and will
retain the existing targets for its 2022
award.

Chair and non-executive fees

The chair's fee was last reviewed by the
Committee in January 2019. On 1 January
2022, the Committee resolved to increase
the chair’s fee to £450,000 per annum.

The non-executive fees, which are
determined by the Board, have remained
unchanged since January 2018. On

1 January 2022, the Board resolved to
Increase the non-executive fees to £80,000
per annum, with a supplemental fee of
£20,000 per annum for chairs of the Audit
and Remuneration Committees and for the
senior independent director, recognising
the increased time commitment of the
workload for these roles. Henceforth, the
chair and non-executive fees will be
reviewed annually by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board respectively.

The revised fees have been setin
accordance with the Group's
Remuneration policy, reflecting the size
and complexity of the Group.
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CONCLUSION

The key decisions of the Commitlee
relating to remuneralion for the current
year are set out below:

- the executive directors will receive
100% of their Deferred Bonus Plan
award for 2021/22 performance;
98.7% of the 2019 PSP award will vest
inJuly 2022;

- the Group chief executive and Group
chief financial officer’s base salaries
will increase by 5%; and

~ the LTIP award opportunity for 2022
will be 350% of base salary for the chief
executive and 225% of base salary for
the chief financial officer {in line with
the proposals set out in last year's
Remuneration report}. Performance
conditions in respect of these awards
appear on page 109.

At this year's AGM there will be a single
advisory resolution in respect of the
implementation of the Remuneration
policy, details of which are set out in the
Notice of Meeting.

I believe the decisions made by the
Committee both reflect and build on the
constiructive shareholder dialogue which
I'intend to continue going forward. | hope
you will agree and will therefore be able
to vote in favour of this year's
Remuneration report.

L. LK
e

LUCINDA RICHES
Chair of the Remuneration Commitiee



INTRODUCTION

This report has been prepared in
accordance with the Listing Rules of the
Financial Conduct Authority, the relevant
sections of the Companies Act 2006 and
The Large and Medium-sized Companies
and Groups {Accounts and Reports}
(Amendment) Regutations 2013 [‘the
Regulations’). It explains how the Board
has applied the Principles of Good
Governance relating to directors’
remuneration, as set out in the UK
Corporate Governance Code. The
Regulations require the auditor lo report
to the Company’'s members on elements
of the Directors’ remuneration report and
to state whether, in their opinion, thal part
of the report has been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act
2006. The audited information is included
on pages 106 to 112.

An ordinary resolution concerning the
Directors’ remuneration report
(excluding the Remuneration policy)
will be put to shareholders at the AGM
on 6 September 2022.

REMUNERATION POLICY
During the 2021/22 financial year, the

Committee kept under review its approach

to remuneration against Provision 40 of
the Code, and concluded that the
Remuneration policy and practices
appropriately address the six pillars of:
clarity; simplicity; risk, predictability;
proportionality; and alignment to culture:

- clarity: the Remuneration policy is
transparent and its implementation -
is disclosed in a straightforward and

consistent manner to both shareholders
and employees using the Group's Annual

Report and via a range of employee
engagement mechanisms, delails of
which are provided within this report;

- simplicity: the Group adopts

remuneration structures for executive
directors which are not complex and
which are market typical. Executive
director remuneration comprises a
base salary, benefits and pension
arrangements, which are in line with
the wider workforce, and an annual
bonus and long-term incenlive awards
which are aligned with the Group's
financial performance and slrategic
plans. Details of the operation of this
remuneration struclure is provided
within this report;

risk: the Remuneration policy has been
designed to discourage inappropriate
risk-taking with an appropriate mix of
fixed and variable remuneration.
Variable elements are focused on the
long-term success of the Group, with
awards under the Deferred Bonus Plan
and long-term incentive plans subject
to malus and clawback provisions.
Performance conditions are reviewed
regularly to ensure they remain
sufficiently stretching to ensure poor
performance is not rewarded, but
without being so stretching as to
encourage and incentivise risk-taking;
predictability: the iltustration on page
103 provides detail of the potential
future reward based on different
performance scenarios under the
application of the Remuneration poticy
for 2022/23. incentive arrangements
are applied consistently over time and
subject to clearly defined pay-out
schedules, deferral requirements and
shareholding policies;
proportionality: the link between each
element of the Remuneration policy
and its strategy is detailed in the policy
table on pages 100 to 102, with a range
of short and long-term components.
Furthermore, the Committee retains
appropriate discretion to adjust
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formulaic bonus and long-term
Incentive outcomes, where these would
otherwise resultin outcomes thal are
not aligned with stakeholders’
experience; and

- alignment to culture: remuneration
practices are aligned with the Group's
purpose, values and strategy. This was
reinforced with the introduction.of ESG
measures into the Group's
remuneration performance measures
for the Strategic Plan Award.

Shareholders approved the Group’s
Remuneration potlicy at the 2021 AGM and
the policy has operated as set out below
(and which is reproduced from last year's
reporl). The Committee will keep the
policy under review to ensure it
appropriately incentivises and rewards
strong performance going forward. Major
shareholders will be consulted in advance
on any proposed material changes.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

The Group’s remuneration policy

Link to strategy

The purpose of the base
salaryis to attract and
retain directors of the high
calibre needed to deliver
the long-lerm success of

| the Group without paying

L more thanis necessary to
fillthe role.

Link to strategy
To provide competitive
employment benefits.

i Link to strategy
To provide a compealitive
retirement benefit.

Operation
Ordinarily, base salaryis sel annually
and is payable on a monlhly basis.

An executive director’s base salaryis
determined by the Committee. In
deciding appropriate levels, the
Committee considers the experience
and performance of individuats and
relationships across the Board and
seeks lo be competitive using
information drawn from both internal
and external sources and taking
account of pay and conditions elsewhere
in the Company.

The comparator group currently used to
inform decisions on base salary is
principally the FTSE organisations of
similar size, geographic lootprint and
index posilioning of the Company. The
Committee intends to review the
comparator group each year, to ensure
this remains appropriate, and any
changes would be disclosed to
shareholders in setting out the
operation of the policy for the
subsequent year.

Individuals who are recruited or
promoted to the Board may, on occasion,
have their salaries sel below the policy
level until they become estabtished in
their role. In such cases subsequent
increases in salary may be higher until
Lhe largel positioning is achieved.

Operation

The execulive directors’ benefits will

i generally include medicalinsurance, life
cover, car allowance and travel and
accommodation allowances.

; The type and level of benefils provided is
{ reviewed periodically to ensure they
remain markel competilive.

Operation

The Company makes pension
contributions (or pays a salary
supplementin tieu of pension
contributions) equal to the average
available for the workforce in the
relevant geography.

Maximum potential
‘value

The policy for salaryis
around lhe median
level for comparable
positions in relation to
the comparator
groups.

Increases will -
normalty be in line
with both the market
and typical increases
for other employees
across the Group.

Details of the executive
directors’ salaries,
and anyincreases
awarded are sel outin
the Remuneration
reporl.

Maximum potential
value

The maximum will be set
at the cost of providing
lhe lisled benelils.

Maximum potential
value

The maximum pension
contribution for all
direclors is aligned
with the average
employee contribution
in the respective
geographies.

Performance conditions
and assessment
N/A

Performance conditions
and assessment
N/A

Performance conditions
and assessment
N/A
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Deferred Bonus Plan ('DBP’)

| Link to strategy

i The purpose of the DBP is
| to incentivise execulives to
deliver stretching annual
financial performance
while aligning short-term
and long-term reward
through compulsory
deferral of a proportion
into share equivalents. This
promotes the alignment of
executive and shareholder
interests.

Link to strategy

The purposeis lo attract,
retain and incentivise
executives to optimise
business performance
through the economic cycle
and hence, build a stronger
underlying business with
sustainable long-term
shareholder value creation.

business with high capital
requirements, The
performance conditions
have been chosen to ensure
that thereis an appropriate
dynamic tension between
growing earnings,
delivering strong Rol, whilst
maintaining leverage
disciplina.

This is an inherently cyctical Dividend equivalents may be provided

Operation

" The DBP runs for conseculive three-

year periods with a significant
proportion of any earned bonus being

' compulsorily deferred into share

equivalents. Based on achievement of
annual performance targets,
participants receive lwo-lhirds of Lhe
combined total of their earned bonus for
the current year and the value of any
share equivalent awards brought
forward from the previous year at the
then share price. The other one-thirdis
compulsorily deferred into a new award

- of share equivalents evaluated at the
. then share price.

" Deferred share equivalents are subject
. 1o 50% forfeiture for each subsequent

i year of the plan period where

" performance falls below the forfeiture

threshold set by the Committee.

. Althe expiration of each three-year
* period, participants will, subject to

altainment of the performance

- condilions lor that year, receive in cash
* their bonus for that year plus any
" brought forward deferral atits then

value.

. Dividend equivalents may be provided
+ ondeferred share equivalents.

Operation
Awards are granted annually and vesting
is dependenl on the achievemenl of

. perlormance condilions. Performance is
. measured over a three-year period.

The operation of the plan is reviewed
annually to ensure that grant levels,
performance criteria and other features
remain appropriale to the Company’s
current circumstances.

' onvested shares.

Vested shares [net of taxes) are required
to be held for a period of at least two
years posl-vesting.

Maximum potential
value

The maximum annual
bonus opportunity
under the DBP is 225%
of base salary.

Target performance
earns 50% of the
maximum bonus
opportunity.

Performance Share Plan {'PSP’)/Long-Term incentive Plan (‘LTIP’}

Maximum potential
value

The maximum annual
award which can be
made under the PSP
scheme has a market
value at the grant date
of 350% of base salary.

Al target performance
32.5% of Llhe award
vesls.

In 2022/23 the award
for Brendan Horgan
will be 350% of base
salaryand 225% lor
Michael Pratt.

Performance conditions

and assessment

The current DBP performance
condilions are Group adjusted
pre-tax profit and {ree cash flow.

Stretching financial targets are set
by the Committee at the start of
each financial year.

The Company operales in a rapidly
changing sector and thereflore Lhe
Committee may change the balance
of the measures, or use different
measures for subsequent financial
years, as appropriate.

The Committee has the discretion
to adjust measures, targets or
weightings for any exceptional
evenls that may occur during

the year.

The Remuneration Committee is

of the opinion that given the
commercial sensitivity arising in
relation to the detaited financial
targets used for the DBP, disclosing
precise largets for Lhe bonus plan
in advance would nol be in
shareholder interests. Actual
targets, performance achieved and
awards made will be published at
the end of the performance periods
so shareholders can assess fully
the basis for any pay-ouls under
the plan.

Performance conditions

and assessment

Awards are subject to continued
employment and achievemenl of a
range of balanced and holistic
performance conditions that are
maintained across Lhe cycte. The
currenl performance crileria are
sel oul on page 108.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Strategic Plan Award

Link to strategy

The Strategic Plan Award is
a standalone performance
share award linked directly
to those objectives
underpinning the Sunbelt

Operation

The Strategic Plan Award is a one-off
award granted at the beginning of the
Sunbell 3.0 slralegic period. Vesling is
dependenl on the achievement of
performance conditions measured over

1

3.0 strategy.

The performance

the three-year period to 30 April 2024,

Dividend equivalenls may be provided

Maximum potential
value

The maximum award
which canbe made
under the Strategic
Plan Award has a
market value of 350%
of base salary.

Performance conditions

and assessment

Awards are subject lo continued
employment and achievement of a
range of financial and operational
performance conditions linked to
Lhe five stralegic components of the
Sunbelt 3.0 plan, details of which

are set out on page 109.

At threshotd
performance 25%
of the award vests.

conditions are aligned to onvested shares.
the stretching financial and
operalional aspirations of
Sunbelt 3.0 and linked to
measures that ensure
growth is deliveredin a
sustatnable and
responsible fashion.

Shareholding policy

Operation Maximum potential Performance conditions
The Committee requires the executive value and assessment
directors to build and maintain a Minimum shareholding  N/A

material shareholding in the Company requirement:

over a reasonable time frame, which
would normally be five years.

. Vested shares [netl of taxes) are required
to be held for a period of at least two
- years posl-vesting.

Link to strategy
Ensures a long-term
locked-in atignment
between the execulive
directors and
shareholders.

- Current chief
executive: 500%
of salary

- Other execulive
directors: 300%
of salary

The Committee has discretion to
increase the shareholding requirement.

Post-cessation shareholding requirement

Link to strategy Operation Maximum potential Performance conditions
Strengthens the alignment : The Commillee requires the execulive value and assessment
belween the long-lterm directors to maintain the minimum Minimum shareholding  N/A

interests of executive " shareholding requirement for twoyears  requirement:

directors and post-cessation.

' shareholders. - Chief execulive:

300% of salary

- Other executive
direclors: 200%
of salary

Noties to the policy tabla:
1. Inrelation to the PSP/ TIP:
a. Total shareholder return measures the relative return from Ashtead againsl an appropriate comparator group. providing alignment with shareholders’ interests.
b. Earnings per share Is also a key measure ensui ing sustainable profit generation over the longer-term and is a measure which is aligned with shar ehotders’ inlerests.
c. Returnon investment is a key internal measure to ensure the etfective use of captatin the business which is cyctical and with high capital requirements.
d. The usc of leverage alongside the other perfor mance measures ensures thare is an appropriate dynamic tension and balance, maintaining lever age discipline in a
capital-intensive business. The lever age target 15 2.0 times (2.4 times post IFRS 16), averaged across the three-year period.

2. Inretation to both the DB and the PSP/LTIP, malus and clawback provisions cxist which cnable the Committee to reduce or elimimate the number of shares, notional
shares or unvested shares held or teduce the amount of any money payable or potentially payable and/or to require the transfer to the Company of alt or some of Lhe
shares acquired or to pay to the Company an amount equat to atl or par t of any benefit or value derived from, or attributable to, the plans in case of mater iat misstatement
nlaceounts or action or conduct of an award holder or avard holders which in the reasonable opmion of the Board, amounts to fraud or gross misconduct,

3. The Commutlee witl operate the Company's incentive plans according 1o their respeclive rules and consislent with normal markel praclice, tha Lisling Rules and HMRC
ruleswhere relevant, including flexibilily in a number of regards. These include making awar ds and selling performance crileria and tar gels lor new cycles each year,
dealing with leaver s, and adjusiments to awar ds and pet lor mance crilenta following acquisitions, disposals, changes in share capitat and to take accounl of the impact of
other meiger and acquisition activily. The Commiliee relains discretion, in exceplional circumstances, under the rutes of the DBP and long-ter m incenlive plans (PSP and
L1IP}to adjust pet [ornance condilions Lo eusure thal the awai ds lulfil then original pur poses. All assessments ol pei lonmance are wlinnately subject 1o the Commiltee's
judgement. Any disci etion exetcised, and the 1 alionale for doing so, will be disclosed iy the Dinector s” temunier ation iepor L.
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Remuneration policy on new hires

When hiring a new executive director, the Commitlee will seek lo align the remuneration package with the Remuneration policy
summarised on pages 100 to 102. In addition, where the execulive has lo relocate, the level of relocation package will be assessed on
a case-by-case basis. Although it is not the Committee’s policy to buy-out former incentive arrangements as a matter of course, it
will consider compensating an incoming executive with like-kind incentive arrangements for foregone incentives with their previous
employer, taking into account the length of the period they were held and an assessment of the likely vesting value. The Committee
will ensure that such arrangements are in the best interests of both the Company and the shareholders without paying more than

is necessary.

Total remuneration opportunity
Our remuneration arrangements are designed so that a significant proportion of pay is dependent on the delivery of short and
long-term objectives designed to create shareholder value.

The graphs below illustrate the potential future reward opportunity for each of the executive directors in 2022/23, and the base salary
at 1 May 2022 and the sterling/dollar exchange rate at 30 April 2022.

CHIEF EXECUfIVE - BRENDAN HORGAN ($°000) CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER - MICHAEL PRATT (£'000)
Minimum 94% % Minimum 7%

2% 3%

<g
Maximur  [i23 ] R Maximum el - 1[5 s I
Share price . - 0 e ! s e S My B i R Share price U
growth Lo -, o, 63% growth

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8.000 10.000 0 500 1,000 1,500 2000 2,500 3000 3,500 4,000

BSalary OPensionand benefits BIDBP WPSP

Inillustrating potential reward opportunities, the following assumptions have been made:

Base salary, benelits and pension DBP LTIP
Minimum Base salary, benefits and pension  No DBP payment payable No vesting
or cashin lieu of pension
Target/threshold As above Ontarget DBP payment 32.5% vesting
(50% of maximum)
Maximum As above Maximum DBP payment Full vesting
Share price growth As above Maximum DBP payment Full vesting with 50% share price growth

The impact of share price movements on the value of LTIPs has been excluded for the minimum, target and maximum scenarios. The
impact of share price changes on the value of mandatory bonus deferrals into the DBP has been excluded from all scenarios.

Service contracts

The Company’s policy is that executive directors have rolling contracts terminable by either parly giving the other 12 months’ notice,
which are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office. The service contracts for each of the executive directors alt
contain non-compete provisions appropriate to their roles.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Policy on payment for loss of office )
Upon the termination of employment of any execulive director, any compensation will be determined in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the direclor’'s employment conltract and the rules of any incentive scheme which are summarised below.

Base salary and benefits

Approach . ) Application of Committee discretion
In the event of termination by the Company, there will be no compensation for loss " The Committee has discretion to make lump
of office due to misconduct or normal resignation. sum paymentin lieu.

- [n other circumstances, executive directors may be entitled to receive
i compensation for loss of office which will be a maximum of 12 months’ salary.

Such payments will be equivalent to the monthly salary and benefits that the
executive would have received if stitl in employment with the Company. Executive
directors will be expected to mitigate their loss within a 12-month period of their
departure from the Company.

Approach ; Application of Committee discretion
Penston contributions or payments in lieu of pension contribution will be made w‘ The Committee has discretion to make a
during the notice period. No additional payments will be made in respect of pension | lump sum payment in lieu.
contributions for loss of office.

Deferred Bonus Plan

Application of Committee discretion
The Committee has the discretion to
determine that an executive directoris a
good leaver.

Approach
The treatment of the Deferred Bonus Plan is governed by the rules of the plan.

| Cessation of employment

| 1f a participant ceases to be employed by a Group company for any reason an

| award thal has not vested shall tapse unless the Committee in its absolute
discretion determines otherwise for 'good leaver’ reasons (including, but not

- limited to, injury, disability, ill health, retirement, redundancy or transfer of the

The Committee retains discretion to set the
measurement date for the purposes of
determining performance measurement

business). and whether to pro-rate the contribution for
that plan year. It shoutd be noted that it is the
If the Committee determines that deferred awards held in a participant’s plan - Committee’s policy only to apply such
account shall not tapse on cessation of employment, all deferred awards hetd in 1 discretions if the circumstances at the time
 the participant’s plan account shall vest immediately and the Committee shall © are, inits opinion, sufficiently exceptional,
determine: and to provide a full explanation lo

! shareholders where discretion is exercised.

| (a) whether the measurement date for that plan year is brought forward to the date
of cessation or remains at the end of the plan year; and

[b) whether a reduction is applied to the payment to take account of the proportion

of the planyear elapsed and the contribution to the Group.

If the Committee determines that the measurement date is the date of cessation,
the Committee shall pro-rate the performance conditions to the date of cessation.

i Change of control
On & change of control, alt deferred awards held in a participant’s plan account
{ shall vestimmediately and the Committee shall determine:

The Committee retains discretion to pro-rate
the contribution for that plan year. Itis the
Committee’s policy in normal circumstances
(al that the measurement date is the date of the change of control; and to pro-rate to time; however, in exceptional
{b) whether a reduction is applied to the payment to take account of the proportion circumstances where the nature of the

of the plan year elapsed and the participant’s contribution to the Group. . transaction produces exceptional value for
shareholders and provided the performance

targets are met, the Committee will consider
whether pro-rating is equitable.

The Committee shall pro-rate the performance conditions to the measurement
date.

In the event of an internal reorganisation, the Committee may determine that
awards are replaced by equivalent awards.
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PSP/LTIP (including Strategic Plan Award)

J Approach Application of Committee discretion
The treatment of awards is governed by the rules of the relevant plan. The Committee has the discretion to
. determine that an executive director is a

| Cessation of employment good leaver.

. If a participant ceases to be employed by a Group company forany reason an award
. that has not vested shalt lapse unless the Committee in its absolute discretion

| determines otherwise for ‘good leaver’ reasons lincluding, but not limited to, injury,
disability, itt health, retirement, redundancy or transfer of the business).

The Committee retains discretion to set the
vesting date. It should be noted that it is the
Committee’s policy only to apply such
discretions if the circumstiances at the time
Where the participant is a ‘good leaver’, and at the discretion of the Committee, are, in its opinion, sufficiently exceptional,
awards may continue until the normal time of vesting and with the performance and to provide a full explanation to

target and any other conditions considered at the time of vesting. If the participant's | shareholders where discretion is exercised.
awards vest, the proportion of the awards which shall vest will be determined by
the Committee in its absolute discretion taking into account such factors as the

' Committee may consider relevant including, but not limited to, the time the award |
has been held by the participant and having regard to the performance target and
| any further condition imposed under the rules of the relevant plan.

|

1 Alternatively, the Committee may decide thal the award may vest on the date of

cessation taking into account such factors as the Committee may consider relevant

including, but not limited to, the time the award has been held by the parlicipantand

having regard to the performance target and any further condition imposed under
the rules of the relevant plan.

Change of control
The proportion of the awards which shalt vest will be determined by the Committee ! Itisthe Committee’s policy to measure the

in its absolute discretion taking into account such factors as the Committee may level of satisfaction of performance targets
consider relevant including, but not limiled to, the time the award has been held by | ona change of control. It is the Committee’s

| the participant and having regard to the performance targetand any further policy in normal circumstances to pro-rate to

| condition imposed under the rules of the relevant plan. time; however, in exceptional circumstances
; where the nature of lthe transaction produces

1 ' : exceplional value for shareholders and
provided the performance largets are met
the Committee will consider whether pro-
rating is equitable.

There is no agreement between the Company and its directors or employees, providing for compensation for loss of office or
employment that occurs as a result of a takeover bid. The Committee reserves the right to make payments where such payments are
made in good faith in discharge of a legal obligation {or by way of damages for breach of such an obligation]; or by way of settlement or
compromise of any claim arising in connection with the termination of an executive director’s office or employment.

When determining any loss of office payment for a departing individual the Commitlee will always seek lo minimise the cost to the
Company whilst seeking to address the circumslances at the time.

Consideration of conditions elsewhere in the Group

The constituent parts of the senior management team's remuneration package [and the pay principtes underpinning these) mirror
those of the executive directors. The performance conditions attaching to PSP awards are applied consistently to all PSP awards
made throughout the Company, and performance measures included within the Strategic Plan Awards are similarly aligned to the key

components of our Sunbelt 3.0 strategy.

When considering execulive compensation, the Committee is advised of, and takes into account, changes to the remuneration of
employees within the Group and feedback from engagement with employee forums. Executives engaged with team members
throughout the year. Regular ‘town hall” and employee briefings are held during which updates are provided to lhe workforce on the
Group's performance and stralegic initiatives, and how these correlate to remuneration plans. During 2021/22, these have included
specific consideration of fixed elements of remuneration, considering the broader economic environment, as well as the structure of
variable elements of remuneration, in light of the Group's progress against its strategic plans. The workforce is encouraged to raise
questions and share feedback either during or after the ‘town hall’ events and employee briefings and we find a high level of
engagement. Additionally, reqular updates are provided to employees of Company performance via email and through the Group's

employee engagement apps. . :

Employees are also able to provide feedback through the Group's employee surveys on an anonymous basis, with employees and the
Board provided with updates as to action taken to respond to employee matters raised.

Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022 105

1¥0d3Y,540L234I10 I



REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Our Remuneralion policy is applied consistently throughout the arganisation and as such enables our employees Lo understand Lhe

- Remuneration policy as it applies to them, and enables alignment between the execulive directors and the wider workforce. This
includes our policy on selling fixed pay levels, the depth of participation in our shorl and long-term incentives, and the measures and
targels sel'to delermine the pay-oul of these. The Committee and the Board as a wholel continues lo keep under review our approach
to consulting employees on all matters - including remuneration - and is committed to evolving further its approach over time,
as appropriate.

Managing potential conflicts of interest : ‘
In order to avoid any conflict of interest, remuneration is managed through wetl-defined processes ensuring that no individual is involved
in the decision-making process related to their own remuneration. In particular, the remuneration of all executive directors s set and
approved by the Committee; none of the executive directors is involved in the determination of their own remuneration arrangements.

The Committee also receives support from external advisers and evaluates the support provided by those advisers annually to ensure
that advice is independent and appropriate.

Remuneration policy for non-executive directors

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined by the Board within limits set out in the Articles of Association."None of
the non-executive directors has a service contract with the Company and their appointment is therefore terminable by the Board or
the director at any time. When recruiting a non-executive director, the remuneration arrangements offered will be in line with the

policy table below:

APPROACH TO FEES BASISOF FEES
Fees are set at a level to attract and retain high calibre non- Each non-executive director is paid a basic fee for
executive directors. .. undertaking non-executive director and board .

; "responsibilities. ;

Fees are reviewed on a regular basis to énsure they reflect the Additional fees are paid in relation to extra responsibilities

time commitment required and practice in companies of a undertaken, such as to the chair and the chairs of the Audit

similar size and complexity. ) and Remuneration Committees and the senior independent
. director. .

The Company pays any reasonable expenses that a non-
executive director incurs in carrying out their duties as a director
lincluding any tax arising thereon) and other modest benefits as
appropriate.

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
Single total figure for remuneration (audited information)

Executive directors
The single figure for the total remuneration received by each executive director for the year ended 30 April 2022 and the prior year is

shown in the table below:

Brendan Horgan' Michael Pratt’ Total®
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $000 €000 £000 $°000 $000
Fixed remuneration Salary 1,030 1,030 560 473 | 1,791 1,653
Benefits? v 43 sl o ny 21 . 58 73
Pension® 20 20 34 71 66 114
Total fixed . 1,093 1,095 . 605 565 - 1,915 1,840
Variable remuneration DBP* 1,777 1,373 702 473 2,731 2,027
PSP® T4T721 4,617 "1,503 1,568 6,764 6,686
Totalvariable 6,498 5990 . 2,205 2,041 9,495 8,713
Total 7,591 7,085 2,810 26061 © 11,410 10.553

Notes

1 Brendan Horgan's salary is denominated in US dollars whereas Michael Pratt’s salary is denominated in sterling. For the purpose of this disclosure, amounts have been
shown in the currency inwhich salary is denominated, while the totat remuneration amount is shown in US dollars transiated at Lhe average exchange rate for the year.

2 Benelits include the taxable beneiit of company owned cars, private medical insurance and subscriptions and other taxable allowances. Other taxable allowances include
car, travel and accommodalion atlowances.

3 The amount for Michael Pratt represents cash payments in lieu of pension coitributions at 6% (2021: 15%) of salary, in line with the pension conlribution offered to the UK
waorkforce. The amountincluded for Brendan Horgan represents the co-match under Sunbelt’s 401K defined contribution pension ptan and 409A delerred compensation
plan, and is in line with the pension arrangements offered to our US workforce. :

4 DBPincludes the cash received by each director trom the DBP lor 2021/22 performance as explained on page 106. This includes 67% of this year's bonus and 67% of the
brought forward deferred share equivalents for each director.

5 The PSPvalueis calculated as the number of shares vesting, valued at the market value of those shares, plus the payment in lieu of dividends paid during the vesting
period. Market value is the market value on the day the awards vest (if they vesi before 1he date the financial statements are approved) or the average markel value for the
lasl three months of the linancial year [if the awards vest alter the date the financiat statements are approved). Tha 7019 award will vest at 98.7% nn 4 July 2027 and has
been valued al an average inarkel value of 4 840p for the three months ended 30 Aprit 2027, plus 175.6p per share in lieu of dividends paid during the vesting period. The
PSP valun for 2021 has been adjusted to 1 eilect the actual markel value on the date of vesting of 5,416p.
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The value atiributable to the 2018 and 2019 PSP awards within the singte total figure for remuneration reflects the appreciation of the
share price since the awards were granted. This isillustrated as follows:

CHIEF EXECUTIVE - BRENDAN HORGAN ($°000) CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER - MICHAEL PRATT {£°000)

PsP2018 | PSP 2018 639, 929

PSP 2019

= I
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PsP2019 |

B Share price appreciation element since grant date plus cash
in lieu of dividends

0O Performance element based on share price at date ol grant

The Company believes that the charts above show the strong alignment of interests between the execulive directors and shareholders
reflected in the share price appreciation over the performance period.

Directors’ pension benefits (audited information)

Brendan Horgan is a member of the Sunbelt 401K defined contribulion pension plan and the 409A deferred compensation plan. He is

enlitled lo a company co-match conditional on contributing into the 401K plan or deferring into the 409A plan. The co-match is limited
to amounts permitted by regulatory agencies and is affected either by a company payment into the 401K plan or an enhanced deferral
into the 409A plan and was $20,5%96 in 2021/22.

At 30 April 2022, the total amount available to Brendan Horgan but deferred under the Sunbelt deferred compensation plan was
$935,104. This includes an allocated investment loss of $104,693 {2021: gain of $278,694].

Michael Pratt received a payment of 6% of base salary from 1 May 2021, in line with the wider UK workforce.

The Deferred Bonus Plan (audited information)
The performance targets for the DBP for the year, which were equally weighted, were as follows:

G:oup adjusted Free

pre-tax profit cash llow

Forfeilure $1.096m n/a
Entry B 0%  $1.391m $904m
Threshold T T T ) T 30%  $1.418m $918m
Targel 50%  $1.452m $938m
Maximum T T o T 100%  $1.54lm  $1.007m
Actual - reported $1,824m $1,125m
Actual - budgeted exchange rates $1,823m $1,128m

For the year to 30 April 2022, the adjusted pre-tax profil for Ashtead Group ptc was $1,823m and free cash flow was $1,128m, both at
budget exchange rates. As a result, Brendan Horgan and Michael Pratt earned 100% of their maximum bonus entitlements. These are
equivalent to 200% of base salary for Brendan Horgan ($2,060,000] and 150% of base salary for Michael Pratt (£840,000).

2021/22 is the second year of the current three-year DBP and one-third of the bonus amounts disclosed above has been compulsorily
deferred into an award of share equivalents based on the year-end share price [4,179p]. The share equivalent awards are included below:

Number of shars equivalent awards Value of

released

Brought Carried awards

forward Released Granted forward ‘000

Brendan Horgan 10,664 [7109) 13,086 16,641 $404
Michael Prall 5.080 13.386) 6,700 8.394 £142
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

The Performance Share Plan
The performance criteria represent a balanced and holislic approach involving four measures selected because delivery of them
through the cycle is a significant challenge and the achievernent of them will deliver optimum sustainable performance and

shareholder value creation over the long-term. The performance criteria are as follows:

Performance crileria fmeasured over Lhree years)

Award date  Financial year TSR (40%) FPS(25%) Rol [75%] L everage (10%) Status
25% of this 25% of this element 25% of this element | 100% of this

61718 201819 element of this of the award will vest | of the award wilt element of the ggy%/awartdd in
award will vest if EPS compound vest atan Rol of award will vest J l 2°0V2e15 edt
for median growth for the three | 10% with 100% if the ratio of net vy
performance with | years ending 30 April | vestingwith an Rol | debt to EBITDAIs

4119 2019/20 fullvesting atthe | immediately priorto | of 15% [excluding | equalto, oris less 201<)c,aw;rd .
upper quartile. the vesting date is IFRS 18). than, 2.0 times 98.7% will vestin

6% per annum, (2.4 times post July 2022

TSRis measured | rising to 100% IFRS 14). 2020 award

19/6/20 2020/21 | againstthe FTSE | vestingifEPS TSR performance
350 companies compound growth is isin the upper
ranked 50th to eq;:al to, or exceeds, quartite, EPS
TOOFh by m'arkel 12% per annum. increased by 18%,
capitalisation Rol of 18% and
from 1 May of the leverage of 1.5
year of grant. times

617121 §0é1/.22 As above, except 2021 award
TSR is measured TSR performance
against the is in the third
constituents of quartile, EPS
the FTSE 100 increased by 40%,
from 1 May of the Rol of 18% and
year of grant. leverage of 1.5

times

For performance between the lower and upper target ranges, vesting of the award is scaled on a straight-line basis.

The 2018 PSP award vested at 94.7% on 6 July 2021 with EPS compound growth [calculated consistently with 2017/18, excluding IFRS

16] for the three years ended 30 April 2021 of 10.4%, falling between the lower and upper thresholds of 6% and 12%, resulting in 20.0%
of the EPS element of the award vesting and the Company’s TSR performance ranked it second within the FTSE 350 companies ranked
50th to 100th by market capitalisation [excluding investment trusts]. Rot was 14.9% and average leverage was 1.8 times.

The 2019 PSP award will vest at 98.7% on 4 July 2022 with EPS compound growth (calculated consistently with 2018/19, excluding IFRS
16] for the three years ended 30 April 2022 of 11.6%, falling between the lower and upper thresholds of 6% and 12%, resulting in 23.7%
of the EPS element of the award vesting and the Company’s TSR performance ranked it first within the FTSE 350 companies ranked
50th to 100th by market capitalisation [excluding investment trusts). Rol was 18% and average leverage was 1.7 times.

EPSis based on adjusted profit after taxation stated in US dollars. TSR performance is measured relative to FTSE companies of
comparable markel capitalisation [excluding investment trusts] rather than a specific comparalor group of companies because there
are few direct comparators to the Company listed in London. The Company’s TSR performance relative to the FTSE 100 [excluding
inveslmenl trusts} is shown on page 112.

Itis a condition of the PSP awards thal directors at the time of the award are required to hold any vesled shares for a further two-year
period following the vesting date.
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The Strategic Plan Award

Stralegic Plan Awards were made in 2021/22. The performance criteria represent the stretching flinancial and operational aspirations
of Sunbelt 3.0, balanced by linkage lo measures thal ensure growth is delivered in a sustainable and responsible fashion.

STRATEGIC PLAN AWARD SCORECARD

2023/24

Maintaining our excellent level
of engagement in the US, and
expecting other geographies to
matchit

Targets
Weighting Measure Threshold Streich  Commentary
Grow General 50% Increase in EBITDA $820m $1.150m  Aligns with our ambition to deliver a
Tool and advance Measured al constant currency US rental growth of two limes market
our clusters planrates : rate, together with continued strong
Amplity margin and Rol performance
8 Specialty’

Advance 15% Operational improvement 4.0% 6.0% Reflects ambition 1o exceed our cap
technology Improvement in ‘cap factor’ by FY24 by FY24  faclor performance over the last five
{pure rental revenue / average years

original equipment cost] in
North America
15% Customer: ‘Deliver the 6.0% 12.0% Targets set ahead of past
Perfect Rental’ reduction reduction performance, lo underpin our focus
Targeting a reduction in on cuslomer relenlion, retationships
dispute resolution time over and response limes
the three-year period ending
30 April 2024
Lead with ESG 10% Environment: reduce 11.0% 15.0% Reflects ESG's critical rote to
carbon intensity reduction  reduction unlocking structural benefits across
Aligned directly the Group
to our "35x30° goal
Targels are aligned with our
long-term goal of a 35% reduction by
2030
10% Employee: engagement in 75% 85% Our ambitionis to set a benchmark

for our market, recognising the
criticality of an engaged and
enthusiastic workforce to Ashtead's
continue success

Dynamic capital
allocation

Aconsistent application of our capilal atlocation policy to optimise deployment for the benefit of all
stakeholders. Sunbelt 3.0 underpins our focus on value creation for our people, our customers, our
communities and our investors

25% of each element of the Strategic Plan Award will vest at the threshold target and 100% will vest at the stretch target, subject
to achieving the EBITDA threshold target. For performance between the threshold and stretch the award is scaled on a straight-

line basis.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Single total figure of remuneration (audited information)
Non-executive directors

Fees Benefits' Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

€000 £°600 £000 £000 £000 £000
Angus Cockburn » . 100 %0 {° 4 - 1. -104 90
Jilt Easterbrook ] 3 60 T - 48 60
Tanya Fralto ) 67 0 F- . - - 67 40
Renata Ribeiro? ) '23 -F 77 13 - 36 -
Lucinda Riches ’ .. 83 75 -1 - T .83 75
Lindsley Ruth G 60 [. - -1 e 60
Paul Walker "~ 383 Co350 | 3 - s 350

790 695 |- 21 - TN 695

Notes

1 Travel, accommodation and subsistence expenditure is met by the Company for Board members to attend meetings of the Board and undertake olher activities on behalf
of the Company. The henefils figure above includes those amounts where such expenditure has been reimbursed in attending the Group's head office location in London.

2 Renata Ribeiro joined the Board during 2021/22. Her fees in relation to 2022 reflect this part-year tenure.

The non-executive directors did not receive any remuneration from the Company in addition to the fees detailed above.

Scheme interests awarded between 1 May 2021 and 30 April 2022 (audited information)

Performance Share Plan

The nil-cost awards made on 6 July 2021 are subject to the rules of the PSP and the achievement of stretching performance
conditions, which are set out on page 108, over a three-year period to 30 April 2024. The awards are summarised below:

Facevalue Tace value of % of award vesting

of award’ aviard as % for target

Number 000 of base salary performance

Brendan Horgan 34,435 $2,575 250% 32.5%
Michael Pratt 20,679 £1.120 200% 32.5%

Note
1 PSP awards were altocaled on 6 July 2021 using the closing mid-market share price [5.416p) of Ashtead Group plc on that day and for Brendan Horgan, the closing USD/

GBP exchange rate ($1.3807).

Strategic Plan Award .
The nil-cost awards made on 17 Seplember 2021 are subjecl to the rules of the LTIP and the achievement of stretching performance
conditions, which are set out on page 109, over a three-year period to 30 Aprit 2024. The awards are summarised below:

Facevalue Face value of % of award vesting

of award* award as % . forthreshold

Number 000 of base salary performance

Brendan Horgan 44,901 $3.605 350% 25%
Michael Pratl ) 24,032 £1,400 250% 25%

Note
1 Following the approval of the LTIP plan at the 2021 AGM, Strategic Plan Awards were allocated on 17 September 2021 using the five-day average closing mid-market
share price to 15 September 2021 (5.826p) of Ashtead Group plc and. for Brendan Horgan, the closing USD/GBP exchange rate on 16 September 2021 ($1.3782).

Payments to past directors (audited information)

Geoff Drabble stepped down from the Board on 1 May 2019 and his employment ended on 30 November 2019. As a good leaver, Geoff's
outstanding PSP awards were pro-rated to 30 November 2019 ih accordance with the PSP rules, subject to normal vesting conditions,
delails of which are provided in the PSP awards table on page 111. As such, Geoff's maximum number of awards capable of vesling in
relation to the 2018 award was 33,716. The 2018 award vested al 94.7% on 6 July 2021.

The tolal amount paid lo past directors in the year as a resull of the vesting of this award was £1,766,092 {2021: £2.985,529), including
the value of dividend equivalent payments,

In June 2022 the Employee Share Ownership Trust will release 42,097 shares lo Geolf Drabble and 5,204 shares to Sat Dhaiwal.
These shares were granted under the 2017 PSP award and vested in June 2020 and were required to he held by the former directors
for two years from their vesting date.

No payments were made in the current year to past directors of the Company other than the payment to Geoff Drabble as
detailed above.
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Payments for loss of office (audited information)
During the year there have been no payments made to directors for loss of office.

Statement of executive directors’ shareholdings and share interests (audited information)

The executive directors are subject to a minimum shareholding obligation. Under the current Remuneration policy, the chief executive
is expected to hold shares at least equal to 500% of base salary and the remaining executive directors are expected to hold shares at
least equal to 300% of base salary. As shown below, the executive directors comply with these shareholding requirements.

Shares held Outslanding unvested lotalof all share

Shares held ouliight at plan mterests interests and

outright at 30 April 2022 subjectto outslanding

30 Aprit asa%of performance planinterests

2022° salary’ measures? at 30 April 2022

Brendan Horgan 440,000 2,683% 210,847 650,847
Michael Pratt 298,691 2,669% 101,166 399.857

There have been no changes in the outstanding share interests of executive directors as of the date of this report.

Notes
1 Interestsin shares hald at 30 April 2027 inctude shares held by connecied persons.

2 Incalculating shareholding as a percentage of salary, the average share price for the three months ended 30 April 2022, the slerling/daltar exchange rate al 30 April 2022,

and the directors’ salaries at 1 May 7027, have been used.
3 Altoutstanding plan interests take the form of rights to receive shares.

Performance Share Plan awards
Awards made under the PSP, and those which remain outstanding at 30 April 2022, are shown in the table below:

Exercised | apsed Granted
Date of Held at during the during the during the Held at
grant 30 Aprit 2021 year yaar year  30Aprit 2022
Brendan Horgan 06.07.18 66,801 163,261} (3.540) - -
04.07.19 70,600 - - - 70,600
19.06.20 60911 - - - 60,911
06.07.21 - - - 34,435 34,435
Michael Pralt 06.07.18 29933 (28,347) (1,586) - -
04.07.19 30,550 - - - 30,550
19.06.20 25,905 - - - 25,905
06.07.21 - - - 20,679 20,679
Former directors:
Geoff Drabble 06.07.18 33,716 (31,929 (1,787) - -

The performance conditions attaching to the PSP awards are detailed on page 108. It is a condition of the PSP awards that directors at
the time of the award are required to hold any vested shares for a further two-year period following the vesting date. The market price
of the awards granted during the year was 5,416p on the date of grant.

Strategic Plan Award
Awards made under the LTIP with respect o the Strategic Plan Award, and those which remain outstanding at 30 April 2022, are
shown in the table below:

Granted
Date of Held at during the lleld at
granl 30 April 2021 year  30April 2022
Brendan Horgan 17.09.21 - 44,901 44901
Michael Pratt 17.09.21 - 24,032 24,032

The performance conditions attaching to the Strategic Plan Award are delailed on page 109. It is a condition of the LTIP awards that
directors at the time of the award are required to hold any vested shares for a further two-year period foliowing the vesting date.
The five-day average market price used to grant the awards during the year was 5,826p.

Ashtead Group ptec Annual Report & Accounts 2022 m

1¥0d3Y.5401234I1Q I



REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Statement of non-executive directors’ shareholding {audited information)
As at 30 April 2022, the non-executive direclors’ interests in ordinary shares of the Company were:

Number
Paul Walker 14,000
Angus Cockburn 1,000
JillEasterbrook -
Tanya Fratto 1,000
Renata Ribeiro 140
Lucinda Riches 5,000
Lindsley Ruth 2,250

The market price of the Company’s shares at the end of the financial year was 4,179p and the highest and lowest closing prices during
the financial year were 6,450p and 4,168p respectively.

There have been no changes in the outstanding share interests of non-executive directors as of the date of this report.

Performance graph and table

Over the last 10 years the Company has generated an 18-fold total shareholder return TSR] which is shown below. The FTSE 100is
the Stock Exchange index the Committee considers to be the most appropriate to the size and scale of the Company’s operations over
that period.

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN

3.000

2,500

2.000

1,500

1,000

500

Aprit April April April April April Aprit April April April April
12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22
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During the same period, the lotal remuneration received by lhe Group chief executive has reflected the strong performance of the
business:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2007 2016 2015 2014 2013
$'000 £°000
Total remuneration 7,591| 7085 4,281 6,084 5144 5461 3321 4165 7272 6,510
Adjusted profit before tax -1,824¢ 1,316 1343 110 927 793 645 490 362 245
Proportion of maximum annual bonus ) '
potential awarded 100%4 100% nil% 100% 100%  100% 98% 100% 100% 100%
Proportion of PSP vesting 98.7%} 94.7% 100% 100% 100% 100% 97.5% 100% 100% 100%

In 2020, Brendan Horgan was appointed as Group chief executive. The figures for 2013 to 2019 are for the then chief executive, Geoff
Drabble. Amounts have been presented in the currency in which the chief executive's pay was denominated.

Percentage change in remuneration of all directors

The table below summarises the percentage change in the annualised remuneration of the Board and the employees of the Group.
This information will build up to display a five-year history. For Michael Pratt and the non-execulive directors, the percentage change
in remuneration is calculated in sterling so as to remove the impact of exchange rate movements.

Brendan Horgan and Michael Pralt both participate in the Deferred Bonus Plan and their annual bonus reflects payments under this
plan. Details are provided on page 107.

’ % change in salaryor fees % change in benefits #.change in annual bonus
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Executive directors
Brendan Horgan -% - % -4% 1% 29% 70%
Michael Pralt 18% - % -48% -% 48% 64%
Non-executive directors
Angus Cockburn 1% -%{  Note4 ~ % n/a n/a
Jill Easterbrook! 1% - % Note 4 -% n/a n/a
Tanya Fralto ) 11% - Y% ~% -100% n/a n/a
Renata Ribeiro? n/a n/a ~ nfa n/a n/a n/a
Lucinda Riches 1% -% -% - % n/a n/a
Lindsley Ruth 1% -% -% -% n/a n/a
Paul Watker - 10% - % Note &' -100% | . n/a - n/a
Employees of the Group? 5% 2% -% I - % 26% 45%
Notes

1 Amounts retating to 2020/21 have been annualised to reflect that Jill Easterbs ook joined the Board during 2019/20.

2 RenalaRibeiro joined the Board in January 2022 and therefore disclosure is not applicable.

3 Asrequired under The Companies [Directors Remuneration Policy and Directors’ Remuneration Report) Regulations 2019, the legislalive requirement is to provide 3
comparison to employees of the parent company. The Group’s employees are primarily employed through the Group’'s man trading compantes and as such the analysis
above has been prepared on a group-wide basis as this is a more closely aligned comparative group considering the global nature of the Group’s business. For the
employees of the par ent company, the percentage change in sataryis 10% [2021: %], the percentage change in benefits is nil% {2021: nil%) and the percenlage change
in annual bonus is 21% (2021: 41%).

4 Travel, accommodation and subsistence expenditut e is met by Lhe Company for Board members to attend meelings of the Boar d and undertake other activitics on
behalf of the Company. Amounts for non-executive directors within the benehts figure includes those amounts where such expenditure has been reimbursed in relation
to amounts incurred in attending the Group's head office location in London, details of which are provided in the single total figure of remunet ation table for non-executive
directors on page 110. Due to COVID-19 travel 1estrictions in the priot year, there were no comparative figures and therefore a percentage change in benefits cannot
be delermined.

Relative importance of spend on pay
The following table shows the year-on-year change in returns to shareholders and aggregate staft costs (see Note 4 of the
financial statements).

2021/22 2020/21 Cliange

$m $m %

Aggregate stafi costs ) 1,830 1,502 22%
Returns lo shareholders 768 259 197%

Returns to shareholders include dividends and, in the current year, share buybacks of $414m. The share buyback programme was
paused during 2020/21 due lo the COVID-19 pandemic bul was recommenced in 2021/22. The Group declared a dividend of 80.0 cents
per share (2021: 58.0 cents per share).
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Chief executive pay compared to pay of Group employees

Ashtead is a decentralised, store-based business employing ¢. 22,000 people including drivers, mechanics, yard operatives and sales
personnel. We apply the same reward principles across the business. Our overall remuneration packages have lo be competitive when
compared with similar roles in other organisations against which we compete for talent. Thus, not only do we compete against other
rental companies but also, for example, distribution businesses for drivers and mechanics. Accordingly, we consider both rental and
other similar businesses when referencing our remuneration levels. For our chief executive, we are referencing a small group of chief
executives of major organisations with the skill set to manage a fast-growing, multi-location and international business.

Given this business profile, all the pay ratio reference points compare our chief executive's remuneration with that of store-based
employees. Year-to-year movements in the pay ratio will be driven largely by changes in our chief executive's variable pay. These
movements will outweigh significantly any other changes in pay across the Group. Whatever the chief executive pay ratio, the Group is
committed to continuing to invest in leading remuneration packages for all our employees.

The total pay and benefits of group-wide employees at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile, and the ratios between the chief executive
and these employees using the chief executive’s single total remuneration figure for 2021/22 of $7,591,000 are as follows:

GROUP-WIDE EMPLOYEES'

25th percentile pay ratio 50th percentile pay ralio 75th percentile pay ratio
lotal pay lolal pay lotal pay
Year Melthod and benefils Ralio  and benehils Ralioc  and benelits Ralio
2021/22 8 $63,588 1191 $71,210 107:1 $91.994 83:1
2020/21 B $37,338 162:1 $80.427 754 $92.354 65:1
2019/20 B $43,661 86:1 $59.362 63:1 $109,167 34:1
UK EMPLOYEES
25th percentile pay ratio 50th percentile pay ratio 75th percentile pay ratio
Total pay Total pay Total pay
Year Method and benefits Ratio  and benefils Ratio  and benefits Ratio
2021/22 B £24,819 225 £31.114 179:1 £35,885 156:1
2020/21 B £21,143 217:1 £24,763 185:1 £28,297 162:1
2019/20 B £20,566 14421 £23.199 1271 £32,041 92:1
Notes

1 Given the nature of the Group’s business, wilh c. 80% of employees based outside ol the UK, the Group has additionally prepared the analysis on a group-wide basis.

2 Thetelevant employees at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile were identified using existing gender pay data [oplion B prepared using the latest available data in each year.
Due to the nature of the roles undertaken by the identified employees, and based on a raview of their pay and benefits, the Company believes thal the individuals identitied
in each year are representative of the 25th, 50th and 75Lh percentile employees.

3 Incalculating the total pay and benehts for the employees at the 25th, 50th and 75th parcentile, adjustments were made to working hours lo reflect a full Lime equivalent
employee.

4 Theielevant salary components of lotal pay and henefits for group-wide employees at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile are $40,423, $47.519 and $59,123 respectively.
The relevant satary components of total pay and benelits for UK employees at the 25th, 50th and 75th parcentile are £23,819, £30,144 and £ 34,885 respectively,

The Group chief executive's remuneration has a significant weighting towards variable pay to align his remuneration with Company
performance and as such, his total single figure will vary considerably from year to year depending on the performance of the Group.
Consequently, the increase in the CEO pay ratios between 2020/21 and 2021/22 is primarily a result of the increase in the chief
executive's variable remuneration due to the increase in the Group’s share price impacting the value of PSPs vesting and due to the
fact he received no bonus in relation to the prior year [other than the brought forward amount under the DBP in relation to previous
years) whereas in the current year, the chief executive has received a full bonus payment.

Further details as to how we seek to reward our employees are provided on page 60.

External appointments .
The Company recognises that executive directors may be invited to become non-executive directors of other companies and that these
appointments can broaden their knowledge and experience to the benefit of the Company. Subject to Board approval, executive
directors may take up external appointments and the Group policy is for the individual director to retain any fee.

During the year under review, neither executive director held an external Board appointment.
Remuneration for the year commencing 1 May 2022

Basic salary
Salary with effect from 1 May 2022:

Brendan Horgan $1,081,500
Michael Pratt £588,000
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Benefits
Benefits will continue to be applied as per the policy and application in previous years.

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits will be applied in accordance with the policy.

Deferred Bonus Plan

Brendan Horgan and Michael Pratt participate in the DBP. The maximum annual bonus opportunilies as a percentage of salary are
unchanged at 200% for Brendan Horgan and 150% for Michael Pralt. The performance measures are adjusted Group profil before lax
and free cash flow. The specific targets set are deemed to be commercially sensitive but full disclosure will be provided on a
retrospective basis at the year-end.

Long-Term Incentive Plan
A 2022 LTIP award will be made as follows:

Value of Basis of

2022 awaird awatd

‘000 % of salary

Brendan Horgan $3.785 350%
Michael Pratt £1,323 225%

These awards are based on the directors’ salaries as at 1 May 2022. Performance targets remain unchanged from the prior year.

Non-executive fees
Following increases made on 1 January 2022, annual fees for the chair and non-executive directors will remain unchanged as at

1 May 2022 as follows:

Paut Walker £4£50,000
Angus Cockburn £120,000
Jilt Easterbrook £80,000
Tanya Fratto £80,000
Renata Ribeiro £80,000
t.ucinda Riches £100,000
Lindsley Ruth £80,000

For non-executive directors, fees comprise a base fee of £80,000, with a supplemental fee of £20,000 for each committee chair and a
supplemental fee of £20,000 for the senior independent director.

Consideration by the directors of matters relating to directors’ remuneration
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee {'the Committee’) in accordance with the recommendations of the UK
Corporate Governance Code.

None of the Committee members has any personal financial interests, other than as shareholders, in the matters to be decided. None
of the members of the Committee is or has been at any time one of the Company’s executive directors or an employee. None of the
executive directors serves, or has served, as a member of the board of directors of any other company which has one or more of its
executive directors serving on the Company’s Board or Remuneration Committee.

The Group’s chief execulive normally attends the meetings of the Committee to advise on operalional aspects of the implementation of
existing policies and policy proposals, except where his own remuneration is concerned, as does the non-executive chair, Paul Walker.
Eric Watkins acts as secretary to the Committee. Under Lucinda Riches’ direction, the company secretary and Group chief executive
have responsibility for ensuring the Commitlee has the information relevant to its deliberations.

Informulating its policies, the Commiltee has access to professional advice from outside the Company, as required, and to publicly
avaitable reports and statistics. Following a competitive tender process in 2019/20, the Committee appointed Mercer Limited
‘Mercer’] to provide independent remuneration advice. Following the departure of its remuneration advisers from Mercer to Ellason
LLP {Ellason’], the Committee appointed Ellason as its independent remuneration advisers with effect from 1 January 2021. Ellason is
a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to its code in relation to executive remuneration in the UK. The fees
paid to Ellason for professional advice on remuneration during the year totalled £29,949 and were charged on a time incurred basis.
Ellason does not provide any other services to the Company and the Committee is satisfied that Ellason is independent of both the
Company and individual directors.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Main responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
The principal duties of the Committee are:

- determining and agreeing with the Board the framework and policy for the remuneration of the execulive directors and senior

employees;

ensuring that executive management is provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced performance in a fair and

responsible manner;

- reviewing and determining the total remuneration packages for each executive director including bonuses and incentive plans;

- determining the policy for the scope of pension arrangements, service agreements, termination payments and compensation
commitments for each of the executive directors; and

- ensuring compliance with all statutory and regulatory provisions

Summary of the Committee’s work during the year
The principal matters addressed during the year were:

- determining and agreeing with the Board the framework and policy for the remuneration of the executive directors and senior
employees;

- assessment of the achievement of the executive directors against their Deferred Bonus Plan objectives;

- setting Deferred Bonus Plan performance targets for the year;

- assessment of performance for Lhe vestling of the 2018 PSP awards;

- seeking shareholder approval at the 2021 AGM for the Direclors’ remuneration policy;

- granting 2021 PSP and Strategic Plan Awards and setling lthe performance targets attaching thereto;

- reviewing execulive base salaries; and

- approving the Directors’ remuneration report for the year ended 30 April 2021,

Shareholder voting
An ordinary resolution concerning the Directors’ remuneration report will be pul to shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

Ashtead is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue and considers carefully voting oulcomes. The Commitlee gained a full
understanding of the views of sharehotders and the main shareholder representative hodies through an extensive consultation
process around the 2021 Remuneration policy. The feedback on the policy has been and will continue to be taken into account in the
implementation of the policy as detailed on page 97.

The following table sets out the voting results in respect of previous remuneration resolutions:

tor Aganst
2020/21 Directors’ Annual Report on remuneration’ 646% 36%
2020/21 Directors remuneration policy? 61% 39%

1 2,686,595 votes were withheld (c. 1% of share capital) oul of 1olal voles cast of 335,896,825 in relation to the 2020/21 Directors’ remuneralion report al the 2021 AGM.
2 34,868,385 votes wei e withheld [c. 10% ol share capital} out of total votes cast of 303,715,038 in relation 1o the 2020/21 director s” Remuneration policy at the 2021 AGM.

This report has been approved by the Remuneration Commitlee and is signed on its behalf by:

Lot
Lo

LUCINDA RICHES
Chair of the Remuneration Commitlee
13 June 2022
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OTHER STATUTORY DISCLOSURES

Pages 80 to 120 inclusive {logether with the sections of the
Annual Reportincorporated by reference) form part of the
Directors’ report.

Other information, which forms part of the Directors report, can
be found in the following sections of the Annual Report:

Location
Financial stalements - Note 27
Pages 91t0 95

Acquisitions
Audit Committee report

Board and commiltee membership Pages 82 and 83
Corporale governance report Pages 84 to 90
Direclors’ biographies Pages 82 and 83
Directors’ responsibility statement Page 120

Financial statements - Note 30
Financial statements - Note 25

Events after the balance sheet date

Financial risk management

Fulure developments Page 51
Greenhouse gas emissions Pages 65 and 66
Nomination Commitiee report Page 96
Other slatutory disclosures Pages 117 to 119
Our people Pages 5610 63
Pension schemes Financial statements - Note 24
Results and dividends Pages 4510 51
Share capilal Financial statements - Nole 22
Social responsibility Pages 68to 71

SHARE CAPITAL AND MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
Details of the Company’s share capital are given in Note 22 to the
financial statements.

Acquisition of own shares

At the 2021 Annual General Meeting [AGM’), the Company was
authorised to make market purchases of up to ¢. 67m ordinary
shares. The Company acquired 5.7m [1.25% of total issued share
capitall shares under this authorily during the year. This authority
will expire on the earlier of the next AGM of the Company or

16 December 2022.

A special resolution will be proposed at this year's AGM to
authorise the Company to make market purchases of up to 66m
ordinary shares.

Voting rights

Subject to the Articles of Association, every member who is
present in person at a general meeting shall have one vote and
on a poll every member who is present in person or by proxy
shall have one vote for every share of which he or she is the
holder. The Trustees of the Employee Share Ownership Trust
ordinarily follow the guidelines issued by the Association of
British Insurers and do not exercise their right to vote at
general meetings.

Under the Companies Act 2006, members are entilled to appoint
a proxy, who need not be a member of the Company, to exercise
allor any of their rights to attend and speak and vote on their
behalf at a general meeting or any class of meeting. A member
may appoint more than one proxy provided that each proxy is
appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or
shares held by that member. A corporate member may appoint
one or more individuals to act on its behalf at a general meeting
or any class of meeting as a corporate representative. The
deadline for the exercise of voting rights is as stated in the notice
of the relevant meeting.

Transfer of shares

Certified shares

li] Transfers may be in favour of more than four joint holders,
but the directors can refuse to register such a transfer.

(i) The share transfer form must be delivered to the registered
office, or any other place decided on by the directors. The
transfer form must be accompanied by the share certificate
relating to the shares being transferred, unless the transfer
is being made by a person to whom the Company was not
required to, and did not send, a certificate. The directors can
also ask [acting reasonably) for any other evidence lo show
that the person wishing to transfer the shares is enlitled to
do so.

CREST shares

lil Registration of CREST shares can be refused in the
circumstances sel out in the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations.

lii} Transfers cannol be in favour of more than four joint holders..

Significant shareholders

Based on notificalions received, the holdings of 3% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 10 June 2022 [the latest
practicable date before approval of the financial statements) are
as follows:

%

BlackRock, Inc. 5%

Details of directors’ interests in the Company’s ordinary share
capital and in options over that share capital are given in the
Directors’ remuneration report on pages 97 to 116. Details of all
shares subject to option are given in the notes to the financiat
statements on page 152.
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OTHER STATUTORY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

CHANGE OF CONTROL PROVISIONS IN LOAN AGREEMENTS
A change in control of the Company (defined, inter alia, as a
person or a group of persons acting in concert gaining control of
more than 30% of the Company’s voting rights] leads to an
immediate event of default under the Company’s asset-based
senior lending facility. In such circumstances, the agent for the
lending group may, and if so directed by more than 50% of the
lenders shall, declare the amounts outstanding under the facility
immediately due and payable.

Such a change of control also leads to an obligation, within 30
days of the change in control, for the Group to make an offer to
the holders of the Group's $550m senior secured notes, due
2026, $600m senior secured notes, due 2027, $600m senior

secured notes, due 2028, $600m senior secured notes, due 2029

and $750m senior secured notes, due 2031, to redeem them at
101% of their face value.

APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Unless determined otherwise by ordinary resolution, the
Company is required to have a minimum of two directors and a
maximum of 15 directors (disregarding alternate directors).

The directors are not required lo hold any shares in the Company
by the Arlicles of Association.

The Board can appoint any person lo be a director. Any person
appointed as a director by the Board must retire from office at the
first AGM atter appointment. A director who retires in this way is
then eligibte for re-appointment.

The Articles state that each director must retire from office if he
held office at the time of the two preceding AGMs and did not
retire at either of them. In accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code, all directors are subject to annual etection by
the shareholders.

In addition to any power to remove directors conferred by
legislation, the Company can pass a special resolution to remove
a director from office even though his time in office has not ended
and can appoint a person to replace a director who has been
removed in this way by passing an ordinary resolution.

Any director stops being a director if (i) he gives the Company
written notice of his resignation; {ii) he gives the Company written
notice in which he offers to resign and the directors decide to
accept this offer; [iii] all the other directors [who must comprise
at least three people] pass a resolution or sign a written notice
requiring the director to resign; [iv) a registered medicat
practitioner who is treating that person gives a written opinion to
the Company stating that person has become physically or
mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so for
more than three months; [v] by reason of that person’s mental
health, a court makes an order which wholly or partly prevents
that person from personally exercising any powers or rights
which that person would otherwise have; (vi} he has missed
direclors’ meetings [whether or nol an alternate director
appointed by him atlends those meetings) for a conlinuous period
of six months without permission from the directors and the
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directors pass a resolution removing the director from office; {vii)
a bankruptcy order is made against him or he makes any
arrangement or composition with his creditors generally; (viiil he
is prohibited from being a director under the legislation; or [ix) he
ceases to be a director under the legislation or he is removed
from office under the Articles of Association.

POWERS OF THE DIRECTORS

Subject to the legislation, the Articles of Association and any
authority given to the Company in a general meeting by special
resolution, the business of the Company is managed by the Board
of directors that can use all of the Company’s powers to borrow
money and to mortgage or charge all or any of the Company’s
undertaking, property and assets [present and future) and
uncalled capital of the Company and to issue debentures and
other security and to give security, either outright or as collateral
security, for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of
any third party.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

Details of the directors of the Company are given on pages 82 and
83. The policies related to their appointment and replacement are
detailed on pages 88, 96 and 118. Each of the directors as at the
date of approval of this report confirms, as required by section
418 of the Companies Act 2006 that to the besl of their knowledge
and belief:

(1] there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s
audilor is unaware; and

[2) each director has laken all the steps thal he ought to have
taken to make himself aware of such information and to
establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of it.

The Company has maintained insurance throughout the year to
cover all directors against liabilities in relation to the Company
and its subsidiary undertakings.

AMENDMENT OF ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
The Articles of Association of the Company may be amended by a
special resolution.



POLICY ON PAYMENT OF SUPPLIERS

Suppliers are paid in accordance with the individual payment
lerms agreed with each of them. The number of Group creditor
days at 30 April 2022 was 43 days (30 April 2021: 40 days} which
reflects the terms agreed with individual suppliers. There were
no trade creditors in the Company’s balance sheet at any time
during the past two years.

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations in the year amounted to $1.686,1401n total
(2021: $1,609,679). No political donations were made in either
year.

DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY LISTING RULE 9.8.4R

The relevant disclosure concerning dividend waiver can be found
on page 152. The remaining disclosures required by Listing Rule
9.8.4R are not applicable to the Company.

GOING CONCERN

After making appropriate enquiries, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable
future and consequently, Lhat it is appropriate lo adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

AUDITOR

Deloitle LLP has indicaled its willingness to continue in office and
in accordance wilh section 489 of the Companies Act 2006, a
resolution concerning its reappointment and authorising the
directors to fix its remuneration, will be proposed at the AGM.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held at 11.30am on Tuesday, 6 September 2022 at
Wax Chandlers Hall, 6 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7AD. An
explanation of the business to be transacted at the AGM will be
circulated to shareholders and will be available on the Company's
corporate website.

APPROVAL OF THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors’ report set out on pages 80 to 120 was approved by
the Board on 13 June 2022 and has been signed by the Company
secretary on its behalf.

74

ERIC WATKINS
Company secretary
13 June 2022
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and requlations. Company law requires the directors lo prepare
financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have prepared the Group and Company financial
statements in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

Under company law the directors must not approve the accounts
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the

Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements,

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

- properly select and apply accounting policies;

- present information, including accounting policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparabte and
understandable information;

- provide additional disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to

understand the impact of particular transactions, other events

and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance; and

- make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets and
hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporale and financial information included on the
Company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
We confirm to the best of our knowledge:

- the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance
with IFRS in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group;

- the Strategic reportincludes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the
Group, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces; and

- the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole,
are fair, balanced and understandable and provide information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position,
performance, business model and stralegy.

By order of the Board

774

ERIC WATKINS
Company secretary
13 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF ASHTEAD GROUP PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Opinion
In our opinion:

- thefinancial statements of Ashtead Group plc {the ‘Company’] and its subsidiaries [the ‘Group’} give a true and fair view of the state
of the Group’s and of the Company'’s affairs as at 30 April 2022 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended:;

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting
standards;

- the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2004; and

- the financial stalements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audiled the financial statements which comprise:

- the Consolidated income stalement;

- the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the Consolidated and Company balance sheets;

- the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity;
- the Consolidated and Company cash flow statements; and

- the related Notes 1 to 33, including the accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards and, as regards the Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing [UK) (1SAs (UK)} and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, inctuding the Financial Reporting Council's [the 'FRC’s’] Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services
provided to the Group and Company for the year are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not
provided any non-audit services prohibited by Lhe FRC’s Ethicat Standard to the Group or the Company.

We believe that Lhe audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3.  Summary of our audit approach

Key audit The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

matters - carrying value of rental fleet;

- revenue recognition - manual top-side intervention.

We consider the level of risks for all identified key audit malters to be similar to lhe previous year.

Materiality The maleriality that we used for the Group financial slatemenls was $65.7m, which was delermined on lhe basis of Lhe
three-year average [FY20, FY21, FY22] profit before tax.

Scoping Consistent with previous years, we performed audit work al three [2021: three) components: Group head office, Sunbelt UK,
and Sunbell US. We also performed review procedures over the financiat information of the fourth component, Sunbett
Canada, consistenl with the previous year.

Significant There were no significant changes in our audit approach in the current year.
changesinour
approach

4, Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded thal the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the direclors’ assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to conlinue lo adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

- oblaining an understanding of the relevanl conlrols relating to the Group's forecasting process;

- evalualing the mechanical accuracy of the model used to prepare lhe Group's forecast;

- assessing the Group’s facilily agreements and bond documentation to undersland the principat terms and the related financial
covenant; and
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- challenging management on the appropriateness of forecast assumptions by:

* assessing key assumptions underpinning the Group's forecasts with reference to external data such as GDP growth rates and market

forecast data from third party sources;

considering the impact of the economic environment and the political landscape, including supply chain constraints, on end markets;

* assessing the likelihood of the assumptions in the forecasts and the impact of reasonably possible downside scenarios on the
Group's funding position;

 assessing the extent of the downside required in order to trigger the fixed charge ratio covenant;

» comparing forecasts to historical financial information to assess managemenl’s historical forecasting accuracy; and

¢ assessing capital commitments made by the Group as well as the mitigating aclions available to the Group, the leasibility of
these, and the likelihood of positive impact in the next 12 months, if these aclions are taken.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period
of at least 12 months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or draw
attention to in relation to the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the atlocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1 Carrying value of rental fleet

Key audit As set out in Note 13, the Group holds $13.5bn {2021: $11.9bn] of rental fleet al cosl [$7.8bn net book value [2021: $6.9bn net
matter book valuel). These assets represent 51% (2021: 54%) of the Group’s gross assets. The movement in the balance from prior
description yearis due toa $2.5bn increase in the balance from additions and acquisitions, offset in part by disposals and depreciation of

$1.5bn and foreign exchange movements of $0.1bn. The increase can largely be attribuled lo the level of the Group's capital
expenditure and the acquisitions occurring during the period.

There s a risk that an impairment required to the Group's rental fleet under 1AS 36 Impairment of Assets ts not identified,
properly quantified or recorded and that the carrying value of the rental fleet assets is therefore misstated.

The Group's accounting policy as disclosed in Note 2 sets out thal the assets are recorded at cost linctuding transportation
cosls [rom Lhe manufacturer o lhe inilial renlal localion}, less accumulaled deprecialion and any provisions for impairmenl.
The Group's approach for eslimaling the useful lives and residual values is also explained.

As described in the Audit Committee report on page 93, management undertakes an annual review of the appropriateness
of the useful lives and residual values assigned to property, plant and equipment, inctuding the rental fleet, and assesses
whether they continue to be appropriate and whether there are any indicators of impairment.

Management's assessment of carrying values is based on a long-term assessment, as at the balance sheet dale. over the
economic cycle given the nature of the assets.

Howthe scope Inresponding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following audit procedures:
of our audit
responded to
the key audit
matter

- obtained an understanding and tested conltrols over the impairment review, and in particular, the identification of
impairmenl indicators;

- obtained and evalualed the assessment performed by management to identify impairment indicators, including
the consistency of these with the requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets;

- challenged the key judgements underpinning the assessment and the impact that each of these has in
determining whether an impairment exists, including consideration of contradictory evidence. In particular, we
focused our testing on returns on investment by asset class, considerations of specific markets, fleet utilisation,
useful lives and profits recorded on asset disposals;

- considered and challenged the impact of the economic environment and the political landscape, including supply
chain constraints, on second-hand markets and end markets, through corroboration to external data; and

- assessed whether the accounting for the rental fleet and associated disclosures were in line with the Group's
accounting policies and IAS 36.

Key We consider Lhal management’s consideralion of carrying values. inctuding useful lives and residual values, is appropriate
observations  for the purposes of the impairment assessment. As a result of the audit work performed, we are sauisfied that the carrying
value of the rental fleet is appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASHTEAD GROUP PLC CONTINUED

5.2 Revenue recognition - manual top-side intervention

Key audit As disclosed in the Group’s accounting policy note [Note 2}, the Group has three main sources of revenue:
matter

description - rental revenue of $7,235m [2021: $5,902m), including loss damage waiver, environmental fees and revenue from

rental equipment delivery and cotlection;
- revenue from the sale of new equipment, merchandise and consumables of $387m (2021: $348m]; and
- revenue from the sale of used rental equipment of $340m (2021: $389m|.

We idenlilied a risk of misslatement arising [rom managemenl inlervenlion, whether due to fraud or error, through lop-side
manual journals to revenue. Through our risk assessment procedures performed, in the current period, no manual journals
were identified in the UK that indicated that inappropriale manual top-side intervention had occurred and therefore the
Sunbelt US component, which represents 81% of Lthe Group's revenue was the focus area of our testing.

How the scope  inresponding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following audit procedures:

of our audit - oblained an underslanding and lested the relevant controts over the revenue cycle throughout the Group, with a

:ﬁ:ii;izz:: particular focus on those controls relating to manual journal entries, including the classification of journals as
matter manual;

- at Sunbelt US, performed a detailed assessment by depot, analysing revenue trends to identify any outliers and
instances of potential management intervention with consideration of revenue recognised by store compared to
the level of fleet on hand: and

- used data analytics to identify a sub-population from manual top-side adjustments impacting the revenue
balance exhibiting characteristics of audit interest. We then performed testing on a sample basis of entries from
this sub-population, agreeing adjustments to supporting documentation in order to assess the accuracy and
appropriateness of the journal postings.

Key As a result of the procedures performed, we are satislied that revenue recorded is appropriate.
observations

6. Our application of materiality

6.1 Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstalement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit
work and in evaluating the resulls of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Materiality $65.7m [2021: $65.4m, retranslated from £48.1m, as a £24.8m [2021: £24.1m)}
result of the change in presentationat currency as disctosed
in Note 2 to the financial slatements).

Basis for In determmning our materiality, we took a three-year average 3% of the Company’'s net assels capped at 50% of Group
determining profit hefore tax and applied a benchmark of 4.7%to arrive  maleriality. This approach is consistenl wilh Lhe approach
materiality at materiality. This approach is consistent with the approach adopled in the prior year.

adopled in the prior year.

Rationale for Profit before tax has been used as it is the primary measure As the Company is a holding company, we consider net assets
the benchmark of performance used by the Group. We have used average lo be the most appropriate benchmark due to the entity being

applied reported profil before tax over the past three years loreflect the shareholder of multiple trading entities. We have applied a
the cyclical nature of the industry in which the Group cap ol 50% ol the Group materialily lo the benchmark.
operales.

6.2 Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiatity to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Performance  70%[2021: 70%) of Group materiality 70% (2021: 70%) of Company materiality
materiality o o B .
Basis and In determining performance materiality, we considered the following factors:
rationale for
determining - our cumulative knowledge of the Group, including the nature, quantum and volume of corrected and
performance uncorrected misstatemenls in prior periods; and
materiality - our risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment and that we consider

it appropriate to rely on controls over a number of business processes in Sunbelt US and Sunbelt UK.
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6.3 Errorreporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of $3.3m (2021: $3.2m,
retranslated from £2.4m], as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We
also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

7. Anoverview of the scope of our audit

7.1 ldentification and scoping of components

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including group-wide controls, and
assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level. Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement consisted
of a combination of work performed by separate component teams in the UK and US as well as the Group audit team in the UK.

The Group comprises four [2021: four] principal components: the Head Office in the UK; Sunbelt UK; Sunbelt US; and Sunbelt Canada.
The Group audit team performed a full-scope audit of the Head Office component; local component audit teams performed full-scope
audits for both Sunbelt UK and Sunbelt US and review procedures over the financial information for Sunbelt Canada, consistent with
the prior year approach.

The three components for which we performed full audit procedures represent 94% {2021: 94%) of the Group's revenue, 95% (2021:
96%] of the Group’s operating profit, and 91% (2021: 91%) of the Group's net assels. They were also selected to provide an appropriate
basis for undertaking audil work to address the risks of material misstatements identified above. Our audil work at the three locations
was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual location, which were lower than Group materiality and ranged from
$23.0mto $41.4m.

The Sunbelt US component team also performed a review of the financial information of the operations in Sunbelt Canada to
component materiality, which represents 6% [2021: 6%] of the Group's revenue, 5% (2021: 4%)] of the Group’s operating profit and 9%
(2021: 8%] of the Group's net assets.

7.2 Our consideration of the control environment
In line with our scoping of companents [refer to section 7.1), our work in relation lo the Group’'s control environment focused on Sunbell
US as the Group's largest component and we evaluated both the business cycle controls and general IT controts [GITCs').

In order to evaluate business cycle controls, we performed walkthrough procedures over key cycles in Sunbelt US and Sunbelt UK,
including the key risk areas of revenue and property, plant and equipment (rental fleet], to undersland whether the control was
effectively designed to address the related risk. We then performed testing of the controls across the audit period on a rotational
basis, to determine whether the controls had operated effectively as designed.

In relation to GITCs, for both the Sunbelt US and UK components, we performed an independent risk assessment of the systems,
applications and tools used to support business processes and reporting to determine those which are of greatest relevance to the
Group's financial reporting. We performed testing of GITCs of these systems, covering controls surrounding user access
management, change management and interfaces with other systems relating to in-scope IT systems as well as controls over key
reports generated from the IT systems and their supporting infrastructure [database and operating system|.

Our procedures enabled us, as planned, to place reliance on business cycle controls and GITCs within Sunbelt US and Sunbelt UK. In
the US, we relied on these controls in our audit testing across expenditure (including payroll], property, plant, and equipment [rental
fteet], revenue, treasury, customer rebates and journal entries. In the UK, we relied on these controls in our audit testing of
impairment of fixed assets and revenue.

7.3 Our consideration of climate-related risks

Through the Group’s risk management process it has assessed relevant climate-related risks for the enlity. The risks identified were
primarily related to the Group's environmenlal principal risk, being management’s commitment to reduce the Group’'s carbon
intensity. The risks are disclosed within the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures [ TCFD'] statement on pages 73 to 75
of the Annual Report.

We oblained an understanding of management’s process for considering the impact of climate-related risks. We evaluated these risks
to assess whether they were complete and consistent with our understanding of the entity and our wider risk assessment procedures.

Our procedures to address the identified risks included considering their impact on the financial statements overall, including the
application of individual accounting standards. We have read the TCFD recommended disclosures within the Annuat Report to
consider whether they are materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained in the audit.

7.4 Working with other auditors

Throughout the year, members of the Group audit team, including the lead audit partner, held group-wide and individual planning and
close meetings that covered all components. We supervised and directed our component teams, including discussing the audit work
performed. We also reviewed the audit work papers supporting the component teams’ reporting to us remotely using shared desktop
technology where appropriate. We visited our US component during the year-end period to supervise work performed.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASHTEAD GROUP PLC CONTINUED

8. Otherinformation
The other information comprises the infor mation included in the annual report, other than the financiat statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements doec not covor tho ethor information and, oxcept to tho extent etherwice explicitly ctated in our
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowlodgo ebtained in the course of tho audit, or otharwize appesre to be materially misstatad,

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required lo determine whether this gives rise
lo a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
& ratertal misstaternent of this other information, we ore required to report thot foct.

We have nothing to reportin this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities, the direclors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such inlernal control as the direclors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company'’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain rcasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free fram moterial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs [UK) will always detect a material
misstatement whaen it existe. Misstatomente can arico from fraud or arror and are concidored moaterial if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

11.1 Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with
laws and regulations, we considered the following:

- lhe nature of lhe indusliry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the Group’s
remuneration policies, key drivers fur directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

~ results of our enquiries of management, internal legal counsel and the Audit Commiittee about their own identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities;

- any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:
* identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-

compliance;

+ detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
« the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

- the matters discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit teams and relevant internal
specialists, including tax, valuations, pensions and IT specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial
statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

Asoresult of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may existwithin the erganisation fer fraud and
identified the grealest potential for fraud in revenue recognition. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK], we are also required to
perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override of controls.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks with:n which the Group operates in, focusing on provisions
of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The key laws and regulations we constdered in this context included the UK Companies Act, the Listing Rules, pensions
legislation, and UK and overseas tax tegislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but

compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included UK and
North America Health and Safety legislation.
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11.2 Auditresponse to risks identified

As aresull of performing the above, we identified revenue recognition - manual lop-side inlervention as a key audit malter related lo
the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in more detail and also describes the
specific procedures we performed in response to that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

- reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of
relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

- enguiring of management, the Group's performance standards function fwhich is responsible for assessing store compliance with
operating policies], the Audit Committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;

- performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud;

- reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence
with tax authorities; and

- inaddressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, lesting the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounling eslimales are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions thal are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevantidentified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members, including
internal specialists and significant component audit teams, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulations throughout the audit.

12. Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12.1 Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ remuneration report lo be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- theinformation given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared s consistent with the financial statements; and
- the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Company and their environment obtatned in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic report or the Directors’ report.

13. Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Group’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate
Governance Statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit:

- the directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material
uncertainties identified set out on page 119;

- the directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the Group’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is
appropriate set out on page 39;

- thedireclors’ statement on fair, balanced and undersiandable set out on page 94;

- the Board's confirmation that it has carried oul a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks sel out on pages 34 and 35;

- the section of the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set
out on pages 89 and 90; and

- the section describing the work of the Audit Committee set out on pages 91 to 95.

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1 Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us: or

- the Company financ:al statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to reportin respect of these matters.
14.2 Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration have not

‘been made or the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ASHTEAD GROUP PLC CONTINUED

15. Other matters which we are required to address

15.1 Auditor tenure .

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the Board of directors in 2004 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending 30 April 2004 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including
previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is 19 years, covering the years ending 30 April 2004 to 30 April 2022.

15.2 Consistency of the Audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (UK).

16. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a bady for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

As required by the Financial Conducl Authority (FCA] Disctosure Guidance and Transparency Rule (DTR} 4.1.14R, these financial
statements form part of the European Single Electronic Format (ESEF] prepared Annuat Financial Report filed on the National Storage
Mechanism of the UK FCA in accordance with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard [ESEF RTS'). This auditor's report provides no
assurance over whether the annual financial report has been prepared using the single electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS.

A AL ’

WILLIAM SMITH

(Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloilte LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, UK

13 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated income statement

for the year ended 30 April 2022

2022 2021
Before
exceptional Exceptional
items and items and Before
amortisation amortisation Total amortisation Amortisation Total
$m $m $m $m $in $m
Notes {restated?) (restated?) (restated?)
Revenue
Rental revenue - 7,234.7 - 7,234.7 5.901.6 - 5901.6
Sale of new equipment, merchandise E )
and consumables 387.2 - 387.2 3477 - 3477
Sale of used rental equipment 340.4 i - 340.4 3893 - 389.3
7,962.3 - 7,962.3 6,638.6 - 6,638.6
Operating costs T '
Stalf cosls 4 l1.830.5)j ) - (1,830.5) (1,501.5] - [1,501.5)
Other operating costs 4 (2,260.9); - {2,260.9) {1,735.9] - (1,735.9)
Used rental equipment sold 4 (261.5]' - (261.51i [364.4) - {364.4)
(4,352.9) = (4,352.9);  (3,601.8) - (36018
EBITDA! 3,609.4 - *3,609.4 3.036.8 - 3.036.8
Depreciation 4 {1,553.0). - (1,553.0) {1,657.6) - [1,457.6)
Amortisation of intangibles 4,5 - (108.6) (108.6). - 181.2) (81.2)
Operating profit 3.4 2,056.4 {108.6)] 1,947.8 1,579.2 {81.2) 1,498.0
Interestincome 6 0.1 - 0.1 - - -
Interesl expense 5.6 (232.7), (47.1) (279.8) [262.9) - [262.9]
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1,823.8 [155.7) 1,668.1 1.316.3 (81.2) 1.235.1
Taxalion 7,21 ] . (456.3) 39.3 {417.0): (335.0) 20.0 (315.0)
Profit attributable to equity holders ] : '
of the Company 1,367.5 (116.4) 1,251.1 981.3 (61.2) 920.1
Basic earnings per share 307.1¢ (26.2¢), 280.9¢ 219.1¢ (13.7¢) 205.4¢
Diluted earnings per share 8 305.8¢| | 261¢) | . 279.7¢] 218.4¢ (13.6¢) 204.8¢

1 EBITDAIs presented here as an alternative performance rneasure as it is commonly used by investors and lenders. Further details are provided in the Glossary of Terms

on page 169.

2 All comparalive information has been restated for presentation in US dotlars. For more information, see Note 2.

All revenue and profit for the year is generated from continuing operations.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 April 2022

2022 2021
$m $m
Note (reslated)
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the financial year 1,251.1 9201
Items that wilt not be reclassified to profit or loss: .
Remeasurement of the delined benefil pension plan 24 1.4 18.4
Tax on defined benefit pension plan (2.7); (3.7}
8.7 14.7
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profitor loss:
Foreign currency translation differences 92.7): 76.8
Totat other comprehensive income for the year _(84.0) 91.5
Total comprehensive income for the year 11671 1.011.6
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated balance sheet

at30 Aprit 2022
2022 2021 2020
$m $m $m
Notes Irestated) lrestated)
Current assets .
Inventories 10 . 1685 102.2 105.0
Trade and other receivables 1 1,390.4 1.083.7 1,036.1
Current tax asset 7.2 18.4 413
Cash and cash equivalents 12 . 153 26.6 304.4
-1,581.4 1,230.9 1,486.8
Non-currentassets T
Property, plant and equipment
-rental equipment 13 7,814.3 6,908.9 7.629.2
- other assets 13 1,078.3 867.2 893.9
8,892.6 7.776.1 8.323.1
Right-of-use assets 141 - 1,864.8 1,545.9 1.372.7
Goodwill 15 2,300.0 17961 1.690.6
Other intangible assets 15 475.3 387.3 413
Other non-current assets 16 157.5 95.5 -
Net defined benefit pension plan asset 24 18.5 6.2 -
13,708.7 11,6071 1.797.7
Total assets 15,290.14 12,838.0 13.284.5
Current liabilities '
Trade and other payables 17 1,197.1 819.5 7249
Current tax liability 20.2 5.7 2.8
Lease liabilities 18 188.6 168.7 133.6
Provisions 20y  68.8 54.0 677
) 1,476.7 1,047.9 929.0
Non-current liabilities '
Lease liabilities 18 1,806.6 1.464.6 1.269.2
Long-lerm borrowings 19 5,180.1 4,194.0 5.666.0
Provisions 20 68.0 61.0 49.0
Deferred tax liabilities 21 1,695.4 1.514.2 1.607.3
Other non-current liabilities 31.6 30.8 -
Net defined benefil pension plan liability 24 .- - 15.3
8,781.7 7.264.6 8.606.8
Total liabilities 10,256.4 8,312.5 9.535.8
Equity )
Share capital 22 81.8 81.8 82.3
Share premium account 6.5 65 6.5
Capital redemption reserve 20.0] 20.0 19.5
Own shares held by the Company 22 (480.1) (66.2} (149.7)
Own shares held through the ESOT » 22 " (44.9) (36.8 {36.0]
Cumulative foreign exchange translation differences 1226.7) (134.0) (210.8)
Retained reserves 5,677.1 4,654.2 4,036.9
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company '5,033.7 4,525.5 3,748.7
Total tiabilities and equity 15,290.1 12.838.0 13,284.5

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 13 June 2022.

BRENDAN HORGAN MICHAEL PRATT
Chief executive Chief financial officer
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 April 2022

Own Own  Cumulative
shares shares foreign
Share Capital held by held exchange
Share premium  redemption the through  translation Retained
capital account reserve Company the ESOT  diiferences reserves Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m
At 1 May 2020 [restated) 82.3 6.5 19.5 {149.7) (36.0) (210.8)  4,036.9 3,748.7
Profit for the year - - - - - - 920.1 920.1
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation differences - - - - - 76.8 - 76.8
Remeasurement of the defined benefit
pension plan - - - - - - 18.4 18.4
Tax on defined benefit pension plan - - - - - - (3.7) (3.7}
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 76.8 934.8 1.011.6
Dividends paid - - - - - - (239.1) (239.1}
Own shares purchased by Lhe ESOT - - - - {15.5) - - (15.5])
Share-based payments - - - - 14.7 - (5.2) 9.5
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - - 10.3 10.3
Cancellation of shares } {0.5] - 0.5 83.5 - - (83.5) -
At 30 Aprit 2021 [restated] 81.8 6.5 20.0 (66.2) [36.8] (134.0)  4,654.2 4,525.5
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1,2511 12511
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation differences - - - - - (92.7) - [92.7)
Remeasurement of the defined benelit
pensionplan | - - - - - - 1.4 1.4
Tax on defined benefit pension plan - - - - - - [2.7) (2.7)
Tolal comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 192.7) 1.259.8 1,167.1
Dividends paid - - - - - - (271.5) (271.5)
Own shares purchased by the ESOT - - - - {23.8) - - (23.8)
Own shares purchased by
the Company - - - (413.9) - - - {613.9)
Share-based payments - - - - 15.7 - 32.4 48.1
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - - 2.2 2.2
At 30 Aprit 2022 81.8 6.5 20.0 (480.1) (44.9) (226.7) 5,677 5,033.7
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 Aprit 2022

2022 2021
“$m $in
. Notes (restated]
Cash flows from operating activities . .
Cash generated from operations before changes in rental equipment 26(a) 3,406.5 3,017.0
Paymenls for rental property, plant and equipment _11,765.4) (817.0).
Proceeds from disposal of rental property, plant and equipment 343.8 384.7
Cash generated from operations 1,984.9 2,584.7
Financing costs paid (net] {231.1); (254.9)
Exceptional financing cosls paid . (36.0) -
Tax paid (net) (218.8]  (387.6]
Net cash generated from operating activities 1,499.0 1,942.2
Cash flows frominvesting activities .
Acquisition of businesses 26(bl}  (1,277.4) (195.1)
Financial assel investments (1-0:014 -
Payments for non-rental property, plant and equipment {398.4) 138.3)
Proceeds [rom disposal of non-rental property, planl and equipment . 248 18.3
Net cash used in investing activities " (1,691.0) {315.1)
Cash flows from financing activities -
Drawdown of loans 3,054.5 643.4
Redemption of loans [2,062.7))  (2,228.4)
Repayment of principal under lease liabitities '(107.4) (73.9)
Dividends paid (269.3); (235.5)
Purchase of own shares by the ESOT (23.8) (15.5]
Purchase of own shares by the Company (409.6) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 181.5 (1,909.9)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (10.5) (282.8)
Opening cash and cash equivalents 26.6 304.4
Effect of exchange rate differences (0.8); 5.0
Closing cash and cash equivalents 15.3| 26.6
2022 2021
Notes $m $m
Reconciliation of net cash flows to net debt .
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the period . 105 282.8
Increase/[decreasel in debl through cash flow - 884.2 (1,658.9)
Change in nel debt from cash flows 894.7 (1.376.1]
Exchange differences (47.1) 129.3
Deblt acquired 131.7 25.2
Non-cash movements:
- deferred costs of debt raising 18.0 1.0
- new lease liabililies 362.0 2469
Increase/[decreasel in net debt in the period 1,359.3 [963.7)
Net debl at 1 May 5,800.7 6,764 .4
Net debt at 30 April 26[c)| - 7,160.0 5,800.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Ashtead Group plc ('the Company’) is a company incorporated
and domiciled in England and Wales and listed on the London
Stock Exchange. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in US dollars.

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been applied consistently to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

These financial slalements have been prepared in accordance
with United Kingdom adopted International Financial Reporting
Standards ['IFRS’] and with those parts of the Companies Act
2006 apptlicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, modified for certain items carried at fair value,

as stated in the accounting policies.

On 1 May 2021, the Group changed its reporting currency from
sterling to US dollars to provide greater transparency in the
Group's performance for investors and other stakeholders and
to reduce exchange rate volatility in reported figures, given

that c. 80% of the Group's revenue and c. 90% of the Group’s
operating profit originate in US dollars. In accordance with IAS 8,
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors, this change in presentational currency was applied
relrospectively and accordingly, prior year comparalives have
beenreslaled.

Financial information included in the consolidated financial
statements for years ended 30 April 2021 and 2020 has been
restated in US dollars as follows:

- assets and liabilities in non-US denominated currencies were
translated into US dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the
relevant balance sheet date;

- non-US dollar income statements and cash flows were
translated into US dollars at average rates of exchange for the
relevant period;

- share capital, share premium and all other equity items were
translated at the historical rates prevailing at 1 May 2004,
the date of lransition to IFRS, or the subsequent rates
prevailing on the date of each relevant transaction; and

- the cumulative foreign exchange translation reserve was set
to zero on 1 May 2004, the date of transition to IFRS and this
reserve has been reslated on the basis that the Group has
reported in US dollars since that date.

In preparing these financial statements, the exchange rates used
in respect of the pound sterling (€) and Canadian dollar (C$) are:

Pound sterling Canadian dollar

2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

Average for lhe year
ended 30 April
AL30 April

132 1.27
138 1.26

0.80} 0.76 0.75
0.78§ 081 0.72

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
going concern basis. The Group’s inlernal budgets and forecasts
of future performance, available financing facilities and facility
headroom {see Note 19], provide a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operation for

the foreseeable future and consequently the going concern
basis continues to be appropriate in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Key judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amount of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period.

In the course of preparing the financial statements, no
judgements have been made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies, other than those involving
estimations, that have had a significant effect on the amounts
recognised within the financial statements.

The estimates and associated assumptions which have been
used are based on historical experience and other factors

that are considered to be relevant. While actual results could
differ from these estimates, the Group has not identified any
assumptions, or other key sources of estimation uncertainty in
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment lo the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

There are no new {FRS or IFRIC Interpretations that are effective
for the first time this financial year which have a material impact
on the Group.

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not
effective for the financial year beginning 1 May 2021 and not
adopted early .

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC Interpretations lhat are not yet
effective that would be expected to have a material impact on
the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate Lhe financial
slatements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 April each year. Control
is achieved when the Company has the power over the investee,

is exposed, or has rights, tovariable returns from its involvement
with the investee, and has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns. The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consotidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated income stalement from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases lo control
the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

Allintragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between the members
of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration transferredin a
business combination is the fair value at the acquisition date of
the assets transferred and the liabilities incurred by the Group
and includes the fair value of any contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the
income stalement as incurred.

Contingent consideration is measured at the acquisilion dale
at fair value and included in provisions in the balance sheet.
Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration due

to events post the date of acquisition are recognised in the
income statement.

Foreign exchange

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the entity that has undertaken the transaction

using the exchange rates ruling on the dates of the transaction.
At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing on the reporting date. All currency translation
differences are taken to the income statement. The functional
currency of the parent company is pounds sterling.

Translation of overseas operations

As set out in the basis of preparation, effective 1 May 2021, the
reporting currency of the Group is the US dollar, the currency

in which the majority of our assets, liabilities, revenue and

costs are denominated. Assets and liabilities in non-US dollar
denominated currencies are translated into US dollars at rates
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Income statements
and cash flows of non-US dollar denominated subsidiary
undertakings are transtated into US dollars at average rates

of exchange for the year.

Exchange differences arising from the retranslalion of the
opening net investment of non-US dollar denominated
subsidiaries and the difference between the inclusion of their
profits at average rates of exchange in the Group income
statement and the closing rate used for the balance sheet are
recognised directly in a separate component of equity. Other
exchange differences are dealt with in the income statement.

Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified

in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties and VAT/sales tax. Our revenue 1s a
function of our rental raies and the size, utilisation and mix of
our equipment rental fleet. The Group has three main sources
of revenue as detailed below:

~ rental revenue, including loss damage waiver, environmental
fees and revenue from rental equipment delivery and
collection;

- revenue from the sale of new equipment, merchandise and
consumables; and

- revenue from the sale of used rental equipment.

Rental revenue, including loss damage waiver and environmental
fees, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of

the rental conlract. In general, rental contracts have no fixed
duration and are cancellable at any time, with a typical rental
period of around three weeks. However, as a rental contract can
extend across financial reporting period ends, the Group records
accrued revenue [unbilled rental revenue) and deferred revenue
at the beginning and end of each reporting period so that rental
revenue 1s appropriately stated in the financial statements.
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Revenue from rental delivery and collection is recognised when
the delivery or collection has occurred and the pertormance
obligation therefore fulfilled.

Revenue from the sale of new rental equipment, merchandise
and consumables, together with revenue from the sale of used
rental equipment, is recognised at the time of delivery to, or
collection by, the customer and when all performance obligations
under the sale contract have been fulfilled.

Revenue from the sale of rental equipment in connection with
trade-in arrangements with certain manufacturers from whom
the Group purchases new equipment is accounted for at the lower

- of transaction value or fair value based on independent appraisals.

If the trade-in price of a unit of equipment exceeds the fair market
value of that unit, the excess is accounted for as a reduction of the
cost of the related purchase of new rental equipment.

Of the Group's rental revenue, $6,147m {2021: $5,036m) is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, while revenue
from other ancillary services, each of which is billed separately,
revenue from the sale of new equipment, merchandise and
consumables and revenue from the sale of used equipment
totalling $1,815m (2021: $1,603m| is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’.

Interest income and expense
Interest income comprises interest receivable on funds invested
and net interest on net defined benefit pension plan assets.

Interest expense comprises interest payable on borrowings and
lease liabilities, amortisation of deferred debt raising costs,

the unwind of the discount on the self-insurance and contingent
consideration provisions and the nel interest on net defined
benefit pension plan liabilities.

Exceptional items

Exceptionalitems are those items of income or expense which
the directors believe should be disclosed separately by virtue

of their significant size or nature and limiled predictive value to
enable a beller understanding of the Group's financial performance.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated based on the profit for the
financial year and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year. For this purpose the number of
ordinary shares in issue excludes shares held by the Company
or by the Employee Share Ownership Trust in respect of which
dividends have been waived. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated using the profit for the financial year and the weighted
average diluted number of shares lignoring any potential issue
of ordinary shares which would be anti-dilutive) during the year.

Adjusted earnings per share comprises basic earnings per
share adjusted to exclude earnings relating to exceptionalitems
and amortisation of intangibles.

Current/non-current distinction

Current assets include assets held primarily for trading
purposes, cash and cash equivatents and assets expected to be
realised ir, or intended for sale or consumption in, the course

of the Group's operating cycle and those assels expected to be
realised within one year from the reporting date. All olher assels
are classified as non-current assels.

Current liabilities include tiabilities held primarily for trading
purposes, liabilities expected to be settled in the course of the
Group's operating cycle znd those liabilities due within one year
from the reporting date. All other liabilitics are classified as
non-current liabilities.



Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost including
transportation costs from the manufacturer to the initial rentat
location] less accumulated depreciation and any provisions for
impairment. In respect of certain assets, cost includes rebuild
costs when the rebuild extends the asset’s useful economic life
and it is probable that incremental economic benefits will accrue
to the Group. Rebuild costs include the cost of transporting the
equipment to and from the rebuild supplier. Depreciation is not
charged while the asset is not in use during the rebuild period.

Depreciation

Properly, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line
basis applied to the opening cost to write down each asset toits
residual value over its useful economic life. Estimates of usefut
life and residual value are determined with the objective of
allocating most appropriately the cost of property, plant and
equipment to our income statement, over the period we anticipate
it will be used in our business. Residual values and estimated
useful economic lives are reassessed annually, recognising the
cyclical nature of the business, by making reference to recent
experience of the Group. The depreciation rates in use are

as follows:

Per annum
Freehold property 2%
Motor vehicles 7% 10 25%
Rental equipment 4% to 33%
Office and workshop equipment 20%

Residual values are estimated at 10 to 15% of cost in respect of
most types of rental equipment, although the range of residual
values used varies between zero and 35%.

Repairs and maintenance
Costsincurred in the repair and maintenance of rental and other
equipment are charged o the income stalement as incurred.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the fair value of
the consideration for an acquisition and the fair value of Lhe nel
identifiable assets acquired, including any intangible assets
other than goodwitl.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses and is altocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The profit or loss on the disposal of a previously acquired
business includes the attributable amount of any purchased
goodwill relating to that business.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised at fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Internally generated intangible assets are not
capitalised. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over
the expected usefut life of each asset. Contracirelated intangible
assets are amortised over the life of the contract. Amortisation
rates for other intangible assels are as follows:

Per annum

7% to 15%
10% to 20%
14% to 50%

Brand names
Customer lists
Contractrelated

Impairment of assets

Goodwillis not amortised but is tested annually for impairment
as at 30 Aprileach year. Assets that are subject to amortisation
or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the
income statement for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amounl exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assels are grouped at the lowesl levels
for which there are separately identifiable and independent cash
flows for the asset being lested for impairment (cash-generating
unit).

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value
less costs of disposal and value inuse. In assessing value in use,
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific

to the asset.

Inrespect of assets other than goodwill, animpairment loss

is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the assel’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised. Impairment losses in respect of
goodwill are not reversed.

Taxation

The tax charge for the period comprises both current and
deferred tax. Taxation is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directty in
equity, inwhich case the related tax is also recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year and any adjustment o lax payable in respecl of previous
years. The Group’s liability for current lax is calculated using tax
rates applicable for the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method
on any temporary differences between the carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes and those for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
differences arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred taxis not recognised for temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred taxis calculated al the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the hiabilily is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset when they relate to Income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority, the Group intends to settle them
on a net basis and there is a legally enforceable right to offset tax
assets against tax liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories, which comprise equipment, fuel, merchandise and
spare parts, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The cost of inventory that is not ordinarily interchangeable
is valued at individual cost. The cost of other inventories is
determined on a first-in, first-out basis or using a weighted
average cost formula, depending on the basis most suited to the
type of inventory held.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution pension plans

Obligations under the Group's defined contribution plans are
recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Defined benefit pension plans

The Group's obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans
is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in prior
periods, that benefit is discountcd to determine its present value
and the fair value of plan assets is deducted. The discount rate
uscd is the yicld at the balance sheet date on AA rated corporate
bonds. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method.

Acluarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in
which they arise through tho ctatomont of cemprehencive income,

Netinterestis calculated by applying a discount rate to the net
defined benefit pension plan asset or liability. The netinterest
income or netinterest expense is included in investment income
orinlerest expense, respectively.

The defined pension surplus or deficit represents the fair value
of the plan assels less the present value of the defined benefit
obligation. A surplus is recognised in Lhe batance sheet to the
extent that the Group has an unconditional right to the surplus,
either through a refund or reduction in future contributions.

A deficit is recognised in full.

Share-based compensation

The fair value of awards made under share-based compensation
ptansis measured at grant date and spread over the vesting
period through the income statement with a corresponding
increase in equity. The fair value of share options and awards

is measured using an appropriate valuation model taking into
account the terms and conditions of the individual award. The
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
awards vesting except where any change in the awards vesting
relates only to market-based criteria not being achieved.

Insurance

Insurance costs include insurance premiums which are written
off to the income statement over the period to which they relate
and an estimate of the discounted liability for uninsured retained
risks on unpaid claims incurred up to the balance sheet date. The
estimate includes events incurred but not reported at the balance
sheet date. This estimate is discounted and included in provisions
in the batance sheet on a gross basis with a corresponding
insurance receivable amounl recognised as an assel where

itis virlually certain that reimbursement will be received and

the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
conlractual provisions of the instrument.
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Financial assets

Financial and other investments

Financial asset investments are initially recognised at their fair
value and measured subsequently at fair value through profit
and loss. Equity investments are initially recognised at fair value
and measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry interest and are initially
recognised at their transaction value and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method as reduced by appropriate loss allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts. The loss atlowances are calculated using
anexpected credit loss model, based on historical write-off
experience and taking account of market conditions and
customer knowledge. Adjustments to the loss allowances are
recognised in the Income statement. Trade receivables are
written off when recoverability is assessed as being remote
while subsequent recoverics of amounts previously written off
are credited to the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances and call
deposits with maturity of less than, or equal to, three months.

Financial liabilities and equity

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded
atthe proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

Borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the
proceeds received, nel of direct transaclion costs where these
are integral to the total cost of the borrowing. Where this is not
the case, direct transaclion costs are recognised separately
from the financial liability as a loan commitment asset. Finance
charges, including amortisation of direct transaction costs,

are charged to the Income statement using the effective interest
rate method.

Borrowings exclude accrued interest which is classified as a
current liability and included within trade and other payables
in the balance sheet.

Tranches of borrowings and overdrafts which mature on a
regular basis are classified as current or non-current liabilities
based on the maturity of the facility so long as the committed
facility exceeds the drawn debt.

Net debt

Net debt consists of total borrowings and lease liabitities less
cash and cash equivalents. Non-US dotlar denominated balances
areretranslated to US dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date.



Senior notes

The Group’s senior notes contain early repayment oplions,
which constitute embedded derivatives in accordance with

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. The accounting for these early
repayment options depends on whether they are considered to
be closely related to the host contract or not based on IFRS 9.
Where they are closely related, the early repayment option is

not accounted for separately and the notes are recorded within
borrowings, net of direct transaction costs. The interest expense
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate method.

In circumstances where the early repayment option is not
considered closely related to the host contract, the repayment
option has to be valued separately. At the date of issue the liability
component of the notes is estimated using prevailing markel
interest rales for similar debt with no repayment option and is
recorded within borrowings, net of direct transaction costs.

The difference between the proceeds of the note issue and the
fairvalue assigned to the liahility component, representing the
embedded option to prepay the notes is included within Other
financial assets - derivatives. The interest expense on the liability
component is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
method. The embedded option to prepay is fair valued using an
appropriate valuation model and fair value remeasurement

gains and losses are included in investment income and interest
expense respectively.

Where the Group's senior notes are issued at a premium or a
discount, they are initially recognised at their face value plus
or minus the premium or discount. The notes are subsequently
measured al amortised cost using the effeclive interest

rate melhod.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is a lease, or contains

a lease, atinception of the contract. The Group recognises

a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases [defined as leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-tine basis over the term of the lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of

the lime pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assels are consumed.

The lease liability is measured initially al the present value of
future lease payments at the commencement date, discounted
by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the Group’s
lease liability comprise:

- fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives received; and

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate,
initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing

the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
lusing the effective interest method} and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease paymenls made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability fand makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

- the lease term changes, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate;

- lhe lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate,
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate
(unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is
used); or

- alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the
corresponding tease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs. They are
subsequently measured at cosl less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assels are depreciated over the shorter period
of the lease term and the usefut life of the underlying asset
with depreciation commencing at the commencement date
of the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or

rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line
‘Other operating costs’ in the income statement.

For short-term leases (lease terms of 12 months or less| and
leases of low-value assets [such as photocopiers, vending
machines, etc.], the Group has opted to recognise a lease
expense on a siraight-line basis. This expense is presented within
other operating costs in the consolidated income statement.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and
are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

Employee Share Ownership Trust

Shares in the Company acquired by the Employee Share
Ownership Trust [ESOT ') in the open market for use in
connection with employee share plans are presented as a
deduction from shareholders’ funds. When the shares vest to
satisfy share-based payments, a transfer is made from own
shares held through the ESOT to retained earnings.

Own shares held by the Company

The cost of own shares held by the Company is deducted from
shareholders’ funds. The proceeds from the reissue of own
shares are added lo shareholders’ funds with any gains in excess
of the average cosl of the shares being recognised in the share
premium account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

3 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Segmental analysis by reportable operating segment

The Group operates one class of business: rental of equipment. Operationally, the Group is split into three business units, US, UK
and Canada which report separately to, and are managed by, the chief executive and align with the geographies in which they operate.
Accordingly, the Group's reportable operating segments are the US, UK and Canada.

The Group manages debt and taxation centrally, rather than by business unit. Accordingly, segmental results are stated before interest
and taxation which are reported as central Group items. This is consistent with the way the chief executive reviews the business.

There are no sales belween the business segments. Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangibles,
inventory and receivables. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and exclude taxation balances, corporate borrowings and
accrued interest. Capilal expendilure represents additions lo property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including goodwilt,
and includes additions through the acquisition of businesses.

Corporate
us UK Canada items Group
Year ended 30 April 2022 $m $m $m $m $m
Revenue
Rental revenue 6,041.9 739.0 453.8 - 7,234.7
Sale of new equipment, merchandise and consumables 155.0 202.2 30.0 - 387.2
Sale of used rental equipment 280.1 45.1 15.2 - - 340.4
6,477.0 986.3 499.0 - 7,962.3
EBITDA 3,120.6 291.7 224.3 (27.2) 3,609.4
. Deprecialion (1,268.3) (173.7) {109.9) (a0 | (1,553.0)
Segment resull 1,852.3| 118.0} M4.4] (28.3) 2,056.4
Amortisation B ‘ {108.6)
Exceptionalitems i {47.1)
Net financing costs [232.6)"
Profit before taxation 1.668.1]
Taxation ) (417.0)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders ' ) ’ 1,251 ]
Segment assets 12,839.6 1,162.3 1,212.7 53.0 ] 15,267.6
Cash 153
Taxation assets : 7.2
Total assets B 15,2901
Segment liabilities 2,738.1 251.3 312.6! 20.8 3,322.8
Corporate borrowings and accrued interest 5,218.0
Taxalion liabililies 1,715.6
Total liabilities 10,256.4
Other non-cash expendilure - share-based payments 31..2| I..SI 2.4[ 7.0 48.1|
Capilal expendilure 3,146.1 I 260.0 201.8 - 3,607.9'
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Corporate

us UK Canada items Gioup
Year ended 30 April 2021 $m $m $m $m $m
Revenue
Rental revenue 49327 635.2 3337 - 5.901.6
Sale of new equipment, merchandise and consumables 152.3 164.8 30.6 - 347.7
Sale of used rental equipment 332.5 38.1 18.7 - 389.3
5,417.5 838.1 383.0 - 6.638.6
EBITDA 2,634.5 254.4 167.4 (19.5) 3.036.8
Depreciation (1,189.9) (174.0) (92.6) (1.1] (1.457.6)
Segment result 1.644.6 80.4 74.8 (20.6) 1,579.2
Amortisation (81.2}
Interesl expense (262.9)
Profit before taxation 1,235.1
Taxalion (315.0)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders 920.1
Segment assets 10,384.3 1,208.7 1141.0 59.0 12,793.0
Cash 26.6
Taxation assets 18.4
Total assets 12.838.0
Segment liabilities . 1978.2 258.1 300.9 16.9 2.554.1
Corporate borrowings and accrued inlerest 4,238.5
Taxation liabilities 1,519.9
Total liabilities 8,312.5
Other non-cash expendilure - share-based payments 6.1 0.8 0.4 2.2 9.5
Capital expendilure 850.7 196.4 73.5 - 1.120.6

Segmental analysis by geography

The Group’s operations are located in the United States, the United Kingdom and Canada. The following table provides an analysis of
the Group's revenue, segment assets and capital expenditure, including expenditure on acquisitions, by country of domicile. Segment
assets by geography include property, plant and equipment, goodwitl, intangible assets, right-of-use assets and other non-current

assets but exclude the net defined benefit pension plan asset, inventory and receivables.

Revenue Segment assets Capital expendilure
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$m $m $m $m $m $m
United States 6,6477.0 5,417.5 11,564.7 94873 3,146.1 850.7
United Kingdom 986.3 838.1 1,005.9 1,049.9 260.0 196.4
Canada 499.0 383.0 1,119.6 1.063.7 201.8 73.5
7,962.3{ 6,638.6 13,690.2' 11,6009 3,607.9 1120.6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

4 OPERATING COSTS AND OTHER INCOME

2022 2021
Before Before
amortisation  Amortisation Total amortisation Amortisation Tolal
$m $m $m $m ’ $m $m
Staff costs: ) )
Salaries 1,668.8 - -1,668.8 1.369.9 - 1,369.9
Social security costs ©12Mm - 1271, 104.5 - 104.5
Other pension costs - 346 - 34.6 27.1 - 273
1,830.5 - 1,830.5 1,501.5 - 1,501.5
Other operating costs:
Vehicle costs 510.1 - 510._1" 375.7 - 375.7
Spares, consumables and exlernal repairs 431.7 - 4317 374.3 - 374.3
Facility costs 82.1 - 82.1 67.8 - 67.8
Other external charges 1,237.0 - - " 1,237.0 918.1 - 918.1
°2,260.9 - . 2,260.9 1,735.9° - 1.735.9
Used rental equipment sold . 2615 - ©261.5 364.4 - 364.4
Depreciation and amortisation: - .
Deprecialion of tangible assels 1,398.9 - 1,398.9 1,320.0 - 1.320.0
Deprecialion of righl-of-use assels 154.1 - 154.1 137.6 - 137.6
Amortisation of intangibles - 108.6| . 108.6 - 81.2 81.2
1,553.0 108.6 1,661.6 1,457.6 81.2 1,538.8
5,905.9 108.6 6,014.5 5,059.4 81.2 5.140.6
Proceeds from the disposal of non-rental property, plant and equipment amounted to $26m (2021: $18m), resulting in a profit on
disposal of $9m [2021: $nil) which is included in other external charges.
The costs shown in the above table include:
2022 2021
$m $m
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 844.3 675.9
Net charge/[retease] of allowance on trade receivables 31:2 (12.7}
Staff costs include remuneration of key management personnel, which comprise non-executive and executive directors. Key
management personnel remuneration comprised:
2022 2021
$'000 $000
Salaries and shori-lerm employee benefits © 5,730 4,765
Post-employment benefits . 20 20
National insurance and social security 376 227
Share-based payments 3,993 2,272
10,19 7,284

The Schedule 5 requirements of the Accounting Regulations for directors’ remuneration are included within the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 97 to 116.
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Remuneration payable to the Company’s auditor, Deloitte LLP, in the year is given below:

2022 2021

$'000 $'000

Fees payable to Deloitte UK and its associates for the audit of the Group's annual accounts 1,465 1,443
Fees payable Lo Deloille UK and ils associates for other services to lhe Group: : ! .

- the audit of the Group’s UK subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 29 27

-audil-related assurance services + 109 101

-olher assurance services © 123 2

1,728 | 1.573

Fees paid for audit-related assurance services relate to the half-year review of the Group’s interim financial statements. Other assurance
services relate to comfort letters provided in connection with the senior notes issued in August 2021.

5 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS AND AMORTISATION

2022 2021

$m $in

Amorlisation of intangibles ' ' - 108.6 81.2
Write-off of deferred financing costs 111 -
Early redemption fee 36.0 -
Taxation ) ‘ ) (39.3)! (20.0)
' ' 16.4 61.2

The costs associated with the redemption of the $600m 4.125% senior notes and the $600m 5.25% senior notes in August 2021 have
been classified as exceptional items. The write-off of deferred financing costs consisted of the unamortised balance of the costs
relating to the notes. In addition, an early redemption fee of $36m was paid to redeem the notes prior to their scheduled maturity. Of
these items, total cash costs were $36m.

The items detailed in the table above are presented in the income statement as follows:

2022 2021
$m $m

Amorlisation of intangibles 108.6 81.2
Charged in arriving al operaling profit ' - 108.6 81.2
Interest expense 471 -
Charged in arriving at profit before taxation 155.7 81.2
Taxation . (39.3); {20.0}

©o1ea} 61.2.
6 NETFINANCING COSTS

2022 2021
$m $m

Interest income: '
Net income on the defined benefit pension plan asset o0 -
Inleresl expense: :
Bank interest payable : - 328 479
Interest payable on senior noles 1M.2 132.0
Interest payable on lease liabilities " 80.7 70.5
Net interest on the net defined benefit pension plan liabitity - 0.2
Non-cash unwind of discount on provisions 11 1.3
Amortisation of deferred debl raising costs 1 69 11.0
Totalinterest expense _ ) 232.7 262.9
Net financing costs before exceptional items 232.6 2629
Exceptionalitems 471 -
Nel financing cosls 12797 2629
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

7 TAXATION

The tax charge on the result for the year has been computed using a tax rate of 25% in the US (2021: 25%), 19% in the UK, rising to 25%
from 1 April 2023 (2021: 19%) and 26% in Canada (2021: 26%). The blended rate for the Group as a whole is 25% (2021: 25%). The Group's
future effective tax rate will depend on the mix of profits amongst the territories in which it operates and their respective tax rates.

2022 2021
$m $m
Analysis of the tax charge
Current tax
- current tax on income for the year 243.5 407.7
- adjustments to prior year 6.7 9.1
' B 250.2 416.8
Deferred tax
- origination and reversal of temporary differences 170.3 199.1)
- adjustments due to change in UK corporate tax rate 9.6 -
- adjustments lo prior year {(13.11} (2.7
166.8 {101.8}
Total taxation charge 417.0 315.0
Comprising: ' ’
- United Kingdom 41.8 30.3
- United States . 3574 278.4
- Canada . 171.8 6.3
417.0 315.0

The tax charge comprises a charge of $456m {2021: $335m)] relating to tax on the profit before exceptional items and amortisation,
together with a credit of $39m (2021: credit of $20m) on exceptional items and amortisation.

The differences between the tax charge for the year of 25% and the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% are explained below:

2022 2021

$m $m

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 1,668.1] 1.235.1

Profit on ordinary activities mulliplied by the rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2021: 19%] 316.9 234.7
Effects of:

Use of foreign lax rates on overseas income 92..7 693

Adjustments due to changes in UK corporate tax rate T-9.6 -

Adjustments lo prior years (6:4) 6.4

Other 2.2 4.6

Total taxation charge ' 417.0 315.0
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8 EARNINGS PER SHARE

2022 2021
Weighted Per Weighted Per
average no. share average no. share
Earnings of shares amount Earnings ‘of shares amount
Sm million cents $in illion cenls
Basic earnings per share 1,251 4453 280.9 9201 4479 205.4
Share options and share plan awards ) -1 1.9 T2 - 1.4 [0.6)
Diluted earnings per share 1,251.1 447.2 279.7 920.1 449.3 - 204.8

Adjusted earnings per share may be reconciled to basic earnings per share as follows:

2022 2071
cents cents
Basic earnings per share - 280.9 205.4
Amorlisalion of intangibles 24.4 18.1
Exceptionalitems . 10.6 -
Tax on exceptional items and amorltisation . (8.8)! (4.4)
Adjusted earnings per share ) 3071 l 219.1
9 DIVIDENDS

022 207
’ $m $m
Final dividend paid on 21 September 2021 of 48.24¢ (2021: 43.63¢] per 10p ordinary share 215.3 195.4
Interim dividend paid on 9 February 2022 of 12.50¢ (2021: 9.76¢] per 10p ordinary share . 56.2 43.7
2715 239.1

Reconciliation to consolidated cash flow statement
Dividend to shareholders 271.5 2391
Translalion adjustment (2.2) (3.6
Total dividend paid . 269.3 235.5

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2022 of 67.5¢ (2021: 48.24¢) per share
which will absorb $298m of shareholders’ funds, based on the 441m shares qualifying for dividend on 10 June 2022. Subject lo
approval by shareholders, it will be paid on 9 September 2022 to shareholders who are on the register of members on 12 Augusl 2022.

The dividends per share disclosed above are presented in US dotlars. Dividends for periods prior to the Group's change in presentationat
currency on 1 May 2021 have been translated into US dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the date at which the liability arose in
accordance with their treatment in the statement of changes in equity. Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of cash
flows have been translated into US dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the date of payment. As such, a translation adjustment arises
when the date at which the liability arose differs from the payment date.

All dividends for periods subsequent to 1 May 2021 will be declared in US dollars. Dividends will continue to be paid in sterling unless
shareholders elect to receive their dividend in US dollars. The dividend currency exchange rate used will be set based on the average
exchange rate for the preceding five working days prior to the dividend currency exchange rate announcement.

10 INVENTORIES

2022 2021

$m $in

Raw materials, consumables and spares 77.7 461
Goods for resale 90.8 56.1
’ 168.5 ©102.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
$m $m
Trade receivables 1,259.6] 10019
Less: loss allowance _ [85.6) (73.8)
1,174.0 928.1

Other receivables
- Accrued revenue : 106.5 77.6
- Other 109.9 78.0
' ) 1;390:10 1,083.7

The fair values of trade and other receivables are not materially different to the carrying values presented.

a. Tradereceivables: credit risk

The Group’s exposure to the credit risk inherent in its trade receivables and the associated risk management techniques that the
Group deploys in order to mitigate this risk are discussed in Note 25. The credit periods offered to customers vary according to the
credit risk profiles of, and the invoicing conventions established in, the Group's markets. The contractual terms on invoices issued

to customers vary between North America and the UK in that, invoices issued by the UK are payable within 30-60 days whereas,
invoices issued by the US and Canada are payable on receipt. Therefore, on this basis, a significant proportion of the Group’s trade
receivables are contractually past due. The loss allowance is calculated based on prior experience reflecting the level

of uncollected receivables over the last year within each business adjusted for factors that are specific to the receivables, the industry
in which we operate and the economic environment. Accordingly, the loss allowance cannot be attributed to specific receivables so
the aged analysis of trade receivables, including those past due, is shown gross of the loss allowance.

On this basis, the ageing analysis of trade receivables, including those past due, is as follows:

Trade receivables past due by:

Lessthan 30-60 60-90 More than
Current 30days days days 90days Total
$m $m $m $in $m $m
Carrying value at 30 Aprit 2022 100.6 629.6 293.8 115.7 199 1,259.6
Carrying value at 30 April 2021 : 128.5 488.2 2257 67.9 91.6 1,001.9

In practice, the US and Canada operate on 30-day terms and consider receivables past due if they are unpaid after 30 days. On this
basis, the Group's ageing of trade receivables, including those past due, is as follows:

Trade receivables past due by:

vLesvslhan 30-60 60-90 Mot e Lhan

Curtent 30days days days 90days lotal

$m $m $in $in $m $in

Carrying value at 30 Aprit 2022 697.4 314.2 1259 4641 78.0 1.259.6

Carrying value at 30 April 2021 575.0 255.4 77.2 30.3 64.0 1,001.9
b. Movement in the loss allowance

2022 2021

. $m $m

Al 1 May 73.8 125.6

Amounts written off or recovered during the year (17.7). (41.0

- Increase/{decrease] in allowance recognised in income staternent ' 31.2 12.7)

Currency movements (1.7} 1.9

AL30 Aprit 85.6 ) 73.8
12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2022 2021

$m $m

Cash and cash equivalents ’ ' ' ' | 53] 266

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximales lo their fair value.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office and
Land and Rental workshop Motor
buildings equipment equipment vehicles Total
$m $m $m $m $m
Cost or valuation
At 1 May 2020 416.7 11.868.2 2925 881.2 13,458.6
Exchange dilferences 1.7 196.4 7.8 14.8 230.7
Acquisitions - 119.7 0.1 5.5 125.3
Reclassifications - [3.9) (0.4} 2.4 {1.9)
Additions 36.0 809.2 527 49.5 947.4
Disposals (5.2) 1,134.7} (. 168.9) (1,219.9)
At 30 April 2021 459.2 11,854.9 341.6 884.5 13.540.2
Exchange dilferences {(10.7) (156.8) (7.5) .7 {186.7)
Acquisitions 0.7 738.6 6.0 43.0 788.3
Reclassifications - (0.5) 01 0.4 -
Additions 106.4 1,999.2 73.6 2181 2,397.3
Disposals (6.8) (896.6) 110.7) {68.0) (982.1)
At 30 April 2022 548.8 13,538.8 4031 1.066.3 15,557.0 —
u
Depreciation §
At 1 May 2020 141.6 4,439.0 185.8 3691 5,135.5 g
Exchange differences 5.4 88.8 5.1 7.6 106.9 >
Acquisitions - 57.4 - 3.2 60.6
Reclassificalions - (2.4} (0.5) 1.0 (1.9] 5
Charge for the period 26.3 1.152.3 457 95.7 1,320.0 m
Disposals (61 (789.0) (9.0 (548  8570) =
At 30 April 2021 169.2 4,946.0 2271 421.8 5,764.1 é
Exchange differences (4.9) [73.2) (5.2) 16.3] (89.6)
Acquisitions 0.4 281.8 2.0 18.8 303.0
Reclassifications - 0.1 0.1 (0.2) -
Charge for the period 34.5 1,213.4 523 98.7 1.398.9
Disposals {4.3) (643.6) (8.6] [55.5) 1712.0)
At 30 April 2022 194.9 5.724.5 267.7 477.3 6,664.4
Net book value
At 30 April 2022 353.9 7,814.3 135.4 589.0 8,892.6
At 30 April 2021 290.0 6,908.9 114.5 4627 7.776.1
$14m of rebuild costs were capilalised in the year [2021: $22m). Included within depreciation is an impairment charge of $9m
[2021: $nil).
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14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Property Other
leases leases Total
$mn $m $m

Cost or valuation
At 1 May 2020 1,481.2 9.0 1,490.2
Exchange dilferences 21.4 1.0 22.4
Additions 200.6 8.3 2089
Acquisitions 25.2 - 25.2
Remeasurement 63.5 - 63.5
Disposals 14.7) (1.1) (5.8]
At 30 April 2021 1,787.2 17.2 1.804.4
Exchange differences (21.6) (1.6) (23.2)
Additions 331.0 8.4 339.4
Acquisitions 1259 - 125.9
Remeasurement 35.0 - 35.0
Disposals (11.6) {3.7) (15.3)
At 30 April 2022 2,245.9 20.3 2,266.2
Depreciation .
At 1 May 2020 114.2 3.3 175
Exchange differences 4.4 0.4 4.8
Charge for the period 135.8 1.8 137.6
Disposals (0.7) (0.7) {1.4)
At 30 Aprit 2021 2537 4.8 258.5
Exchange differences (5.5) (0.5 (6.0)
Charge for the period 151.4 2.7 1541
Disposals (2.8) {2.4) (5.2
At 30 Aprit 2022 396.8 4.6 401.4
Net book value
At 30 April 2022 1,849.1 15.7 1,864.8
At 30 April 2021 1.533.5 12.4 1.545.9

Included within depreciation is an impairment charge of $6m (2021: $12m).
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS INCLUDING GOODWILL

Other intangible assets

Brand Customer Conlracl
Goodwill names lists related Tolal Total
$m $in $in $m $in $ll1‘
Costor valuation
At 1 May 2020 1,690.6 28.8 667.6 86.5 7829 2,473.5
Recognised on acquisition 69.5 - 377 1.3 39.0 108.5
Exchange differences 36.0 0.7 28.2 3.8 32.7 68.7
At30 April 2021 1.796.1 295 733.5 91.6 854.6 2,650.7
Recognised on acquisition 523 - 181.6 20.6 202.2 725.3
Exchange differences (19.2) 10.5) (13.8) (3.3) (17.6) (36.8)
At 30 April 2022 2,300.0 29.0 901.3 108.9 1,039.2 3,339.2
Amortisation
At 1 May 2020 - 27.5 278.4 65.7 371.6 371.6
Charge for the period - 0.3 72.6 8.3 81.2 81.2
Exchange differences - 0.6 10.8 3. 14.5 14.5
At30 April 2021 - 28.4 361.8 77 4673 4673 O
Charge for the period - 0.3 839 24.4 108.6 108.6 -;‘
Exchange differences - {0.4) 18.4) (3.2) (12.0) (12.0) >
At 30 April 2022 - 28.3 437.3 98.3 583.9 563.9 o
2
Net book value 4
At 30 April 2022 2,300.0 0.7 464.0 10.6 475.3 2,775.3 E
AL30 April 2021 1,796.1 1.1 371.7 14.5 387.3 2,183.4 z
z
n

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated at acquisition to the cash-generating units [CGUs’) that benefit from that
business combination. Goodwill allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs is as follows:

2022 2021
$m $m
us
Power and HVAC 245.1 62.6
Climate Control 75.2 75.2
General equipment and relaled businesses 1,657.1 1.317.6
- 1,977.4 1,455.4
UK )
Engineered Access 32.4 35.7
General equipment and related businesses 725 799
049 1154
Canada i
General equipment and related businesses ) 277 2257
Total goodwill B 2,300.0] 17961

For the purposes of determining potential goodwill impairment, recoverable amounts are determined from value in use calculations
using cash flow projections based on the Group's financial plans covering a three-year period which were adopted and approved
by the Board in April 2022, The key assumptions for these financial plans are those regarding revenue growth, margins and capital

expenditure required to replace the rental fleet and support the growth forecast which management estimates based on past

experience, market conditions and expectations for the future development of the market. The projections consist of the 2022/23
budget, a further two years from the Group's business plan and a further seven years’ cash flows. The valuation uses an annual
growth rate to determine the cash flows beyond the three-year forecast period of 2%, which does not exceed the average long-term
growth rates for the relevant markets, a terminal value reflective of market multiples and discount rates of 11% (2021: 12%). 10%

{2021: 11%) and 11% (2021: 12%] for the US, UK and Canadian businesses respectively. The discount rates for each country are

determined by reference to the Group’s weighted average cost of capital.

The impairment review is potentially sensitive to changes in key assumptions used, most notably the discount rate and the annuity
growth rates. A sensitivily analysis has been undertaken by changing the key assumptions used for each CGU in the US, UK and
Canada. Based on this sensitivity analysis, no reasonably possible change in the assumptions resulled in the recoverable amount

for the CGUs identified above lo fall below their carrying value.
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS INCLUDING GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

us

General equipment and related businesses .

Revenue for the general equipment business is linked primarily to US non-residential construction spend, which, based on market
forecasts, is expected to grow during the business plan period, underpinned by a significant level of large scale, multi-year projects.
The general equipment and related businesses have grown more rapidly than both the non-residential construction market and

the broader rental market in recent years and this outperformance is expected to continue over the business plan period, although
not necessarily to the same degree. EBITDA margins are forecast to improve slightly as inflationary cost pressures ease and the
businesses benefit from operational efficiencies and increased scale.

Power and HVAC and Climate Control

Revenue for the Power and HVAC and Climale Control businesses is in parl linked to the level of non-residential construclion and also
general levels of economic activity. These businesses are also expected to benefit from increased rental penetration. EBITDA margins
are forecast to improve slightly as the businesses benefit from operational efficiencies and increased scale.

UK

Revenue for each of the UK CGUs is linked primarily to UK non-residential construction spend. This market is more challenging

than in the US, with structural growth opportunities more difficull 1o achieve due to a higher level of rental penetration in the market.
The market is expected to grow over the business plan period. The Engineered Access business is also reliant on the events market
which has been impacted during the last two years by the pandemic. The level of business activity is therefore expected to increase
as the events market returns during the business plan period. EBITDA margins are forecast to improve as the businesses focus on
operational improvement and leveraging the ptatform.

Canada

Revenue for Canada is linked primarily to Canadian non-residential construction spend which, based on market forecasts, is expected
to grow during the business plan period. The Canadian business has grown over the last three years more quickly than non-residential
construction and we expect it to continue to perform ahead of the market over the forecast period, although not necessarily to the
same degree as over recent years. EBITDA margins are forecast to increase as the business benefits from the integration of recent
acquisitions, operational improvement and increased scale.

16 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2022 2021

$m $m

HMRC state aid payment ) 447 49.3
Financial asset investments 40.0 -
Insurance receivable 16.5 1.2
Other non-current receivables o 5‘6:3 35.0
‘ ' 157.5 95.5

Non-current assets include the HMRC state aid payment which relates to amounts paid to HMRC in accordance with the charging
notice received in relation to the ongoing state aid investigation {further details are included in Note 28).

17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

$m $m

Trade payables 399.2 216.2
Other laxes and social security " 559 85.4
Accruals and deferred income ) 742.0 517.9
) ) 1,1971 819.5

Trade and other payables include amounts relating to the purchase of fixed assets of $363m (2021: $135m). The fair values of trade and
other payables are not materially different from the carrying values presented.
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18 LEASE LIABILITIES
Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

2022 2021
$m $m
Maturity analysis - undiscounted cash flows: -
Less than one year 196.2 174 .4
One to two years 196.1 164.4
Two Lo Lhree years 71939 162.6
Three to four years 189.7 159.9
Four to five years 184.6 155.7
More than five years 1,864.0 1,531.6
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 30 April 2,824.5 2,348.6
Impact of discounting (829.3) (715.3)
Lease liabilities included in the balance sheet . 1,995.2 1,633.3
Included in current liabilities 188.6 168.7
Included in non-current liabilities 1,806.6 1,464.6
. 1,995.2 1.633.3 | |
' .
Amounts recognised in the income statement S
. z
)
w s
Deprecialion of righl-ol-use assets 1541 137.6 ‘;"
Interest on lease liabilities 80.7 70.5 o
Expense relating to short-term leases ) 1.6 2.1 =
Expense relaling to variable lease payments 7.8 12.7 =
2442 2229 ©w
Income from sub-leasing righl-of-use assels (20.6), {14.0)
223.6{ 208.9
Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows
2022 2021
$m $in
Financing cosls paid in relation lo lease liabililies 79.7) 72.6
Repayment of principal under lease liabilities 107.6 73.9
Total cash outflow for leases 1873 146.5
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19 BORROWINGS

2022 2021
$m m

Non-current . L
First priority senior secured bank debt ) 2,108.1 1,225.2
4.125% senior notes, due 2025 : ) . - 594.9
5.250% senior noles, due 2026 o] 593.4
1.500% senior notes, due 2026 - "545.8 -
4.375% senior notes, due 2027 " 594.8 5939
4.000% senior notes, due 2028 ' " -594.3 593.4
4.250% senior notes, due 2029 " 5939 593.2
2.450% senior notes, due 2031 . 743.2 -
' 5,180.1 4,194.0

The senior secured bank debt is secured by way of fixed and floating charges over substantially all the Group's property, plant and
equipment, inventory and trade receivables. The senior notes are guaranteed by Ashtead Group plc and allits principal subsidiary
undertakings. )

First priority senior secured credit facility

At 30 April 2022, $4.5bn was committed by our senior lenders under the asset-based senior secured revolving credit facility

(‘ABL facility’) until August 2026. The amount utilised was $2,188m {including letters of credit totalling $57m]. The ABL facility is
secured by a first priority interest in substantially all of the Group’s assets. Pricing for the $4.5bn revolving credit facility is based on
leverage and average availability according to a grid, varying from the applicable interest rate plus 125bp to 150bp. The applicable
interest rate is based on LIBOR for US dollar loans, SONIA for sterling loans and CDOR for Canadian dollar loans. At 30 April 2022,
the borrowing rate was the applicable interest rateplus 125bp.

The only financial performance covenant under the asset-based first priority senior bank facility is a fixed charge ratio [comprising
LTM EBITDA before exceptional items tess LTM nel capital expenditure paid in cash over the sum of scheduled debt repayments plus
cash interest, cash tax payments and dividends paid in the last 12 months] which must be equal to or greater than 1.0 times.

This covenant does not, however, apply when availability [the ditference between the borrowing base and facility utilisation) exceeds
$450m. At 30 April 2022 availability under the bank facility for covenant purposes was $2,537m ($3,011m at 30 Aprit 2021}, with an
additional $3,029m of suppressed availability meaning that the covenant was not measured at 30 April 2022 and is unlikely to be
measured in forthcoming quarters,

Senior notes

" At 30 April 2022 the Group, through its wholly owned subsidiary Ashtead Capital, Inc., had five series of senior notes outstanding.

The $550m 1.500% notes are due on 12 August 2026, the $600m 4.375% notes are due on 15 August 2027, the $600m 4.000% notes
are due on 1 May 2028, the $600m 4.250% notes are due on 1 November 2029 and the $750m 2.450% notes are due on 12 August 2031,
Under the terms of the notes, financial performance covenants under the senior notes are only measured at the time new debt is raised.

The effective rates of interest at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2022 2021

First priority senior secured bank debt - revolving advances in dollars - 1.99% 1.51%
Senior noles - $600m nominal value - 4.125%
- $600m nominal value - 5.250%

- $550m nominal value 1.500% -

- $600m nominal value 4.375% 4.375%

- $600m nominal value 4.000% 4.000%

-%$600m nominal value L 4.250% 4.250%

-$750m nominal value 2.450% -
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20 PROVISIONS

Contingent
Insurance consideration Other Total
$m $m $m $m
At 1 May 2021 ' 78.0 279 9.1 115.0
Acquired businesses - 191 - 191
Exchange differences (0.6 (0.3) (0.6) {1.5)
Ulitised (35.4) (12.6] . (1.9] {49.9)
Released - {5.7) - (5.7)
Charged in the year 53.6 4.6 0.5 58.7
Amorlisation of discount 0.7 0.4 - 11
At 30 April 2022 ) 96.3 33.4 71 - 134.8
2022 2021
$m $m

Included in current liabilities

68.8 54.0
Inctuded in non-current liabilities 68.0] 61.0

[ 1367s) 115.0

Insurance provisions relate to the discounted estimated gross liability in respect of claims to be incurred under the Group’s insurance
programmes for events occurring up to the year-end and are expected to be utilised over a period of approximately eight years. The
provision is established based on advice received from independent actuaries of the estimated total cost of the insured risk based on
historical claims experience. $29m (2021: $20m) of this total liabilily is due from insurers and is included wilhin ‘other receivables’.

The provision for contingent consideratlion relates to recent acquisitions and is expecled to be paid out over the next three years and
is reassessed at each reporting date. .

21 DEFERRED TAX

Other Other

assels from liabilities from

Acceleraled tax temporary temporary
depreciation Tax losses differences differences Total
$m $m $m $m $m
At 1 May 2021 1,580.1 (7.2 (125.3) 66.6 1.514.2
Exchange differences (5.7) 1.0 0.7 (1.5) (5.5
Charged/[credited] to income statement 212.2 (6.1 (52.4) 131 166.8
Charged to equity - - 3.0 2.6 5.6
Acquisilions 5.2 {3.0) (0.2) 12.3 14.3
At 30 April 2022 1,791.8 {15.3) (174.2) 93.1 1,695.4

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset in respect of losses carried forward in a non-trading UK company of $7m {2021:
$8m) as it is not considered probable this deferred tax asset will be utilised.

At the balance sheet date, no temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries are considered to exist as
UK tax legislation largely exempts overseas dividends received from UK tax.

22 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

30 April 30 April 30 April 30 April
2022 2021 2022 2021
Number Nurnber $m $m

Ordinary shares of 10p each:
Issued and fully paid 451,354,833} - 451,354,833 818 81.8

During the year, the Company purchased 5.7m ordinary shares at a total cost of $414m (£305m] under the Group’s share buyback
programme, which are held in treasury. At 30 Aprit 2022, 7.7m {April 2021: 2.0m] shares were held by the Company [$480m;
April 2021: $66m) and a further 1.2m [April 2021: 1.4m) shares were held by the Company’s Employee Share Ownership Trust
($45m; April 2021: $37ml.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The ESOT facilitates the provision of shares under the Group’s long-term incentive plans. It holds a beneficial interest in 1,231,788
ordinary shares of the Company acquired at an average cost of 3.644¢ (2,760p) per share. The shares had a market value of $65m
[£51m] at 30 April 2022. The ESOT has waived the right to receive dividends on the shares it holds. The costs of operating the ESOT
are borne by the Group but are not significant.

Details of the awards given under the long-term incentive plans are given on pages 101 and 102, and 108 and 109. The costs of these
schemes are charged to the income statement over the vesting period, based on the fair value of the award at the grant date and the
likelihood of allocations vesting under the schemes. In 2022, there was a net charge to pre-lax profilin respect of the long-term
incentive awards of $48m (2021: $10m). After tax, the total charge was $37m (2021: $7m).

The fair value of awards granted during the year is eslimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

September

July 2021 2021

Share price at grant date 5.416p 5,988p
Exercise price - -
Diyidend yield 1.17% 1.00%
Volatility 52.40% 54.06%
Risk-free rate 0.14% 0.38%
Expecled life 36 monlhs 32 months

Expected volatility was determined by calculaling the historical volatility over the previous three years. The expected life used in the
model is based on the terms of the plan.

Details of the tong-term incentive awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
Weighted Weighted
average average
fair value fairvalue
Number atgrantdate Number  at grant date
Outstanding at 1 May 2,965,144 3,279p | 1,664,555 1.970p
Granted 592,841 5,385p 1‘ 1,912,676 3.876p
Exercised (1.82,958li 2,1%4p | [577.961) 1,541p
Expired (88,588) |  3,428p | (34,126) 2.336p
Qutstanding at 30 Aprit 2,986,439 3,871p | 2965144 3,279p
Exercisable al 30 April - n/a; - n/a

24 PENSIONS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates pension plans for the benefit of qualifying employees. The plans for new employees throughout the Group are all
defined contribution plans. Pension cosls for defined contribution plans were $34m [2021: $29m].

Defined benefit plan

The Group also has a defined benelit plan which was closed to new members in 2001 and closed to future accrual in October 2020.
The planis a funded defined benefit plan with trustee-administered assets held separately from those of the Group. The Trustees are
composed of representatives of both the Company and ptan members. The Trustees are required by taw to act in the interest of all
relevant beneficiaries and are responsible for the investment policy of the assets and the day-to-day administration of the benefits.

The planis a final salary plan which provides members a guaranteed tevel of pension payable for tife. The level of benefits provided
by the plan depends on members’ length of service and their salary at the date of leaving the plan.

The plan’s duration is an indicator of the weighted-average time until benefit payments are made. For the plan as a whole, the duration
at 30 April 2022 is approximately 20 years. The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid by the Group to the plan during
the 2022/23 financial year is £1.8m [$2.3m at Aprit 2022 exchange rate).

The plan exposes the Group to a number of risks, the most significant being investment risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk and life
expectancy risk.
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The most recent actuarial valuation was carried out as at 30 April 2019 by a qualified independent actuary and showed a funding

surplus of £1.5m [$1.9m at April 2022 exchange rate). The actuary was engaged by the Company to perform a valuation in accordance
with IAS 19 [revised) as at 30 April 2022. The principal financial assumptions made by the actuary were as follows:

. 2022 2021

Discount rate 3.1% 2.0%
Inllation assumplion - RP! 3.4% 3.2%
-CPI -3.2% 2.4%

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.3% 3.1%

Pensioner life expectancy assumed in the 30 April 2022 update is based on the 'S3PA CMI 2021 projection model mortality tables
adjusted so as lo apply 3, minimum annual rate of improvement of 1.25% a year. Samples of the ages to which pensioners are assumed

to live are as follows:

2022 2021
Life expectancy of pensioners currently aged 65 ]
Male 86.2 86.2
Female 88.1 88.0
Life expectancy at age 65 for future pensioner currently aged 45 -
Mate ‘ 87.5 87.5
Female 89.6 89.5
The plan’s assets are invested in the following asset classes:
Fair value
2022 2021
$m $m
UK equities 36.9 401
US equities 42:6 46.3
Japanese equities 7.5 8.1
Emerging market equities 3.9 5.3
Global loan fund 121 13.5
Buy and maintain fund 7.3 -
Liability driven investment funds 19.0 33.0
Inlrastructure 11.0 1.4
Cash and cash equivalents 0.9 0.8
1412 158.5
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:
2022 2021
$m $m
Fair value of plan assets 141.2 158.5
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation (122.7) (152.3}
Net asset recognised in the balance sheet 18.5] 6.2
The components of the defined benefit cost recognised in the income statement are as follows:
2022 2021
$m $m
Currenl service cost - 0.6
Past service cost - (2.5
Nelinterest on the net defined benefit plan (0.1); 0.2
Netincome in the income statement - (0.) (1.7)
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24 PENSIONS (CONTINUED)

The remeasurements of the defined benefit plan recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

2022 2021
$m $m
Actuarial gain/{loss) due to changes in financial assumptions . 181 (4.0)
Actuarial gain due to changes in demographic assumptions 0.2 03
Actuarial (loss)/gain arising [rom experience adjustments [1.8), 1.5
[Loss)/return on plan assels excluding amounts recognised in nel inleresl {5.1) 20.6
Remeasurement of the defined benefit pension plan 1.4 18.4
Movemente in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:
2022 2021
$m $m
At 1 May 152.3 1401
Current service cost - 0.6
Past service cost .- [2.5)
Interest cost 3.0 23
Conlributions from members - 0.1
Remeasurements )
- Actuarial [gain)/loss due lo changes in linancial assumplions .18y 4.0
- Actuarial gain due to changes in demographic assumptions (0.2)] (0.3
- Actuarial loss/lgain] arising from experience adjustments 1.8‘ {1.5)
Benefits paid (3.2} (4.1)
Exchange differences i _'(1_2.91(‘_ . 136
At30 April } TTha27| T s23

The key assumptions used in valuing the defined benefit obligation are: discount rate; inflation; and mortality. The sensitivity of.the

results to these assumptions is as follows:

- Anincrease in the discount rate of 0.5% would result in a $9m (2021: $13m] decrease in the defined benefit obligation.
- Anincrease in the inflation rate of 0.5% would result in an $8m (2021: $12m]} increase in the defined benefit obligation.

This includes the resulting change to other assumptions that are related to inflation such as pensions and salary growth.,

- Aone-yearincrease in the pensioner life expectancy at age 65 would result ina $6m (2021: $8m] increase in the defined

benefit obligation.

The sbove sensitivity analysis hos been determined based on reasonably possible changes to the significant assumptions, while

holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some assumptions may be correlated.

The sensttivity information shown above has been prepared using the same method as adopted when adjusting the results of the

latest funding valuation to the balance sheet date. This is the same approach as has been adopted in previous periods.

Movements in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:

2022 2021

$m $m

At 1 May 158.5 124.8
Interestincome 3.1 l 2.1
Remeasurement - (loss)/return on plan assets excluding amounts recognised in net interest {5.1] 20.6
Employer contributions 2.5 1.8
Contributions from members - 0.1
Benefits paid (3.2) [4.1)
Exchange differences {14.6); 13.2
At 30 April 14121 158.5

The actual return on plan assets was a $2m loss [2021: $23m gain).
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's trading and financing activities expose it to various financial risks that, if left unmanaged, could adversely impact on current
or future earnings. Although not necessarily mutually exclusive, these financial risks are categorised separately according to their
different generic risk characteristics and include market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate riskl, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Itis the role of the Group treasury function to manage and monitor the Group's financial risks and internal and external funding
requirements in support of the Group's corporate objectives. Treasury activities are governed by policies and procedures approved
by the Board and monitored by the Finance and Administration Committee. In particular, the Board of directors or, through delegated
authority, the Finance and Administration Committee, approves any derivative transaclions. Derivative lransactions are only
undertaken for the purposes of managing interest rate risk and currency risk. The Group does not trade in financial instruments.
The Group maintains treasury control systems and procedures to monitor liquidity, currency, credit and financial risks.

Market risk

The Group's activilies expose it primarily to interest rate and currency risk. Interest rate risk is monitored on a continuous basis

and managed, where appropriate, through the use of interest rate swaps whereas, the use of forward foreign exchange contracts to
manage currency risk is considered on an individual non-trading transaction basis. The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk
or equity price risk as defined in IFRS 7.

Interest rate risk

Management of fixed and variable rate debt

The Group has fixed and variable rate debt in issue with 59% of the drawn debt at a fixed rate as at 30 April 2022, excluding lease
liabilities. The Group's accounting policy requires all borrowings to be held at amortised cost. As a result, the carrying value of fixed
rate debt is unaffected by changes in credit conditions in the debt markets and there is therefore no exposure to fair value interest rate
risk. The Group’s debt that bears interest at a variable rate comprises all outstanding borrowings under the senior secured credit
facility. Pricing is based on leverage and average availability according to a grid, varying from the applicable interest rate plus 125bp to
150bp. The applicable interest rate is based on LIBOR for US dollar loans, SONIA for sterling loans and CDOR for Canadian dollar
toans. At 30 April 2022, the borrowing rate was the applicable interest rate plus 125bp. The ABL facility includes provision for the US
LIBOR transition. The Group periodically utilises interest rate swap agreements to manage and mitigate its exposure to changes in
interest rates. However, during the year ended and as at 30 Aprit 2022, the Group had no such swap agreements outstanding. The
Group also may at times hold cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at a variable rate.

Net variable rate debt sensitivity

At 30 April 2022, based upon the amount of variable rate debt outstanding, the Group’s pre-tax profits would change by approximately
$21m for each one percentage point change in interest rates applicable to the variable rate debt and, after tax effects, equity would
change by approximately $19m. The amount of the Group's variable rate debt may fluctuate as a result of changes in the amount of debt
outstanding under the senior secured credit facility.

Currency risk

Currency risk is predominantly translation risk as Lthere are no significant transactions in the ordinary course of business that take
place belween foreign entities. The Group's reporting currency is US dollars. The majority of our assets, liabilities, revenue and costs
are denominated in US dollars, bul sterling and Canadian dollars make up 24% of our net assets. Fluctuations in the value of pounds
sterling and Canadian dollars with respect to US dollars may have an impact on our financial condition and results of operations as
reporied i US dollars. The Group's financing is arranged such that the majority of its debt and interest expense is in US dollars.

At 30 April 2022, 88% of its debt [including lease liabilities) were denominated in US dollars.

The Group's exposure to exchange rate movements on trading transactions is relatively limited. All Group companies invoice revenue
in their respective local currency and generally incur expense and purchase assets in their local currency. Consequently, the Group
does not routinely hedge either forecast foreign exchange exposures or the impact of exchange rate movements on the transtation of
overseas profits into dollars. Where the Group does hedge, it maintains appropriate hedging documentation. Foreign exchange risk
on significant non-trading transactions is considered on an individual basis.

Resultant impacts of reasonably possible changes to foreign exchange rates

Based on the current currency mix of our profits and on current sterling and dollar debt levels, interest and exchange rates at
30 April 2022, a 1% change in the pound sterling and Canadian dollar to US dollar exchange rates would impact pre-tax profit
by $1m and equity by approximately $13m. At 30 April 2022, the Group had no outstanding foreign exchange contracts.

Creditrisk

The Group's principal financial assets are cash and bank balances and trade and other receivables. The Group’s credit risk 1s primarily
attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of loss allowances. The credit risk on liquid
funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financiat statements, which are net of
impairment losses, represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group has a large numoer of unrelated customers, serving over 800,000 during the financial year, and does not have any
significant credil exposure to any particular customer. Each business segment manages its own exposure to credit risk according to
the economic circumstances and characteristics of the markets they serve. The Group believes that management of credit risk on a
devolved basis enables it lo assess and manage it more effectively. However, broad principles of credit risk management practice are
observed across the Group, such as the use of credit reference agencies and the maintenance of credit control functions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group could experience difficulties in meeting its commitments to creditors as financial liabilities fall
due for payment. '

The Group generates significant free cash flow before investment {defined as cash flow from operations less replacement capital
oxpendituro net of proceeds of asset disposals, interast paid and tax paid}. This free cach flow bofere invoctment ic availablo te the
Group to invest in growth capital expenditure, acquisitions, dividend payments and other returns to shareholders or to reduce debt.

In addition to the strong free cash flow from normal trading activities, additional liquidity is available through the Group's ABL facility.
At 30 April 2022, availability under the $4.5bn facility was $2,537m {$3,011m al 30 Aprit 2021], which compares with the threshold of
$450m, above which the covenant does nat apply.

Contractual maturity analysis
Trade receivables, the principal class of non-derivative financial asset held by the Group, are seltled gross by customers.

The following table presents the Group's outstanding contractual maturity profile for its non-derivative financial liabilities, excluding
trodc and other payables which fall due within ene year and lease liabilities which are analysed in Mote 18. The analysis presented ic
based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the Group's financial liabitities, including any interest that will accrue, except
where the Group is entitled and intends to repay a financial liability, or part of a financial liability, betore its contractual maturity.

The undiscounted cash flows have been calculaled using foreign currency exchange rates and irilerest 1 ales 1uling at the balance
sheet date.

At 30 April 2022

Undiscounted cash flows - year 1o 30 April

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Bank and other debt - - - - 2,108.1 - 21081
1.500% senior notes - - - - 550.0 - 550.0
4.375% senior notes - - - - - 600.0 600.0
4.000% senior notes - - - - - 600.0 600.0
4.250% senior noles - - - - - 600.0 600.0
2.450% senior notes - - - - - 750.0 750.0
- - - - 2.658.1 2,550.0 5,208.1

Interest payments 144.4 144.4 144.4 144.4 96.8 174.6 849.0
144.4 144.4 144.4 144.4 27549 2,724.6 6,057

Letlers of credit of $57m (2021: $52m) are provided and guaranteed under the ABL facilily which expires in August 2026.

At 30 April 2021

Undiscounted cash flows - year to 30 April

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Therealter Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Bank and other debt - - 1.225.2 - - - 1,225.2
4.125% senior noles - - - - 600.0 - 600.0
5.250% senior notes - - - - - 600.0 600.0
4.375% senior notes - - ~ - - 600.0 600.0
4.000% senior notes - - - - - 600.0 600.0
4.250% senior notes - - - - - 600.0 600.0
_ - - 1,225.2 - 600.0 2,400.0 4,225.2
Interest payments 148.8 148.8 143.2 132.0 14.5 179.1 866.4
148.8 148.8 1,.368.4 132.0 714.5 2,5794 5.091.6
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Fair value of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are measured in accordance with the fair value hierarchy and assessed as Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
following criteria:

- Level 1: fair value measurement based on quoted prices [unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: fair value measurements derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly fi.e. as prices) or indirectly [i.e. derived from prices); and

- Level 3: fair value measurements derived from vatuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

AL 30 April 2022, the Group had no derivative financial instruments. The embedded prepayment options included within the senior
notes are either closely related to the host debt contract or immaterial and hence, are not accounted for separately. These loan notes
are carried at amortised cost.

Fair value of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities
The table below provides a comparison, by calegory of Lthe carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group's non-derivative financial
assels and liabilities al 30 Aprit 2022.

At 30 April 2022 At 30 April 2021

Book value Fairvalue Book value Fairvatue
$m $m $m $m

Long-term borrowings o
-~ first priorily senior secured bank debt Level 1 2,108.1 2,108.1 1,225.2 1,225.2
- 4.125% senior notes Level 1 - - 600.0 616.5
-5.250% senior notes Level 1 - - 600.0 627.8
-1.500% senior notes Level 1 548.8 487.4 - -
- 4.375% senior notes Level 1 600.0 583.5 600.0 628.5
-4.000% senior noles Level 1 600.0 564.7 600.0 6277
- 4.250% senior notes Level 1 600.0 566.2 600.0 641.3
- 2.450% senior notes Level 1 748.2 - 6075 - -
Total long-term borrowings 5,205.1 4,917.4 4,225.2 4,367.0
Deferred costs of raising finance {25.0) - (31.2) -
5180.1) |. 49174 4194.0 4,367.0

Other financial instruments'

Contingent consideration provision Level 3 - 33.4 33.4 279 27.9
Financial asset invesimenls Level 3 40.0 40.0 - -
Cash and cash equivalents Level 1 15.3 15.3 26.6 26.6

Note
1 The Group’s trade and other receivables. trade and other payables and lease liabilities are not shown in the tabte abuve. The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables and trade and other payables categories approximale their fair values. Required disclosures relating to lease liabilities are provided in Note 18.

Contingent consideration provisions are a Level 3 financial liability. Future anticipated payments to vendors in respect of contingent
consideration are initially recorded at fair value which is the present value of the expected cash outflows of the obligations. The
obligations are dependent upon the future financial performance of Lhe businesses acquired. The fair value is eslimated based on
internal financial projections prepared in relation to the acquisition with the contingent consideration discounted to presenl value
using a discount rate in line with the Group’s cost of debt.

Financial asset investments are measured as fair value through profit and loss as a Level 3 financial asset. The fair value is estimaled
based on the latest transaction price and any subsequent investment-specific adjusiments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

26 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
a. Cash flow from operating activities

2022 2021

$m Hm
Operaling profit ' 1,947.8 1,498.0
Depreciation 1,553.0 1,457.6
Amortisation 108.6 81.2
EBITDA ' ' ’ ’ " 3,609.4 3,036.8
Profit on disposal of rental equipment ’ (78.9[ (24.9)
Profit on disposal of other property, plant and equipment {9.01 (0.4}
[Increasel/decreasein inventories (67.2) 53
Increasein trade and other receivables fe4.1 (127.8)
Increase in trade and other payables 68.8| 118.6
Exchange differences (0.6) {0.1)
Other non-cash movement ] 48.1 9.5
Cash generated from operations before changes in rental equipment 3,406.5 3,017.0
b. Acquisitions

2022 2021

$m $m
Cash consideration paid .
- acquisitions in Lhe period [net of cash acquired] 1,264.8 170.7
- conlingent consideration ] 12.6 24.4

1,277.4 195.1

During the year, 25 acquisitions were made for a total cash consideration of $1,265m (2021: $171m), after taking account net cash
acquired of $20m [2021: $nill. Further details are provided in Note 27.

Payments for contingent consideration on prior year acquisitions were also made of $13m (2021: $24m].
c. Analysis of net debt

Nel debt consists of lotal borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Borrowings exclude accrued interest. Non-US dollar
denominated balances are lranslated to US dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Non-cash movements

1 May Cash Exchange Debt New tease Other 30April

2021 flow movement acquired liabilities  movements 2022

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Long-lerm borrowings 4,194.0 991.8 {29.5) 5.8 - 18.0 5.180.1
Lease liabilities 1,633.3 107.6) {18.4) 125.9 - 362.0 - 1,995.2
Total liabilities from financing activilies 5,827.3 884.2 147.9) 131.7 362.0 18.0 7175.3
Cash and cash equivalents (26.6] 10.5 0.8 - - - (15.3)
Net debt 5,800.7 894.7 {47.1) 131.7 362.0 18.0 7.160.0

Non-cash movements

1 May Cash Exchange Debt New lease Other 30 April

2020 flow movement acquired liabilities ~ movements 2021

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Long-term borrowings 5.666.0 (1,585.0} 102.0 - - 11.0 4,194.0
Lease liabilities 1.402.8 (73.91 32.3 25.2 2469 = 1,633.3
Total Liabilities from financing activities 7.068.8 [1,658.9] 134.3 25.2 24669 1n.o 5,827.3
Cash and cash equivalents [304.4) 282.8 (5.0) - - - (26.6)
Net debt . 6,764.4 (1.376.1) 129.3 25.2 2469 1.0 5,800.7
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27 ACQUISITIONS
During the year, the following acquisitions were completed:

i}

ii)

iii

iv)

v)

vi)

vii)

viii}

ix)

x]

xi)

xii)

xiii)

xiv)

xv)

xvi

xvii)

xviii)

xix]

xx)

xxi)

xxii

xxili)

xxiv)

xxv]

0On 12 May 2021, Sunbelt Canada acquired the business and assets of Island Equipment Rentals Ltd. ('Island Equipment’). Island
Equipment is a general tool business in British Columbia.

On 26 May 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Randall Industries, Inc. [Randall’]. Randallis a general tool
business in Itlinois and Indiana.

On 24 June 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of AMI3, LLC, trading as Iron Equipment Rental [IER’). IER is a
general tool business in Ohio.

On 21 July 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of National Drying Technologies LLC (NDT'). NDT is a specialty
business in Florida and Georgia.

On 28 July 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assels of Special Event Service & Rental, Inc. [SESR’). SESR is a speciatly
business in Tennessee and Nevada.

On 18 Augusl 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Lloyd's Rental & Sales, Inc. ['Lloyd's’}. Lloyd’s is a general
tool business in Pennsylvania.

On 25 August 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Bedrock Tool & Equipment Co. ['Bedrock’). Bedrock is a
general tool business in Ohio.

On 28 September 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of 202 Rent All, Inc. (202 Rent All'). 202 Rent All is a general
tool business in Pennsylvania.

On 13 October 2021, Sunbett US acquired the business and assets of Atlas Aerials & Equipment, LLC [‘Atlas Aerials’). Atlas
Aerials is a general tool business in Illinois.

On 22 October 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Action Rental Holdings, LLC, Action Equipment Holdings,

LLC and Action Rentals Trench, Shoring & Supply. LLC [together ‘Action’). Action is a general tool business in Florida, Georgia
and Louisiana.

On 5 November 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of All Keys Rentall, LLC [All Keys'). All Keys is a general tool
business in Florida.

On 19 November 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Essex Rental & Sales Center, Inc. [Essex’}. Essexisa
general tool business in Vermont.

On 23 November 2021, Sunbelt Canada acquired the business and assels of Lift Services, Inc. {'Lift Services']. Lift Services is a
general tool business in Ontario.

On 1 December 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the entire share capital of Mahaffey Tent & Awning LLC, Mahaffey USA LLC, Mahaifey
Industrial Contractors LLC and Cajun Affiliates LLC [together ‘Mahalfey’). Mahaffey is a specially business operating across the
United States.

On 8 December 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assels of Dorado Holdings, LLC, trading as Toolshed Equipment
Rental [‘Toolshed'}. Toolshed is a general tool business in California.

On 10 December 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Jackson Rents & Supply. Inc. (Jackson’). Jackson is a
general tool business in Florida.

On 15 December 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Pilchuck Equipment Rental & Sales, L.L.C. {Pilchuck’].
Pilchuck is a general tool business in Washington.

On 17 December 2021, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Illinois Truck & Equipment Co., Inc. [ITE’). ITE is a general
tool business in Illinois.

On 21 January 2022, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Priority Equipment Rental, Ltd. {Priority’]. Priority is a
general tool business in Pennsylvania.

On 1 February 2022, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Total Equipment Rental, Inc. (Total Equipment’). Total
Equipment is a general tool business in Catifornia.

On 11 February 2022, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of California High Reach & Equipment Rental, Inc. { CHR'].
CHRis a general toot business in California.

On 15 February 2022, Sunbell US acquired the entire share capital of ComRent Holdings, Inc. [ComRent’]. ComRent is a specially
business operating in California, Iltinois, Maryland, Texas and Ontario, Canada.

On 18 March 2022, Sunbell US acquired the business and assets of D&D Lift, LLC and Reach Solutions Il, LLC [together 'D&D’).
D&Dis a general ool business in California.

On 22 March 2022, Sunbelt US acquired Lhe business and assels of Bondservant.Life, Inc., lrading as CBB Sates & Renlal [CBB’).
CBBis a general tool business in Alabama.

On 24 March 2022, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Baker Rentals and Sales. Inc. and Baker Party ﬁentals. Inc.
[together ‘Baker’]. Baker is a general tool business in California.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

27 ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED])
The fotlowing table sets out the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired by the Group. The fair values have been
determined provisionally at the balance sheet date.

Fair value
tothe Group
m
Net assets acquired
Trade and other receivables 202.3
Inventory 1.4
Current tax 0.7
Praperty, plant and equipment
- rental equipment 456.8
- other assets 28.5
Right-of-use assets 125.9
Credilors (107.7)
Deferred tax 14.3)
Debt {5.8]
Lease liabilities (125.9]
Intangible assets (non-compete agreements and customer relalionships} 202.2
7641
Consideration:
- cash paid and due to be paid [net of cash acquired] 1,268.1
- contingent consideration 19.1
1,287.2
Goodwill 5231

The goodwill arising can be attributed to the key management personnel and workforce of the acquired businesses and to the
synergies and other benefits the Group expects to derive from the acquisitions. The synergies and other benefits include elimination of
duplicate costs, improving utilisation of the acquired rental fleet, using the Group’s financial strength to invest in the acquired business
and drive improved returns through a semi-fixed cost base and the application of the Group’s proprietary software to optimise revenue
opportunities. $372m of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The gross value and the fair value of trade receivables at acquisition was $202m.

Due to the operational integration of acquired businesses with the US, Canada and UK post-acquisition, in particular due to the merger
of some stores, the movement of rental equipment between stores and investment in the rental fleet, it is not practical to report the
revenue and profit of the acquired businesses post-acquisition.

The revenue and operaling profit of these acquisitions from 1 May 2021 to their date of acquisition was not malerial.

28 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Following its stale aid investigation, in Aprit 2019 the European Commission announced its decision that the Group Financing
Exemption in the UK controlled foreign company [(CFC’) legislation constitules state aid in some circumstances. In common with the
UK Government and other UK-based international companies, the Group does not agree with the decision and has therefore lodged a
formal appealt with the General Court of the European Union. In common with other UK taxpayers, the Group’s appeal has been stayed
while the appeals put forward by the UK Government and ITV plc proceed.

On 8 June 2022 the General Court of the European Union dismissed the appeals put forward by the UK Government and ITV plc.
However, there remains a high degree of uncertainty in the final outcome given it is likely that both the UK Government and ITV plc
will appeal the decision. Accordingly, the Group does not consider that the decision affects its position but witl continue to monitor
proceedings closely.

Despite the UK Government appealing the European Commission’s decision, Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs [ HMRC') was
required to make an assessment of the tax liability which would arise if the decision is not successfully appealed and collect that
amount from taxpayers. HMRC issued a charging notice stating that the tax liability it believes to be due on this basis is £36m, including
interest payable. The Group has appealed the charging notice and has seltled the amount assessed on it, including interest, in line wilh
HMRC requirements. The £36m paid has been recognised as a non-current asset on the balance sheet. On successful appeal in whole
orin part, all or part of the amount paid in accordance with the charging notice would be returned to the Group. If either the decision
reached by the General Court of the European Union or the charging notice issued by HMRC are nol ultimately successfully appealed,
we have estimated the Group’s maximum polentiat liability to be £36m as al 30 April 2022 {$45m at April 2022 exchange rates),
including any interest payable. Based on the current status of proceedings, we have concluded that no provision is required in relation
to this matter.

The £36m ($45m at April 2022 exchange rates) paid has been recognised as a non-current asset on the balance sheet.
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The Company

The Company has guaranteed the borrowings of its subsidiary undertakings under the Group's senior secured credit and overdraft
facilities. At 30 April 2022 the amount borrowed under these facilities was $2,108m (2021: $1,225m]. Subsidiary undertakings are also
able to obtain letters of credit under these facilities and, at 30 April 2022, letters of credit issued under these arrangements totalted
$57m (2021: $52m). In addition, the Company has guaranteed the 1.500%, 4.375%, 4.000%, 4.250% and 2.450% senior notes issued by
Ashtead Capital, Inc.

The Company has guaranteed lease commitments of subsidiary undertakings where the minimum lease commitment at 30 April 2022
lotalled $36m {2021: $34m] in respect of land and buildings of which $6m is payable by subsidiary undertakings in the year ending
30 April 2023.

The Company has provided a guarantee to the Ashtead Group plc Relirement Benefits Plan {'the plan’] that ensures the planis at least
105% funded as calculated in accordance with Section 179 of the Pensions Act 2004. Based on the last actuarial valuation at 30 April
2019, this guarantee was the equivalent of £20m [$25m at Aprit 2022 exchange rate).

The Company has guaranteed the performance by subsidiaries of certain other obligations up to $7m (2021: $3m).

29 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Since the balance sheet date, the Group has completed five acquisitions for total purchase consideration of $230m as foltows:

il On5May2022, Sunbelt UK acquired the entire share capital of Movietech Camera Rentals Limited and Movietech Cymru Limited
{together "Movietech’). Movietech is a film and television equipment rental business.

i} On13May2022, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assels of the power rental division of Filmwerks, LLC [‘Filmwerks’].
Filmwerks is a specialty business in North Carolina.

il On 20 May 2022, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Mashburn Equipment, L.L.C. [Mashburn’]. Mashburnis a
general tool business in Georgia.

iv]  On1June 2022, Sunbelt Canada acquired the entire share capital of MacFarlands Limited [ MacFarlands’). MacFarlands is a
general tool business in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick.

vl On8June 2022, Sunbelt US acquired the business and assets of Amos Metz Rentals & Sates, LLC [Amos Metz). Amos Metzis
a general tool business in California.

The initial accounting for these acquisitions is incomplete. Had these acquisitions taken place on 1 May 2021, their contribution to
revenue and operating profit would not have been material.

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group’s key management comprises the Company’s executive and non-executive directors. Details of their remuneration are
given in Note 4 and details of their share interests and share awards are given in the Directors’ remuneration report. In relation to the
Group’s defined benefit pension plan, details are included in Note 24.

31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At 30 April 2022 capital commitments in respect of purchases of rental and other equipment lotalled $1,401m (2021: $691m), all of
which had been ordered. There were no other malerial capital commitments at Lhe year end.

32 EMPLOYEES
The average number of employees, including directors, during the year was as fotlows:

2022 2021
Number Number

United Stales
United Kingdom
Canada
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

33 PARENT COMPANYINFDRMATION
a. Balance sheet of the Company (Company number: 01807982)

2022 2021
Noles €m €m
Currentassets
Prepayments and accrued income 1.3 1.0
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings f) 812.8, 629.6
' 814.1 630.6
Non-current assets
Righl-of-use assels lg) 5.4 6.1
Investments in Group companies (h) 363.7 363.7
Deferred tax asset ) ' 9.5 1.3
378.6 3711
Totat assets 992.7 1,001.7
Current liabilities
Accruals and deferred income 1.4 6.6
Lease liabilities ‘ {i} 0.8 0.8
12.2 7.4
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities (i) 4.8 5.3
Total liabilities 17.0 12.7
Equity
Share capital {b) 451 451
Share premium account (b) 3.6 3.6
Capital redemption reserve [b) 1.1 1
Own shares held by the Company (b} (355.9) {51.2)
Own shares held through the ESOT {b) (34.0) (28.8)
Relained reserves L N (]} 1.305.8 1,009.2
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 975.7 989.0
992.7 1,.001.7

Total liabilities and equity

The Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 30 April 2022 of £470m {2021: £837m].

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 13 June 2022.

Ly uBB

BRENDAN HORGAN . MICHAEL PRATT
Chief executive : Chief financial officer
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b. Statement of changes in equity of the Company

Own
Own shares
Share Capital shares held
Share premium redemption held by the through Relained
capital account reserve Company the ESOT reserves Total
£m Em Em £m £m £m €m
At 1 May 2020 45.4 3.6 10.8 [115.9]) (27.7) 422.5 338.7
Profit for the year - - - - - 836.8 836.8
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 836.8 836.8
Dividends paid - - - - - (182.1) [182.1}
Own shares purchased by the ESOT - - - - (12.5) - (12.5)
Share-based payments - - - - M.4 (4.2) 7.2
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - 09 09
Cancellation of shares (0.3) - 0.3 64.7 - (64.7) -
At 30 April 2021 451 3.6 1.1 [51.2) (28.8] 1,009.2 989.0
Profit for the year - - - - - 470.2 470.2
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 470.2 470.2
Dividends paid - - - - - (197.5) (197.5)
Own shares purchased by the ESOT - - - - (17.3) - 17.3)
Own shares purchased by the Company - - - (304.7} - - (304.7)
Share-based payments - - - - 12.1 23.4 35.5
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - 0.5 0.5
At 30 April 2022 45.1 3.6 1.1 (355.9) (34.0) 1,305.8 975.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

33 PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
¢. Cash flow statement of the Company

2022 2021
Note €m €m
Cash flows from operating activities ' ‘
Cash from operations [k) ‘ .9 1649.0)
Financing costs paid : 15.3) (5.81
Dividends received from Ashtead Holdings PLC " 480.0; 850.0
Net cash from operating activities ' 516.6 195.2
Cash flows from financing activities |
Repayment of principal under lease liabilities (0.8) (0.6
Purchase of own shares by the ESOT 117.3) (12.5)
Purchase of own shares by the Company (301.2) -
Dividends paid (197.5) (182.1)
Net cash used in financing activities ‘ ' _ _ (516.6) 1195.2)
Change in cash and cash equivalents - - -

d. Accounting policies )
The Company financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting policies set out in Note 2 above, supplemented
by the policy on investments set out below. ' '

Investments in subsidiary underlakings are slaled al cosl less any necessary provision for impairment n the parent company
balance sheel.

e. Income statement

Ashtead Group plc has not presenled its own profit and loss account as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The profit
attribulable lo the Company is disclosed in Lhe footnole to the Company’s balance sheel. There were no other amounts of comprehensive
income in the financial year.

The average number of employees, including directors, during the year was as follows:

2022 2021

Number Number

Employees - 19] 16
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

2022 2021

£m £m

Salaries ' 13.2 7.8

Social securily costs 1.7 1.4

Other pension costs 0.3 0.3

- 15.2 9.5

Staff costs include key management personnel. For more information on key management personnel remuneration see page 140.
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f. Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings

2022 2021
£m {m

Bue within one year:
Ashtead Holdings PLC 612'8 629.6

The amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are considered to be Stage 1 under the generat expected credit losses model and any
expected credit losses are immaterial.

g. Right-of-use asset

Property
leases
Em
Costor valuation
At 1 May 2020, 30 April 2021 and 30 April 2022 7.5
Depreciation
At 1 May 2020 : 0.7
Charge for the period 0.7
At 30 April 2021 1.4
Charge for the period 0.7
At 30 April 2022 21
Net book value
At 30 April 2022 5.4
At 30 April 2021 . 6.1

h. Investments

Sharesin Group companies

2022 2021
£m £m

AL 30 April | a9 363.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

33 PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
h. Investments (continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 April 2022 are as follows:

Name Address of registered office

Principal activity

USA

Ashtead US Holdings, Inc. The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange St.,
Wilmington, DE 19801

The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange St.,
Wilmington, DE 19801

The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange St.,

Wilminglon, DE 19801

Ashtead Holdings, LLC
Mahaffey Tent & Awning, LLC!

Mahaffey USA LLC!
Dover, DE 19904

CT Corporation System, 160 Mine Lake Ct, Ste 200,
Raleigh, NC 27615-6417

The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange St.,
Wilmington, DE 19801

Sunbelt Rentals, Inc.
Sunbell Rentals Industrial Services, LLC

Sunbell Renlats Scaflotd Services, Inc.
Raleigh, NC 27615-6417

CT Corporation System, 3867 Plaza Tower Dr., East
Baton Rouge Parish, Baton Rouge, LA 70816

Sunbelt Rentals Scaffold Services, LLC

Pride Corporation
NY 10005

The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange St.,
Wilmington, DE 19801

The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange St.,
Witmington, DE 19801

Ashlead Capital, Inc.

Sunbelt Rentals Exchange, Inc.

Cogency Global Inc. 850 New Burton Road, Suite 201,

CT Corporalion System, 160 Mine Lake CL., Ste. 200,

CT Corporation System, 28 Liberty Street, New York,

Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Equipment rental and related services
Equipment rental and related services
Equipment rental and related services
Equipment rental and related services
Equipment rental and related services
Equipment rental and related services
Equipment rental and related services
Finance company

Dormant

UK

Ashtead Holdings PLC

Sunbelt Rentals Limited

Ashtead Financing Limited
Accession Group Limited

Accession Holdings Limited

Anglia Trallic Managemenl Group Limited
Ashtead Canada Limited

Astra Site Services Limited

ATM Traffic Solutions Limited

Eve Trakway Limited

Hoist It Limited

Opti-cal Survey Equipment Limited
Plantfinder (Scotland) Limited
Precision Geomatics Limited
Ellerbeck Industries Limiled

Inlec UK Limited

Ashtead Plant Hire Company Limited

100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
12 Hope Street, Edinburgh, Scotland, EH2 4DB
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
12 Hope Street, Edinburgh, Scotland, EH24D8
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT
100 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DT

Investment holding company
Equipment rental and related services
Finance company

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormanl

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Canada
Sunbelt Rentals of Canada, Inc.
William F. White International, Inc.

777 Dunsmuir Street, 11th Floor, Vancouver, BC V7Y1K3Equipment rental and related services
777 Dunsmuir Street, 11th Floor, Vancouver, BC V7Y1K3Equipment rental and related services

Republic of Ireland

Ashtead Financing {Ireland)
Unlimited Company

Sunbelt Renlals {Ireland] Limiled

Ashtead Plant Hire Company
{ireland] Limited

10 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 T380

10 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 7380
10 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 7380

Germany

Sunbelt Rentals GmbH L Felix-Wankel-Strafie 1_01 74632 Neuenstein
France -

Sunbelt Rentals SAS 5 Avenue Carnol, 91339 Massy o
Bahamas

Sunbelt Rentals of the Bahamas, Inc.
P.0. Box $5-19084, Nassau, Bahamas

Ocean Centre, Montagu Foreshore, East Bay Streel,

Dormant

Equipmenl rental and related services
Dormant

__Equipmentrental and related services

Dormant

Equipment rental and related services

Nnte
1 Mahalfey Tent & Awning, | | C and Mahatfey LISA,1 | € merged with Sunbelt Rentals, inc. on 1 May 72027,

The issued share capilal [all of which comprises ordinary shares} of subsidiaries is 100% owned by the Company or by subsidiary

undertakings and all subsidiaries are consolidaled.
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i. Lease liabilities
(i) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

2022 2021
£m £m
Maturity analysis - undiscounted cash flows: . ‘
Less thanone year 0.8 0.8
One to fiveyears 3.2 3.2
More than five years 2.3 3.1
Totat undiscounted lease liabilities at 30 April 6.3 71
Impact of discounting (0.7), (1.0
Lease liabilities included in the balance sheet 5.6 6.1
Included in currentliabilities 0.8 0.8
Included in non-current liabilities 4.8 53
5.6 6.1
[ii) Amounts recognised in the income statement
2022 2021
€m £m
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.7 0.7
Interest on lease liabilities 0.2 0.2
’ 0.9 0.9
(iii) Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows
2022 2021
£m £m
Financing costs paid in retation to lease liabilities 0.2 0.2
Repayment of principal under lease liabilities 0.7 0.6
Total cash outflow for leases 0.9 0.8
j.  Financialinstruments
The book value and fair value of the Company's financial instruments are not materially different.
k. Notes to the Company cash flow statement
Cash flow from operating activities
2022 2021
£m £m
Operating loss 12.9) (7.1
Depreciation ] 0.8] 0.8
EBITDA f12.1) (6.3]
Increase in prepayments and accrued income (0.3} (0.5)
Increase/|decrease] in accruals and deferred income 1.5 (0.1}
Decrease/(increase) in intercompany receivable 47.6 1649.3)
Other non-cash movement 5.2 7.2
Net cash inflow/[outflow} from operalions before exceptional items .91 (649.0)
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TEN-YEAR HISTORY

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 - 2016 2015 2014 . 2013
In$m ’ : : ’
Income statement .
Revenue 7.962.3] 66386 63989 58697 49591 41250 38247 32584 26186 21444
Operating costs + (4,352.9) {3.601.8] (3,390.7) (3121.7) (2,640 (2,177.7) (2,055.4) -(1.806.7) [(1,521.1) [1.327.1)
EBITDA + 3,609.4) 3.0368 3.008.2 2.748.0 23190 19473 17693 14517 1.0975 817.3
Depreciation + (1,553.0 (1.457.6] (1.380.8] [1,099.7) (930.7) (785.5) = (675.2)  (561.7)  (442.00  (360.7)
Operating profit + [ 2,056.41 15792 1.627.4 16483 13883 11618 1,094 890.0 655.5 ' 456.6
Interest + (232.6) (2629) [284.2] [(200.1) 1475 (134.8)  {124.6}  (107.5) (75.5) {70.3)
Pre-1ax prolil + 1,823.8] 13163 1,343.2 14482 12408 10270 969.5 782.5 580.0 386.3
Operaling profit 1,947.8] 1.498.0 15493 15822 13302 11251 10511 864.7 646.8 4476
Pre-tax profit 1,668.1] 12351 12440 1,3821 13545 990.3 926.5 7571 571.4 3377
Cash flow
Cash Ilow [rom operations

before exceptionalitems and
changes inrental fleet 3,406,51 3.0170 3.076.2 26644 2248.0 18893 16175 13471 10295 789.4

Free cash {low '1,125.4] 18222 10015 480.4 516.6 4331 93.3)  (138.7) (85.7) (78.3)
Balance sheet .
Capilal expenditure 2,397.3 947.4 18778 20705 16575 14052 18630 16988 11864 913.8
Book cost of rental equipment 13,538.8] 11.854.9 11,868.2 107969 9.0465 75640 65644 55911 43496 28857
Shareholders’ funds 5,033.7| 45252 37487 3.650.8 3.481.1 25490 21687 1708.2 1.392.2 10623
Incents ’ '
Dividend per share | 80.0¢ 58.0¢  5291¢ 49.81¢  43.59¢ 36.88¢ 30.37¢  23.15¢ 18.76¢ 11.73¢
Earnings per share 280.9¢| 205.4¢  205.2¢ 216.7¢  262.5¢  130.0¢ 122.1¢ 96.7¢ 74.0¢ 43.4¢
Adjusled earnings per share 307.1¢ 219.1¢ 221.5¢ 227.2¢ 170.6¢ 135.0¢ 127.8¢ 100.1¢ 74.6¢ 49.8¢
In per cent . } :
EBITDA margin + 45.3%| 45.7% 47.0% 46.8%  46.8% 47.2%  46.3% 44.6% 41.9% 38.1%
Operating profit margin + 25.8% 23.8% 25.4% 28.1% 28.0% 28.2% 28.6% 27.3% 25.0% 21.3%
Pre-lax profit margin + 22.9% 19.8% 21.0% 24.7% 25.0% 249%  25.3% 24.0% 22.2% 18.0%
Return oninveslment + 18.2% 14.9% 15.2% 17.8% 17.6% 17.3% 189%  .19.4% 18.6% 16.2%
Peopte ' )
Employees al year end 21,752} 18,826  19.284 17,803 15996 14,220 13,106 11,928 9.934 9,085
Locations . :
Stores atyear end 1,233 1126 1,105 1,036 899 808 715 640 556 494

Notes

+ Belore exceplionalilems, amortisalion and fair value remeasurements.
1 The Group elecled lo apply IFRS 16 using Lhe modified retrospective approach wilh no reslalement of comparative ligures. As a resull, the resulls for 2020 to 2022 are not
comparable direcily lo the prior years with Lhe adoption of IFRS 16 resulling in higher EBITDA and operating profil but lower profit belore exceptional ilems, amortisation
and tax Lhan under Lhe previous accounting standard.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The glossary of terms below sets out definitions of terms used throughout this Annual Report & Accounts. Included are a number of
alternative performance measures [APMs’) which the directors have adopted in order to provide additional useful information on the
underlying trends, performance and position of the Group. The directors use these measures, which are common across the industry,
for planning and reporting purposes. These measures are also used in discussions with the investment analyst community and credit
rating agencies. Where relevant, the APMs exclude the impact of IFRS 16 to aid comparability with prior year metrics. The APMs are
not defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies’ APMs and should not be considered superior
to or a substitule for IFRS measures.

Closest equivalent

Term statutory measure  Definition and purpose
Adjusted Seedefinition  Adjusted results are the results stated before exceptional items and the amortisation of acquired
results intangibtes. Adjusted results are utilised by the Group in its remuneration {argets. A reconciliation is
shown on the income statement on page 129.
Capital None Represents additions lo rental equipment and other tangible assets [excluding assets acquired through
expenditure a business combination).
Cash None Represents cash flow from operations before changes in rental equipment as a percentage of EBITDA.
conversion This measureis utilised to show the proportion of EBITDA converted into cash flow from operations
ratio generated by the business before investment expenditures, interest and taxation.
2022 2021
EBITDA [$m] Note 26[alj! 3,609 3.037
Cash inflow from operations before changes i '
in rental equipment {$m) Note 26(a ; 3,406 3.017
. e———
Cash conversion ratio i 94% | 99%
Doltar None Dollar utitisation is trailing 12-month rental revenue divided by average fleet at original {or first’)
utilisation cost measured over a 12-month period. Dollar utilisation has been identified as one of the Group's key
performance indicators. The components used to calculale this measure are shown wilhin the
‘Financial review’.
Dropthrough  None Calculated as the incremental rental revenue which converts into EBITDA [excluding gains from sale of
new equipment, merchandise and consumables and from sale of used equipment].
2022 2021 Change
Sunbelt US ($m) T .
Rental revenue g 6,042° 4,933 1,109
i ;
EBITDA l 3121, 2,635
Gains e e e (78]
EBITDA exc. gains ) 2,993 2,559 434
Drop through 39%
This measureis utilised by the Group to demonstrale lhe incremental profilabilily generaled by the Group
as aresult of growth in the year.
EBITDA Profit before tax EBITDA s nol defined by IFRS bul is a widely accepted profit measure being earnings befora interest, tax,

depreciation and amortisation. A reconciliation of EBITDA to prolit before tax is shown on the income
statemenl on page 129.

EBITDA margin None

EBITDA margin is calculated as EBITDA divided by revenue. Progression in EBITDA margin is an
important indicator of the Group’s performance and this has been identified as one of the Group’s key
performance indicators.

Exceptional
items

None

Exceptional items are those items of income or expense which the directors believe should be disclosed
separalely by virtue of their significant size or nature and limited predictive value to enable a better
understanding of the Group's financial performance.

Excluding these items provides readers with helpful additional information on the performance of the
business across periods and against peer companies. It is also consistent with how business performance
is reported to the Board and the remuneration targets set by the Company. Details are provided in Note 5
of the financial stalements.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS CONTINUED

Closest equivalenl

Term statutory measure  Dafinition and purpose
Free cashflow Netcash Nel cash generaled from operaling aclivilies less non-rental net properly, plant and equipment
generaled expenditure. Non-rental net property, plant and equipment expenditure comprises payments for
f[rom operating non-rental capital expenditure less disposal proceeds received in relation to non-rental asset disposals.
activities
2022 2021
($m) ($ml
Nel cash generated from operating activities 1,499.0 1,942.2
Payments for nan-rental property, plant and equipment (398.4] (138.3)
Proceeds from disposal of non-rental property, plant and equipment T 24.8 18.3
Free cash flow 1,125.4 1,822.2

This measure shows the cash retained by the Group prior to discretionary expenditure on acquisitions
and returns to shareholders.

Growth at None Calculated by applying the current period exchange rate to the comparative period result. The relevant
constant foreign currency exchange rates are provided within Note 2, Accounting policies, lo the financial
exchange rates statements. This measure is used as a means of eliminating the effects of foreign exchange rate

movements on the period-on-period changes in reported results.

2022 2021 %
Rental revenue ($m} ' '
Asreporled 7,235 5.902 23%
Retranslation effect - 33
Atconstantcurrency ) 7,235 5.935 - 22%
Adjusted profit before tax ($m]
Asreported 1,824 1.316 39%
Retranslation effect ) = 4
At constant currency ©1,824 1.320 38%
Leverage None Leverage calculated at constanl exchange rates uses the period end exchange rate for the relevant period
and is determined as nel debt divided by adjusled EBITDA.
2022 2021
Excluding Including Excluding Including
IFRS 16 IFRS 14 IFRS 16 IFRS 16
Net debt ($m] '
As reporled and at constant currency 51791 | - 7,160 4,180 5.801
EBITDA ($m)
As reported 3,430 3,609 2,885 3.037
Retranslation effect [23); {24) 20 22
At constant currency - 3,407 3,585 2.905 3.059
Leverage
Asreporled 1.5 2.0 1.4 19
-At constant currency 1.5 2.0 1.4 19

This measure is used lo provide an indication of the strength of the Group’s balance sheet and is widely
used by inveslors and credil rating agencies. It atso forms part of the remuneration targets of the Group
and has béen identified as one of the Group's key performance indicators.

Net debt None Net debt is total borrowings [bank, bonds} and lease liabililies less cash balances, as reported. This
measure is used to provide an indication of the Group's overall level of indebiedness and is widely used
by investors and credit rating agencies. It has been identified as one of the Group’s key performance
indicators. An analysis of net debt is provided in Note 26(c] of the financial statements.

Operating Profit Operating profitis earnings before interest and tax. A reconciliation of operating profil lo profil before tax
profit before tax is shown on the income statement on page 129.

Operating None Operating profit margin is calculated as operating profit divided by revenue. Progression in operating
profit margin profitmarginis animportant indicator of the Group’s performance.

170 Ashtead Group ple Annual Report & Accounts 2022



Clasest equivalent

Term statutory measure  Definition and purpose

Organic Seedelinilion  Organic measures are used Lo explain Lhe financial and operalional performance of Sunbelt US and

measures comprise all locations, excluding localions arising [rom a boll-on acquisition completed aller the slart
of the comparative financial period.

Returnon None Last 12-month {'LTM’) adjusted operating profit divided by the last 12-month average of the sum of nel

Investment tangible and intangible fixed assets, plus net working capital but excluding net debt and tax. Rol is

['Rol’) calculated excluding the impact of IFRS 16,

Rol is used by management lo help inform capilal atlocation decisions wilhin lhe business and has been
identified as oné of Lhe Group's key performance indicators. Il also forms parl of the remuneration largels
of the Group. The impact of IFRS 16 has been excluded so as to reflect the way the business is managed.

A reconciliation of Group Rol is provided below:

2021

Adjusted operating profit ($m) 1,552

Average net assels [$m) 10,411

Return on investment (%) 15%
Rol for the businesses is calculated in the same way, but excludes goodwill and intangible assets:

us Canada UK

($m]) (C$m] (Em)

Adjusted operating profit 1,829 139 86

Average nel assets, excluding goodwill and intangibles 7.305 679 624

Return oninvestment 25% 20% 14%

Other terms used within this Annual Report & Accounts include:

Availability: represents the headroom on a.given date under the terms of our $4.5bn asset-backed senior bank facility, taking
account of current borrowings.

Fleet age: net book vatue weighled age of serialised rental assets. Serialised rental assets constitute the substantial majority
of our fleet.

Fleet on rent: quantily measured at original cost of our rental fleet on rent. Fleet on rent has been identified as one of the Group's
key performance indicators.

Rental only revenue: rental revenue excluding loss damage waiver, environmental fees and revenue from rental equipment
delivery and collection.

RIDDOR rate: the RIDDOR ['Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations’] reportable rate is the
number of major injuries or over seven-day injuries per 100,000 hours worked.

Same store: same stores are those locations which were open at the start of the comparative financial period.
Segment profit: operating profit before amortisation and exceptional items by segment.

Staff turnover: staff turnover is calculated as the number of leavers in a year [excluding redundancies) divided by the average
headcount during the year.

Suppressed availability: represents the amount on a given date that the asset base exceeds the facility size under the terms
of our $4.5bn asset-backed senior bank facility.
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